Improving chemotherapeutic regimens by mitigating hearing loss as a limiting side-effect and examining transition metal ions as a ligand for zebrafish Tlr4

by

Aaron Paul David Fox

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Physiology, Cell, and Developmental Biology

Department of Biological Science University of Alberta

© Aaron Fox, 2023

### ABSTRACT

Cancer is often a debilitating disease associated with the uncontrolled growth of cells within an organism. We have made significant strides over the past few decades in treating many cancers, unfortunately, many of these treatments have unfavourable side effects. Cisplatin is a revolutionary drug in cancer treatment that contributes to an approximately 80% five-year survival rate in pediatric patients, but its use is limited by several adverse side effects, particularly ototoxicity. Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity (CIO) is permanent, bilateral, sensorineural hearing loss found in up to 90% of patients treated with cisplatin. There are currently very few treatments to mitigate CIO, and only one is approved by the FDA. Our collaborators in the Bhavsar Lab have recently determined a novel pathway through which cisplatin contributes to the generation of CIO and have demonstrated its potential as a therapeutic target.

Toll-like receptor 4 is the first discovered innate immune pattern recognition receptor. It is crucial in signalling to the body when to initiate an inflammatory response following a gramnegative bacterial infection. The function of TLR4 in mammals is well characterized, but its function in other species, particularly fish, is still under debate. A major problem with understanding its function arises in the confusion behind its origins. Not all living things bind to the same TLR4 ligand, and in many cases, we are still unsure of what it binds to entirely. TLR4 was recently determined to bind to nickel and other heavy metals to induce a proinflammatory response and mediate an allergic response. Furthermore, it has recently been shown to bind to the platinum-containing drug cisplatin directly, mediating the generation of CIO. Due to the unique binding mechanism of these metals to TLR4, we believe it would be possible to selectively inhibit cisplatin binding while maintaining the regular immune function of TLR4. This novel mechanism would distinguish it from several CIO therapies, demonstrating its promise for treating CIO.

Zebrafish make a great animal model for disease and share greater than 80% of disease-related genes with humans. Their small size, optical transparency, and high throughput nature also provide an advantage over other model systems. Zebrafish are known to possess three TLR4 paralogs, Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb, but like many fish, their function and origins remain controversial. However, their utility in research related to CIO is still particularly valuable due to the presence of hair cell clusters on the exterior of their bodies called neuromasts. These hair cells are homologous to the hair cells within the inner ear of mammals. Their position and similarity make them an excellent model for CIO and particularly suited for novel therapeutic drug discovery.

This thesis aims to tease apart some of the uncertainties in the evolutionary history of TLR4 while advancing our understanding of its activities in zebrafish. I also aim to utilize zebrafish as an effective model of CIO to screen novel selective therapeutics. To achieve these objectives, we created larval genetic mutants of Tlr4, allowing us to test its interaction with specific ligands in vivo. By creating a heterologous cell system using zebrafish Tlr4, we extended these findings in vitro. Finally, by creating a novel vibration-based behavioural assay, we demonstrated the endpoint effects of a novel therapeutic capable of selectively inhibiting Tlr4 to mitigate CIO. The research presented in this thesis establishes the foundation for future investigations that aim to selectively inhibit TLR4 in order to reduce CIO while identifying potential ligands for a presently orphaned receptor.

iii

### PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Aaron P. D. Fox. Approval for this work was granted by the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee and follows the Canadian Council on Animal Care (CCAC). The author has completed mandatory training for animal users offered by the University of Alberta and as directed by the CCAC.

Chapter 2 is being prepared as a manuscript. At the time of writing, this manuscript is still under revision, and was written by APDF, with editing contributions from WTA. Tracy Lee from the Bhavsar lab was responsible for the in vitro cell culture work. Christie Li generated gRNA sequences as well as PCR primers for crispant validation.

Some of the research conducted in Chapter 3 is being prepared as a collaborative manuscript between the Bhavsar lab led by Dr. Amit P. Bhavsar at the University of Alberta, the Berman lab led by Dr. Jason Berman at the University of Ottawa, and the West lab led by Dr. Frederick G. West at the University of Alberta. At the time of writing, this manuscript in still being compiled, but this chapter was written by APDF with editing contributions from WTA. All in vivo work presented in this thesis was generated by APDF. Novel derivatives were generated by the West lab. The heterologous cell culture work was generated by Tracy Lee. Sakina Mithaiwala was instrumental in the generation of the YO-PRO1 assay and in helping establishing creation of the crispant mutant larva. Niall Pollock was fundamental in conceptualization and early instruction of fluorescent staining assays. Summary Table 3.1 represents in vitro cell culture data collected by Asna Latif and Ghazal Babolmorad. Christie Li generated gRNA sequences as well as PCR primers for crispant validation.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I want to begin by thanking my supervisor, Dr. W. Ted Allison, who was gracious enough to welcome me into his lab and provide me ample support and guidance on my journey to become a master in science. I will forever be grateful for the opportunity he has provided me and his unwavering trust in my questionable decisions, allowing me to take control of my projects and make this work my own. Thank you to Dr. James Stafford for acting on my committee and providing great insight into the project that was helpful in improving my work. Thank you to Arlene Oatway and Kacey Norton in the Advance Microscope Facility for their guidance on preparation and usage of their fancy technology. Thank you to Dr. Kim Mathot and Sheeraja Sridharan for assisting me in my behavioural studies and letting me use their wonderful equipment.

I am grateful to all the members of the Allison lab, who provided me a wonderful experience in research. Their friendly presence never failed to turn a hard day into an enjoyable one. In particular, I would like to thank Dr. Niall M. H. Pollock, Dr. Paul Chrystal, Dr. Richard Kanyo, Sarah Bradshaw, and Dr. Lance Doucette for their guidance through my degree. Thank you to Sakina Mithaiwala for providing a fulfilling graduate experience and being both a great friend and collaborator.

Thank you to Dr. Bhavsar and everyone in the Bhavsar lab for your flexibility and guidance when I needed help. Your collaborative efforts and support were not gone unnoticed, and without you this project would not have been possible.

A big thank you to Dr. Frederick West and the members of the West Lab, as their knowledge and drug contributions as a collaborator made this project possible.

I also want to acknowledge all the other professors, lab coordinators, and TA's I have met during my time as an undergraduate and graduate student. I am grateful to have had the pleasure of working with and studying under you, as you have been monumental in my development as a student. I want to make special thanks to my parents, Pina and Lorne, and my girlfriend Jessica for their continual support, love, and pride in my work. I have little doubt that their contribution to this thesis is as great as my own, and without them this challenge would have been difficult to conquer.

Finally, I would like to thank my furry friends, Benny and Bucky, for their unconditional love and support on my toughest of days.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

ABSTRACT	II
PREFACE	IV
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	VII
LIST OF TABLES	IX
LIST OF FIGURES	X
LIST OF ABBREVIATION	XII
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 CHEMOTHERAPEUTICS IN CANCER TREATMENT	1
1 1 Alkylating agents	2
1.1.2 Platinum (II) antineonlastics	5
1.1.2 THE CHEMOTHERAPEUTIC CISPI ATIN	
1.2 His chemotine KAI Eone Cisi LATIV	
1.2.1 Osuge of cispitation and certain mechanism of action	
1.2.2 Cispititin resistance	10
1.2.5 State effects of cispitalin	
1.2.4 Factors associated with increased risk of CIO	
1.2.5 Mechanisms of CIO	
1.2.0 Current ineraptes and management for CIO	
<b>1.5</b> ZEBRAFISH AS A MODEL OF CANCER AND CIU	
1.3.1 Zebrafish as a model organism	
1.3.2 Zebrafish in cancer research	
1.3.3 Drug discovery in zebrafish	
1.3.4 The zebrafish acoustico-lateralis system and CIO	
<b>1.4</b> THE INNATE IMMUNE SYSTEM AND TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 4	
1.4.1 The innate immune system	
1.4.2 Fish vs. amniote innate immune system	
1.4.3 Vertebrate toll-like receptors	
1.4.4 Toll-like receptor structure	
<i>1.4.5</i> The Toll-like receptor 4 signalling pathway	
1.4.6 Ligands of TLR4	
1.4.7 Inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4	60
1.5 OBJECTIVES AND PURPOSE OF THESIS	
CHAPTER 2. ADOPTING ORPHAN RECEPTORS: GROUP IX/X TRANSITION METALS AS	POTENTIAL LIGANDS OF
ZEBRAFISH TLR4 HOMOLOGS	73
<b>2.1</b> INTRODUCTION	75
2.2 METHODS	79
1.2.1 Zebrafish Husbandry and Ethics	
2.2.2 Zebrafish breeding and care	
2.2.3 Metal ion treatment of larval zebrafish	
2.2.4 Neuromast quantification assav	
2.2.5 Guide RNA design and injections	
2.2.6 Confirming efficacy of tlr4 CRISPR via genotyping	

2.2.7	HEK293T cell transfection and treatment	82
2.2.8	Western blot analysis of zebrafish Tlr4 expression	83
2.2.9	HEK293T viability and IL-8 secretion	84
2.2.1	0 Phylogenetic and synteny analysis of zfTlr4	84
2.2.1	1 Statistical analysis	85
2.3	RESULTS	85
2.3.1	Nickel, cobalt, and platinum induce hair cell death in larval zebrafish neuromasts.	85
2.3.2	Zebrafish Tlr4 transfected into HEK293T cells show a modest response to nickel, but no measu	ırable
respo	nse to LPS.	87
2.3.3	Zebrafish TLR4 homologs are required for metal toxicity in PLL neuromast hair cells	89
2.4	DISCUSSION	91
CHAPTER 3	3. TOLL-LIKE RECEPTOR 4 AS A THERAPEUTIC TARGET TO REDUCE CIO IN A ZEBRAFISH ANIMAL	MODEL.
		118
3.1	INTRODUCTION	120
3.2	METHODS	125
3.2.1	Zebrafish Husbandry and Ethics	125
3.2.2	Zebrafish breeding and care	125
3.2.3	Cisplatin and TAK-242 derivative treatments of larval zebrafish	125
3.2.4	Neuromast quantification assay	126
3.2.5	Examining Neuromast Ultrastructure using SEM	126
3.2.6	Guide RNA design and injections	127
3.2.7	Confirming efficacy of tlr4 CRISPR via genotyping	127
3.2.8	HEK293T cell transfection and treatment	127
3.2.9	HEK293T viability and IL-8 secretion	127
3.2.1	0 Examining neuromast rescue using vibration induced startle response	127
3.2.1	1 Statistical analysis	129
3.3	RESULTS	130
3.3.1	Cisplatin is toxic to zebrafish neuromast hair cells in a dose-dependent manner	130
3.3.2	TAK-242 derivative 134 mitigates cisplatin induced hair cell death in zebrafish larvae	131
3.3.3	Select TAK-242 derivatives are protective against cisplatin induced hair cell death in vivo, but	not in
vitro.	133	
3.3.4	Some TAK-242 derivatives lack otoprotective effects and can be toxic to larval zebrafish	134
3.3.5	<i>Tlr4 homologs are required for both CIO and protection by derivative 134</i>	135
3.3.6	Zebrafish Tlr4 homologs transfected into HEK293T cells respond to cisplatin, but not to LPS	136
3.3.7	Protection by 134 is functional following cisplatin insult	138
3.4	DISCUSSION	140
CHAPTER 4	4. GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	178
4.1	SPECULATIONS ON ZEBRAFISH TLR4 LIGANDS	178
4.2	ZEBRAFISH IN THE EVOLUTION OF TLR4	
4.3	THE INHIBITION OF TLR4 AMELIORATES CIO	
4.3.1	Effects of cisplatin on zebrafish	183
4.3.2	Toxic effects of derivative compounds on zebrafish	185
4.3.3	Efficacy of cisplatin following derivative treatment	186
4.3.4	Behavioural analysis as a functional measure of zebrafish hair cells	
4.3.5	Insight into the effect of frequency on zebrafish behaviour	
4.4	FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND CONCLUSION	
LITERATUR	RE CITED	191

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. 1 Summary of cisplatin side-effects and current therapies	70
Table 2. 1 CRISPR-cas9 gRNA sequences and PCR primer sequences.	. 117
Table 3. 1 Summary of the effects of TLR4 antagonism by TAK-242 and its synthetic derivative when applied with cisplatin and LPS in vitro and in vivo.	ves . 176

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. 1 Cisplatin binds to DNA leading to intra- and inter-strand crosslinks	65
Figure 1. 2 Chemical structures of platinum based anticancer agents in clinical use	66
Figure 1. 3 The human ear and structures affected by cisplatin.	67
Figure 1. 4 Diagram of the structure of TLR4.	68
Figure 1. 5 TLR4 pathway following LPS activation.	69
Figure 2. 1 Metal ions bind directly to TLR4 versus co-receptor binding with LPS	98
Figure 2. 2 Multiple sequence alignment and precent identity matrix for TLR4 (full protein)	
between zebrafish, mice, and humans.	99
Figure 2. 3 Multiple sequence alignment and precent identity matrix for TLR4 extracellular L	RR
domain and intracellular TIR domain between human, mouse, and zebrafish.	100
Figure 2. 4 Depiction of the zebrafish posterior lateral line and neuromasts in 7dpf zebrafish	
larvae.	102
Figure 2. 5 Phylogenetic and synteny analysis of TLR4 sequences between species	104
Figure 2. 6 Nickel (II) chloride, cobalt (II) chloride, platinum (II) chloride, and platinum (IV)	)
chloride induce PLL hair cell death in a dose dependent manner within 6-7dnf zebrafish	105
<i>Figure 2.</i> 7 Tlr4 crispant fish treated with nickel (II) and platinum (IV).	107
Figure 2. 8 Western blot showing expression of zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb in HEK293T cell	ls.
	108
Figure 2. 9 Nickel activates zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb in HEK293T cells while LPS does no	ot. 100
Figure 2. 10 Illustration representing the 3 tlr4 homologs on zebrafish chromosome 13 and the	heir
approximate gRNA positions.	111
Figure 2. 11 Sanger Sequencing of tlr4ba crispant DNA. The tlr4ba gene was amplified from	the
genomic DNA of individual larvae via PCR using the tlr4ba forward primer	112
Figure 2. 12 Sanger Sequencing of tlr4bb crispant DNA. The tlr4bb gene was amplified from	the
genomic DNA of individual larvae via PCR using the tlr4bb reverse primer	113
Figure 2. 13 Sanger Sequencing of tlr4al crispant DNA. The tlr4al gene was amplified from the	he
genomic DNA of individual larvae via PCR using the tlr4al reverse primer	114
Figure 2. 14 Tlr4 crispant mutant larvae are less susceptible to Group 10 transition metal	
induced ototoxicity	115
Figure 3. 1 Inhibition of Tlr4 signalling by synthetic TAK-242 derivatives	146
Figure 3. 2 Depiction of the zebrafish posterior lateral line and neuromasts in 7dpf zebrafish larvae.	148
Figure 3. 3 Dose-dependent effect of cisplatin on larval zebrafish neuromast hair cell surviva	ıl.
	150
Figure 3. 4 TAK-242 derivative 134 provides protection from cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in	- •
larval zebrafish. but TAK-242 does not.	152
Figure 3. 5 Multiple TAK-242 derivatives are otoprotective against cisplatin in zebrafish larv	vae.
	154

<i>Figure 3. 6 Multiple TAK-242 derivatives have no effect on ototoxicity from cisplatin in zebrafish larvae.</i> 156
Figure 3. 7 Multiple TAK-242 derivatives increase the ototoxic effects of cisplatin in zebrafish
larvae
Figure 3. 8 Morphology of 7dpf Tlr4 crispant mutants
Figure 3. 9 Tlr4 crispant mutant larvae are less susceptible to cisplatin induced ototoxicity 161
Figure 3. 10 Zebrafish TLR4 homologs are required for the otoprotective action of the TLR4 antagonist 134
Figure 3. 11 HEK293T cells transfected with zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb are activated by cisplatin, but not LPS
Figure 3. 12 The zebrafish startle response is dependent on vibrational intensity and is reduced
in response to cisplatin induced ototoxicity
<i>Figure 3. 13 Novel tlr4 antagonists rescue hair cell function from cisplatin-induced ototoxicity.</i>
<i>Figure 3. 14 Zebrafish larvae drug incubation and neuromast staining &amp; quantification methodology. 170</i>
Figure 3. 15 Behavioural methodology for examining the startle response as a measure of
zebrafish neuromast hair cell function following cisplatin insult
Figure 3. 16 Movement of 6dpf larvae demonstrates the recovery in startle response distance
following treatment with derivative 134

## LIST OF ABBREVIATION

ACD	Allergic contact dermatitis
aLL	Anterior lateral line
ALR	Aim2-like receptors
AP-1	Activating protein-1
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ASC	Apoptosis-associated speck-like protein
BLB	Blood labrynth barrier
CARD	Caspase-recruitment domain
CD	Cluster differentiation
CIO	Cisplatin induced ototoxicity
CLR	C-type lectin receptor
	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic
CRISPR	repeats
CTR	Copper transport protein
DAMP	Damage associated molecular patterns
DASPEI	2-(4-(Dimethylamino)styryl)-N-ethylpyridinium iodide
DC	Dendritic cell
DD	Death domain
DMF	Dimethylformamide
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPOAE	Distortion product otoacoustic emissions
DRG	Dorsal root ganglia
EHF	Extended high frequency
ERK	N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea
ETOH	Ethanol
EV	Empty vector
FDA	Food and drug administration
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GPI	Glycosylphosphatidylinositol
GSH	Glutathione
HCS	Highly conserved segment
HDMS	Hexamethyldisilazane
HEI-OC1	House ear institute-Organ of Corti 1
HEK	Human embryonic kidney
HMGB	High mobility group box 1
HR	Homologous recombination
HSP	Heat shock protein
ICL	Intercellular linker region
IFN	Interferon

IL	Interleukin
IRAK	Interleukine-1 receptor-associated kinase
IRF	Interferon regulatory factor
LBP	Lipid binding protein
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRP	Lipoprotein receptor related protein
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat
LRRCT	LRR C-termini
LRRNT	LRR N-termini
MAMP	Microbial associated molecular pattern
MD	Myeloid differentiation
MMR	Mismatch repair
MRP	Multidrug resistance protein
MYA	Million years ago
NAC	N-acetylcysteine
NER	Nucleotide excision repair
NET	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NF	Nuclear factor
NK	Natural Killer
NLR	Nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptor
NO	Nitric oxide
NOX3	NADH oxidase 3
OAT	Organic anion transporter
OCT	Organic cation transporter
OHC	Outer hair cell
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
pLL	Posterior lateral line
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PYD	Pyrin domain
RLR	Retinoic acid-inducible gene-1-like receptors
RNP	Ribonuclease complex
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SEM	Scanning electron microscope
SMOC	Supramolecular organizing centre
STS	Sodium thiosulfate
SV	Stria vascularis
TALEN	transcription activator-like effector nuclease
TILLING	Targeting induced local lesions in genome
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor
TIRAP	Toll/interleukin-1 domain-containing adaptor protein
TRIF	TIR domain-containing adaptor protein inducing $\mbox{IFN}\beta$
TLR	Toll-like receptor

TMD	Trans-membrane domain
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAF	Tumour necrosis factor receptor associated factor 6
TRAM	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRP	Transient receptor potential
VS	Variable segment
WT	Wildtype

## **Chapter 1. INTRODUCTION**

Chemotherapeutics are a mainstay therapy in cancer treatment; however, due to their toxicity, treatment often leads to unwanted adverse side effects. This chapter will begin by briefly describing some of the most common chemotherapeutics used in cancer treatment, followed by the challenges associated with using one of the most common anticancer drugs, cisplatin. I will then describe how zebrafish can be utilized as an excellent model in cancer therapy and their role in drug discovery. Following the acute observation that toll-like receptor 4 can be utilized as a therapeutic target for cisplatin-induced ototoxicity, I will describe why it is a plausible target in zebrafish for testing novel drugs to reduce this undesirable side effect.

#### **1.1 Chemotherapeutics in cancer treatment**

Cancer is the second leading cause of death worldwide, with nearly 10 million deaths in 2020 (Behranvand et al., 2022; *World Health Organization: Cancer*, 2023). This disease is broadly defined by the uncontrolled growth of mutated cells within an organism with the possibility of spreading to other tissues. Cancer can arise from an interaction between four major factors: genetics, physical carcinogens (ex: UV light), chemical carcinogens (ex: alcohol), and biological carcinogens (ex: viruses). Cells are considered cancerous when mutations in their DNA lead to the inability to regulate their replication and division ((CCS), 2023). There are many different forms of cancer arising from a variety of different mutations, cell types, and environments. Unfortunately, this makes it nearly impossible to develop a universal treatment for all cancer types, however major strides have been made in the past few decades in treating this insidious disease.

Currently, there are nine major types of cancer treatment, including chemotherapy, hormone therapy, hyperthermia, immunotherapy, photodynamic therapy, radiation therapy, stem cell

transplants, surgery, and targeted therapy (National Cancer Institute 2023). Chemotherapy remains one of the primary cancer treatment methods due to its systemic application and effectiveness against metastasized cancers. Chemotherapy involves the use of drugs to stop or kill cancer cells. These drugs affect the rampant dividing nature of cancer cells by interacting with the DNA and can be further classified based on their specific mechanism of action (Bukowski, Kciuk, & Kontek, 2020). In the upcoming subsections, I will introduce one of the first and most used categories of chemotherapeutics, alkylating agents (N. C. I. (NIH), 2023). This type of chemotherapeutic will be reviewed to understand the mechanism behind these drugs, the underlying cause of their toxicity, and why cisplatin and other platinum-containing antineoplastics are unique in this category. Decades of research have attempted to improve upon cisplatin but have been somewhat unsuccessful in producing desired results. The history of alkylating agents will give context to the challenges behind drug discovery and the long and arduous process that has led to the current state of anticancer therapy. Furthermore, I will describe the evolution of platinum drugs and why cisplatin remains an effective choice in treating solid malignancies.

#### 1.1.1 Alkylating agents

The first anti-tumour agent discovered was a DNA alkylating agent called sulphur mustard, which was discovered on accident by Dr. Cornelius Packard Rhoads after the Second World War (DeVita & Chu, 2008; Ralhan & Kaur, 2007). Alkylating agents have continued to evolve over the past seven decades, and today, they continue to be some of the most common and effective anticancer drugs. Traditionally, DNA alkylation is the attachment of an alkyl group to a DNA base, but recently, the term "alkylating agents" has been used to describe any compound that covalently attaches to the DNA (Bordin et al., 2013). For example, due to their DNA binding

capability, platinum-containing antineoplastics are often grouped in with other alkylating agents, although they do not alkylate DNA bases. This report will refer to alkylating agents in this manner, as many chemotherapeutics act on the DNA without the addition of alkyl groups. Alkylating agents are commonly used in combination with other chemotherapeutics and alone for treating hematological and solid malignancies (Lehmann & Wennerberg, 2021; Ralhan & Kaur, 2007). Alkylating agents exact their effects by attacking nucleophilic sites on DNA, covalently linking the drug to DNA, and preventing replication or transcription, causing mispairing and mutations, or fragmenting the DNA after DNA repair enzymes fail (Puyo, Montaudon, & Pourquier, 2014). Due to their electrophilic nature and mechanism of action, they can exact their effects at all phases in the cell cycle, but proliferating cells are more sensitive, particularly during DNA duplication. Since alkylating agents are highly effective, they also affect highly proliferative non-cancer cells. Therefore, searching for selective compounds capable of specifically targeting cancer cells would benefit therapeutic regimens.

Alkylating agents are either monofunctional or bifunctional, depending on their ability to react with one or two DNA strands (Ralhan & Kaur, 2007). Monofunctional alkylating agents prevent the action of essential processing enzymes from accessing the DNA, while bifunctional agents create either inter-strand (between two opposite strands) and/or intra-strand (within the same strand) cross-links. Alkylating agents will covalently bond to nucleophilic nitrogen, oxygen, and phosphate atoms within the DNA, particularly the N7-atom of guanine. Some other common sites for alkylation include the N1- and N3-atoms of adenine, the N3-atom of cytosine, and the O6-atom of guanine (Puyo, Montaudon, & Pourquier, 2014). Other less common targets include the phosphate backbone, some proteins and some other nitrogen and oxygen atoms within DNA bases. Classical alkylating agents primarily target the major groove of DNA, but

more recent derivatives were made to target the minor groove of DNA (Puyo, Montaudon, & Pourquier, 2014).

Classical alkylating agents can be further divided into five different categories based on their structure and mechanism action (Chiorcea-Paquim & Oliveira-Brett, 2023; Kashifa Fathima et al., 2022; Lehmann & Wennerberg, 2021; More et al., 2019). Nitrogen mustards, the original class of anticancer agents, are both monofunctional and bifunctional organic compounds marked by a nitrogen bound to two haloalkyl groups (Highley et al., 2022; Povirk & Shuker, 1994). Depending on the specific mustard, they form covalent bonds with either the DNA backbone or DNA bases. Another group of nitrogen-based alkylating agents, nitrosoureas, are unique in comparison to many alkylating agents due to their ability to cross the blood-brain barrier, making them valuable chemotherapeutics in treating certain brain tumours (Kaina & Christmann, 2019). They covalently bond to DNA by degrading into strong electrophiles under basic conditions. Alkyl alkane sulfonates are a smaller class of alkylating agents, with busulfan being the most representative drug in this category (Gate & Tew, 2011). Busulfan is a bifunctional, sulfonylated alkylating agent activated by the generation of carbonium ions capable of producing DNA crosslinks as well as protein-DNA cross-links. Ethylenimines (aziridines) are characterized by aziridine cycles, a strained three-membered ring structure (Siddik, 2002). Their mechanism of action is the same as nitrogen mustards, except the aziridine cycles are not charged, making them less reactive compared to the haloalkyl groups. Lastly, triazenes are monofunctional alkylating agents with three adjacent nitrogen atoms called triazenyl groups (Marchesi et al., 2007). They mainly act on cells through the methylation of the O6-atom in guanine, with two alkylating agents, temozolomide and dacarbazine, currently used in a clinical setting.

### 1.1.2 Platinum (II) antineoplastics

Platinum-containing antineoplastics are a special class of drug often grouped in with alkylating agents, although they do not alkylate the DNA. They are considered alkylating agents because they act in a similar manner by binding and causing intra- and inter-strand DNA cross-links (Figure 1.1) (Parveen, 2022). The first platinum derivative used in cancer treatment was cisplatin (cis-diaminodichloroplatinum) discovered by Michele Pyrone in 1844. However, the initial discovery of this compound was not intended for cancer therapy. As for many great scientific discoveries, it was not until Barnett Rosenberg (1962) accidentally determined that platinum compounds produced by electrolysis inhibited bacterial cell division that the potential of metals as antineoplastic agents was considered (Rosenberg, Van Camp, & Krigas, 1965). It was later confirmed that pyrones chloride (now known as cisplatin) was the most potent agent, capable of recapitulating the finding of inhibiting bacterial cell division in its presence.

Following the approval of cisplatin for cancer treatment by the FDA in 1978, the search for other platinum complexes led to determining the structure-activity relationship required for platinum compounds to have antineoplastic activity. The structure-activity relationships resolved that the compounds should be neutral in charge, have a square-planar geometry, contain two cis amine ligands, and two cis anionic ligands (Cleare & Hoeschele, 1973). This initiated an extensive search for platinum compounds that fulfilled these rules and led to the discovery of carboplatin (cis-diammine(1,1-cyclobutanedicarboxylato)platinum) and oxaliplatin (R,Rcyclohexane-1,2-diamineoxalatoplatinum). The second generation of platinum chemotherapeutics, carboplatin, was approved for usage after testing by the National Cancer Institute by the FDA in 1989 and soon after, the third generation, oxaliplatin, was granted approval in 2002 (Ivanova, 2022). Fast forward to today, eight platinum-based anticancer agents are approved for clinical use, with three approved for usage worldwide (Figure 1.2)(Alassadi, Pisani, & Wheate, 2022). Due to its ability to effectively enter cells, highly reactive nature, and efficacy in producing DNA damage, cisplatin remains the chemotherapeutic of choice in the treatment of germ cell tumours, bladder cancer, and head and neck cancers (Schoch et al., 2020; Szikriszt et al., 2020; Tsvetkova & Ivanova, 2022).

#### 1.2 The chemotherapeutic Cisplatin

The discovery of cisplatin was a monumental innovation within cancer therapy and gained substantial recognition based on its ability to treat multiple solid malignancies, including testicular, ovarian, bladder, lung, cervical, head and neck cancer, etc. (Romani, 2022). The anticancer activity of cisplatin is primarily attributed to its ability to cross-link DNA, although other mechanisms such as oxidative stress, disruption of calcium homeostasis, and dysregulation of intracellular and extracellular proteins contribute to it's cytotoxicity (Dasari & Bernard Tchounwou, 2014; Makovec, 2019). Unfortunately, the usage of cisplatin is limited due to the development of resistance and toxic side effects. Resistance to cisplatin arises from a multitude of factors, including: reduced intracellular accumulation, inactivation by antioxidants, increased DNA repair, and alteration of proteins that contribute to inducing apoptosis (Siddik, 2003). Similarly, many factors contribute to the increased risk of cisplatin toxicity, which presents in many forms. These forms include, but are not limited to, nephrotoxicity, myelosuppression, neurotoxicity, gastrointestinal toxicity, and ototoxicity (Table 1.1)(Aldossary, 2019; Barabas et al., 2008; Qi et al., 2019). This section will briefly review cisplatin's usage, resistance, toxicities, and current ototoxicity therapies with an overall emphasis on ototoxicity. This review will establish why we urgently need an effective therapy against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity and why current solutions fall short in this endeavour.

#### 1.2.1 Usage of cisplatin and cellular mechanism of action

Understanding cisplatin's subsequent effects depends on comprehending how it is administered and develops into an active anticancer agent. Since the discovery of the first platinum anticancer agent, cisplatin, roughly half of all patients who receive chemotherapy are treated with a platinum drug (Armstrong-Gordon et al., 2018). Cisplatin is normally a yelloworange crystalline powder reconstituted in sterile water and administered through slow intravenous infusion (Food and Drug Administration, 2019). Cisplatin dosage varies depending on the cancer type being treated, but in general, range from 20-100mg/m2 once a day, every 3-4 weeks (Ghosh, 2019). All platinum-based antineoplastics are considered prodrugs because they require the replacement of their chloride or carboxylate constituents with water to become active. This process is called aquation and is the rate-determining step in forming DNA adducts (Ahmad, 2017). Once cisplatin is in the bloodstream, the high concentration of chloride ions (~100mM) prevents cisplatin from immediately undergoing aquation (Qi et al., 2019). It is only once it enters the cells that the reduced concentration of chloride ions (~4-22mM) facilitates aquation. A large portion (>90%) of the cisplatin within the blood is also bound to plasma proteins resulting in its inactivation and excretion by the kidneys (Makovec, 2019; J. Wang et al., 2021). Only  $\sim 10\%$  of cisplatin is free to be taken up into cells.

Cisplatin that enters cells is taken up through two main mechanisms: passive diffusion and active membrane transport. Passive diffusion is the primary mechanism of cisplatin uptake into cells and is facilitated by its neutral charge and small size, allowing for free passage through the nonpolar interior of the lipid bilayer (Eljack et al., 2014). Passive diffusion into cells is proportional to the extracellular concentration of cisplatin until ~3mM (Makovec, 2019). Active transporters such as copper transport protein 1 (CTR1) and organic cation transporter 1 and 2

(OCT1; OCT2) are reported to be involved in cisplatin uptake into the cell (Hu et al., 2017; McSweeney et al., 2021; Pabla et al., 2009). CTR1 is a ubiquitously expressed transport protein with higher expression within epithelial cells and connective tissue (Kuo et al., 2006). Organic cation and anion transporters are mainly expressed within the kidneys and/or the liver (Anzai, Kanai, & Endou, 2006; Cha et al., 2001; Hagenbuch & Meier, 2003; Wu et al., 1999). The exact mechanism behind cisplatin uptake by these transporters has yet to be demonstrated, and their involvement in its uptake is still poorly understood within the literature. Moreover, organic anion transporter 1 and 3 (OAT1; OAT3) have been implicated in cisplatin transport, toxicity, and resistance, but further study is required to elucidate their exact role (McSweeney et al., 2021; Nieskens et al., 2018; *World Health Organization: Cancer*, 2023).

Once within the cell, cisplatin forms two types of aquated derivatives: cis-

[PtCl(NH3)2(OH2)]+ (monoaquated), and cis-[Pt(NH3)2(OH2)2]2+, which locks the majority of cisplatin within the cell due to their positive charge (Eljack et al., 2014). These derivatives are highly electrophilic and will readily react with sulfhydryl groups on proteins and nitrogen donor groups on nucleic acids. Only a small portion of the cisplatin (~1%) reaches the nuclear DNA, while the rest reacts with other biomolecules in the more immediate vicinity, such as cellular/membrane proteins and RNA (Yu, Megyesi, & Price, 2008). The binding of cisplatin to purine bases results in inter- and intra-DNA cross-links (adducts) (Figure 1.1). Cisplatin reacts most readily with the N7 position of guanine forming 1,2-intrastrand d(GpG) cross-links that make up to 90% of the adducts formed, while other bases are less preferable (Ghosh, 2019). These cross-links lead to the bending and unwinding of the DNA that can be recognized by high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), forming a ternary complex. This complex prevents replication, leading to cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (Aldossary, 2019; Ghosh, 2019). DNA damage is also

recognized by other nuclear proteins, which leads to the activation of DNA repair machinery such as nucleotide excision repair (NER) and mismatch repair (MMR) that, if unsuccessful in repairing the DNA, leads to apoptosis (JOHNSTONE, PARK, & LIPPARD, 2014; Qi et al., 2019). Other signal transduction pathways are also activated in response to DNA damage, such as the p53 pathway, which also mediates cisplatin induced apoptosis (Brown, Kumar, & Tchounwou, 2019; Dasari & Bernard Tchounwou, 2014).

The formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that leads to oxidative stress is also a common mechanism implicated in the cytotoxicity of cisplatin (Brozovic, Ambriović-Ristov, & Osmak, 2010). The formation of hydroxyl radicals and superoxide by cisplatin depends on the concentration of cisplatin and exposure time (Ghosh, 2019). During DNA damage, superoxide anions, a reactive oxygen species (ROS), are produced, leading to apoptosis (Masuda, Tanaka, & Takahama, 1994). Another mechanism of ROS generation by cisplatin occurs through its interactions with thiol groups within proteins. These interactions occasionally form thiyl radicals that interact with molecular oxygen, leading to the formation of ROS (Florea & Büsselberg, 2011). Cisplatin also indirectly increases ROS by binding to free radical scavengers such as glutathione (GSH), reducing number of unbound scavengers available. ROS leads to apoptosis through both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways that include activation of Fas by Fas-ligand, mitochondrial damage, lipid peroxidation, alteration of signal transduction pathways, calcium dysregulation and further DNA damage (Florea & Büsselberg, 2011; Romani, 2022).

In summary, the primary mechanisms of cisplatin are believed to be through the formation of DNA adducts and ROS generation. Although substantial research has been directed towards understanding these mechanisms, critical gaps in knowledge of their origins remain. In particular, some mechanisms have been proposed for the direct generation of ROS as described

above and in section 1.2.5, but other signals responsible for initiating this increase have yet to be fully explored. In the following sections and chapters, I will justify why identifying alternative routes of ROS generation can lead to fruitful discoveries for improving cisplatin usage.

#### *1.2.2 Cisplatin resistance*

The development of resistance to cisplatin treatment remains one of the significant limitations for its treatment of solid tumours. Resistance to cisplatin is likely developed through an interaction between decreased drug accumulation, drug metabolism/inhibition, DNA damage repair, and inhibiting pro-apoptotic signalling (Jin et al., 2018). The many mechanisms behind cisplatin resistance are still under investigation, and those reported have been extensively reviewed elsewhere (Amable, 2016; Baird & Gray, 2023; Chen & Chang, 2019; Cocetta, Ragazzi, & Montopoli, 2020; Galluzzi et al., 2012; Galluzzi et al., 2014; Yue, Han, & Zhao, 2023). Herein, we will review a portion of the resistance mechanisms reported to contribute to cisplatin resistance.

Epigenetic and genetic modification by cisplatin initiates many complex changes in protein expression that contribute to its resistance. Epigenetics is defined as modifications to DNA that induce a change in gene regulation without affecting its primary sequence (MedlinePlus, 2023). In the realm of epigenetics, cisplatin treatment has been reported to induce the modification of the methylation patterns within genes, interfere with chromosomal remodelling proteins, modify histone acetylation and methylation, alter the expression of epigenetic reader proteins, microRNAs, long noncoding RNAs, and increase the population of cancer stem cells, which have all been linked to its resistance (Baird & Gray, 2023). These changes often result in protein expression or a lack thereof, that is directly involved in reducing

cisplatin uptake, increasing cisplatin removal, reducing DNA damage, increasing DNA repair, and more.

An increase in drug efflux is a common feature observed within drug resistance. Decreasing the cumulative cisplatin within the cells decreases its ability to interact with DNA and proteins, promoting cancer cell survival. Unfortunately, searching for transporters directly involved in cisplatin efflux has been largely unsuccessful (Shen et al., 2012). Currently, two copper transporters (ATP7A and ATP7B) have been shown to bind and remove cisplatin, reducing its active intracellular concentration (Safaei et al., 2008; Tadini-Buoninsegni et al., 2014). Multiple other proteins involved in the secretion of cisplatin have been implicated in its resistance, but these studies fail to explain how these proteins are involved (Beretta et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2012). A study by Beretta et al. demonstrated that the expression of the efflux proteins multidrug resistance protein 1 and 4 (MRP1; MRP4) increased in cisplatin-resistant cells, but only when the glycosylation of their N-termini were modified (2010). Furthermore, Shen et al. observed a 2.5-fold increase in cisplatin resistance in cells transfected with TMEM205, which is believed to act as a secretion-related protein (2012).

While little evidence has shown MRPs direct involvement in the efflux of cisplatin, they mediate the removal of its conjugates in an ATP-dependent manner (Ishikawa & Ali-Osman, 1993). Aquated cisplatin has a high affinity for cysteine-rich proteins such as GSH and metallothionein proteins, which are known to be excreted from cells by MRP2 and OATs, decreasing intracellular cisplatin concentrations (Amable, 2016; Makovec, 2019). Other transport-related mechanisms responsible for reduced cisplatin accumulation can be attributed to its reduced uptake. Treatment with cisplatin has been shown to trigger the degradation of CTR1, which plays an important role in cisplatin uptake, as described above (Section 1.2.1)(Holzer,

Manorek, & Howell, 2006). Reduced CTR1 leads to decreased cisplatin uptake, therefore facilitating resistance and cell survival.

Increasing DNA repair is another mechanism of cisplatin resistance. The NER system is responsible for removing the majority of cisplatin adducts by removing a section of nucleotides, followed by their resynthesis using the nondamaged DNA strand (Gillet & Schärer, 2006). The overexpression of NER reduces cell sensitivity to cisplatin, while defects in this system increase sensitivity to cisplatin (M. Duan et al., 2020). Preventing apoptotic signalling from DNA lesions by circumventing unrepaired DNA damage is common with resistant cancer cells and can be largely attributed to Y and B family polymerases in a process called translesion synthesis (Rocha et al., 2018). These polymerases lack the ability to proofread and have a broad catalytic site that allows them to pass over DNA lesions. Increased expression of these polymerases is often found in cisplatin-resistant cells (Zhou et al., 2013). Furthermore, their propensity towards inaccurate DNA repair can further facilitate the acquisition of cisplatin-resistant phenotypes (Rocha et al., 2018). Other DNA repair mechanisms, such as the MMR system, can detect cisplatin DNA lesions, but not repair them (Galluzzi et al., 2014). Reduced expression and mutations leading to dysfunction in this system, such as MSH2, MSH6 and MLH1, are often associated with resistance to cisplatin as well (Aebi et al., 1996). Homologous recombination (HR) machinery helps repair double-stranded breaks generated by cisplatin lesions and is often mutated within cancer cells, promoting cisplatin sensitivity (Chen & Chang, 2019; Smith et al., 2010). Cisplatin resistance is often conferred by mutations that allow for the restored function of proteins such as BARCA1/2 in the HR repair system (Shen et al., 2012).

Alterations in pro-apoptotic signal transducers and their related pathways also lead to cisplatin resistance. Pathways commonly affected by cisplatin treatment that confer resistance

are the p53 pathway and MAPK pathways, which, when mutated, reduce cisplatin efficacy in cancer patients (Branch et al., 2000). Mutating the p53 pathway likely confers cisplatin resistance by increasing tolerance of cisplatin adducts, thereby increasing translesion synthesis and gene mutagenesis (Lin & Howell, 2006). Dysfunction in the MAPK pathways facilitates resistance through many mechanisms and has been extensively reviewed by Brozovic and Osmak (2007). Pro-apoptotic proteins involved in cisplatin resistance are BCL-2 family members, c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 (JNK1), mitogen-activated proteins kinase 14 (MAPK14), and caspases (Galluzzi et al., 2012). Furthermore, it is worth noting that heat shock proteins and upregulation in autophagy show contributions to cisplatin resistance (Ren et al., 2008; Ren et al., 2010; Yamamoto et al., 2001).

These acquired resistance mechanisms are particularly detrimental to cancer treatment because of cancer cells' rapid, uncontrolled growth. They can be rapidly passed on during tumour growth, creating an even larger group of resistant cells prone to further division (Xuan, Haiyun, & Xiaozhuo, 2019). Side effects often arise in response to the toxicity of cisplatin to noncancerous cells, and these cells often inhibit division following cellular damage, which may even lead to cell death (Eekhout & De Veylder, 2019). Therefore, cells that acquire resistance may not successfully prolong their usage due to the lack of effectively transferring them forward to daughter cells. With that in mind, studying these resistance mechanisms may be beneficial in understanding possible methods to reduce cisplatin toxicity in non-cancerous cells, therefore reducing unwanted side effects. However, the key to mitigating side effects likely lies in reducing the upstream toxicity to non-cancerous cells while maintaining the anticancer efficacy of cisplatin.

### 1.2.3 Side effects of cisplatin

Treatment with cisplatin has been linked to various toxicities, including gastrointestinal (GI) toxicity, myelosuppression, gonadotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, cardiotoxicity, hepatotoxicity, neurotoxicity, ocular toxicity, and ototoxicity (Romani, 2022). Due to the systemic treatment and non-specific modality of cisplatin, all organs will likely be affected. Unfortunately, the mechanisms behind many of these side effects remain poorly understood, but significant advances have been made over the past few decades. Table 1.1 summarizes the most common clinical side effects of cisplatin and current therapies that have been approved and are either being used in clinical settings or examined for their therapeutic effects (Qi et al., 2019).

Nephrotoxicity is one of the major dose-limiting toxicities of cisplatin and arises due to the kidneys' paramount role in cisplatin excretion. The generation of nephrotoxicity from cisplatin is complex and involves a wide range of processes depicted by Casanova et al. and Qi et al. (Casanova et al., 2021; Qi et al., 2019). Kidney damage from cisplatin presents primarily as tubular damage, which reduces the glomerular filtration rate. The accumulation of cisplatin within the kidneys is often elevated far more than in other organs and is likely related to transporter-mediated uptake of cisplatin. OCTs and CTR1 are primarily expressed within the kidneys and were shown to be directly implicated in cisplatin nephrotoxicity by increasing cisplatin uptake (Ciarimboli et al., 2005; Gorboulev et al., 1997; *World Health Organization: Cancer*, 2023). Cisplatin predominantly damages the proximal and distal tubule cells in the kidneys, leading to cell death (Casanova et al., 2021). The cytotoxic mechanism of cisplatin in kidney cells is through a combination of its regular cytotoxic mechanisms: oxidative stress, DNA damage, inflammation, and the activation of pro-apoptotic pathways (Qi et al., 2019). Oxidative stress likely plays a significant role in nephrotoxicity as the proliferation of tubular epithelial

cells is low under normal conditions (Casanova et al., 2021; Vogetseder et al., 2008; Yuan et al., 2015). Furthermore, the metabolism of cisplatin conjugates within the kidney during cisplatin excretion may generate potent nephrotoxins, leading to tubular cell death (Qi et al., 2019). Some studies have shown that cisplatin can disrupt the ionic homeostasis within tubular cells, which is essential for the proper excretion of waste and water concentrations in urine (Lajer et al., 2005).

One of cisplatin's most common side effects is GI toxicity, which may be linked to the rapid proliferation of epithelial cells within the gastrointestinal tract (Shahid, Farooqui, & Khan, 2018). Nausea and vomiting are reported to occur in roughly 70-80% of patients, often resulting in dose reductions, delays in treatment, or its termination. GI toxicity can be observed directly in the small intestine by examining the damage to villi and microvilli done by cisplatin, which will atrophy even at lower dosages (Shahid, Farooqui, & Khan, 2018). Since microvilli are responsible for increasing the surface area needed to absorb nutrients properly, this would explain the side effects of cisplatin treatment, such as weight loss and anorexia. However, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea can be attributed to a release of serotonin induced by cisplatin in the GI tract (Cubeddu, 2009; Minami et al., 2003). The serotonin binds to serotonin receptors on the vagal nerve to initiate a vomiting reflex (Minami et al., 2003). The mechanisms behind cisplatin intestinal cell damage are believed to occur through a combination of ROS generation, DNA damage, pro-apoptotic signalling and inflammation within the gut (Shahid, Farooqui, & Khan, 2018).

Neurotoxicity is one of the most severe dose-dependent cisplatin toxicities, often resulting in the cessation of treatment. Most often, cisplatin-induced neuropathy presents as peripheral sensory neuropathy, where the central nervous system either signals abnormally or loses connection to the peripheral nervous system (N. I. o. N. D. a. S. (NIH), 2023; Avan et al.,

2015). Due to the ability of cisplatin to remain within the body years after administration, neuropathy often progresses after treatment is discontinued (Romani, 2022). DNA damage and mitochondrial damage are believed to be the two main mechanisms underlying cisplatin-induced neuropathy (Qi et al., 2019). Cisplatin accumulates within dorsal root ganglia (DRG), which requires a high level of transcription to support their large size and distant connections, which makes them particularly susceptible to DNA damage and apoptosis (Yan et al., 2015). Moreover, cisplatin is known to directly affect the mitochondrial DNA of DRGs, leading to a reduction in ATP production and degeneration of axonal transport (Qi et al., 2019). The most common early symptoms of peripheral neuropathy are numbness, tingling in fingers and toes, and ankle jerks (Avan et al., 2015). In the more extreme cases, neuropathy can lead to Lhermitte's sign, which are electric shock-like sensations that arise after neck flexion (Romani, 2022).

A side effect closely related to neurotoxicity is ototoxicity. Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity (CIO) is a permanent, often bilateral sensorineural hearing loss, most often in the high-frequency range (4000-8000 Hz), but can progress towards lower frequencies in the ordinary conversation range (Chattaraj et al., 2023). The development of CIO is reported to be anywhere in the range of 10-90% of patients and has been observed to occur even after a single dosage of cisplatin (Chirtes & Albu, 2014; Custer, 2022; Knight, Kraemer, & Neuwelt, 2005; McDonald, Mattson, & Hill, 2017; VORUZ et al., 2022). This demonstrates the importance of early detection and proper management to prevent lifelong detriment to patients' quality of life. In most organs, cisplatin is eliminated within days to weeks after injection. However, it remains in the cochlea for months to years after treatment in both mice and humans, which may explain its ability to induce ototoxicity long after treatment ends (Breglio et al., 2017). Unfortunately, the clinical assessment and intervention of ototoxicity are rather poor due to a lack of standardized criteria

and poor adherence to monitoring protocols (Chattaraj et al., 2023; Santucci et al., 2021). Children are at the greatest risk of developing CIO, with the incidence being 22-77% higher in pediatric patients compared to adults (Ghosh, 2019). Although CIO can impact patient quality of life at any age, the consequences of CIO in children are severe. They can impair language development, psychosocial development, and learning difficulties (Knight, Kraemer, & Neuwelt, 2005). Therefore, it is critical to develop pharmacological prevention and mitigation strategies for the development of CIO to improve patient outcomes from cancer treatment with cisplatin. More details on CIO follow in subsequent sections.

#### 1.2.4 Factors associated with increased risk of CIO

Multiple factors have been identified to increase a patient's susceptibility to CIO. As mentioned above, young age is one of the major factors contributing to increased risk of CIO, along with cumulative dosage, old age, diet, poor renal function, melanin content, noise exposure, gender, and genetics (Callejo et al., 2015; Tserga et al., 2019). Understanding these risk factors and their underlying contributions to CIO will allow for a more tailored approach to cancer treatment to reduce the likelihood or progression of side effects. The exact reason as to why age may play a role in susceptibility for CIO is unknown. However, in young children, it may pertain to the fact that the auditory system continues to develop during early childhood and may be more susceptible to damage during development (Meijer et al., 2022).

Cumulative dosage and therapeutic regimen are considered the largest contributing factor to CIO susceptibility. In a retrospective study done using patient data from the St. Louis Children's Hospital, higher dosages per treatment as well as the cumulative dosage have a significant effect on the development of CIO, while the schedule of dosing (number of cycles, total number of doses) had little effect (Camet et al., 2021). Another study found that CIO began

to emerge at dosages above 60mg/m2, which is well within the dosage range for most malignancies (Rademaker-Lakhai et al., 2006). Yancey et al. found that cumulative dosage and male gender have independent effects in children, and in contrast to Camet et al., they also found that patients receiving a single high dosage (100 or 120mg/m2) were at greater risk of developing CIO than those patients that received multiple lower dosages (20 mg/m2 for 5 days) (2012). This difference may be due to the types of cancers being treated, the age of patients, cohort size, etc.

Yancey et al. also found that gender played a significant role in susceptibility, which can be supported by an in vitro study by Huang et al., who determined that cells derived from male patients were more susceptible to cisplatin's effects compared to female-derived cells, but only in one cell line examined (2007; 2012). However, another in vivo study by KirKim et al. contradicted these two studies' findings, which examined cisplatin's effects on male and female Wistar albino rats (2015). They found the hearing of female rates after a single dose of 16mg/kg was significantly worse compared to male rats, however, their sample size was relatively low, with only 7 rats examined in each group. Gender may play a role in CIO susceptibility for various reasons, including drug absorption, drug distribution, metabolism, drug elimination/excretion, hormones, etc. (Soldin & Mattison, 2009). However, its overall contribution is still unclear.

Another factor that has gained substantial interest for contributing to CIO susceptibility is a person's genetics. Several polymorphic genes have been purposed to contribute to cisplatin susceptibility, including those in glutathione-S-transferases (GSTP1, GSTM1, GSTM3), mitochondrial genes, excision repair cross-complementing group 2 (ERCC2), xeroderma pigmentosum complementary group C (XPC), thiopurine S-methyltransferase (TPMT), catechol

O-methyltransferase (COMT), low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 2 (LRP2) (megalin), acylphophatase-2 (ACYP2), superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2), ATP-binding cassette C subfamily member 3 (ABCC3), CTR1, and nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (NFE2)like 2 (NFE2L2) (Callejo et al., 2015; Hagleitner et al., 2015; Rybak et al., 2009; Tserga et al., 2019). The mechanisms behind their contribution to CIO can be found in Tserga et. al., and references therein (2019). However, it is worth noting that one LRP2 polymorphism (rs4668123) was only found to significantly affect CIO when combining multiple studies, demonstrating the importance of sample size when performing studies for genetic associations to disease.

## 1.2.5 Mechanisms of CIO

The molecular mechanisms behind CIO are still being investigated, but it is generally accepted that cisplatin must enter the cochlea to induce its cytotoxic effects. The blood-labyrinth barrier (BLB) presents as the first obstacle for cisplatin to enter the inner ear, as its regular function is to protect the cochlea from toxins and regulate the passage of fluids and nutrients (Juhn, Rybak, & Prado, 1981; Nyberg et al., 2019). Within the cochlea, cisplatin primarily affects the outer hair cells, cells within the stria vascularis (SV), the organ of Corti, and the spiral ganglion (Sheth et al., 2017). The SV is one of the vascular tissues of the BLB and the first site of inner ear cytotoxicity from cisplatin administration (Figure 1.3)(X. Wang et al., 2023). The SV is principally comprised of two epithelial layers, the basal/intermediate cells and the marginal cells (Liu et al., 2016). The marginal cells express one of the major transporters responsible for cisplatin uptake, CTR1, leading to cisplatin accumulation within the SV and increased permeability of the BLB (X. Wang et al., 2023). SV damage impairs the endolymph's ionic regulation, which is required for normal auditory function (Y. Li et al., 2023). Other routes of cisplatin entry are undoubtedly present within the cochlea but have yet to be determined.

Once cisplatin is taken into the SV, it enters the endolymph, where it can enter the cochlear hair cells via passive diffusion, cation transporters, transient receptor potential (TRP) channels, and mechano-electrical transduction (MET) channels (Y. Li et al., 2023). The mechanisms behind how cisplatin transitions into the endolymph are unknown and require further study. Since the hair cells of the inner ear are senescent, apoptosis from cisplatin DNA adducts that induce cell cycle arrest is unlikely. However, disruption in gene transcription from DNA adducts and/or gene mutations may still play a role, as well as non-DNA damaging mechanisms such as ROS generation, inflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and activation of pro-apoptotic pathways (Devarajan et al., 2002).

Currently, it is accepted that an increase in ROS is one of, if not the main cause of CIO (Tang et al., 2021). The different signals believed to initiate ROS generation within cochlear cells include DNA damage, an increase in inflammation and inflammatory signalling, overproduction of oxidases, depletion of antioxidant systems, and dysfunction of the mitochondria and ER (Babolmorad et al., 2021; X. Wang et al., 2023). The antioxidant system in the cochlea includes catalase, superoxide dismutase, reduced glutathione, and glutathione peroxidase (Ravi, Somani, & Rybak, 1995). One major source of ROS generation within the cochlea is NADH oxidase 3 (NOX3), which is highly expressed in the organ of Corti and spiral ganglion (Karasawa & Steyger, 2015). NOX3 is an oxidant that can be over-activated by cisplatin, leading to the generation of ROS. As mentioned in section 1.2.1, ROS can increase directly from cisplatin-induced DNA damage and depletion in antioxidant scavengers such as GSH. The overactivated NOX3 in cochlear cells produces an excess of ROS that can overwhelm endogenous antioxidant systems leaving ROS to induce apoptosis (X. Wang et al., 2023).

However, NOX3 is likely only partially responsible for ROS generation but offers a valuable therapeutic target to help mitigate cell damage.

Inflammation is also considered a significant mechanism of CIO due to the prolonged and exacerbated accumulation of proinflammatory factors and increased ROS generation. Both damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and cisplatin directly contribute to the inflammation of the cochlea (X. Wang et al., 2023). Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are innate immune signalling molecules, and their functions are discussed in more detail within section 1.4. Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) is the most well-studied proinflammatory initiator for its involvement in CIO. After cisplatin damages the cell, TLRs are activated by DAMPs, resulting in the release of inflammatory cytokines, including tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), interleukin-1- $\beta$  (IL-1 $\beta$ ), and IL-6 (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021). Concerning CIO, these cytokines induce inflammation and promote ROS generation (Gong et al., 2020). Moreover, cisplatin has also been shown to bind to TLR4 directly, inducing its activation and leading to proinflammatory cytokine release and subsequent ROS generation (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Domingo et al., 2023).

Increases in ROS also upregulates the expression transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPV1) channel, which regulates calcium ion influx and can act as a channel through which cisplatin enters cochlear cells, increasing CIO (X. Wang et al., 2023). TRPV1 channels are highly expressed within the basal turn's outer hair cells (OHCs) and are activated by the oxidative stress produced by inflammation and NOX3. This leads to increased cisplatin accumulation as well as increased cytosolic calcium, both of which induce apoptosis in cochlear cells (Mukherjea et al., 2008). Furthermore, the increase in ROS is linked to activation of the

transcription factor signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), which promotes inflammation and activation of p53 leading to cell death (Schmitt, Rubel, & Nathanson, 2009).

Dysfunction of the mitochondria also contributes to ROS generation and CIO. Mitochondrial function to produce energy for the cell and requires tightly regulated ionic gradients. The reactions leading to energy production occur within the inner mitochondrial membrane along the mitochondrial respiratory chain. These complexes perform multiple redox reactions that lead to ATP generation and the conversion of oxygen to water. It is unsurprising that the mitochondria contribute to ROS generation in the presence of cisplatin (Marullo et al., 2013). Cisplatin damages the mitochondria by activating Bcl-2 family members, leading to mitochondrial permeability transition and release of cytochrome C, activating caspases and apoptosis (Devarajan et al., 2002). Cisplatin also binds directly to mitochondrial DNA, inhibiting replication and transcription of genes, leading to the accumulation of misfolded proteins and cell death (Wisnovsky et al., 2013).

Understanding the mechanisms currently known to lead to CIO allows for the investigation into therapies based on rational drug design for treating this debilitating condition. Although the mechanisms behind CIO have yet to be fully elucidated, continued research in this area would uncover new mechanisms and validate new targets for the therapy of CIO. Moreover, understanding how cisplatin induces CIO can improve the design for the next generation of platinum therapeutics and lessen their impact to cells of the inner ear.

#### 1.2.6 Current therapies and management for CIO

Recently, sodium thiosulfate (STS), also known as Pedmark®, was approved by the FDA on September 20th, 2022 as an approved treatment to mitigate CIO ((FDA), 2022). The drug was approved following two clinical randomized controlled trials, SIOPEL6 (NCT006521320 and
COG ACCL0431 (NCT00716976). SIOPEL6 involved 114 patients younger than 18 treated with six cycles of cisplatin and various dosages of STS (10g/m2, 15g/m2, 20g/m2) (Brock et al., 2018). They found that those treated with cisplatin and 20g/m2 STS had a 48% lower incidence of hearing loss and a 6% greater survival rate after three years. Cisplatin was delivered intravenously over 6 hours at 80mg/m2 for two preoperative and two postoperative cycles, while STS was delivered intravenously over 15 minutes six hours after cisplatin infusion. COG ACCL0431 involved 135 pediatric patients being treated with cisplatin with cumulative doses of at least 200mg/m2 or greater ((FDA), 2022; Freyer et al., 2017). Patients treated with STS and cisplatin showed 14% lower incidence of hearing loss compared to cisplatin only controls. Patients receiving STS were dosed at 16g/m2 six hours after cisplatin treatment. Systemically administered STS can complex with cisplatin and be excreted by the kidneys, reducing free cisplatin that may cause undesirable effects (Tang et al., 2021). On top of its improved removal of cisplatin, STS further mitigates CIO by acting as a free radical scavenger, reducing ROS, and preventing its many pro-apoptotic effects. Multiple pre-clinical in vitro and in vivo studies, as well as other clinical studies, have supported the efficacy of STS in reducing CIO, however due to its mechanism of action, there is a possibility that it would reduce cisplatin's anti-tumour effects (Dickey et al., 2005; Duinkerken et al., 2021; Leitao & Blakley, 2003; Muldoon et al., 2000; Neuwelt et al., 1996; Wang et al., 2003). A current solution to this problem is transtympanic delivery, which would localize its effects on the inner ear (Duinkerken et al., 2021). Developing a therapy that does not directly interact with cisplatin, but mitigates its side effects could further improve treatment of CIO alongside STS.

Other antioxidants have been examined for their therapeutic efficacy in reducing CIO. These include, but are not limited to, N-acetylcysteine (NAC), amifostine, lipoic acid,

glutathione ester, melatonin, methylthiobenzoic acid (MTBA), and D- or L-methionine, trolox, dexamethasone, resveratrol, ginkgo biloba extract, diethyldithiocarbamate, methylthiobenzoate, caffeic acid, thiourea, ebselen, and salycilate (Fetoni & Astolfi, 2020). Like STS, NAC is a thiol-containing compound that acts as a potent antioxidant and can bind to cisplatin to facilitate its excretion. A randomized nonblinded clinical trial by Yoo et al. evaluated the efficacy of 2% L-NAC and found improved CIO by 18% in two patients, but was overall ineffective (2014). This inconsistent data has been observed with the use of other antioxidants, which has led to their delay in further application for the treatment of CIO (Freyer et al., 2020; Ha et al., 2021). Other promising treatment options are phenolic compounds such as curcumin and ferulic acid, which increase the activation of antioxidant pathways and can downregulate the activity of apoptotic pathways (Fetoni & Astolfi, 2020).

Due to the limited treatment options for CIO, further innovations are paramount to improving the quality of life for patients following cisplatin treatment. Two national associations provide ototoxicity surveillance guidelines: The American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA) and The American Academy of Audiology (AAA). The ASHA recommends pre-treatment baseline monitoring, interval monitoring during treatment, and posttreatment monitoring at the end of treatment, three months, and six months post-cisplatin therapy (Konrad-Martin et al., 2005). The AAA also recommends pre-treatment baseline monitoring and 3-month post-treatment monitoring but also proposes annual monitoring in those that have undergone or are currently undergoing head and neck radiation as this is a factor for increased risk of CIO ("American Academy of Audiology Position Statement and Clinical Practice Guidelines: Ototoxicity Monitoring," 2009). Audiological testing to examine cochlear injury includes basic audiological assessment, otoacoustic emission measurement, extended high

frequency (EHF) pure tone audiometry, speech and impedance audiometry, auditory brainstem response test, and distortion product otoacoustic emissions (DPOAEs) testing (Chirtes & Albu, 2014). These tests evaluate the ability of a patient to hear, especially in the high frequencies (4-8 kHz) often affected by CIO. DPOAEs are particularly important in testing for CIO as it is more sensitive than EHF testing, depending on the integrity of hair cells themselves, and does not rely on patient response, which could be compromised or complicated, especially in children, during and after their treatment (Chirtes & Albu, 2014).

In summary, cancer treatment is often considered a double-edged sword in that it helps or can even cure a life-threatening disease but can also leave you with lifelong conditions impacting your everyday life. While there are attempts to reduce these side effects, many have been unsuccessful due to a variety of challenges. One challenge arises in the availability of appropriate platforms that are accessible yet faithfully represent the in vivo complexity for dissecting the mechanisms behind CIO. Furthermore, many of these platforms fall short in their ability to empirically test innovative anti-CIO approaches. As such, in the following section, we consider a role for zebrafish larvae in assisting with filling this gap.

### 1.3 Zebrafish as a model of cancer and CIO

#### 1.3.1 Zebrafish as a model organism

The use of zebrafish as an animal model has grown considerably in past decades and has been used to study human nervous system diseases, cardiovascular and metabolic diseases, mental disorders, cancer and more (Choi et al., 2021; Philip et al., 2017; Tonon & Grassi, 2023; K. Wang et al., 2023). The utility of in vivo models compared to cell cultures stems first and foremost from the benefit of examining the physiological functions and systemic interactions that give rise to a response within an organism (Barré-Sinoussi & Montagutelli, 2015; Murphy, 1991; *World Health Organization: Cancer*, 2023). For example, pepsin secretion requires inputs from the nervous system and other hormones such as secretin, gastrin, and cholecystokinin (Murphy, 1991). Using whole organisms also allows for a broader range of disease phenotypes to manifest during experimentation (MacRae & Peterson, 2015). Cell culture can facilitate the formation of hypotheses, specific interactions at a cellular level, and postulation of models, but whole organisms are needed to demonstrate their application. The use of zebrafish as an animal model for disease and novel therapeutics was proposed in 1981 by Streisinger et al., who examined the production of genetic homozygotes in zebrafish embryos (1981). Later in 2001, the zebrafish genome-sequencing project established a complete genome sequence for zebrafish, which led to the finding that greater than 80% of disease-related genes in humans can be related to at least one zebrafish ortholog (Howe et al., 2013). The sequencing and mapping of the zebrafish genome greatly facilitated its transition into the spotlight as an animal model.

Several innate characteristics of the zebrafish are advantageous over rodents and other models when studying vertebrate diseases (Adefegha et al., 2022; Hason & Bartůněk, 2019; Kwiatkowska et al., 2022; Raby et al., 2020; Tonon & Grassi, 2023). They have large clutch sizes (>100 embryos) that develop outside the body quickly, which allows for high throughput assays and large studies to be performed in a relatively short period (Philip et al., 2017). Compared to murine models, which often only have single-digit sample sizes, the large number of zebrafish larvae also facilitates simultaneous testing of multiple hypotheses, or empirical testing of interventions, at once. Multiple different technologies and assays have been developed to facilitate larval phenotyping and observation to optimize the utilization of their high numbers (d'Alençon et al., 2010; Lessman, 2011; McCarroll et al., 2016; Miscevic, Rotstein, & Wen, 2012; Pulak, 2016; G. Wang et al., 2015; Yew et al., 2012). Not only can they produce mass number of embryos at once, but their larvae are also small (~4 mm in length) and robust, which helps reduce housing and maintenance costs compared to other models. Furthermore, the small size of the animals means they will often require less reagent when testing, allowing for the conservation of materials with greater statistical output. Moreover, the transparent larvae make it possible to visualize and document processes happening within the body in real-time, which is more difficult in rodents. Together, these advantages demonstrate the added value zebrafish provide as an animal model that complements what can be traditionally achieved within cell culture and more established models such as rodents.

As with every model, there are limitations and drawbacks to zebrafish, many of which parallel its advantages. The ability to examine interactions between a whole system is an advantage but can also make it difficult to isolate and identify underlying causes of an observed effect. Furthermore, the small size of zebrafish can make it challenging to collect and analyze tissue. Zebrafish are also aquatic poikilotherms, and their environment can both complicate and facilitate drug administration and functional assays. Their inability to consistently regulate body temperature can also be a challenge during xenotransplantation due to compromising the cells from humans, which require roughly 37°C temperatures to survive (Barriuso, Nagaraju, & Hurlstone, 2015). Furthermore, relatively few antibodies are available for immunohistochemical studies compared to other animal models. Lastly, their time to sexual maturity is around three months, which is similar to rodents, and provides no additional benefit to the generation of knockouts and transgenics (Astone et al., 2017; Philip et al., 2017).

### 1.3.2 Zebrafish in cancer research

As described above, there are multiple advantages to using zebrafish as a model for vertebrate disease and recently, zebrafish contributions to cancer research have grown rapidly.

Over 50 models of human cancer have been established in zebrafish that closely resemble their human counterparts (Casey & Stewart, 2020). Some of these cancers include leukemia, melanoma, pancreatic cancer, liver cancer, testicular cancer, glioma, thyroid cancer, neuroblastoma, and sarcoma (Astone et al., 2017; Casey & Stewart, 2020; White, Rose, & Zon, 2013; Yen, White, & Stemple, 2014). Due to the high degree of protein and signalling conservation within zebrafish, these cancer models have helped us identify pathways that underlie their growth, metastasis and treatment response (Yen, White, & Stemple, 2014). More importantly, a plethora of new therapies and drugs have been identified that mitigate disease phenotypes and have been moved into clinical trials (Letrado et al., 2018). Zebrafish have also been paramount in understanding the molecular actions of these drugs and appropriate dosages. Some of these drugs include ProHema for the treatment of hematological malignancies, Rosuvastatin as an antiangiogenesis drug, leflunomide for melanoma, amitriptyline and paroxetine for the treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma, and rapamycin, disulfiram, and tanshinone for treatment of melanoma (Letrado et al., 2018). Detailed reviews on specific cancer models generated in zebrafish can be found elsewhere (Astone et al., 2017; McConnell, Noonan, & Zon, 2021; Yen, White, & Stemple, 2014), herein a brief outline of techniques used to generate cancer models are discussed.

In cancer research, zebrafish provide a unique advantage over rodent models because of their reduced cost and time for assessing novel therapies, genetic and drug screening scalability, and optical transparency for monitoring and in vivo imaging (Casey & Stewart, 2020). However, rodents remain a widely implemented pre-clinical model due to their physiological similarity to humans, accurate drug delivery, dosing and metabolism (Singhal et al., 2023). Several strategies have been used to generate zebrafish cancer models, primarily engineering mutant lines,

generating transgenic lines and xenotransplantation (Letrado et al., 2018). Forward genetic screens using carcinogens and retroviruses in zebrafish are often used to identify new genes responsible for generating cancers and their mechanism of action (Kwiatkowska et al., 2022; Raby et al., 2020). N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) is a commonly used reagent to induce point mutations in Drosophila, mice, and zebrafish (Grunwald & Streisinger, 1992; Mullins et al., 1994; Russell et al., 1979; Zimmering & Thompson, 1984). ENU is a highly potent mutagen that induces mutations in pre- and post-meiotic cells, making it useful for screening the effects of new mutations (Trevarrow, 2011). Following the generation of tumours, molecular techniques such as oligonucleotide microarrays and in situ hybridization are used to determine gene expression profiles, allowing for the identification of mutations that give rise to these malignancies and their similarities to human tumour expression profiles (Koudijs et al., 2005; Lam et al., 2006; Sonawane et al., 2005). Reverse genetic screens through targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) is another commonly used technique to generate zebrafish cancer models that are known to be linked to specific genes (McCallum et al., 2000). This approach can generate mutations in almost any allele within zebrafish and produce specific malignancies for further study (Wienholds et al., 2002).

While classic reverse genetic approaches are highly useful, and TILLING holds some promise, other forward genetic manipulation techniques have since been developed. Gene editing technologies such as zinc-finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), were innovative but are now supplanted mainly by clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR). These have improved our ability to precisely modify and study genes, especially those involved in cancer generation, progression, and prevention. These site-specific endonucleases generally work by providing a protein (zinc-finger, TALE, Cas9,

respectively) with instructions (either through its structure (ZFN and TALEN) or an exogenous sequence (CRISPR)) that allows them to recognize a portion of the genome to induce single or double-stranded breaks leading to mutations during the repair process (Gaj, Gersbach, & Barbas, 2013). On the other hand, transgenic zebrafish models allow for the expression of genes throughout or within specific tissues of the zebrafish to determine their effects (Raby et al., 2020). Using a tissue-specific promoters, different oncogenes such as *Myc*, *Akt2*, *mitfa*, *ptf1a*, and more have been expressed to give rise to models of acute lymphoid leukemia, different types of sarcomas, melanoma, pancreatic cancer, liver cancer, brain tumours, etc. within their respective tissues (Borga et al., 2019; Gutierrez et al., 2011; Patton et al., 2005; Yang et al., 2004). Moreover, combining the optical advantages of the zebrafish and transgenics facilitates the use of fluorescent proteins that allow for the visualization of cells, processes, and subcellular structures involved in cancer (Gamble et al., 2021).

Another advantageous model of human cancers gaining substantial notoriety in zebrafish is xenograft transplantation. Xenograft transplantation is the process of taking living cells from one species and implanting them into an organism of another species (Hason & Bartůněk, 2019). Xenotransplantation in other animal models, such as rodents, is limited by the number of animals that can be grafted, the rejection of grafted cells by an immune response, and the inability to view the tumour and its cells in vitro. Zebrafish do not fully develop an adaptive immune response until roughly 28 days post-fertilization (dpf), allowing for the xenotransplantation of human cells without immune rejection, suppressive drugs, or immunocompromised animal models (Lam et al., 2004). This makes zebrafish embryos and larvae the preferred age for xenotransplantation, with two dpf embryos being the most commonly used timepoint (Gamble et al., 2021). Due to their fast development, larvae already have brains, hearts, and livers. The use

of xenografts in zebrafish is especially beneficial when examining therapeutics and processes such as angiogenesis, tumour cell extravasation, migration, and metastasis due to the ability to visualize these processes in vivo (Letrado et al., 2018; Nicoli et al., 2007). Unfortunately, zebrafish larvae grow and flourish in 28°C, but human cells are only stable within a narrow range surrounding 37°C (Gamble et al., 2021). However, zebrafish can survive in temperatures ranging between 32°C and 36°C and others have reported 34-35°C as a compromise for both the cells and the zebrafish host (Barriuso, Nagaraju, & Hurlstone, 2015; Singhal et al., 2023). Another advantage in zebrafish comes from their small size, as only a population of 100 donor cells or less is often required for transplantation, while much greater cell masses are required in rodent models (Gamble et al., 2021). This also comes with the disadvantage that small cell populations can increase heterogeneity between xenotransplant models. In light of these advantages, the major utility of zebrafish xenografts comes from their ability to evaluate antitumour therapies and the impact of other drugs co-administered alongside them. The xenograft transplantation models of human cancers in zebrafish and their drawbacks have been discussed previously in more detail elsewhere (Barriuso, Nagaraju, & Hurlstone, 2015; Cabezas-Sáinz et al., 2020; Hason & Bartůněk, 2019).

### 1.3.3 Drug discovery in zebrafish

One of the most prominent applications of the models described above is in discovering novel therapeutics for disease. Zebrafish can readily identify compounds that mitigate or cure disease phenotypes, characterize the compounds used, and observe any additional benefits or issues with drug application. Letrado et al. reported that up until 2018, there were 355 instances of zebrafish being used for drug discovery in cancer therapy (2018). Compared to screening drugs in cell culture based on their action on a specific target, phenotypic drug screening in

zebrafish is beneficial because it does not require a known target to be validated to determine its effects (MacRae & Peterson, 2015; Rennekamp & Peterson, 2015). One can observe effects generated through multiple molecular targets simultaneously. For example, the effects of ezetimibe were known before Niemann-Pick C1-like protein 1 (NPC1L1) was discovered as its molecular target, and the antiarrhythmic agent amiodarone was found to exert its effects on multiple structures at once long after its discovery (Clader, 2004; Kodama, Kamiya, & Toyama, 1997). Zebrafish also provide early insight into the toxicity of novel drugs, which is often not performed until late into preclinical testing in rodent models (MacRae & Peterson, 2015). This allows drugs to be removed from further testing earlier in development, conserving time, effort, and money. Zebrafish are often used to examine novel classes of compounds, but because of their ability to demonstrate multiple effects at once, they have also been used to discover new uses and targets for existing compounds. For example, cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitors that were already clinically approved as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, were identified as potential therapeutics for leukemia in a transgenic acute myeloid leukemia zebrafish model through a high throughput drug screen (Yeh et al., 2009).

One hurdle to overcome when testing drugs on zebrafish is determining the mechanism of action after observing phenotypic effects. For example, direct binding partners are often more easily identified within cell culture. This shortcoming can be overcome by comparing the structure of the novel compound with other well-established compounds, examining its binding activity through affinity purification, looking for compounds that produce similar phenotypes, assessing expression differences within the model, computational analyses, protein microarrays, and more (Rennekamp & Peterson, 2015; Tamplin et al., 2012; Ziegler et al., 2013).

Screening of compounds in zebrafish is most often performed through bath application of the drugs. Bath application implies that the compounds are administered to the media within which the zebrafish are immersed. They can then absorb compounds through their skin and by swallowing (Zhang et al., 2015). However, this can be complicated depending on the characteristics of the drug, especially if it has a low solubility, permeability to the zebrafish, or is insoluble in water. These issues can be overcome by first dissolving the compound of interest in a vehicle, such as DMF (Dimethylformamide) or DMSO (Dimethyl sulfoxide), which can then be added to the media at a known concentration. Another option is through direct administration of the drug, but this reduces the high-throughput nature of the model and is much more invasive, possibly interfering with experimental outcomes (Kinkel et al., 2010).

## 1.3.4 The zebrafish acoustico-lateralis system and CIO

CIO primarily affects the inner ear hair cells within mammals. Zebrafish do not contain a cochlear structure; however, they do contain multiple structures homologous to the inner ear's hair cells of mammals. This subsection will describe why their acoustico-lateralis system provides an excellent model for studying CIO and related therapies.

Like all fish, zebrafish likely use their auditory system to learn about their environment, protect against threats, and communicate with one another (Popper & Sisneros, 2022; Poulsen et al., 2021). The acoustico-lateralis system of zebrafish is functioning by five dpf and refers to their inner ear and lateral line system (Bhandiwad et al., 2018; Han et al., 2020; Lara et al., 2022; Moorman, 2001). Unlike mammals, zebrafish do not possess a cochlea within their inner ear, however, they have an accessory hearing structure called the Weberian ossicle that transmits vibrations from their swim bladder to the inner ear (Ladich & Schulz-Mirbach, 2016; Moorman, 2001). It is important to note, however, that the Weberian ossicle is not developed in zebrafish larvae, although they are reported to process auditory information as well as adults (Higgs et al., 2003; Inoue, Tanimoto, & Oda, 2013). In addition to their Weberian ossicle, the zebrafish inner ear is composed of three semicircular canals, the saccule/saccule otolith, lagena/lagena otolith, sinus impar, utricle/utricle otolith, macula lagenae, macula sacculi, and macula utriculi (Baxendale & Whitfield, 2016; Ladich & Schulz-Mirbach, 2016; Popper & Sisneros, 2022). The otoliths begin to form around 18 hours post fertilization (hpf) and utricular and saccular otoliths are fully formed by 36 hpf (Moorman, 2001).

The inner ear can be divided into upper and lower sections, with the upper inner ear comprising the vestibular system and consisting of the semicircular canals and the utricle (Ladich & Schulz-Mirbach, 2016). The lower inner ear consists of the saccule and lagena. The maculae are embedded within their respective otolith and comprise sensory hair cells. Like other fish, the vestibular system is used to help determine body position and motion by changes in acceleration, while the saccule and lagena are the main auditory organs (Inoue, Tanimoto, & Oda, 2013; Ladich & Schulz-Mirbach, 2016). Adult zebrafish can detect frequencies up to 4000 Hz, which is mainly mediated by their Weberian ossicle (Poulsen et al., 2021). Larvae, on the other hand, are reported to respond behaviourally to frequencies from 50Hz to 1200Hz and similar to goldfish, they have been shown to respond maximally with frequencies between 100-400Hz (Bang et al., 2002; Bhandiwad et al., 2018; Lu & DeSmidt, 2013; Zeddies & Fay, 2005). These studies use a wide range of methods to examine larval "hearing", including recording microphonic potentials with direct stimulation to the inner ear (Bang et al., 2002), measuring the acoustic evoked startle response (Bhandiwad et al., 2018; Lu & DeSmidt, 2013), measurement of the auditory brainstem response (Higgs et al., 2003), and examining neuronal activation using calcium imaging (Poulsen et al., 2021; Privat et al., 2019; Vanwalleghem, Heap, & Scott, 2017).

The lateral line is reported to be most sensitive to lower frequencies between 50 and 450 Hz, with a loss in auditory responsiveness occurring with a reduction in hair cells (Bang et al., 2002; Lara et al., 2022; Privat et al., 2019). This begins to demonstrate the potential of zebrafish larvae for modelling hearing loss due to hair cell damage.

The zebrafish lateral line is used to detect changes in water movement, allowing them to orient themselves in currents, detect obstacles, prey, predators, and each other (Colombi, Scianna, & Preziosi, 2020; Thomas et al., 2015). The lateral line is comprised of superficial clusters of mechanosensory hair cells called neuromasts, which are deposited around the head in the anterior lateral line (aLL) system and the body in the posterior lateral line (pLL) system (Ghysen & Dambly-Chaudière, 2004; Hardy et al., 2021). The development of the pLL begins around 20 hpf, with the formation of a placode of ~100 cells called the primordium, which is posterior to the otic vesicle of the inner ear (Colombi, Scianna, & Preziosi, 2020; Dalle Nogare & Chitnis, 2017; Gompel et al., 2001). The primordium migrates using signals from chemokine stromal-derived factor 1 (SDF1) down the body of the larvae and deposits 6-8 neuromast progenitors (proneuromasts) in stereotypical positions (Colombi, Scianna, & Preziosi, 2020; Ghysen & Dambly-Chaudière, 2004; Valentin, Haas, & Gilmour, 2007). The deposition and development of proneuromasts continues until around 48 hpf, by which time they have differentiated into support cells and hair cells to form mature neuromasts (Colombi, Scianna, & Preziosi, 2020; Gompel et al., 2001). pLL neuromasts are connected to the hindbrain via peripheral bipolar neurons that merge into a cluster called the pLL ganglion behind the ear (Alexandre & Ghysen, 1999). The lateral line becomes fully functional by five dpf and continues to develop throughout adulthood (Domarecka et al., 2020; Ma & Raible, 2009; Thomas et al.,

2015). Due to the highly regulated developmental process of the lateral line, the positions and structure of neuromasts between different larvae are conserved (Gompel et al., 2001).

Neuromasts are comprised of a ring of support cells surrounded by a central cluster of 8-20 hair cells at five dpf (Ma & Raible, 2009). While there are differences, the hair cells within neuromasts share functional and morphological similarities to the inner ear hair cells of mammals (Chiu et al., 2008; Domarecka et al., 2020). Similarities are even found at the genetic level, with many genes implicated in mechanotransduction, hair cell integrity, synapse transmission, and survival, sharing a close counterpart in mammals (Nicolson, 2005). Neuromast hair cells contain stereocilia and kinocilia organized into rows that increase in height towards one end (Nicolson, 2005). The hair cells in neuromasts are organized into two groups, with their cilia bundles mirroring one another, which allows them to respond to stimuli from opposite directions (Hardy et al., 2021; Thomas et al., 2015). The cilia are surrounded by a gelatinous cupula that deforms during movement, activating hair cells (Nicolson, 2005). Along with the high degree of similarity to mammals, the superficial position of the lateral line neuromasts are accessible to drug treatment, making them an ideal model for studying mechanisms of hair cell death from ototoxic insult.

Zebrafish larvae are a common model used to investigate ototoxicity and compounds capable of protecting against it (Domarecka et al., 2020). Fluorescent microscopy involving the lateral line is a well-established method for examining ototoxicity (Baxendale & Whitfield, 2016; Lee et al., 2022; Ou, Raible, & Rubel, 2007; Wertman et al., 2020). Dyes such as FM1-43, DASPEI (2-(4-(Dimethylamino)styryl)-N-ethylpyridinium iodide), and YO-PRO1 are all commonly employed for these purposes (Baxendale & Whitfield, 2016; Owens et al., 2008). Stains are added to the media and absorbed by the hair cells after cisplatin treatment through bath

application. Since the compounds mentioned above are vital dyes, this method allows for the selective examination of living hair cells and support cells within neuromasts, as they are the only exposed structures available for labelling (Baxendale & Whitfield, 2016). DASPEI is a mitochondrial stain capable of depicting cellular survival based on mitochondria function and density (Wong et al., 2023). Since cisplatin induces neuromast hair cell death in a dose dependent manner, DASPEI fluorescence can be used to assess hair cell viability based on fluorescent intensity (Harris et al., 2003; Ton & Parng, 2005).

Another method that complements morphological analyses for examining ototoxicity is using behavioural assays. Due to the requirement of functional hair cells in certain behaviours, ototoxic compounds have been shown to impair the startle response and rheotaxis (Buck et al., 2012; Niihori et al., 2015; Todd et al., 2017). The startle response is an autonomous reflex evoked during exposure to sudden aversive external stimuli and is present within larvae by five dpf, aligning with the maturation of the lateral line neuromasts (Buck et al., 2012). Behavioural analysis provides information on the ability of hair cells to function after exposure to ototoxic substances and compounds purposed as otoprotectants. Furthermore, with advancements in technology available, high throughput behaviour assays are emerging in zebrafish movement tracking, allowing for the screening of thousands of chemicals and their effects (Bang et al., 2002; Han et al., 2020; Tantry, Harini, & Santhakumar, 2022).

While the lateral line provides unique advantages to examining ototoxic compounds, it also has several limitations. First, it does not adequately model cisplatin's barriers to entering and inducing its toxic effects on hair cells. Second, many structures primarily affected by cisplatin, such as the SV, are absent in zebrafish. This prevents any information on the effects of drugs on these structures from being observed. Third, zebrafish share only 70% homology with the human

genome and thus may lack or express proteins not found in their mammalian counterparts. Additionally, zebrafish can regenerate hair cells and associated structures, which does not occur in terminally differentiated mammalian hair cells (Hardy et al., 2021). It is worth noting that it takes up to 24 hours for the functional regeneration of hair cells after damage. Therefore, a mammalian system may not be faithfully represented by zebrafish and would require complementing studies in mammalian models to confirm findings.

### 1.4 The innate immune system and toll-like receptor 4

## *1.4.1 The innate immune system*

Innate immunity is the first system to evolve as a line of defense against invading pathogens and foreign particles (Li & Wu, 2021). It plays a crucial role in generating an inflammatory response to eliminate pathogens while priming and activating the adaptive immune system (Kaur & Secord, 2019). The skin acts as a physical barrier between the environment and the host, protecting it from many possible threats, along with mucosal tissue, low stomach pH, saliva, and other secretions (Riera Romo, Pérez-Martínez, & Castillo Ferrer, 2016; Turvey & Broide, 2010). If a pathogen can enter the host, it will be greeted with a barrage of circulating innate immune proteins (Turvey & Broide, 2010). These include complement proteins, LPS binding protein (LBP), pentraxins, antimicrobial peptides, and collectins. These proteins help initiate immune responses and clearance of pathogens (Turvey & Broide, 2010). The other major component of innate immunity is through a cellular defence system and includes monocytes, neutrophils, macrophages, dendritic cells, natural killer cells, mast cells, eosinophils, and basophils (Li & Wu, 2021). These cells mainly use three strategies in the recognition of foreign invaders: recognition of DAMPs, recognition of cells lacking expression of host-specific molecules, and recognition of pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Kaur & Secord,

2019). PAMPs are essential in a microorganism function, are often found in multiple different pathogens, and have unique characteristics from the host that enables a distinction between host and invasive microbes (Zindel & Kubes, 2020).

PAMP recognition is achieved by displaying germ line-encoded receptors on their surface called pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (Brubaker et al., 2015). PRRs are categorized into five classes based on domain homology: AIM2-like receptors (ALRs), C-type lectin receptors (CLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene-1-like receptors (RLRs), and nucleotide oligomerization domain-like receptors (NLRs), toll-like receptors (TLRs). NLRs are composed of a nucleotidebinding domain, a leucine-rich repeat domain, and an N-terminal effector domain. They are responsible for recognizing intracellular PAMPs such as diaminopimelic acid, ssRNA, muramyl dipeptide (Li & Wu, 2021). RLRs are also intracellular receptors mainly responsible for the recognition of viral nucleic acids (Rehwinkel & Gack, 2020). They are classified through the central DexD/H helicase domain that acts as both an ATPase and helicase. The last intracellular class of PRRs are ALRs, which can recognize intracellular DNA through their C-terminal HIN-200 domain and initiate inflammasome formation through their N-terminal domain (Man, Karki, & Kanneganti, 2016). CLRs are phagocytic transmembrane and secretory receptors that recognize carbohydrate PAMPs through their carbohydrate recognition domain (Dambuza & Brown, 2015). Finally, TLRs are transmembrane signalling proteins that function to bind a wide range of PAMPs depending on their location and structure (Kawai & Akira, 2010). TLRs will be discussed in more detail in later sections. The activation of PRRs leads to both transcriptional and cellular processes, including the release of proinflammatory cytokines and interferons, phagocytosis, autophagy, apoptosis, and cytokine processing (Li & Wu, 2021).

#### *1.4.2* Fish vs. amniote innate immune system

The innate immune system is well conserved across vertebrate groups due to the importance of the innate immune system and its components for initiating defences against pathogens (Riera Romo, Pérez-Martínez, & Castillo Ferrer, 2016). Fish rely heavily on their innate immune system mainly due to their adaptive immune response being less efficient than mammals (Kordon, Karsi, & Pinchuk, 2018). The physical barriers of fish and other vertebrates maintain the function of protecting from environmental factors and can express many shared antimicrobial peptides (Rakers et al., 2013). Unlike many amniotes, fish epithelial cells excrete mucus containing antimicrobial substances to act as a sealant and protect them from pathogens in their aquatic environment. The mucus that fish excrete on their skin contains conserved innate immune proteins, with some teleost fish expressing homologs of pentraxins, lectins, lysozymes, antibacterial peptides, and immunoglobulin M (Uribe et al., 2011; Vasta, Ahmed, & Odom, 2004). Lin et al. examined the acute phase response within zebrafish, finding many similarities to mammals as well as some fish specific acute phase proteins such as LECT2 (2007). Several complement proteins have also been described in teleost fish, such as C5a, an important chemokine in macrophage and neutrophil recruitment, and C3, which promotes phagocytosis of bacteria during infection (Dalmo & Bøgwald, 2022; Uribe et al., 2011).

Regarding innate immune cells, fish produce macrophages, natural killer-like cells, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, monocytes, and dendritic cells (DCs). In terms of innate immune PRRs, they also express multiple TLRs, CLRs, RLRs and NLRs (Chang, 2021; Dalmo & Bøgwald, 2022; Li et al., 2017; Mokhtar et al., 2023; Sahoo, 2020; Subi & Shabanamol, 2022; L. Zhang et al., 2018). ALRs are the one class of PRR not conserved within fish, and their absence suggests that fish have another mechanism for coping with pathogenic intracellular DNA (Li et al., 2017). However, it is worth noting that Boudinot et al. have reported the presence of two HIN200 domain containing genes in coelacanths (Boudinot et al., 2014). Teleost fish have two natural killer (NK) cell homologs, non-specific cytotoxic cells and NK-like cells, but these cell types are highly variable in their morphology and activities (Mokhtar et al., 2023; Yoshida et al., 1995). Macrophages are well documented within zebrafish and other teleosts, and play a crucial role in adaptive immune cell activation and phagocytosis of foreign substances (Dalmo & Bøgwald, 2022). Moreover, macrophages express TLRs on their surfaces and are an essential source of chemokines, ROS and proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF, IL-1, and IL-6, which are used to activate immune responses (Arango Duque & Descoteaux, 2014). DCs also express TLRs and mainly function in activating T-lymphocytes as APCs (Kordon, Karsi, & Pinchuk, 2018). DCs have been characterized in several teleost fish, including zebrafish (Alesci et al., 2022; Lugo-Villarino et al., 2010). Granulocytes, including neutrophils, basophils, and eosinophils, play essential roles in inflammation. Depending on the pathogen, in zebrafish these cells degranulate and excrete histamines, chemokines, proteases, and ROS at infection sites to activate tissue-resident immune cells and recruit leukocytes that further increase inflammation (Campos-Sánchez & Esteban, 2021).

# 1.4.3 Vertebrate toll-like receptors

As mentioned in previous sections, the transparency, genetic similarity to humans, highthroughput nature, the plethora of molecular tools available, and the ability to independently study innate and adaptive immunity all contribute to the use of zebrafish as an excellent model for studying innate immunity (Gomes & Mostowy, 2020; Martinez-Navarro et al., 2020; Rosowski, 2020; van der Sar et al., 2004). The innate immune system in zebrafish is active as early as 28 hours post-fertilization, expressing macrophage cells capable of distinguishing between self and foreign bodies, performing phagocytic behaviour, and mounting immune responses to bacterial infections (Herbomel, Thisse, & Thisse, 1999; Rosowski, 2020). Following macrophages, neutrophils are expressed by two days post-fertilization, representing the two largest immune cell populations within larval zebrafish (Le Guyader et al., 2008; Renshaw & Trede, 2012). Other innate and adaptive immune components such as NK cells, DCs, eosinophils, the complement system, cytokines, toll-like receptors (TLRs), nucleotide-binding oligomerization (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), T-cell receptors (TCRs), lymphocytes, immunoglobulins, major histocompatibility complexes and more have been identified in zebrafish (Renshaw & Trede, 2012; Rosowski, 2020; van der Sar et al., 2004). As in mammals, the first immune cells to arrive at the site of infection or tissue damage are neutrophils, which are attracted by an increase in hydrogen peroxide created by dual oxidase (Martinez-Navarro et al., 2020; Renshaw & Trede, 2012). Other molecules released during injury can activate PRRs, such as TLRs and NLRs.

Like many other organisms, zebrafish innate immune cells use PRRs for detection of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs). Specifically, TLRs recognize PAMPs, which are components shared between pathogens, but not host cells. This allows for a high level of evolutionary conservation in TLRs, as changes in the specificity of these receptors may be disadvantageous (Carlos G.P. Voogdt, 2016). TLRs are ancient PRRs that arose >700 million years ago, originally containing only a transmembrane domain with a cytosolic Toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021). TLRs are widely expressed throughout an organism but play a significant role in antigen presenting cells (APCs) such as macrophages, dendritic cells, and B Cells (Roach et al., 2013; van der Vaart, Spaink, & Meijer, 2012). In a recent study by Liu et al., vertebrate TLRs were grouped into eight subfamilies based on their sequence homology and ligand recognition (Carlos G.P. Voogdt, 2016; Liu et al., 2020; Quiniou, Boudinot, & Bengtén, 2013; Wang et al., 2016). The function and presence of all TLRs is not ubiquitous between vertebrates, but in general, the TLR1 family consists of TLR1, 2, 6, 10, 14, 18, 25 and 27 and recognizes lipids and lipoproteins. The TLR3 family recognizes double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), while the TLR4 and TLR5 family recognize LPS and bacterial flagellin, respectively. The TLR7 family consists of TLR7-9 and recognizes nucleic acid motifs in ssRNA and CpG-containing DNA. The TLR11 family consists of TLR11, 12, 19 and 20, with TLR11 and 12 recognizing profilin (Koblansky et al., 2013), TLR19 recognizes dsRNA (Liao & Su, 2021), and TLR20 lacks a known ligand. Like the TLR3 and TLR7 subfamilies, the TLR13 subfamily consisting of TLR13, 21, 22 and 23 also recognizes nucleic acid motifs such as CpG-containing DNA, dsRNA, and ssRNA (Liao & Su, 2021). TLR15 subfamily is only found in avian and reptile genomes and was found to be activated in a unique fashion where microbial proteases cleave the ectodomain (De Zoete et al., 2011; Liu et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2016).

The number of TLRs an organism encodes varies, with humans and mice encoding 10 and 13 TLRs, respectively (Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020). Drosophilae encode nine toll receptors, birds encode 10 TLRs, reptiles encode 13 TLRs, amphibians encode 14 TLRs, and the purple sea urchin encodes 222 TLRs (K. L. Wang et al., 2021). The reason for such a range in TLRs encoded by an organism unknown, but it is speculated to be due to a variety of factors, for example the evolution of an adaptive immune system, the environmental pathogens an organism encounters, evolutionary pressures, and gene duplication events (Carlos G.P. Voogdt, 2016; Glasauer & Neuhauss, 2014; Hughes & Piontkivska, 2008; Ishii et al., 2007; K. L. Wang et al., 2021). Zebrafish encode 20 Tlr homologs, including Tlr1-5, Tlr7-9, and Tlr18-22 (H. Chen et al.,

2021). Zebrafish Tlr1-3, Tlr5, and Tlr7-9 are orthologs to mammalian TLRs, having similar functions and structures. Others, such as Tlr18-22, represent fish-specific TLRs and appear to have little to no connection with the mammalian genome (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; K. L. Wang et al., 2021). However, some TLR genes, such as Tlr4, have high sequence similarity to their mammalian counterpart, hence their name and grouping with other TLR4s, but their function is still under scrutiny within the literature (Loes et al., 2021; Sepulcre et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2009).

Zebrafish Tlr4, 5, 8, and 20 have duplicate genes, which is likely due to fish undergoing whole genome and tandem duplication events (Glasauer & Neuhauss, 2014). These duplications can allow for the emergence of new or divided functions between the new genes through mutation. This process is called neofunctionalization and sub-functionalization respectively and is believed to be the case for a variety of molecular structures such as trypsin/chymotrypsin (Baptista et al., 1998), myoglobin/hemoglobin (Storz, Opazo, & Hoffmann, 2013), and immunoglobulins (Glasauer & Neuhauss, 2014; Hsu et al., 2006; Ohno, 1970). The exact origins and functions of the duplicates of tlr4 in zebrafish, termed tlr4ba, tlr4al, and tlr4bb, are currently uncertain. A study by Sullivan et al. proposed that a tlr4 precursor was present in an ancient common ancestor, but both humans and zebrafish evolved their own current tlr4 genes through a series of gene loss and gain, making them paralogous to one another (2009). However, a recent study by Loes et al. suggests that the gain of tlr4 occurred prior to the divergence of ray-finned and lobe-finned fishes, meaning it would be orthologous to mammalian tlr4 (2021). A tandem duplication event then led to the emergence of tlr4ba and tlr4bb, and finally a species-specific duplication of tlr4ba in zebrafish led to the emergence of a third ohnolog, tlr4al. The unknown function of these homologs further confounds their origin, as both of studies have conflicting

results regarding their relation to LPS signalling (Loes et al., 2021; Sullivan et al., 2009). This is not surprising as duplications result in a lack of selective pressure for maintaining both genes, and due to the convoluted evolution of Tlr4 in fish, this likely resulted in functional divergence from their original ancestral gene product. Further inquiry into their function will help shed light on TLR4's puzzling origin and relation to human TLR4.

Zebrafish Tlr4 expression appears to vary depending on the homolog. On the other hand, humans express TLR4 in their peripheral blood lymphocytes, adipocytes, brain, endothelium, heart, intestines, kidneys, liver, lungs, ovaries, pancreas, placenta, prostate, spleen, testis, and thymus (Vaure & Liu, 2014). Zebrafish appear to express Tlr4ba in their blood, intestines, testis, skin, brain, liver, and heart, while Tlr4bb is expressed only within the blood, skin, and heart (Jault, Pichon, & Chluba, 2004). Little information can be found on where Tlr4al is expressed however, it was found to be upregulated in response to infection by Aeromonas salmonicida (Cornet et al., 2020). Interestingly, these genes are all found within the same cluster on chromosome 13 but are expressed in different areas of the body (See Chapter 2). Examining gene expression control could provide insight into their specific functions and why some tissues express certain homologs, while others do not. Fortunately, for the purpose of this project, both Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb appear to be expressed within the skin, and it was recently found that Tlr4ba is expressed within zebrafish hair cells using RNA sequencing (Barta et al., 2018). This supports using the lateral line as a model for CIO and examining therapies associated with TLR4.

### 1.4.4 *Toll-like receptor structure*

TLRs are class 1 transmembrane receptors, meaning they usually contain three main structural domains: the ectodomain, also known as the leucine-rich repeat (LRR) repeat motif, an alpha helix transmembrane domain, and an intracellular cytoplasmic TIR domain (Figure 1.4) (Gay & Gangloff, 2007; Nie et al., 2018). This three-domain structure for TLRs first appears in the phylum Cnidaria, demonstrating its conservation throughout evolution (Carlos G.P. Voogdt, 2016; Liu et al., 2020). The ectodomain is located either outside the cell or within endosomes and acts to recognize and bind various ligands specific to the TLR. In mammals, TLR1, -2, -4, -5, -6 and -10 are localized to the plasma membrane, while TLR3, -7, -8, and -9 are found within intracellular vesicles (Sameer & Nissar, 2021). The ectodomain of TLRs contains approximately 16-29 LRRs that determine its structure and specificity (Botos, Segal, & Davies, 2011; Quiniou, Boudinot, & Bengtén, 2013). The LRR amino acid sequence has hydrophobic residues spaced in specific intervals, producing both  $\alpha$ -helices and  $\beta$ -strands resulting in a concave hook shape that is conserved as far back as jawless vertebrates (Han et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2007; Matsushima et al., 2007; Quiniou, Boudinot, & Bengtén, 2013). The LRRs provide specificity to the TLR by the number, length, and sequence of LRRs as well as the amount of N-linked glycosylation within the ectodomain. The LRR repeats can be divided into two categories: a variable segment (VS) and a highly conserved segment (HCS) (Matsushima et al., 2007). TLR4 contains 22 LRRs and has approximately 5 N-glycosylation sites (Botos, Segal, & Davies, 2011; Ohto et al., 2012). In vertebrates, the ends of the LRRs are often capped by a LRR N-termini (LRRNT) and LRR Ctermini (LRRCT), which protect the hydrophobic core of the ectodomain (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; Kang & Lee, 2011; Manavalan, Basith, & Choi, 2011; Matsushima et al., 2007). Dimerization of cell surface TLRs is dependent on the interaction between juxtamembrane sequences within their ectodomains of adjacent TLRs (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021). The binding of a ligand allows for a conformational change that makes these motifs available for binding. Furthermore, endosomal TLRs require cleavage by

cathepsins (B, S, L, H, K) and asparaginyl endopeptidase before having the ability to dimerize after ligand binding (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020).

The structure and function of the transmembrane domain (TMD) of TLR molecules are relatively understudied compared to the ecto- and TIR domains. The TM domain of human TLRs is a hydrophobic  $\alpha$ -helix and contains both a TM region and an intercellular linker region (ICL) (Mineev et al., 2017). The TMD interacts with the membrane interior through lipid-protein interactions and is likely implicated in the localization of the TLR within the cell, its movement within the membrane, and its activation (Kornilov et al., 2023; Mineev et al., 2017; Reuven, Fink, & Shai, 2014). There is a high level of amino acid conservation within the ICL of human TLRs, hinting at their crucial functional role within the cell.

The TIR domain is present on many proteins and is well conserved in animals, plants, and bacteria, demonstrating their long and conserved function in protein signalling (Burch-Smith & Dinesh-Kumar, 2007; Ve, Williams, & Kobe, 2015). The TLR TIR domain is composed of five parallel beta-sheets surrounded by five alpha helixes with three conserved "box" motifs (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; Ve, Williams, & Kobe, 2015). These box motifs are involved in structural stability and binding, and previous studies have established a greater than 50% sequence similarity in the TIR domains of TLRs (Ve, Williams, & Kobe, 2015). After TLR dimerization, the TIR domain recruits and binds various adaptor proteins, often through their own TIR domains. The adaptor proteins then interact with intracellular kinases to induce cellular responses and/or trigger the release of antimicrobial peptides, cytokines, chemokines, and ROS (Luo et al., 2020). The endoplasmic reticulum synthesizes TLRs and is responsible for assigning their specificity through glycosylation. Their folding and transportation within the cell are provided by chaperones including, but not limited to GP96, PRAT4A, and Unc93B1 (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020).

Six TLR adaptor proteins interact through their TIR domains: myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88 (MyD88), Toll/interleukin-1 domain-containing adaptor protein (TIRAP/MAL), TIR domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN<sub>β</sub> (TRIF), TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) and sterile a and armadillo-motif containing protein (SARM), B-cell adaptor for phosphoinoditide 3-kinase (BCAP), and one TLR adaptor that interacts through TIRnon-TIR interactions: SLP65/76 and Csk-interacting membrane protein (SCIMP) (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; Luo et al., 2020; O'Neill & Bowie, 2007; Ve, Williams, & Kobe, 2015). These adaptors can be split into two categories: MyD88, TIRAP, TRIF, and TRAM constitute canonical adaptor proteins that are imperative in signal induction, while SARM, BCAP and SCIMP comprise the regulatory adaptors responsible for modulating TLR responses (Luo et al., 2020). Other TLR regulatory proteins indirectly modulate TLR responses, such as C5a anaphylatoxin chemotactic receptor 1 (C5aR1), which was reported to synergize with TLR4, increasing proinflammatory signalling in mice (Hernandez et al., 2017; Shi et al., 2021). On the other hand, low-density lipoprotein 1 (LRP1) is activated by TLR4 signalling to reduce inflammatory responses from macrophages (Luo et al., 2018). All TLRs use MyD88 except TLR3, however TLRs expressed on the plasma membrane most often signal through MyD88 and TIRAP adaptor proteins, while endosomal TLRs use TRIF and TRAM (Luo et al., 2020; Ve, Williams, & Kobe, 2015). However, some TLR proteins, such as TLR4, can be internalized upon ligand binding, utilizing plasma membrane and endosomal targeted adaptors (Luo et al., 2020).

### 1.4.5 The Toll-like receptor 4 signalling pathway

The discovery of TLRs stems from the Toll receptor first discovered in Drosophila, which was originally found to contribute to the fly's development through the ligand Spatzle, but was later studied for its involvement in sensing of fungal infections (Lemaitre et al., 1996; Medzhitov, Preston-Hurlburt, & Janeway, 1997). Today, TLRs are primarily known to respond to PAMPs, providing the basis for an innate immune response by release of antimicrobial peptides, proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines that promote proliferation, differentiation, and migration of other immune cells (Carlos G.P. Voogdt, 2016). On top of PAMPs, TLRs can also be activated by other types of molecular patterns, including endogenous DAMPs, microbial associated molecular patterns (MAMPs), and xenobiotic-associated molecular patterns (XAMPs) (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021). These ligands often indicate cell damage from injury, non-pathogenic molecules, and threatening foreign bodies such as drugs and toxins.

TLR4 was the first identified member of the TLR family and is found both on the cell surface and within endolysosomes. TLR4 is unique for many reasons, but critically, it is the only known TLR to activate two separate signalling pathways responsible for vastly different activities (Rostamizadeh et al., 2022). It is the only TLR capable of secreting interferon 1 (IFN-1), and only one of two TLRs to use the TRAM adaptor protein. In mammals, TLR4's primary ligand is lipopolysaccharide (LPS), which allows for a prompt response to infection by gram-negative bacteria (Gauthier, Rotjan, & Kagan, 2022; Lu, Yeh, & Ohashi, 2008). During TLR4 signalling with LPS, the gram-negative cell wall is fragmented into LPS monomers by LPS-binding protein (LBP). This soluble protein facilitates the association of LPS to either soluble or a membraneanchored form of cluster differentiation 14 (CD14). CD14 then transfers an LPS monomer to the TLR4/MD-2 heteroduplex, leading to homodimerization between a second TLR4/MD-2/LPS complex through the lipid A motif within LPS. The dimerization of the TIR domains recruits the adaptor proteins: TIRAP or TRAM.

In humans, TLR4-LPS signalling occurs through two pathways: myeloid differentiation primary response 88 (MyD88)-dependent and MyD88-independent (TRIF) pathway (Figure 1.5). In the early phases of TLR4 activation, the MyD88-dependent pathway is activated by TIRAP interacting with TLR4 via its own TIR domain at the cell membrane (Gauthier, Rotjan, & Kagan, 2022; Kagan, Magupalli, & Wu, 2014; Kawai & Akira, 2007). This recruits a supramolecular organizing centre (SMOC) called the myddosome, which is composed of six MyD88, four interleukine-1 receptor-associated kinase 4 (IRAK4), and four IRAK2 death domains (DD) (Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020; Kusiak & Brady, 2022). Myddosome formation contributes directly to the signal intensity and is dependent on the binding of TIRAP to TLR4 (Tang et al., 2023). Myddosome formation begins with an oligomer of MyD88 recruited through its C-terminal TIR domain to TIRAP (Kagan, Magupalli, & Wu, 2014; Lin, Lo, & Wu, 2010). MyD88 then binds to IRAK4 via its DD, followed by IRAK1 and IRAK2 (Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014; Kusiak & Brady, 2022). Activation of the myddosome through interaction with TIRAP and the DDs of IRAK4 leads to phosphorylation of IRAK1 and IRAK2 by IRAK4. Tumour necrosis factor receptorassociated factor 6 (TRAF6) then binds to this complex, allowing the IRAK kinases along with TRAF6 to dissociate from the myddosome (Kusiak & Brady, 2022). TRAF6, an E3 ubiquitin ligase polyubiquitinates itself and recruits a complex consisting of transforming growth factor- $\beta$ associated kinase-1 (TAK1) and TAK1 binding proteins 1, 2, and 3 (TAB1-3). TRAF6, along with other ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes, polyubiquitinates TAB2 and TAB3, which activates TAK1(Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014). TAK1 phosphorylates the IKK complex (comprised of IKKa, IKK $\beta$ , and IKK $\gamma$ ) as well as the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway (Fitzgerald

& Kagan, 2020; Kawai & Akira, 2007; Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014; Kusiak & Brady, 2022). The IKK complex phosphorylates IκB proteins attached to NFκB, leading to their degradation by the proteasome (Kawai & Akira, 2007; Kusiak & Brady, 2022; Zhang et al., 2021). This unmasks the nuclear localization signal on NFκB, allowing for its translocation to the nucleus and transcription of proinflammatory genes. Simultaneously, the TAK1-activated MAPK pathway phosphorylates activating protein-1 (AP-1), allowing for translocation to the nucleus and transcription of inflammatory genes (Kawasaki & Kawai, 2014). Proinflammatory mediators released from NFκB and AP-1 include tumour necrosis factor α (TNFα), interleukin (IL)-6, cyclooxygenase 2, and type III interferons (IFNλ1/2). IL-10 is also released during NFκB activation, an anti-inflammatory cytokine that limits the overproduction of inflammatory cytokines.

Approximately 15-45 minutes after TLR4 activation by LPS at the plasma membrane, endocytosis of the LPS/TLR4/MD-2/CD14 complex occurs in a CD14 and MD-2-dependent manner, terminating the MyD88-dependent signalling (Figure 1.5)(Ciesielska, Matyjek, & Kwiatkowska, 2021; Kagan et al., 2008; Tanimura et al., 2008; Tsukamoto et al., 2018; Zanoni et al., 2011). TRIF-related adaptor molecule (TRAM) contains an N-terminal myristoylation site that localizes it to the Golgi membrane and plasma membrane, where it surveys for dimerized TLR4 (Rowe et al., 2006). Once the TLR4 complex is endocytosed, TRAM translocates with the endosome, interacting with the TIR domain of TLR4 via a TIR:TIR domain interaction. TRAM mainly acts as a bridging protein for the formation of the triffosome, a SMOC signalling complex like the myddosome (Verstak et al., 2014). Although the triffisome remains poorly defined, after TRIF is recruited to TRAM, it interacts with TRAF3. TRAF3 recruits and phosphorylates TANK-binding kinase 1 (TBK1) and inducible IκB kinase ε (IKKi), which phosphorylates interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) (Brown et al., 2011; Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020). IRF3 then translocates to the nucleus, leading to the expression of type 1 interferons such as IFN- $\beta$  (Brown et al., 2011; Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020; Sheedy & O'Neill, 2007). TRAM also binds to TRAF6 via an N-terminal TRAF-6 binding motif, which may contribute to the optimal expression of proinflammatory cytokines through both the MyD88-dependent and Myd88-independent pathways (Kawai & Akira, 2010; Verstak et al., 2014). Finally, TLR4 is degraded as the endosome transitions into a lysosome, terminating signalling (Ciesielska, Matyjek, & Kwiatkowska, 2021).

# 1.4.6 Ligands of TLR4

# 1.4.6.1 Bacterial ligands

Coordinate with the position of TLR4 on the plasma membrane for environmental sensing, most TLR4 ligands are found on the outermost layer of an organism, such as the outer membrane, structural proteins, cell wall, or excreted products (Gay & Gangloff, 2007). As mentioned previously, TLR4 signals through various ligands ranging from endogenous DAMPs to xenobiotic molecules. For example, vertebrate TLR4 recognizes bacterial ligands beyond LPS, including teichuronic acid and mannuronic acid polymers, components of gram-positive and gram-negative bacterial cell walls, respectively (Flo et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2001). Heat shock protein 60 (HSP60), is widely expressed in prokaryotes and eukaryotes and regulates a multitude of cellular events (Y. Duan et al., 2020). HSP60 is found on the outer membrane of Chlamydia spp. during persistent infection and mediates TLR4 activation, resulting in apoptosis within the reproductive tract (Da Costa et al., 2004; Equils et al., 2006). Multiple ligands other than LPS from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* have also been reported to activate TLR2 and TLR4 (McIsaac, Stadnyk, & Lin, 2012). Exoenzyme S (ExoS) and the capsule of P. aeruginosa likely activate

TLR4 through the MyD88-dependent pathway, while Slime-GP activates TLR4 through the MyD88-independent MAPK pathway (Epelman et al., 2004; Flo et al., 2002; Lagoumintzis et al., 2008). The ligands mentioned above act as TLR4 agonists, but other bacterial ligands of TLR4 act as antagonists by competing with or inhibiting LPS binding to co-receptor molecules of TLR4 (Molteni, Bosi, & Rossetti, 2018). Lipid A within LPS from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*, lipopoligosaccharides (LOS) from *Bartonella quintana*, and CyP lipid A from *Oscillatoria planktothrix* FP1 all act as inhibitors of TLR4 signalling (Kutuzova et al., 2001; Macagno et al., 2006; Malgorzata-Miller et al., 2016).

# 1.4.6.2 Viral ligands

Activation of TLR4 from viruses often leads to immune overactivation and cytokine storms, where the body can not handle the large number of cytokines produced, furthering disease severity (*National Cancer Institute*, 2023; Olejnik, Hume, & Muhlberger, 2018). Different viruses often activate TLR4 through their membrane or capsid-associated proteins. The membrane F protein from the respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) stimulates TLR4 in a CD14 and MD-2-dependent manner, resulting in activation of NFκB and proinflammatory cytokine release (Kurt-Jones et al., 2000; Rallabhandi et al., 2012). The core structural protein lipopeptides in human hepatitis C virus (HCV) activates both TLR2 and TLR4, upregulating NFκB activity (Duesberg et al., 2002), and the Ebola virus glycoprotein on the capsid binds to the TLR4/MD2 complex increasing release of proinflammatory cytokines (Lai et al., 2017; Okumura et al., 2010). The glycoprotein G on vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV) also mediates TLR4 activation through a MyD88-independent pathway involving TRAM and IRF7, leading to the expression of type 1 interferons (Georgel et al., 2007).

Unlike the structural proteins and related glycoproteins on the viruses above, dengue virus infected cells release the virulence factor non-structural protein 1 (NS1), which activates TLR4 on endothelial cells, leading to a massive proinflammatory response and ROS generation (Dominguez-Aleman et al., 2021). Another protein, Tat, produced by the human immunodeficiency virus 1 (HIV-1) activates TLR4 in mononuclear phagocytes (Ben Haij et al., 2015). The phagocytes produce large amounts of proinflammatory cytokines through NF-κB induction and Ben Haij et al. proposes multiple mechanisms in this inflammatory environment facilitates disease progression to AIDS (2015). Furthermore, human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) mediates TLR4/MD2/CD14 activation through the MyD88-dependent and MyD88-independent pathways, however, the exact component responsible for this activation is unknown (Marques, Ferreira, & Ribeiro, 2018; Yew et al., 2012).

Recently, the involvement of TLR4 in severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus-2 (SARS-CoV-2) infection has been examined, showing that TLR4 binds to the S1 spike protein leading to proinflammatory cytokine release and later, an upregulation in angiotensin-converting enzyme 2 (ACE2) production (Aboudounya & Heads, 2021). ACE2 is a receptor on host cells used by SARS-CoV-2 to initiate viral entry, therefore TLR4 may be involved in increased viral uptake. Other observations of viruses exploiting TLR4, such as the mouse mammary tumour virus, uses TLR4 to replicate in B-cells, showing that viral interactions with TLRs are not always directed towards regular innate immune surveillance and proinflammatory responses (Jude et al., 2003; Pichlmair & Reis e Sousa, 2007). However, due to TLR4's ability to prime the adaptive immune response to infections, viral ligands are being examined as therapeutic vaccine adjuvants (Sartorius et al., 2021).

TLR4 is also activated by multiple different eukaryotes, apart from viruses and prokaryotic organisms like bacteria and cyanobacteria, including fungi, protozoa, nematodes, cestodes and even plants. O-linked mannosyl, a component of the outer cell wall in the fungal pathogen *Candida albicans*, binds to TLR4 and engages both the MyD88-dependent and MyD88-independent pathway leading to the release of TNF, IL-6, IL-1, and CXCL-1/2 (Bojang et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2019). Wang et al. also shows that Sel1, a small, secreted cysteine-rich protein (SCP) released during *Candida* infection, acts as a ligand for both TLR4 and TLR2. Other fungal PAMPs, such as the conidia from *Aspergillus fumigatus* and glucuronoxylomannans (GXMs) from the capsule of *Cryptococcus neoformans* are also capable of inducing TLR4 activation or inhibiting the proinflammatory response of TLR4 (Behzadi, Behzadi, & Ranjbar, 2016; Chai et al., 2011; Hatinguais, Willment, & Brown, 2020).

# 1.4.6.3 Protozoan ligands

The surface glycoconjugates known as glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchors, and it's related molecules (lipophosphoglycan (LPG) and glycosylinositol phospholipids (GIPLs)) on parasitic protozoans, such as Plasmodium falciparum, Toxoplasma gondii, Trypanosoma cruzi, Leishmania major, and Entamoeba histolytica all share a similar structure and play an essential role in their interaction with the host (Ropert & Gazzinelli, 2000). GIPLs are free GPI anchors not linked to a protein or carbohydrate, while LPGs are GPI anchors linked to heavily phosphorylated glycan repeats (Ropert & Gazzinelli, 2000). The glycocalyx of T. cruzi heavily populated by GPI-anchored mucin-like glycoproteins (GPI-mucins) and GIPLs, with the latter acting as a ligand of TLR4 inducing NF-κB activation, resulting in proinflammatory cytokine release and an increase in ROS and NO (Cerbán et al., 2020; Oliveira et al., 2004; Rodrigues, Oliveira, & Bellio, 2012). Whether GIPLs from T. cruzi induce activation of NF-κB through the MyD88-dependent or independent pathway is unclear, however, an interesting finding by Rodrigues et al. suggests eGIPL may interact with TLR4 independently of CD14 (2012). Furthermore, GPI in P. falciparum, T. gondii, and E. histolytica act as ligands for both TLR2 and TLR4, either promoting a protective response or potentially facilitating pathogenesis in the case of P. falciparum (Debierre-Grockiego et al., 2007; Denkers, 2010; Krishnegowda et al., 2005; Maldonado-Bernal et al., 2005; Zare-Bidaki et al., 2014).

Additionally, the surface protein trypomastigote surface antigen (TSA-1) expressed in T. cruzi, was also found to mediate TLR4 activation through the MyD88-dependent pathway (Amith et al., 2010). It's crucial to note that this was not due to TSA-1 acting as a ligand, but rather the removal of a sialyl residue, allowing for dimerization and activation. Another protein, HSP70 in T. gondii, activates TLR4 through both the MyD88-dependent and MyD88-independent pathway and is reported to be involved in a diverse set of actions such as maturation of DCs, anaphylactic onset, and neuroinflammation (Cheng et al., 2020).

#### 1.4.6.4 Helminth ligands

Parasitic helminths elicit a type 2 cytokine response that begins with epithelial cells, which involves many adaptive and innate immune cells (Oyesola et al., 2020). This response recruits multiple mechanisms to promote the removal of the parasite and healing of tissues damaged during the infection, unlike in a typical type 1 cytokine response that promotes inflammation in attempts to kill intracellular parasites (Berger, 2000; Oyesola et al., 2020). A study by Tawill et al. demonstrated that glycans on excreted proteins are one of the antigens driving the type 2 cytokine response in parasitic schistosomes and nonparasitic nematodes (2004). Particularly, the glycoprotein lacto-N-fucopentaose III (LNFPIII) found on the eggs of many helminth parasites, was found to activate DC2s (an APC for T helper 2), through the binding of TLR4, leading to the release of type 2 cytokines (McDonald, 2009; Thomas et al., 2003; Tundup et al., 2015). Later research found that excretory-secretory (ES) molecules comprise a large body of immune-modulating products from helminths with varying effects on TLR4. The fatty-acid-binding protein (Fh15) from Fasciola hepatica acts as an antagonist of TLR4, preventing macrophages from developing a bias for type 1 cytokines (Lothstein & Gause, 2021).

When there are defence mechanisms evolved against pathogens, there will always be parasites finding ways to exploit these systems. Acanthocheilonema Viteae uses ES-62 (a secreted phosphorylcholine glycoprotein) to bind TLR4 and down-regulate the levels of proinflammatory cytokines by inhibiting the maturation of APCs (Pineda et al., 2014). The binding of ES-62 to TLR4 on mast cells also reduces degranulation and therefore, inflammation. Other ES proteins such as Ts soluble products (TsSPs) from Trichuris suis and tegmental coat antigens of F. hepatica indirectly reduce expression of TLR4 or supress TLR4 activation but can not be considered ligands of this receptor (Lothstein & Gause, 2021; Maizels, Smits, & McSorley, 2018).

### 1.6.4.5 Plant ligands

The number of compounds in plant extracts associated with antagonism and modulation of TLR4 to induce anti-inflammatory effects is extensive (Coutinho-Wolino et al., 2022; Kuzmich et al., 2017; Oledzka & Czerwinska, 2023). Many of these compounds down-regulate TLR4 expression or inhibit TLR4 signalling by binding to co-receptors such as MD-2 or a downstream signalling molecule such as TRAF6 or IKK proteins. For example, curcumin, a yellow pigment found in turmeric, and berberine, an alkaloid found in Rhizoma coptidis, can bind to MD-2, preventing the formation of the CD14/MD-2/TLR4 complex, supressing the

release of proinflammatory cytokines in the presence of LPS (Chu et al., 2014; Gradisar et al., 2007). Iberin, an analogue of the known TLR4 inhibitor sulforaphane, was isolated from cabbage and other vegetables and prevented the dimerization of TLR4 by binding cysteine residues, preventing its activation (Shibata et al., 2014). On the other hand, some plant proteins act as defence molecules to prevent their consumption and can promote inflammation. For example, plant lectins such as Pinellia ternata lectin (PTL), ricin toxin, and mistletoe have been shown to bind TLR4, leading to the activation of innate immune cells and downstream inflammatory pathways (Dong et al., 2020; J. Li et al., 2023; Park et al., 2010). The Yew extract paclitaxel (taxol) is the most well-known naturally occurring anti-cancer drug and was later found to promote its effects, in part, by acting as a TLR4 agonist. Activation of TLR4 by taxol increases the release of anti-tumour cytokines and promotes DC and M1 macrophage maturation and activation, reducing tumour progression (Yu et al., 2022).

### 1.4.6.6 Endogenous ligands

Some of the most important TLR4 ligands are endogenous and signal tissue or cell injury to the immune system, recruiting immune cells for repair and fighting the infection. Endogenous TLR ligands, also called alarmins, can be released in one of two ways: 1) the cell is injured and passively releases cellular components that warn the immune system of injury or ongoing inflammation, or 2) the cell actively secretes molecules to purposefully attract innate and adaptive immune cells to a site of infection. TLR4 plays the most prominent inflammatory and innate immune cell signalling role for DAMPs, and their significance in autoimmune disease has been extensively reviewed within the literature (Yu, Wang, & Chen, 2010). HMGB1 is a DAMP of critical importance, as it can act as a potent stimulator of TLR4 and plays a critical role in cancer development and therapy (Wang & Zhang, 2020). Concerning TLR4 activation, HMGB1
must first be released by the cell either through active secretion, apoptosis, or necrosis (Wang & Zhang, 2020). HMGB1 begins within the nucleus in a fully reduced form with three key cysteine residues (Cys23, Cys45, Cys106) expressing thiol groups (Yang, Wang, & Andersson, 2020). When two of these cysteine residues (Cys23, Cys45) become oxidated, they bind to one another, turning HMGB1 into a potent ligand of TLR4 on macrophages, leading to the release of cytokines such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1, and type 1 IFNs (Yang et al., 2015). Only in this partially oxidized state can HMGB1 activate TLR4 in combination with MD-2 (Xue et al., 2021).

#### 1.4.6.7 Metal ligands

As will be discussed in more detail in Chapter 2, metals such as nickel (Ni), cobalt (Co), palladium (Pd) and platinum (Pt) are somewhat newly discovered ligands of TLR4 (Domingo et al., 2023; Rachmawati et al., 2013; Schmidt et al., 2010). Nickel and cobalt have been observed to bind directly to the ectodomain of TLR4 through key histidine residues (H431, H456, H458), allowing for its homodimerization, recruitment of MD-2, and its subsequent activation (Oblak, Pohar, & Jerala, 2015; Peana et al., 2017; Schmidt & Goebeler, 2015). Although palladium and platinum have been observed to induce similar responses, it is currently unknown whether this is mediated through these same histidines (Schmidt & Goebeler, 2015). Regardless, the binding mechanism for metals is unique from the TLR4's primary ligand LPS, as MD-2 is not required, and dimerization occurs in its absence (Raghavan et al., 2012). This has been a critical observation in the understanding of metal-induced contact hypersensitivities, providing a mechanism through which these allergic reactions occur (Schmidt & Goebeler, 2018). Domingo et al. have recently demonstrated the platinum-based chemotherapeutic cisplatin, along with other platinum compounds, are also capable of direct binding of human TLR4, which was previously demonstrated by Babolmorad et al. to mediate its activation (2021; 2023). This

suggests a novel pathway through which cisplatin induces inflammation and increases ROS generation, as well as a novel mechanism for the generation of therapeutics to mitigate inflammation generated by cisplatin toxicity.

#### 1.4.6.8 Summary

The diversity of ligand type and signalling pathways utilized by TLR4 in response to bacteria, viruses, fungus, drugs, and endogenous ligands demonstrates TLR4's versatility and importance in pathogenic ligand recognition and initiation of the innate immune response. Although TLR4 is known to be activated to help signal infection to the body, many of these organisms have found ways to exploit TLR4 to further infection, exhibiting some coevolutionary relationship between the innate immune system and pathogens. Therefore, determining the conservation in the binding of these ligands between species may provide insight into the evolutionary relationships of TLR4 function. For example, bacterial ligands such as LPS function as a ligand for TLR4 in mammals, but likely do not in other species such as fish. DAMPs, on the other hand, appear to function as TLR4 ligands in mammals (ex. HMGB1) as well as within invertebrates such as fruit flies (ex. Spatzle) (Nie et al., 2018). Furthermore, many of these ligands involve using different co-receptors to induce a response. When considering evolutionary relationships between TLR4 of different species, it would be prudent to examine which co-stimulatory molecules are present and utilized within each species. To determine the possibility of metals acting on zebrafish Tlr4, we examine both structural similarities to human TLR4 and conservation in co-receptor molecules.

#### 1.4.7 Inhibition of Toll-like receptor 4

There are three major ways to inhibit the overactivation of TLR4 signalling in the treatment of disease, including modulating TLR4 expression, inhibiting TLR4 signalling through

direct binding to TLR4 or the TLR4/MD-2 complex or inhibiting downstream adaptors and signalling molecules. Many TLR4 inhibitors have been developed for these purposes and have been previously reviewed in detail (Chen, Kao, & Liu, 2018; Kuzmich et al., 2017; Peri & Piazza, 2012; Romerio & Peri, 2020; Zaffaroni & Peri, 2018; Zhang et al., 2022). According Clinicaltrials.gov, there are currently 7 TLR4 inhibitors in clinical trials, including Eritoran, NI-0101, ApTOLL, JKB-122, EB05, E-5531 and TAK-242 (N. L. o. M. (N. L. o. M. (NIH), 2023). Eritoran and TAK-242 are among the most well-studied TLR4 inhibitors (Kuzmich et al., 2017). Eritoran is a lipid A analog that binds to MD-2, but due to its increased size in comparison to lipid A, it prevents the formation of the TLR4/MD-2 complex. The hydrophobic binding pocket of MD-2 is filled up 90% by Eritoran, and no direct interaction with TLR4 occurs (Kim et al., 2007). TAK-242 is a sulfonamide linker that binds intracellularly to the TIR domain of TLR4 through Cys747. This prevents the association of adaptor molecules TIRAP and TRAM, preventing downstream signalling and transcription of proinflammatory genes (Kuzmich et al., 2017). Due to subpar results of TAK-242 in clinical trials (Rice et al., 2010), there has been recent development of TAK-242 derivatives and nitrobenzyl prodrugs that show high efficacy inhibiting TNF- $\alpha$  and ROS (Lee et al., 2020; Plunk et al., 2020).

Due to the involvement of inflammation, proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and ROS in many diseases and their progression, there is a high therapeutic potential for inhibiting TLR4. The disease most associated with inhibiting TLR4 is sepsis, which LPS generates from prolonged gram-negative bacterial infections (Heine & Zamyatina, 2023). Both Eritoran and TAK-242 were initially examined for their treatment of sepsis and showed promise, but unfortunately, both showed no improvement in 28-day mortality and failed in phase 3 clinical trials (Opal et al., 2013; Rice et al., 2010). However, inhibitors are still being examined in

treating other diseases, such as influenza and rheumatoid arthritis (Samarpita et al., 2020; Shirey et al., 2013). TLR4 also plays a dual role in cancer progression and treatment. Chronic inflammation through continued TLR4 activation and ROS generation leads to carcinogenesis, and its inhibition has shown promise in decreasing tumour development and progression (Chen, Kao, & Liu, 2018; Echizen et al., 2018). On the other hand, due to the high concentration of anti-inflammatory, immune cells in the tumour microenvironment (such as tumour-associated macrophages), activation of TLR4 has shown promise in suppressing tumour progression (Huang, Xu, & Peng, 2018; Smith et al., 2018). Therefore, when generating therapeutics affecting TLR4 in the treatment of cancer, it is imperative that regular proinflammatory function is maintained.

#### 1.5 Objectives and purpose of thesis

The overall objective of this thesis was to examine Tlr4 function within zebrafish and its involvement in ototoxicity after treatment with the chemotherapeutic cisplatin. In Chapter 2, I examine the possibility of group 9/10 metals to act as novel ligands of the zebrafish Tlr4 homologs Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb. I hypothesize that group IX/X transition metals will facilitate zfTlr4 activation, leading to NF $\kappa\beta$  induction and a proinflammatory response. In Chapter 3, I examine the efficacy of 14 novel derivatives of TAK-242 in reducing cisplatin-mediated neuromast hair cell death through zebrafish Tlr4. I hypothesize that cisplatin can activate zebrafish Tlr4 and be selectively inhibited, allowing for regular immune surveillance and canonical signalling by LPS to remain. Finally, in Chapter 4, I provide a general summary of thesis findings, future directions, and further discuss these findings in relation to current literature.

The purpose of this thesis is to improve our understanding of the innate immune receptor TLR4, both in its role within CIO and its functions within zebrafish, while providing insight into its evolutionary beginnings. Zebrafish possess many innate advantages over other animal models and are crucial in studying diseases, their related phenotypes, and treatments. To improve their application to human diseases, critically examining the similarities and differences with their mammalian counterparts is prudent for determining the relevance of any scientific finding. Moreover, due to the early divergence of bony fish from other vertebrates in the evolutionary timeline, conserved protein function and structure as well as their fundamental differences, can give insight into evolutionarily important processes for survival and fitness.

TLR4 is one example of a highly conserved innate immune receptor within a wide range of species, however, their function remains a mystery within zebrafish. The first aim was to determine the possibility of group 9/10 metals to act as ligands of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs: Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb. This was performed by examining their contribution to cell toxicity using fluorescent microscopy, as well as their activation when expressed in heterologous cell culture. Following the pioneering observations by Schmidt et al. (2010) that TLR4 acts as a direct receptor for nickel, as well as the observation by Babolmorad et al. (2021) that zebrafish Tlr4ba and bb knockdown reduced cell toxicity in the presence of cisplatin, we predicted zebrafish Tlr4 homologs were involved in group 9/10 metal ion sensing, leading to their activation.

The second aim was to determine if we could use novel inhibitory compounds to target Tlr4 and diminish CIO using zebrafish as a model. Due to their homologous nature to mammalian inner ear hair cells, zebrafish neuromast hair cells provide a unique structure for examining CIO in vivo. I used morphological and behavioural analyses to determine the

protective effects of TAK-242 derivatives during cisplatin treatment. We predict that inhibition of TLR4 will reduce inflammation and ROS generation within hair cells and their environment, therefore mitigating cisplatin toxicity.

#### **1.6 Figures and Tables**



Created in BioRender.com bio

# **Figure 1. 1 Cisplatin binds to DNA leading to intra- and inter-strand crosslinks.** Cisplatin preferentially binds to guanine and adenine forming 1,2-d(GpG), 1,2-d(GpA), and 1,3-d(GpXpG) cross links as well as inter-strand G-G crosslinks. Other inter- and intra-strand crosslinks are possible, but not shown here. Created with BioRender.



**Figure 1. 2 Chemical structures of platinum based anticancer agents in clinical use.** Cisplatin, Carboplatin, and Oxaliplatin are clinically approved worldwide, while the other four are approved in select Asian countries.



**Figure 1. 3 The human ear and structures affected by cisplatin.** Schematic of the human auditory system depicting structures affected by cisplatin. Cisplatin enters the inner ear through an unknown mechanism, but preferentially damages the stria vascularis and hair cells within the organ of Corti. Red arrows point to structures affected by cisplatin. Figures are not to scale. Created with BioRender.



**Figure 1. 4 Diagram of the structure of TLR4.** Blue oval structures represent LRRs. Red and orange oval structures represent the LRRNT and LRRCT respectively. Blue spiral represents the intermembrane domains, while the green protein attached represents the intracellular TIR domain. Created with BioRender.



**Figure 1. 5 TLR4 pathway following LPS activation.** TLR4 binds to MD-2 (light green) and an LPS monomer. This leads to its dimerization and initiates signalling through the MyD88dependent pathway. This culminates in the transcription of proinflammatory genes by NF-K $\beta$ and AP-1. Approximately 15-45 minutes later, the TLR4 dimer is endocytosed in a CD14 dependent manner. This terminates signalling through the MyD88-dependent pathway and initiates signalling through the MyD88-independent pathway. This pathway contributes to both proinflammatory cytokine production as well as type 1 interferon production by signalling through both TRAF6 and IRF3 respectively. Created with BioRender.

#### Table 1. 1 Summary of cisplatin side-effects and current therapies.

Side effect	Likelihood of	Symptoms/diagnostic markers	Current and developing therapies	Reference
Gastrointestinal toxicity	o 70-80% of patients	<ul> <li>Nausea</li> <li>Vomiting</li> <li>Diarrhea</li> <li>Metallic taste</li> <li>Pancreatitis</li> <li>Mucositis</li> <li>Anorexia</li> <li>Pica</li> <li>Emesis</li> <li>Weight loss</li> <li>Delayed gastric motility</li> <li>Mucositis</li> <li>Malabsorption</li> <li>Barrier impairment</li> </ul>	o       5-hydroxytryptamine (serotonin) receptor antagonists (ondasetron)         o       Cerenia         o       Dexamethasone         o       Lorazepam         o       Metoclopramide         o       Aprepitant         o       Caffeic acid         o       Chrysin         o       Glucagon-like peptide-2 (GLP-2)         o       Ghrelin         o       L-carnitine         o       AOB         o       Glutamine         r       Riboflavin         Folate       EDTA         o       Olanzapine         o       Ginger         o       Ferulic acid         o       Korean ginseng root extract         o       Low molecular fucoidan (LMF)         o       Flasseed oil         o       Dunnione         o       I8β-Glycyrrhetinic acid (GA)         Nigella sativa oil       Thymoquinone         o       NSO and TQ	<ul> <li>(Ghosh, 2019)</li> <li>(Qi et al., 2019)</li> <li>(Shahid, Farooqui, &amp; Khan, 2018)</li> </ul>
Hepatotoxicity	<ul> <li>∼36% of patients</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Elevated serum transaminases</li> <li>Elevated serum alkaline phosphatase</li> <li>Elevated lactate dehydrogenase</li> <li>Elevated bilirubin</li> <li>Elevated c-glutamyl transpeptidases</li> <li>Abdominal pain</li> <li>Abdominal swelling</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Infliximab</li> <li>Ethyl acetate extract</li> <li>Green tea</li> <li>Methanolic extract</li> <li>Pine bark extract</li> <li>Sorghum leaf sheath</li> <li>Increased fruit intake</li> <li>Curcumin</li> <li>Apocynin</li> <li>Proanthocyanidin</li> <li>Daidzen</li> <li>Baicalein</li> <li>Hesperidin</li> <li>Kolaviron-defatted acetone extract</li> <li>Ginger</li> <li>Caffeic acid</li> <li>Protocatechuic acid</li> <li>Ellagic acid</li> <li>Gresing</li> <li>Garlic oil</li> <li>Honey</li> <li>Protocatechuic acid</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(İşeri et al., 2007)</li> <li>(Qi et al., 2019)</li> <li>(Abd Rashid et al., 2021)</li> <li>(Habib et al., 2021)</li> </ul>
Cardiotoxicity	o ~6% of patients	<ul> <li>Electrocardiographic changes</li> <li>Arrythmias</li> <li>Myocardidtis</li> <li>Cardiomyopathy</li> <li>Congestive heart failure</li> <li>High serum lactate dehydrogenase</li> <li>High serum creatine</li> <li>Pericarditis</li> <li>Blood pressure changes</li> <li>Heart attack</li> <li>Cardiac failure</li> <li>Angina</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High doses of selenium and vitamine E</li> <li>Reserveratrol</li> <li>Apocynin</li> <li>Alpha-lipoic acid</li> <li>Propionyl-L-carnitine</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(Ghosh, 2019)</li> <li>(Al-Majed et al., 2006)</li> <li>(Aldossary, 2019)</li> <li>(Qi et al., 2019)</li> <li>(Abd Rashid et al., 2021)</li> </ul>
Myelosuppression	o 25-30% of patients	<ul> <li>Fever and infection</li> <li>Thrombosis</li> <li>Leukopenia</li> <li>Neutropenia</li> <li>Thrombocytopenia</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Bone marrow transplant</li> <li>Growth factor injections</li> <li>Blood transfusions</li> <li>Dose modification</li> <li>Butorphanol</li> <li>Cerenia</li> <li>Erythropoietin</li> <li>Quercetin</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(Food and Drug Administration, 2019)</li> <li>(Qi et al., 2019)</li> <li>(Barabas et al., 2008)</li> <li>(Chuang et al., 2022)</li> <li>(Sinha et al., 2015)</li> <li>(Henry et al., 1995)</li> <li>(Masuda et al., 2009)</li> </ul>

			<ul> <li>Vetiver oil</li> </ul>	0	(Sushmitha et al., 2022)
			<ul> <li>Maitake β-glucan</li> <li>Methanol extract (C. deodara)</li> </ul>		
Nephrotoxicity	<ul> <li>28-36% of adult</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Higher concentrations of cisplatin within</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Pre-, during, and post-treatment hydration using hypertonic saline</li> </ul>	0 0	(Ghosh, 2019) (Romani, 2022)
	patients	<ul> <li>kidneys than the blood</li> <li>Renal failure</li> </ul>	(3-6L per day) • Mannitol	0	(Aldossary, 2019) (Oi et al., 2019)
	<ul> <li>70% of pediatric</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>High serum creatinine</li> <li>High serum urea</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Magnesium</li> <li>Sodium thiosulfate (STS)</li> </ul>	0	(Casanova et al., 2021)
	patients	<ul> <li>Low glomerular</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Amifostine</li> <li>Amifostine</li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>filtration</li> <li>Hypomagnesemia</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Dialysis</li> <li>Cisplatin dose reduction</li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Hypokalemia</li> <li>Fibrotic nephropathy</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Plasmapheresis</li> <li>Selenium</li> </ul>		
		<ul> <li>Hypoalbuminemia</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Vitamine E</li> <li>Dimethylthiourea (DMTL)</li> </ul>		
			• Ebselen		
			• Tetrahydrocurcumin		
			<ul> <li>Copper</li> <li>Cimetidine</li> </ul>		
			<ul> <li>Probenecid</li> <li>Acivicin</li> </ul>		
			<ul> <li>Diethyldithiocabamate</li> <li>N-acetyl cysteine</li> </ul>		
			<ul> <li>IL-10</li> <li>siRNA against p53</li> </ul>		
			MAPK inhibitors     Mark inhibitors		
			<ul> <li>CDK2 inhibitors</li> </ul>		
Neurotoxicity	o 36-38% of	<ul> <li>Loss of peripheral limb</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Treatment discontinuation</li> </ul>	0	(Food and Drug
	patients	<ul> <li>function</li> <li>Paresthesia</li> </ul>	• GSH • BNP7787	0	Administration, 2019) (Ghosh, 2019)
		<ul> <li>Areflexia</li> <li>Loss of proprioception</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Vitamine E</li> <li>ORG 2766</li> </ul>	0 0	(Romani, 2022) (Qi et al., 2019)
		and vibratory sensation Mechanical allodynia	O Ditiocarb sodium     Acetylcysteine	0	(Trendowski et al., 2019)
		<ul> <li>Ataxic gait</li> <li>Burning sensations</li> </ul>	Fosfomucin     Colecting	0	(Avan et al., 2015)
		<ul> <li>Pain</li> <li>Unmineracio</li> </ul>	Alpha-lipoic acid     Distribution archemeter		
		<ul> <li>riemparesis</li> <li>Status epilepticus</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Dienylatino-caroanate</li> <li>Nimodipine</li> </ul>		
		o coma	Oxcarbazepine     Retinioic acid		
Ototoxicity	o 10-93% of	• Tinnitus	o STS	0	(Food and Drug
	with greater	<ul> <li>Verigo</li> <li>Hearing loss in the high</li> </ul>	N-actoryl cysteine     A-actoryl cysteine	0	(Ghosh, 2019)
	children	8000 Hz)	<ul> <li>Amitostine</li> <li>D-/L-methionine</li> </ul>	0	(Guthrie & Spankovich,
		<ul> <li>Earache</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Allopurinol</li> <li>Ebselen</li> </ul>	0	2023) (Y. Li et al., 2023)
			<ul> <li>Glucocorticoids</li> <li>Copper sulfate</li> </ul>	0	(Santos, Ferreira, & Santos, 2020)
			<ul> <li>Atorvastatin</li> <li>salycilate</li> </ul>	0	(Fetoni & Astolfi, 2020)
			<ul> <li>Noise conditioning</li> <li>Hyperbaric oxygen therapy</li> </ul>		
			Thyperbeneric on generatory     Therapeutic hypothermia     Actavanthing		
			Curcumin		
			O Gaseous H <sub>2</sub> O ROSI		
			<ul> <li>Alpha-lipoic acid</li> <li>Epigallocatechin-3-gallate</li> </ul>		
			Agmatine     CPI-455		
			<ul> <li>Rutin</li> <li>Eupatilin</li> </ul>		
			o RG108		
			Meclofenamic acid     Tarabalaac		
			o PRDX1     Voltac		
			• U0126 • NRF2		
			<ul><li>Polydatin</li><li>Estradiol</li></ul>		
			<ul> <li>D4M</li> <li>Nimodipine</li> </ul>		
			Trolox/vitamine E     Methylthichemyria said		
			• Tiopronin		
			<ul> <li>Glutathione ester</li> <li>Dexamethasone</li> </ul>		
			<ul> <li>Resveratrol</li> <li>Diethyldithiocarbamate</li> </ul>		
			<ul> <li>Caffeic acid</li> </ul>		

	o Thioeurea	

## Chapter 2. Adopting orphan receptors: group IX/X transition metals as potential ligands of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs

Chapter 2 Preface:

This chapter is in the process of being prepared as a manuscript. At the time of writing, this manuscript is still under revision, and was written by APDF, with editing contributions from WTA. Tracy Lee from the Bhavsar lab was responsible for the in vitro cell culture work. Christie Li generated gRNA sequences as well as PCR primers for crispant validation.

#### Abstract

Zebrafish (Danio rerio) have gained substantial popularity as a model organism for studying the innate immune system. Their physiology, fecundity, well-characterized development, and similarities to the mammalian immune system help make them an excellent animal model. Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) play a key role in detecting and initiating a response to damaged cells and invading foreign bodies. One of these receptors, Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), is well known for detecting and alerting the host to invading gram-negative bacteria through binding to lipopolysaccharide (LPS). However, there has been a long-standing mystery surrounding the function of Tlr4 homologs within zebrafish, and it's well established that the homologs present in zebrafish have a low sensitivity to LPS. Other ligands, such as transition metals, are known to activate TLR4 through a distinct direct-binding mechanism separate from LPS. We explored the possibility of transition metals acting as ligands to zebrafish Tlr4 homologs, mediating the release of proinflammatory cytokines and leading to cell death. We demonstrate NiCl<sub>2</sub>, CoCl<sub>2</sub>, PtCl<sub>2</sub>, and PtCl<sub>4</sub> induce hair cell death in a dose-dependent manner when applied to zebrafish larvae. When zebrafish Tlr4 homologs were transfected into HEK293T cells, nickel can elicit a release of proinflammatory cytokines, while LPS cannot. Finally, treating F0 zebrafish Tlr4 crispant mutants treated with group IX/X metal ions significantly reduced hair cell death without a measurable impact on other aspects of the fish. These findings identify metal ions as adopted ligands for the previously orphaned zebrafish Tlr4 receptors and will improve zebrafish as an animal model for future studies in innate immunology.

#### **2.1 Introduction**

TLRs are evolutionarily ancient proteins with origins dating back to more than 700 MYA (million years ago) and can be found in various organisms from corals to humans (Behzadi, Garcia-Perdomo, & Karpinski, 2021; Fitzgerald & Kagan, 2020). Mammalian TLR4 is multifaceted in its function, involving pathogen recognition, cancer pathology, and autoimmune disease (Heine & Zamyatina, 2022). The best-studied function of TLR4 in humans is its ability to detect and bind to microbial pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and viral glycoproteins, which are essential for the body's inflammatory response to pathogens. The structure of TLR4 is highly conserved between species, however the study of its implications in innate immunity could be furthered with a better understanding of its function in emerging model species, such as zebrafish.

Pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) act as the security cameras of the innate immune system, surveying the host environment for signs of foreign molecules and alarming the host to damage or foreign bodies. TLR4 is a PRR composed of three domains: the extracellular LRR domain (also known as the ectodomain), the transmembrane domain, and the intracellular toll/IL-1 receptor (TIR) domain (Sahoo, 2020; Sameer & Nissar, 2021). This structure is conserved between all vertebrate TLRs and directly contributes to their function (Liu et al., 2020; Sahoo, 2020). Extracellular TLRs (TLR1, 2, 4, 5, 6, and 10) have ectodomains protruding into the extracellular space, making them ideally suited for surveying the environment for antigens present on the surface of organisms and extracellular molecules (Tang et al., 2023). On the other hand, intracellular TLRs (TLR3, 7, 8 and 9) have ectodomains facing the inside of intracellular vesicles, making the detection of intracellular ligands more suited for their location.

Mammalian TLR4's primary ligand, lipopolysaccharide (LPS), is an extracellular compound that begins as a major component of the gram-negative cell wall in bacteria. Signalling through TLR4 using LPS requires multiple different co-receptors acting in concert with one another including: LPS binding protein (LBP), cluster differentiation 14 (CD14), and myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2) (Ryu et al., 2017). Activation of TLR4 leads to downstream signalling and initiation of proinflammatory and type 1 interferon-related gene expression through NF-κB and IRF3, respectively (Figure 2.1). Dysfunction in any of these signalling components has been demonstrated to impede the proper functioning of TLR4 as a bacterial sensor (Ciesielska, Matyjek, & Kwiatkowska, 2021). Recently, the homolog for MD-2 was discovered in zebrafish, prompting Loes et al. to reconsider Tlr4's role in LPS recognition and signalling within zebrafish (2021). Although they found the zebrafish homolog Tlr4ba was capable of being activated by LPS, it's low sensitivity and the lack of other crucial co-receptors in the zebrafish genome suggests that zebrafish Tlr4 primarily recognizes other ligands. Zebrafish MD-2 likely contributes to signalling through LPS, but it also plays a role in signalling through other TLR4 ligands, such as metals.

Metals, such as nickel, that act as ligands of TLR4 were a crucial discovery in determining the involvement of PRRs in mediating metal contact hypersensitivity, a type of allergic contact dermatitis (ACD) (Schmidt et al., 2010). ACD is a common inflammatory skin disease that affects ~20% of the general population and often negatively impacts their quality of life by interfering with their work and social life (Alinaghi et al., 2019; Schram, Warshaw, & Laumann, 2010; Steele, 2022). Two mechanisms are believed to play a role in sensitizing the immune system to nickel (Riedel et al., 2021). One mechanism involves the generation of an adaptive immune response following first contact with the allergen, while the other mechanism is

through the activation of innate immune cells via PRRs, specifically the TLR4 pathway (De Graaf et al., 2023; Riedel et al., 2021; Saito et al., 2016). Like LPS, metal binding to TLR4 leads to the production of proinflammatory cytokines, recruiting immune cells and generating inflammation resulting in itching, tenderness, swelling, and rashes (Figure 2.1)(Katsnelson, 2010; Saito et al., 2016). However, unlike LPS, previous studies have shown that metal binding to TLR4 is through a distinct mechanism that doesn't require the use of co-receptors (Domingo et al., 2023; Peana et al., 2017; Raghavan et al., 2012). They bind directly to the ectodomain of TLR4, leading to its dimerization through a cluster of conserved histidine residues (Oblak, Pohar, & Jerala, 2015; Peana et al., 2017). Instead, Oblak et al. determined MD-2 was only needed to stabilize the TLR4 complex after dimerization and allows for downstream signalling through the MyD88-dependent and -independent pathways (2015).

Zebrafish are a commonly used model organism for studying human disease and have gained recognition as an excellent model for immunological processes (Gomes & Mostowy, 2020; van der Sar et al., 2004). They allow for the examination of cellular interaction at a wholeorganism level and possess many of the same innate immune components as humans (Gomes & Mostowy, 2020; Novoa & Figueras, 2012). Zebrafish possess 20 TLRs and express three TLR4 homologs known as Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb. Unlike mammalian TLR4, zebrafish Tlr4 does not respond primarily to LPS and lacks the co-receptor CD14, which is required for LPS-induced activation in mammals (Sepulcre et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2009). However, their structure remains the same, with all three homologs coding for an extracellular LRR ectodomain, an intermembrane domain and a TIR-containing domain (Figure 2.2 & 2.3)(Vaure & Liu, 2014). Moreover, Loes et al. have recently uncovered the existence of a zebrafish Md-2 homolog that interacts with Tlr4ba, providing evidence of an ancestral interaction between Tlr4 and Md-2 facilitating the detection of an extracellular ligand (2021). In chimeric mouse experiments, their trans-membrane and TIR domains have also shown to function similarly to mammals, capable of eliciting a proinflammatory response after activation (Sullivan et al., 2009). Furthermore, Purcell et al. showed zebrafish and humans possess many of the same intracellular signalling molecules such as MyD88, TIRAP, TRIF, TRAF6, IRF3 and IRF7 (2006). The difference in their ligand specificity appears to lie within the ectodomain, with Tlr4ba, Tlr4al and Tlr4bb showing 35.84, 35.8, and 36.24 % identity to the ectodomain of human TLR4, respectively (Figure 2.3).

The lack of a known primary ligand for zebrafish Tlr4 is puzzling as they appear to have all the components required for sensing an extracellular ligand, yet their true function is still a mystery. Zebrafish appear to lack one of the major co-receptors needed to bind Tlr4 (CD14) and diverge considerably in the structure of their ectodomain, nevertheless, they encode a putative homolog for mammalian MD-2 and can initiate downstream proinflammatory signalling (Loes et al., 2021). Our previous studies have shown zebrafish Tlr4 to be involved in cisplatin-induced ototoxicity (Babolmorad et al., 2021). Morpholino knockdown of tlr4ba and tlr4bb expression mitigated cell death induced by the platinum (II) based chemotherapeutic cisplatin (Babolmorad et al., 2021). Due to these reasons and metals' unique TLR4 activation mechanism, we hypothesize that group IX/X transition metals will initiate zebrafish Tlr4 activation, leading to NF $\kappa\beta$  induction and a proinflammatory response. Here, we present NiCl<sub>2</sub>, CoCl<sub>2</sub>, PtCl<sub>2</sub> and PtCl<sub>4</sub> as novel activators and potential novel ligands of zebrafish Toll-like receptor 4 (Tlr4). The findings in this chapter will improve the understanding of Tlr4 function, ultimately improving the utility of zebrafish as an animal model for future studies in innate immunity and disease.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 1.2.1 Zebrafish Husbandry and Ethics

Zebrafish were kept at the University of Alberta aquatics facility following a 14:10 light/dark cycle in 28.5°C. They were fed twice daily using either trout chow or brine shrimp. All zebrafish were raised, bred, and maintained following the institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved protocol AUP00000077 which operates under guidelines set by the Canadian Council of Animal Care.

#### 2.2.2 Zebrafish breeding and care

Wildtype (AB strain) zebrafish were bred in a 1.57L tanks using a single male and female or in a 2L tank using a single male and two females. The fish were kept in controlled conditions at 28.5°C overnight. Embryos were then transferred into petri dishes and topped with 25mL of E3 media containing 0.01% methylene blue (Westerfield, 2007). To make the E3 media, a 60X stock solution of embryo media is prepared using 0.29M NaCl, 0.01M KCl, 0.026M CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.001M MgSO<sub>4</sub>• 7H<sub>2</sub>O. This solution is either diluted down to a 1X solution in Milli-Q water or mixed with 0.01% methylene blue solution in a 5.5:1 ratio before being diluted in Milli-Q water. No more than approximately 100 embryos were placed in each petri dish. Embryos were grown in a 28.5°C incubator and the E3 media was replaced daily.

#### 2.2.3 *Metal ion treatment of larval zebrafish*

Wildtype (AB strain) zebrafish were grown to either 5- or 6-days post fertilization (dpf) in E3 embryo media with methylene blue and 10-15 larvae were placed in each well of a six-well plate. The larva was then bath treated with either 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10, or 15µM of nickel (II) (Sigma; prod. #654507) or cobalt (II) (Sigma; prod. #255599) chloride hexahydrate or 0, 0.25, 0.5, 0.75, 1, or 1.5μM of platinum (II) (Sigma; prod. #206091) or platinum (IV) (Sigma; prod. #206113) chloride diluted in E3 media with methylene blue for 20 hours at 28°C.

#### 2.2.4 Neuromast quantification assay

The DASPEI quantification assay has been established by many studies, but the one used here was adopted from Babolmorad et al. (2021; Coffin et al., 2009; Harris et al., 2003; Owens et al., 2007; Uribe et al., 2018). Briefly, all wells within the six well plate were washed with embryo media three times before being incubated on an orbital incubator shaker at 130 rpm and 28°C for 15-20 minutes in media containing 0.01% 2-[4-(dimethylamino) styryl]-1ethylpyridinium iodide (DASPEI, Sigma Aldrich; cat. #3785-01-1) to selectively stain live neuromast hair cells on 6 dpf larva. The wells were washed twice using embryo media and groups of larvae were transferred into individual petri dishes where they were anaesthetized using 4% Tricaine-S (MS-222). After blinding the researcher to treatments, the neuromasts were imaged using a Leica M165 FC dissecting microscope equipped with a GFP-long pass fluorescent filter. Five neuromasts along the posterior lateral line were chosen for scoring consistently throughout experiments (Figure 2.4). Each neuromast was assigned a score ranging from 0-2 based on fluorescent intensity. A score of 2 represented a bright, easily visible neuromast, 1.5 for a minor decline in fluorescence, 1 for a moderate neuromast visibility, 0.5 for a barely visible neuromast, and 0 for no detectable fluorescence. The five neuromast scores were summed for a total score out of 10 for each larva, which represented neuromast viability. A lower score represents less healthy neuromasts, while a high score (near 10) represents healthy neuromasts.

#### 2.2.5 Guide RNA design and injections

Previous work has shown that the biallelic editing ability of clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR)-cas9 technology allows for the generation of F0 "crispant" knockdowns in a target gene with high fidelity (>80%) (Burger et al., 2016; Hoshijima et al., 2019; Jao, Wente, & Chen, 2013; Kroll et al., 2021; Shah et al., 2015). This approach allows for high throughput examination of loss-of-function phenotypes within zebrafish larvae with reduced number of resources and time. Knockdown of TLR4 homologs (generation of tlr4 "crispants"), used duplexes of trans-activating CRISPR-RNA (tracrRNA) and CRISPR-RNA (crRNA) were made to produce a single guide RNA (sgRNA). The cas9 nuclease binds to the tracrRNA, and is guided to mutate the target gene through the crRNA. crRNAs for *tlr4ba*, *tlr4al*, and *tlr4bb* were designed using the predesigned using Alt-R<sup>®</sup> CRISPR-Cas9 guide RNA program offered by Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT). The crRNA sequences used can be found in Table 2.1. The final gRNAs for each gene were made by mixing 100µM of the tracrRNA and 100 $\mu$ M of the crRNA, heating them to 95°C for 5 minutes, and diluting them to 25µM using the nuclease-free duplex buffer (IDT; cat. #11-05-01-12). All three gRNAs (25µM) were then combined along with Cas9 protein (25µM) and heated to 37°C for 10 minutes to make a ribonuclease complex (25µM, RNP). The injection solution contained RNP (25µM), 1% dextran tetramethylrhodamine (invitrogen; cat. #D1817), 1M KCl, and RNAse-free water filled to 10µL. Wildtype (AB) zebrafish embryos at the 1 cell stage were injected with either a mock solution containing only the Cas-9 protein (mock injected) or the injection solution containing gRNAs (*tlr4ba/al/bb* crispant). Injected embryos were then incubated at 28.5°C in E3 embryo media.

At 1 dpf dead embryos were removed from the petri dish. At 2 dpf embryos were screened for the injection using a Leica M165 FC dissecting microscope equipped with an mCherry fluorescent filter. Injected embryos showing red fluorescence were sorted and grown to 5dpf at 28.5°C.

#### 2.2.6 Confirming efficacy of tlr4 CRISPR via genotyping

A standard genomic DNA extraction was done on all uninjected, mock and tlr4ba/al/bb injected larva that were scored during cisplatin experiments. The extraction was performed by submerging whole larva in 15µL 50µM NaOH and boiling them in the thermocycler at 95°C for 15 minutes, followed by a cooling period of 4°C for 5 minutes. 5µL Tris-HCl was added to neutralize the solution and DNA was stored at 4°C. A PCR was performed on genomic DNA samples using the AllTaq<sup>TM</sup> Master Mix Kit (Qiagen; cat. #203146) following the manufactures protocol. PCR product concentration was then quantified using a Nanodrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific). Primers used for the PCR amplification of each zebrafish *tlr4* homolog can be found in Table 2.1. Thermocycling conditions were a 2 minute denaturing period at 95°C, then a specific amplification period for five cycles of 94°C for 15 seconds, 64°C for 15 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds, followed by a less-specific amplification for 30 cycles of 94°C for 15 seconds, 54°C for 15 seconds, and 72°C for 30 seconds, and a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. Finally, Sanger-sequencing using the same PCR primer sets was performed on the amplified *tlr4ba*, *tlr4al*, and *tlr4bb* genes from 1 uninjected, 1 mock injected and 5 *tlr4* mutant larvae chosen at random.

#### 2.2.7 HEK293T cell transfection and treatment

Human embryonic kidney (HEK) 293T cells (ATCC, catalog (cat) number CRL-3216) were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) supplemented with FBS (10%)

and penicillin-streptomycin (100 µg/mL) at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Cells were seeded in 24-well plates (5 x 104 cells/well) for functional assays. 24 hours after seeding, the HEK293T cells were transfected with an empty vector (pcDNA3-2xHA) or co-transfected with zebrafish Tlr4ba, Tlr4bb (a generous gift from Dr. Victoriano Mulero, Spain)(Sepulcre et al., 2009), or a human TLR4 expression clone (Addgene, cat. #13018) and an empty vector, a mouse MD-2 expression clone (OriGene, cat. #MR225297), or human MD-2 (OriGene, cat. #RC204686). Transfections were done following the manufacturer's protocol using jetPRIME reagent (Polyplus, cat. #CA89129-924) with half the indicated amount of DNA. The media in each well was replaced with fresh media 4 hours post-transfection. 48 hours post-transfection, media was aspirated, and the cells were treated with nickel (II) chloride hexahydrate (Sigma, cat. #379840), or LPS (Invitrogen, cat. #L23351) diluted in fresh media.

#### 2.2.8 Western blot analysis of zebrafish Tlr4 expression

Transfected cells were placed on ice for 5-10 minutes, washed with ice-cold PBS, and returned to ice. Cells were lysed using 200 µL of cold Modified Oncogene Science Lysis Buffer (MOSLB) (10 mM HEPES at pH 7.4, 50 mM Na Pyrophosphate, 50 mM NaF, 50 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 5 mM EGTA, 100 uM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 1% Triton X-100) containing Roche protease inhibitor cocktail (Sigma, cat. #11697498001) (kindly provided by the Marchant group, UofA MMI) was added to each well and then the cells were placed on a rocker for 15-20 minutes. The wells were rinsed with the lysis buffer and the lysates were collected in pre-chilled microcentrifuge tubes. The lysates were centrifuged at 4°C for 10 minutes at 6000g and then the supernatants were collected in new pre-chilled tubes. Lysates were mixed with 6X Laemmli buffer at a 1:5 (buffer:lysate) ratio and then the samples were loaded without heating in a 10% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was run at 140 volts and then transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membrane was blocked with LiCor Intercept (TBS) Blocking Buffer for 1 hour at room temperature, then probed with mouse anti-V5 antibody (1:5000) (Invitrogen, cat. #R96025) overnight at 4°C, and then probed with goat anti-mouse secondary antibody (1:5000) (LiCor, IRDye 800CW) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was washed with TBST and imaged on a LiCor Odyssey.

#### 2.2.9 HEK293T viability and IL-8 secretion

IL-8 cytokine secretion was used as a measure of TLR4 activity per the manufacturer's suggestion for this cell line. Supernatants were collected 24 hours post-treatment and then IL-8 secretion was quantified using commercial human IL-8 ELISA kits (Invitrogen, cat. #88-8086) according to the manufacturer's protocol. IL-8 secretion was normalized to cell viability to account for cell death by nickel. Cell viability was measured using MTT reagent (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) (ACROS, cat. #158990010). MTT was diluted to 1 mg/mL in fresh media and added to the cells post-treatment and incubated for 4 hours. Formazan was solubilized in DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide) (Sigma, cat. #276855) and then the absorbance was measured at 590 nm on a SpectraMAX i3x plate reader (Molecular Devices).

#### 2.2.10 Phylogenetic and synteny analysis of zfTlr4

A phylogenetic reconstruction analysis of TLR4 was performed in MEGA11 as described in Hall et al. (2013; Tamura, Stecher, & Kumar, 2021). Briefly, multiple protein sequences from different vertebrates with e-values <0.001 were collected from NCBI through a BLASTp of zebrafish Tlr4ba in MEGA11. A multiple sequence alignment was performed using MUSCLE under the default options. To determine the most appropriate model for sequence evolution under maximum likelihood (ML) for this data set, we used MEGA's program to find the best model for estimating the tree. The Nearest-Neighbor-interchange (NNI) algorithm was used to generate

initial unrooted tree(s) for the heuristic search, which was estimated using the JJT+F +G +I substitution model with 1000 bootstrap replications (Jones, Taylor, & Thornton, 1992). All positions with less than 95% site coverage were eliminated, i.e., fewer than 5% alignment gaps, missing data, and ambiguous bases were allowed at any position.

Synteny analysis was performed using the Genomicus 93.01 available at:

<u>https://www.genomicus.bio.ens.psl.eu/genomicus-93.01/cgi-bin/search.pl</u>. The gene tree was rooted at the duplication of Tlr4 in early vertebrates. All Tlr4 sequences are collected from the Ensembl database, with all low-coverage sequences removed from the tree. Species for comparison were then selected for analysis.

#### 2.2.11 Statistical analysis

Individual neuromast scores for each larva were added together to provide a score for each individual animal, and this score was used for subsequent analysis. The mean neuromast viability scores and hair cell count from each group were analyzed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. All graphs and statistical tests were performed using GraphPad Prism 9. HEK293T normalized IL-8 secretion values were analyzed using an RM twoway ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

#### 2.3 Results

#### 2.3.1 Nickel, cobalt, and platinum induce hair cell death in larval zebrafish neuromasts.

Many genes, including Tlr4, have multiple copies in zebrafish due to the whole genome duplication events that occurred within teleosts. Zebrafish contain three Tlr4 homologs, *tlrba* (ZDB-GENE-040219-8), *tlr4al* (ZDB-GENE-090507-2), and *tlr4bb* (ZDB-GENE-040219-9). Our preliminary synteny analysis, with a wider array of species and complete genomes available, broadly agrees with the analysis performed by Sullivan et al. with respect to the homology

relationships (2009) (Figure 2.5). Furthermore, our phylogenetic analysis also appears to agree with the analysis by Loes et al., in respect to the evolutionary relationship based on sequence similarity (2021). In mammals, nickel is known to induce allergic contact hypersensitivity reactions through the direct binding and activation of TLR4 (Peana et al., 2017). Other group 10 transition metals, such as platinum, have also been shown to activate mammalian TLR4 through a similar mechanism as nickel (Domingo et al., 2023).Previous findings show Tlr4 signalling is highly conserved between mammals and zebrafish, with the lowest conservation area being within the extracellular domain (Sullivan et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2014). This difference, along with lack of co-receptors, is believed to be responsible for the low sensitivity of zfTlr4zebrafish Tlr4 homologs to LPS and instead may indicate they are more suitable for the direct binding of metal ions.

It has been previously established that a platinum-based chemical is toxic to zebrafish neuromast hair cells in a manner that requires zebrafish Tlr4 homologs (Babolmorad et al., 2021), so we reasoned that hair cell health could be favourable proxy of zebrafish Tlr4 mediating metal toxicity in vivo. Therefore, to determine to the ototoxicity of group 10 transition metals, we first examined their ability to induce hair cell death within the posterior lateral line (pLL) neuromasts. Wildtype zebrafish were exposed to varying concentrations of NiCl<sub>2</sub>, CoCl<sub>2</sub>, PtCl<sub>2</sub>, and PtCl<sub>4</sub>. DASPEI stained neuromasts showed a dose-dependent decrease in neuromast hair cell viability when treated with nickel (II) and cobalt (II) (Figure 2.6A & B). From these dose response experiments, a working concentration of 10µM (2.38mg/L) NiCl<sub>2</sub> and CoCl<sub>2</sub> was selected for the following zebrafish experiments based on the low variability in the scores and the significant reduction neuromast viability without complete ablation of the hair cells. In

comparison to untreated larva, neuromast viability scores decreased 5.7-fold and 7.7-fold in larvae treated with 10µM NiCl<sub>2</sub> and CoCl<sub>2</sub> respectively.

The two platinum salts tested showed approximately a 10-fold increase in toxicity to larval pLL neuromast hair cells compared to nickel and cobalt salts (Figure 2.6C & D). At lower doses, (0µM-1.5µM) PtCl<sub>2</sub> and PtCl<sub>4</sub> showed mean neuromast viability scores like those seen when larvae were treated with 10-fold higher concentrations of nickel (II) and cobalt (II). From these dose-response curves, we selected a working concentration of 0.75µM for both PtCl<sub>2</sub> and PtCl<sub>4</sub> due to their near, but not complete ablation of neuromast hair cells. Larvae treated with 0.75µM PtCl<sub>2</sub> and PtCl<sub>4</sub> showed a 10.7-fold and 2.7-fold decrease in neuromast viability from untreated larvae respectively. PtCl<sub>2</sub> showed greater toxicity to pLL neuromast hair cells in comparison to PtCl<sub>4</sub> with the mean neuromast viability being 3.8-fold lower at 0.75µM than PtCl<sub>4</sub> treated larva at the same concentraiton. Nickel, cobalt, and platinum did not appear to have any overt morphological effects on larva over the course of treatment and their development did not appear impaired (Figure 2.7). Together, these results demonstrate that group X transition metals induce dose-dependent neuromast hair cell death in larval zebrafish.

### 2.3.2 Zebrafish Tlr4 transfected into HEK293T cells show a modest response to nickel, but no measurable response to LPS.

HEK293T cells do not normally express TLR4 and lack sensitivity to TLR4 agonists, but when transfected with human TLR4 and MD-2, they have been shown to upregulate proinflammatory gene expression in response to known TLR4 agonists (Chow et al., 1999; Medvedev & Vogel, 2003; Yang et al., 2000). After TLR4 stimulation, induction of NF-κB leads to an increase of IL-8 secreted into the media. IL-8 has been established by numerous studies as a marker for TLR4 activation making HEK293T cells an excellent in vitro cell model (KurtJones et al., 2000; McKee et al., 2021; Oblak, Pohar, & Jerala, 2015; Potnis, Dutta, & Wood, 2013; Quevedo-Diaz et al., 2010; Schmidt et al., 2010). To examine the ability of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs to respond to group 10 transition metals, zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb were expressed within the HEK293T cells (confirmed by Western blot, Figure 2.8). IL-8 secretion was measured using ELISA and IL-8 levels were normalized based on cell viability to account for cell death from cisplatin. Treatment with 200µM nickel on cells transfected with Tlr4ba andTlr4bb showed an approximate 2-fold increase from baseline IL-8 secretion with and without MD-2 homologs (Figure 2.9A &B). Cells transfected with human TLR4 showed an approximate 3-fold increase in IL-8 secretion without MD-2 or with mouse Md-2, and an approximate 9-fold increase in IL-8 when transfected with human MD-2 (Figure 2.9C).

Previous studies have shown that nickel binds directly to human TLR4 through conserved histidine residues, inducing dimerization without the requirement of MD-2 (Raghavan et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2010). To determine if the presence of MD-2 has an affect on hTLR4 and zebrafish Tlr4 activation, both human or mouse Md-2 homologs were co-transfected with zebrafish Tlr4 homologs or hTLR4. We found the presence of MD-2 was not required for zebrafish Tlr4 and hTLR4 induced IL-8 secretion by nickel as cells transfected with only Tlr4ba, Tlr4bb, or hTLR4 and an empty vector showed a 1.6-fold, 1.7-fold, and 2.9-fold increase in IL-8 secretion, respectively, while cells transfected with the empty vector alone showed no increase from untreated cells (Figure 2.9). Moreover, the addition of either mouse Md-2 or human MD-2 did not have any significant impact on level of IL-8 secretion from cells transfected with zfTrl4ba and zebrafish Tlr4bb (Figure 2.9A & B). It is worth mentioning that Tlr4ba showed a more potent activation in the presence of human MD-2 than mouse Md-2 resulting in a 2-fold increase in IL-8 secretion versus a 1.3-fold increase respectively (Figure 2.9A). The presence of

human MD-2 (hMD2) led to the greatest activation of hTLR4 showing a 9-fold increase in IL-8 secretion, but when co-transfected with the empty vector or mouse Md-2 there was a 3-fold and 3.5-fold increase, respectively (Figure 2.9C). Altogether, this data suggests that nickel-mediated activation of zebrafish Tlr4 or hTLR4 does not require an MD-2 co-receptor, but nickel-induced hTLR4 activation is significantly greater in the presence of human MD-2.

Zebrafish Tlr4 is known not to activated primarily by LPS, therefore LPS was used as a negative control for Tlr4 mediated IL-8 secretion (Figure 2.9A & B). LPS failed to stimulate increased IL-8 secretion in HEK293T cells transfected with either Tlr4ba or Tlr4bb, with and without MD-2. Both zebrafish Tlr4 homologs only show activation mediated by 200µM nickel, while 10ng/mL LPS does not activate Tlr4ba or Tlr4bb. Conversely, LPS is known to be a potent activator of hTLR4 and was used as a positive control in cells transfected with hTLR4. Cells transfected only with the empty vector and treated with 10ng/mL of LPS showed no significant increase in IL-8 secretion from baseline secretion levels (Figure 2.9C). When transfected with hTLR4 alone, there was a significant increase in IL-8 secretion, which was further increased in the presence of human MD-2. Interestingly, cells co-transfected with hTLR4 and mouse Md-2 failed to be activated in the presence of 10ng/mL of LPS, showing selectivity in the co-receptor required to induce IL-8 secretion by LPS.

#### 2.3.3 Zebrafish TLR4 homologs are required for metal toxicity in PLL neuromast hair cells.

Zebrafish F0 genetic mutants (crispants) have recently been used in a variety of studies for examining the effects of targeted gene mutation on disease, behaviour, and development (Bek et al., 2021; Davidson et al., 2021; Lu, Leach, & Gross, 2023; Quick et al., 2021; Trubiroha et al., 2018). They are admired for their effective, accurate, and rapid recapitulation of mutant phenotypes with a mutation rate greater than 80% within the target locus and close resemblance

to their stable mutant counterparts (Hoshijima et al., 2019; Kroll et al., 2021). Here, we used CRISPR-Cas9 gene editing technology to produce a crispant larva where all three zebrafish *tlr4* genes (*tlr4ba/al/bb*) were targeted for mutagenesis. These larvae were then used to establish that the cytotoxic effects on neuromast hair cells from nickel and platinum are mediated through zebrafish Tlr4.

Crispant larva were injected with a Cas9/gRNA ribonuclear complexes (RNPs) targeting a short sequence (~20 nucleotides) early in *tlr4ba*, *tlr4al*, and *tlr4bb* gene homologs for mutation (Figure 2.10). A "mock" injection that contained the Cas9 protein lacking the gRNA duplex was used a control for any effects of the injection process or spontaneous mutations made by the Cas9 protein itself. The mutations, or a lack thereof, were confirmed by taking 10 larvae after metal ion treatment and sequencing the *tlr4* genes after amplifying them with PCR. Sanger Sequencing showed no detectable mutations within the *tlr4* genes of uninjected and mock injected larva, while an unreadable sequence followed the *tlr4ba* and *tlr4bb* genes in crispant larva due to CRISPR mutations leading to disrupted genomic DNA and thus templating of inconsistent PCR products (Figure 2.11-2.13). This confirmed that the *tlr4ba/al/bb* genes were successfully disrupted in crispants, which aligns with our DASPEI scoring experiment results. When examining crispant larval phenotypes, no other noticeable differences were observed compared to uninjected, or mock injected larva (Figure 2.7).

Next, we tested the hypothesis that zebrafish Tlr4 homologs are required for mediating the metal toxicity observed in hair cells. Knockdown of TLR4 in crispants protected hair cells from metal toxicity. After treatment with 10µM NiCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.75µM PtCl<sub>2</sub> and 0.75µM PtCl<sub>4</sub>, crispants showed an improvement in neuromast hair cell survival (Figure 2.14). The mutations in *tlr4ba* and *tlr4bb* resulted in a near 2-fold increase in mean neuromast viability after treatment

with the platinum compounds, and a 2.5-fold increase in mean neuromast viability for crispants treated with  $10\mu$ M NiCl<sub>2</sub> in comparison to uninjected WT fish. Although these experiments were performed on population of mixed mutants, mutations in the zebrafish *tlr4* homologs allowed for a significant recovery in neuromast viability after metal ion treatment compared to their toxic effects in non-mutant WT larvae. This data along with the in vitro cell culture experiments shows zebrafish Tlr4 homologs are involved in a cell-death response to group 10 transition metals, which act as ligands mediating zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb activation and release of proinflammatory cytokines.

#### **2.4 Discussion**

This study demonstrates that group IX/X transition metals mediate the activation of Tlr4 homologs in zebrafish, providing insight to the long-standing mystery of TLR4 function in earlybranching vertebrates. We showed that bath application of NiCl<sub>2</sub>, CoCl<sub>2</sub>, PtCl<sub>2</sub>, or PtCl<sub>4</sub> induced neuromast hair cell death and that this effect required zebrafish Tlr4 homologs. Furthermore, treating cells transfected with zebrafish Tlr4ba or Tlr4bb with nickel, but not LPS, induced the release of IL-8 independently of MD-2. Altogether, this data suggests zebrafish Tlr4 homologs mediate cellular responses to metal ions, which is a response only observed previously in humans and closely related primates.

Exposure to trace metals such as nickel, cobalt, zinc, and copper is common within aquatic environments, and has been previously observed to induce inflammatory responses in aquatic life (Juśkiewicz & Gierszewski, 2022; Singh et al., 2023). Zebrafish have shown metal ions induce expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as *il1β* and *tnfα* as well as Tlr signalling genes *myd88*, *nfkb1a*, and *tlr5b* (Brun et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2019; T. Wang et al., 2015). Moreover, the involvement of Tlrs in mediating these inflammatory responses is

supported by the observation that the MAPK pathway, which is frequently activated during TLR4 signalling, also shows increased gene expression after metal exposure (Chen et al., 2019). Additionally, similar to what is observed in humans following metal-induced TLR activation, contact with metal ions in zebrafish can lead to the development of high concentrations of reactive oxygen species (ROS), leading to further inflammation, disruption of mitchondrial function, and eventually cell death (Jia et al., 2022; T. Wang et al., 2015).

In humans, metals elicit these responses described above through the binding and activation of TLR4 (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Oblak, Pohar, & Jerala, 2015; Rachmawati et al., 2013; Schmidt et al., 2010). TLRs are expressed within the skin of zebrafish (Li et al., 2017), which is the first area contacted by foreign bodies and acts as a primary site for innate immune system activation. In this study we show that during bath application with metal ions, clusters of hair cells on the exterior of zebrafish, called neuromasts, aptly demonstrate the ability of metals to induce cell death (Figure 2.6). This effect can be mitigated by mutations in Tlr4ba/Tlr4bb, resulting in a reduction of metal cytotoxicity (Figure 2.14). This data provides evidence that zebrafish Tlr4 homologs are one of mechanisms involved in the generation of metal-induced cell death.

These findings provide further support to the idea that zebrafish Tlr4 can be activated by metals, and while this suggests an ancient, shared function for vertebrate TLR4 it is noteworthy that not all previous works align exactly with this conclusion. The binding of nickel to human TLR4 has been shown to be directly mediated through two histidine residues within the LRR domain. These residues are conserved between primate species such as chimpanzees and humans but are largely absent in more distantly related vertebrates (Peana et al., 2017; Schmidt et al., 2010) (Figure 2.3). These histidine residues allow for the binding of nickel due to their effective

position within the TLR4 protein, distance in relation to one another, and their nucleophilic imidazole group that interacts strongly with the electrophilic nickel ions. Previously, it has been suggested that due to the lack of these histidine residues, other species apart from primates fail to respond to metal ions through TLR4 (Oblak, Pohar, & Jerala, 2015; Schmidt et al., 2010). Mice have demonstrated nickel hypersensitivity through TLR4 activation, but only when presensitized with LPS as an adjuvant (Sato et al., 2007). Our findings show that cells transfected with zebrafish Tlr4 homologs increase secretion of IL-8 in response to nickel and in the absence of LPS, similar to what is seen in humans (Figure 2.9) (Rachmawati et al., 2013; Schmidt et al., 2010). In contrast to what is known about nickel binding to TLR4 in humans, these findings support the idea that zebrafish Tlr4 can be activated by metals, inducing a proinflammatory response. Furthermore, MD-2 was not required for metal induced activation of zebrafish Tlr4, suggesting a binding mechanism like that observed in humans. Further work is warranted towards understanding which residues in zebrafish Tlr4 mediate metal signalling. Regardless, this implicates zebrafish as a promising animal model for studying metal allergies and provides an in vivo system to examine the complexity of metal-induced contact hypersensitivity reactions and future therapeutic avenues.

Human TLR4 activation can also occur by endogenous molecules released after cell injury called DAMPs. This opens the possibility of two possible mechanisms through which zebrafish Tlr4 activation is observed from metal ion treatment. First, similar to humans, a currently unknown motif within the ectodomain of zebrafish Tlr4 coordinates with metal ions inducing its dimerization and mediating its activation. Second, the metal ions result in the release of DAMPs, which then mediate the activation of zebrafish Tlr4homologs in the response to metals present in the media. DAMP release through the generation of ROS (either through TLR4

or directly by metals) will result in positive feedback loop where activation of TLR4 leads to oxidative stress, leading to the release of DAMPS, which further activates TLR4. Therefore, we can not rule out the possibility of DAMPs as a confounding variable within this study. However, the activation of hTLR4 by some DAMPS such as HMGB1, requires co-receptors such as MD-2, which is not required for the release IL-8 by cells expressing zebrafish Tlr4 (Figure 2.9A & B) (Yang et al., 2015). Furthermore, zebrafish Tlr4 homologs do not have any known endogenous ligands, but examining endogenous activators of zebrafish Tlr4 provides an exciting avenue for future study. Liu et al. showed that peroxiredoxin 1, a widely expressed antioxidant enzyme and DAMP, could interact with Tlr4ba, inducing NF-κB activity and upregulating expression of proinflammatory cytokines (He et al., 2019; 2018). This finding supports some role of DAMPs in zebrafish Tlr4 activation, however more work is required to determine the role DAMPs play in metal induced Tlr4 activation in zebrafish.

Apart from histidine, it is known that other residues such as cysteine, aspartic acid, glutamic acid, and methionine contribute to metal ion binding through motifs rich in these amino acids (Kozlowski et al., 2013). Previous studies have established that platinum and platinum containing compounds (such as cisplatin) are capable of directly binding and activating human TLR4 without the requirement of MD-2 (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Domingo et al., 2023). Platinum binding also appears to involve residues disparate from the known nickel binding residues, as activation is still present after mutation of histidine H456 and H458 (Domingo et al., 2023). The platinum compounds tested in this study require lower concentrations to elicit similar levels of neuromast hair cell death as nickel, indicating they are more toxic to zebrafish neuromast hair cells (Figure 2.6). However, no overt toxicity was displayed to the overall health of the zebrafish in response to the platinum compounds (Figure 2.7). In combination with the
crispant mutant experiments that show a significant increase in neuromast viability after Tlr4 mutation, one explanation of these results suggest platinum is a more potent activator of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs compared to nickel, leading to increased inflammation and ROS resulting in more cell death. The stronger activation by platinum may be mediated by other histidine clusters within the zebrafish Tlr4 extracellular domain such as H352, H354 and H361 in Tlr4ba and H445, H450, and H461 in Tlr4bb (Figure 2.3). Moreover, other conserved cysteine, aspartate, and glutamate residues in the LRR region of zebrafish Tlr4 could support platinum activation such as D423, E426, D429, D453, and/or the cysteine cluster C389 and C390. Residues like these within the hypervariable region (proximal region of the extracellular domain) often provide species specific recognition of particular ligands, which in this case could be certain metals like platinum (Vaure & Liu, 2014). These residues act as good candidates to examine more closely for metal binding activity in future studies.

When examining the level of IL-8 secretion between zebrafish Tlr4 and hTLR4, nickel induces greater activation of hTLR4 (Figure 2.9). Across all groups, the greatest increase from baseline IL-8 secretion was a 9-fold increase induced in cells co-transfected with hTLR4 + human MD-2 and treated with nickel (Figure 2.9C). On the other hand, the greatest increase in IL-8 secretion from the zebrafish Tlr4 transfection experiments occurred in cells co-transfected with Tlr4ba + human MD-2, with a 2-fold increase in IL-8 from baseline (Figure 2.9.A&B). The difference in maximal activation levels may be due to zebrafish Tlr4 lacking it's recently identified endogenous MD-2 co-receptor (Ly96) leading to incomplete signalling (Loes et al., 2021). When comparing between species, we see that the levels of IL-8 secretion from nickel treated cells co-transfected with either hTLR4 or zebrafish Tlr4 and an empty vector or mouse Md-2 are similar (Figure 2.9). A previous study by Raghavan et al. showed that, although still

present, activation of hTLR4 without human MD-2 by nickel and cobalt is significantly reduced (2012) (Figure 2.9). This suggests that when Tlr4 receptors are alone, or lacking their endogenous co-receptor, the activation of the receptor is stunted from its full potential. Our data supports this finding, where we observed hTLR4 subject to nickel treatment in the presence of mouse Md-2 had a significantly reduced response in comparison to when the cells were co-transfected with human MD-2, its endogenous co-receptor (Figure 2.9C). Similarly, certain ligands like taxol, LPS from *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*, and tetraacylated lipid IVa elicit different responses from TLR4 depending on the species of TLR4/MD-2 complex present (Ohto et al., 2012; Werling et al., 2009). Therefore, it is possible that residues within the hypervariable variable region of zebrafish Tlr4 and the endogenous zebrafish MD-2 homolog would assist in providing crucial interactions required to promote a more potent response to metal ions.

The ability of zebrafish Tlr4, particularly Tlr4ba, to respond to LPS was recently revisited by Loes et al. after their insightful observation of an MD-2 homolog present within the zebrafish genome (2021). LPS was shown to be capable of activating zebrafish Tlr4ba in the presence of MD-2, however, there are two caveats: it requires mammalian Cd14, which currently has no known homolog within zebrafish, and the concentrations required for activation of zebrafish Tlr4 was also considerably higher (ug/mL) than the biologically relevant concentrations of LPS (0-10ng/mL) required for TLR4 activation (Guo et al., 2013). On the other hand, dimerization by metal ions is through a direct binding mechanism and excludes the prerequisite of CD14 for activation. The presence of Tlr4 homologs and an MD-2 homolog within zebrafish along with the lack sensitivity to LPS provides a logical basis for our hypothesis that zebrafish Tlr4 utilizes group IX/X metals for ligands. The most recent hypotheses for how zebrafish Tlr4 fits in to the evolution of this receptor suggests the *tlr4* gene along with *ly96* (MD- 2) arose in a common ancestor before divergence of lobe-finned and ray-finned fish (Loes et al., 2021). The lack CD14 and LPS sensitivity in most fish species, but the presence of MD-2, further supports the notion that Tlr4's purpose originally included the binding of ligands that do not require co-receptors, such as metals.

In summary we present data in support of nickel and platinum acting as novel ligands for zebrafish Tlr4, helping discern the mystery surrounding its function. We demonstrated that through genetic mutation of Tlr4, zebrafish become significantly less sensitive to metal cytotoxicity and their presence in cells increased the inflammatory response to metals. These findings suggest a previously unknown function of zebrafish Tlr4 and that they may be used to sense for metals in their environment, resulting in toxicity and inflammation observed in zebrafish. Further understanding the function of zebrafish Tlr4 and the involvement of metal ions will facilitate better utilization of this model organism in the study of innate immunity and disease, particularly metal contact hypersensitivity.

# 2.5 Figures and Tables



Figure 2. 1 Metal ions bind directly to TLR4 versus co-receptor binding with LPS. Group IX/X transition metals bind directly to key residues in the ectodomain of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4). This stimulates nuclear factor- $\kappa\beta$  (NF- $\kappa\beta$ ), leading to the release of type 1 interferons and proinflammatory cytokines. LPS binds to the LPS Binding Protein (LBP) and is transferred to the co-receptor cluster of differentiation 14 (CD14). CD14 facilitates the binding of LPS to myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2)/TLR4 signalling complex, which then dimerizes and follows a similar signalling cascade as described above. Created with BioRender.



Figure 2. 2 Multiple sequence alignment and precent identity matrix for TLR4 (full protein) between zebrafish, mice, and humans. A) The comparison between sequences shows the homology and conservation of residues mainly in the latter third of the protein sequence. Similar residues (100%) are highlighted in black, partially similar residues are highlighted in dark grey (80%-100%) and light grey (60%-80%). The coloured histogram shows the mean pairwise precent identity for each column of the alignment, where green represents 100%, yellow represents >30%, and red represents <30%. B) Table shows the percent identity between mammalian TLR4 (mouse and human) is >60%, while the precent identity between mammalian and zebrafish Tlr4 homologs <40%. Alignments, similarity, and the percent identity matrix were made and calculated using Geneious Prime.

Consensus Identity	1 10 20 30 (11) 10 20 30 (11) 10 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	40 50 Xepvels Xequilibries (	60 70 (Technicidae)////////////////////////////////////	80 90 Merzyzek (m. z. vóra × 100)	100 110 2008–000 × Generator - U × DNI200	120 130 TK DOUD NO GTN Y DOB MTD 2* E	140 150 Meterixesilitothexinisii	160 170 R⊤EHTVELSHIG-RİMATII	180 190 IBB × NEED III HOM BARRACERS × 83 × 10 × 100	X
1. TLR4 (Human)	K <b>urr</b> d n <b>ur fis trinnur lister</b> furitiu gst	SIGES FOR ENGINE CONSIGN	DEF TIDELE (VAXA: 1804 S COURSEDU DU	TANIAI OS LIZ LIBA FIRGU SIBURI	SUUX AASH TINU AISUUN E MU GIDU	KTURDEDI MAARINI LIDINGSE KUUDEN	FINNE TREE FOR USING SUB	YCTOLRINGHENEPLLINGS	I NAZNE UNIZANE UNIZAZI SE EN RUHA	T
2. TLR4 (Mouse)	KANAD DADAS BITANADO LASENA PARA LARKA SI	SESNES LOOP LOUSED	DCTIDEEK KANDGE HOOEENOUD	CONTROP S FROM S FROM THE	NOZAZU TRUAZUU SEPÜGCU	ITER KURSALEHELSCKURAR	BNETREVI KOUSYRYNGT	TVEDLQFEENPQVESU	NELNEDFICECOM CONTRACTOR	TB
3. Tiréba	IRTUR FISHER FER OUR KN	HERVILS FLRWIDT SRCI	IIBQIIEN DAEVNEK NUITTU - U	TONEL YEAREN MUNICI	ROMANDE GILEISTIG – UNONRAL	TK BERDING TAYO BRATOR - B	MUTERNESLUDDHENNISU	RTEHT-WERE GRANT		
4. Tir4al	S STRUCTURES FOLDER BY AN A FOLD BOLL CONF.	MERVILLERATION AND A STREET			RUBALENDE CHERENES - L'AUNAN RUBALENDE DE RUBALEN - L'AUNAN	TREBRIELANG IN MILINGKI LUSPI TREBRIELANG IN MILINGKI LUSPI		R TRATAR SHIG-RANGED		0-018 0-01
	200 210 220 230	240 250	260 270	280 290	300 310	320 330	340 350	360 370	380 390	
Consensus Identity 1. TLR4 (Human)	SALEMBERSAN (CHTULAND ABUNG ABUNG ABUNGAN ABUNG	NEPŘYDERICE SUNĖVE:	REAVERY LED TO DO NOT	RADNU XÅRGXXU XXX ÖRPE Radnu Xårgx vider Rad fisk	- 12 A STELLY HILLY XXIII G X X BT X	9 - 1911 P X 2011 X FM X 20 X G X I -	A XH F MATHER THAY AND BRACK	SIXK COCCERSION STATES	RANKA ZIMÁN XIX - GYA TISINA SU Dash Zimaning - Sana Likas Ga	0) (0) 
2. TLR4 (Mouse)	GNENESE HETCHEN AGURE REUHBEREICHEN NUR	FERSING CATIONS	R II TYTN - DE SDD <b>II</b> Y K <b>I</b> H <b>RE</b> A	NARARE VEALER ALEOREM	BEIZHAR SU SUUR CIQUK QE BITU	D	SEKKYALISI SYLDUS RAA	SES GOORYSDI ISUNS BEI	DUSEZGALIZS-ANDARCE	8-00
3. Tir4ba	SAN MERENARIA AUBAU HEINK KINU FEKIMEREN GEH	VENDIVELENE CENERAL	SYYVLN-SAKTTNANDROMI	NAURINNIKGGNU Y ENERTIK FU	- REFERENCE NOR GENERATION	R - ISING HIDE HISDEIND HISSEPT F	WAEPFTELSKUGYWEISDA OL	K ILK HOGHE THE . SEMDER OF NEW	NURL ZSELEN DVGCH ENDES	6180
4. Tir4al	IST EMBELAISKEN OF MALE FOR THE FORMER OF MENDER HER Y	SELDY F <b>DERESTER</b> Y BA	KYYYNK∎-RLDAK <b>X</b> N <b>URA</b> AI	RATVEVEKSOV RVICYER		Q.SHURDERNING VIDHOSATQ	VERFILMERLOWNDINSNO	TUR SOCIED V. SOM RODSVI	NUSL VPCINI DRGCI EDDAS	6106
5. Tir4bb	A A LEINARDA GONE IC HURANI TRANTIZ CIXIN FINDER CARMOS E KINNY	S V P DYUL BEIDI SUINE NE	YEVOKIH WSDISENSHINDRONOM	NALIKUMUK KAYAN SASHUPU	DINELEN CONSTRAINED		T G V SHEINELLING YAAN CHARGE MI	TU HERROR TU F PROPRIORING	CANCELOW FYNE PHE SAUGE LIN	
Consensus	400 410 420 430 Baxend Kurxir & Citerry Alton and Citer Statements of the XXX	440 450 XIII ( 1811) 1811 1821 1821 1821		480 490 . Iskon XIII BŽ JISXIII I BKALIČKI	SOU STU AHUNZKIS XIXINUUS SINDEUTTÝRM	520 530 K X MUXX MVSKOVSUTUURUD>	540 550	540 57U	280 290	595
1. TLR4 (Human)	COMEN UNIXES E DEVICE DE DEVICE DE LE DE	I INELESE I BLIMAGN	NG CZEWPOWNICH WRNOTE DR	IISROOLESIISPIISPINSUISS	RMORE REPARC	NS QVIIDYILI (G-QMII) SKKQI	SHIF SLAFINLTON			
2. TLR4 (Mouse)	BORNETINK RUET E BIRAFILIKINE KIN LIMU CINSKIN N'TK I DE DO	IBLEORIAN TOXINAGE	SEUS CARTILIS MARELANZ TIUNDITE MOR	INSKRICH ESILISWIG MED TIL HEIN	SOLONZUZIS HZISUNU FINICIS S HYN CI	NY S <b>hig</b> hi Udol <b>se Brid</b> enii sk-gi	<b>K</b> HF			
3. Tir4ba	DES MOREAVENDIG Y LEWEL SELENING RANDOVERAL BATTES N H		NIEKAN VAK MANDANINA LUE HEO	INDER HUVEL HTISEN (VURBE	RHURR K GNYLLIK DELTHEN	IK QUIND F MAY EN ASSUTATIONE HO				
4. Tirdal	ENERGY IN SUBJECT DE LE COMPANY CONTRACTOR SUB-				SHUNDE GANUE SUBELITOEN	IK QUILLE I YANKA SUTU FRUDU				
3. 11460										
	P		Tlr4ba	Tlr4al	Tlr4bb	TLR4 (Hum	TLR4 (Mou			
	D <sub>Th</sub>	4ba		72.62%	56.50%	35.84%	34.95%			
	Tir	4al	72.62%		57.92%	35.80%	36.26%			
	TIr	4bb	56.50%	57.92%		36.24%	33.27%			
	TL	84 (Human)	35.84%	35.80%	36.24%		62 57%			
C	TI		34 95%	36.26%	22 27%	62 57%	02.0770			
C	121	(+ (Mouse)	34.93%	30.20%	55.27%	02.37%				
Identity	YDAFVIFSSMDEA	WVMINELN	MENLENGV	P P Q L C L F	MRDFQAG	<u>ISTASNI I</u>	DEGTIMGSF		SQHETUS	٧C
1. TLR4 (Huma	VDAFVIYSS VDAFVIYSS VDAFVIYSS	<u>NVRNELN</u>	<u>KNLEEGV</u>	PPFQLCLH	YRDEIPG	AIAANII	HEGFHKSE	<u> KVIVVV</u>	<u>OHFIQSRM</u>	VC
<ol> <li>TLR4 (Mous</li> <li>Tlr4ba</li> </ol>	YDAFVIYSSONED	WVRNELN WVMNELN	AENLENGV	PPIOLCLE	MRDFOAG	S I A S N I I		<u>KIIVVV</u>	SOHFIDSAW	VC
4. Tir4al	YDAFVIFSSYDEA	WVMNELN	IENLENGV	PPIQLCLH	MRDFQAG	SIASNII	DEGIMGSI	<u>REIVVV</u> S	OHF IDSAW	νĈ
5. Tir4bb	YDAFVIFSSMDEA	WVMNELN		PPIQLCLH				RKTTVVVS		٧C
Consensus	RFEFELAQSRFXX	ERNANI	<b>IIIIE</b> DV	AERKTKKX	XGLHKHL	KNŤYLKW	SRDPLSN	RFWIRLF	RKAJVAT	
Identity										
2. TLR4 (Mous	FEYELAQTWOFL	SSRSGI	FIVLEKV	EKSLLROG	VELYRLL	SRNTYLEW	EDNPLGR	FWRRLK		
3. Tir4ba	RFEFELAQSRFLM	ERNAN	IIILEDV	AERKTKKI	LGLHKHL	KNTYLKW	SRDPLSNN	1REWI		
4. Tir4al 5. Tir4bb	RFEFELAQSREVV			AERKIKKV		KNIYLKW	SRDPLSNN SRDPLSNN			
			Tlr4ba	Tlr4al	Tlr4bb	TI R4 (Hum	TLR4 (Mou			
	D <sub>TIP</sub>	1ba	111400	07 70%	07 70%	E4 410/	E2 210/			
	111- 	+ua 1 - l	07 700/	97.79%	97.79%	54.41%	52.21%			
	r-	+al	97.79%		97.18%	55.63%	52.11%			
	Tir	400	97.79%	97.18%		55.63%	52.11%			
	TLI	₹4 (Human)	54.41%	55.63%	55.63%		91.55%			
	TLE	R4 (Mouse)	52.21%	52.11%	52.11%	91.55%				

Α

Figure 2. 3 Multiple sequence alignment and precent identity matrix for TLR4 extracellular LRR domain and intracellular TIR domain between human, mouse, and zebrafish. The comparison between sequences shows the homology and conservation of residues is ~20% greater within the intracellular TIR domain compared with the extracellular LRR domain. Similar residues (100%) are highlighted in black, partially similar residues are highlighted in dark grey (80%-100%) and light grey (60%-80%). The coloured histogram shows

the mean pairwise precent identity for each column of the alignment, where green represents 100%, yellow represents >30%, and red represents <30%. The known human nickel binding residues are underlined in red within A. The nickel binding residues 431 and 456 show 100% similarity between humans, mice, and zebrafish, as well as partial identity (>30%) and consist of either histidine or tyrosine residues. The last known nickel binding residue (458) shows low similarity and identity between all sequence and is either a histidine, asparagine, serine, or arginine residue. The table below the alignments show the percent sequence identity for the entire sequence alignment between human TLR4, mouse TLR4, zebrafish Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb. Alignments, similarity, and the percent identity matrix were made and calculated using Geneious Prime.



Figure 2. 4 Depiction of the zebrafish posterior lateral line and neuromasts in 7dpf

**zebrafish larvae.** A) Location of posterior lateral line neuromasts drawn on a bright field image of a 7dpf larva. Black arrows point to the location of the five stereotypically developed neuromasts consistently scored between experiments B) DASPEI stained untreated larva with visible neuromasts. White arrows point towards the same five neuromasts as shown in A. C) DASPEI stained larva treated with 10μM nickel (II) chloride hexahydrate, showing the lack of fluorescence from neuromasts due to a hair cell death.



# Figure 2. 5 Phylogenetic and synteny analysis of TLR4 sequences between species. A) Maximum likelihood unrooted phylogenetic tree of 48 TLR4 protein sequences. The percentage of trees in which the associated taxa clustered together is shown below the branches. The human TLR4 sequence is highlighted in green, while zebrafish Tlr4 sequences are highlighted in red. B) Synteny analysis examining the conservation of 20 genes surrounding human tlr4 between 13 vertebrate species. Primates (humans, chimpanzee, orangutan, gibbon) share a high level of chromosome structure with humans with many orthologs located in a similar location relative to *tlr4*. The conservation of chromosome structure decreases with earlier divergence of species. *tlr4* from different vertebrate species are aligned down the middle column. Each row shows a short area of chromosomal structure surrounding *tlr4* in different species. The blocks indicate the location of genes in different species that share homology with their human counterpart. Each colour corresponds to an ortholog of a gene, with the human gene name and its corresponding colour denoted at the bottom. The gene tree is shown on the left while organism name and the chromosomal location of the gene sets are indicated on the right. Multiple gene alignment for synteny analysis was made using Genomicus 93.01. Evolutionary analyses were conducted in MEGA11 (Tamura, Stecher, & Kumar, 2021).



Figure 2. 6 Nickel (II) chloride, cobalt (II) chloride, platinum (II) chloride, and platinum (IV) chloride induce PLL hair cell death in a dose dependent manner within 6-7dpf zebrafish. As the concentration of the NiCl<sub>2</sub> (A), CoCl<sub>2</sub> (B), PtCl<sub>2</sub> (C), and PtCl<sub>4</sub> (D) in the media increased, the intensity of DASPEI fluorescence decreased, indicating a decrease in neuromast hair cell viability. NiCl<sub>2</sub> and CoCl<sub>2</sub> are less toxic to neuromast hair cells as the concentration of NiCl<sub>2</sub> and CoCl<sub>2</sub> required for similar levels of neuromast hair cell death to occur

is 10-fold that of the platinum salts. N = 10 wildtype larva for all treatment groups. Bars represent the mean neuromast viability score of all larvae. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



Figure 2. 7 Tlr4 crispant fish treated with nickel (II) and platinum (IV). A-C) 6-7dpf mock injected and Tlr4 crispant larva treated with either PtCl<sub>4</sub> or NiCl<sub>2</sub> show no apparent morphological change in comparison to an uninjected untreated larva. A) Uninjected, untreated larva. B) Mock injected larva treated with 7.5µM PtCl<sub>4</sub>. C) Tlr4 crispant treated with 7.5µM PtCl<sub>4</sub>. D) Mock injected larva treated with 10µM NiCl<sub>2</sub>. E) Tlr4 crispant larva treated with 10µM NiCl<sub>2</sub>.



**Figure 2. 8 Western blot showing expression of zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb in HEK293T cells.** Zebrafish *tlr4ba* and *tlr4bb* were transfected individually into HEK293T cells and expressed using the SV40 promoter. Untransfected HEK293T cells and those transfected with an empty vector (EV) show no expression of a Tlr4 protein, but those transfected with the *tlr4* recombinant plasmids show expression of a protein at approximate size of Tlr4ba (~86 kDa) and Tlrbb (~95kDa) respectively. Additionally, zebrafish Tlr4 proteins were tagged with a 5' V5/His<sub>6</sub> sequence for detection using mouse anti-V5 antibodies. Expression of ASC was used as a positive control. The ladder (left) shows proteins of known sizes in kDa. nt = no transfection, EV = empty vector, ASC = apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase-recruitment domain (CARD), zfTlr4ba = zebrafish Tlr4ba, zfTlr4bb = zebrafish Tlr4bb.



Figure 2. 9 Nickel activates zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb in HEK293T cells while LPS does not. The TLR4 signalling cascade is well conserved between zebrafish and mammals. Stimulation of TLR4 by LPS in mammals results in a release of a range of proinflammatory cytokines and type 1 interferons. Cells transfected with Tlr4ba (A), Tlr4bb (B), or human TLR4 (hTLR4; C) and an empty vector, mouse (mMD2) or human (hMD2) MD-2 show an increase in IL-8 secretion (a common measure of TLR4 activation) after treatment with nickel (II) chloride hexahydrate in comparison to cells transfected with the empty vector alone. A-B) HEK293 cells lacking mammalian TLR4 but transfected with Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb show increased secretion of IL-8 when treated with 200µM nickel (II) chloride hexahydrate, but do not when treated with 10ng/mL of LPS. Stimulation of IL-8 release by Tlr4ba (A) and Tlr4bb (B) does not require MD-

2. A) The Tlr4ba-hMD-2 complex allows for increased IL-8 secretion in the presence of Ni<sup>2+</sup> in comparison to the mMD-2 homolog. B) zfTLr4bb does not require or show a preference for either MD-2 homologs when inducing IL-8 secretion in the presence Ni<sup>2+</sup>. C) hTLR4 induces IL-8 secretion both in the presence of Ni<sup>2+</sup> and LPS but does not when transfected with the empty vector alone. hTLR4 induces IL-8 secretion after nickel (II) chloride hexahydrate treatment with or without MD-2 but is significantly greater when transfected with hMD-2. LPS induces IL-8 secretion with and without hMD-2 but does not when mMD-2 is present. The secretion of IL-8 is significantly greater in cells transfected with hMD-2 in comparison to cells transfected with the empty vector alone. IL-8 fold induction was calculated based on the baseline cell secretion of IL-8 without treatment. N = three independent experiments for all treatments. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by two-way RM ANOVA and Šídák's multiple comparisons test. This data was generated and provided with permission from Tracy Lee.



**Figure 2. 10 Illustration representing the 3** *tlr4* **homologs on zebrafish chromosome 13 and their approximate gRNA positions.** The three zebrafish *tlr4* homologs are found in succession to one another. Arrows point to the initial base pair position on the chromosome. White boxes represent untranslated regions, blue boxes show exons, while blue lines show introns. Grey lines represent the intergenic region connecting the homologs.



Figure 2. 11 Sanger Sequencing of tlr4ba crispant DNA. The *tlr4ba* gene was amplified from the genomic DNA of individual larvae via PCR using the tlr4ba forward primer.

Uninjected larva (A) and mock injected larva (B) DNA in A & B shows an unmutated *tlr4ba* sequence, where consistent DNA in all cells produces a coherent chromatogram throughout. C) Chromatograms from *tlr4* cripants show clear sequence chromatograms where the DNA is homozygous and consistent throughout the individual (left side), but the chromatogram becomes unreadable near the gRNA binding site (highlighted in light yellow) because a mixture of various mutant DNA sequences now exists among the larva's cells. Larva were injected at the one cell stage with either a gRNA sequence targeting the three zebrafish tlr4ba homolog or Cas9 protein alone (mock).



Figure 2. 12 Sanger Sequencing of tlr4bb crispant DNA. The *tlr4bb* gene was amplified from the genomic DNA of individual larvae via PCR using the *tlr4bb* reverse primer. Uninjected larva (D) and mock injected larva (E) DNA in A & B shows an unmutated tlr4bb sequence, where consistent DNA in all cells produces a coherent chromatogram throughout. F) Chromatograms from tlr4 cripants show clear sequence chromatograms where the DNA is homozygous and consistent throughout the individual (left side), but the chromatogram becomes unreadable near the gRNA binding site (highlighted in light yellow) because a mixture of various mutant DNA sequences now exists among the larva's cells. Larva were injected at the one cell stage with either a gRNA sequence targeting the three zebrafish tlr4bb homolog or Cas9 protein alone (mock).



Figure 2. 13 Sanger Sequencing of tlr4al crispant DNA. The *tlr4al* gene was amplified from the genomic DNA of individual larvae via PCR using the *tlr4al* reverse primer. Uninjected larva (G) and mock injected larva (H) DNA in G & H shows an unmutated *tlr4al* sequence, where consistent DNA in all larval cells produces a coherent chromatogram throughout. I) Chromatograms from *tlr4* cripants show clear sequence chromatograms where the DNA is homozygous and consistent throughout the individual even following the gRNA target sequence (highlighted in light yellow).



**Figure 2. 14** *Tlr4 crispant* **mutant larvae are less susceptible to Group 10 transition metal induced ototoxicity.** Both uninjected and mock injected larvae show a significant decrease in neuromast hair cell survival after treatment with 10μM NiCl<sub>2</sub> and 0.75μM PtCl<sub>2</sub> and PtCl<sub>4</sub>. The *Tlr4 crispant* larvae had their *tlr4* homologs mutated, protecting them from group 10 transition metal induced ototoxicity. Neuromasts showed a significant increase in viability compared to the mock and uninjected platinum treated groups. Notably, unlike *Tlr4 crispant*s treated with PtCl<sub>2</sub> and PtCl<sub>4</sub>, crispant larvae treated with NiCl<sub>2</sub> did not show a significant increase in neuromast survival compared to mock and uninjected larvae. Larvae were mutated in their *tlr4* homologs using CRISPR-cas9 genome editing. Larva were injected at the one cell stage with either gRNA sequences targeting the three zebrafish tlr4 homologs or Cas9 protein alone (mock). Larvae were grown to 6 dpf when they were treated with cisplatin for 20 hours. Bracketed numbers above

each bar represents the total number of larvae scored in each group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.

Table 2.	1 CRISPR-cas9	gRNA sec	uences and	PCR	primer sea	uences.
		8			p	

Gene	gRNA sequence	PCR primer sequences
tlr4ba	5'-GGAGGUAUCUUACUAUGUUUGUUUUAGAGCUAU-3'	F: 5'-CCTGCATGGTCTTAATGTCAA-3'
		R: 5'-GCATTGATCATACAGCGAAAGA-3'
tlr4al	5'-UCCAAUCUCUCGAAGCACAAGUUUUUAGAGCUAUGCU-3'	F: 5'-GACTCTTCCTCCATTCATGAGC-3'
		R: 5'-CAAACATCAGCCTTGTGACATT-3'
	52 CAAACAACUUAUCCACCCUCCUUUUACACCUAU 22	F: CCTTCATTTCGTTTAATGCACA-3'
tlr4bb	3-CAACAACUUAUCACUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUUU	R: AACGAAACAAGTGCATTTCTGA- 3'

# Chapter 3. Toll-like receptor 4 as a therapeutic target to reduce CIO in a zebrafish animal model.

Chapter 3 Preface:

Some of the research conducted in Chapter 3 is being prepared as a collaborative manuscript between the Bhavsar lab led by Dr. Amit P. Bhavsar at the University of Alberta, the Berman lab led by Dr. Jason Berman at the University of Ottawa, and the West lab led by Dr. Frederick G. West at the University of Alberta. At the time of writing, this manuscript in still being compiled, but this chapter was written by APDF with editing contributions from WTA. All in vivo work presented in this thesis was generated by APDF. Novel derivatives were generated by the West lab. The heterologous cell culture work was generated by Tracy Lee. Sakina Mithaiwala was instrumental in the generation of the YO-PRO1 assay and in helping establishing creation of the crispant mutant larva. Niall Pollock was fundamental in conceptualization and early instruction of fluorescent staining assays. Summary Table 3.1 represents in vitro cell culture data collected by Asna Latif and Ghazal Babolmorad. Christie Li generated gRNA sequences as well as PCR primers for crispant validation.

# Abstract

Cisplatin (cis-diamminedichloroplatinum) is an effective anticancer drug used to treat a variety of solid tumours. Unfortunately, its use is limited by the onset of several side effects, particularly ototoxicity. Cisplatin induced ototoxicity (CIO) is irreversible, bilateral hearing loss that occurs in up to 90% of patients treated, depending mainly on cumulative dosage and age of treatment. Currently, mitigation strategies for the toxic side-effects of CIO are limited and only sodium thiosulfate has been approved by the FDA to date. CIO arises due to inflammation and generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) within the closed system of the inner ear, leading to hair cell damage and apoptosis. The exact mechanism through which the inflammation and ROS generation are produced is still unknown. We propose TLR4 as a mechanistic link between cisplatin and generation of ROS within the inner ear, contributing to the release of proinflammatory cytokines and inner ear hair cell death. We use the zebrafish posterior lateral line as a model for inner ear hair cell death. Moreover, due to the unique binding mechanism of metals in comparison to LPS, we examine the ability of TLR4 inhibitors to selectively mitigate this side effect, while maintaining regular immune surveillance by TLR4. We establish cisplatin induces ototoxicity in a dose dependent manner, and that this effect can be mitigated by 2-fold using novel derivatives of the TLR4 inhibitor TAK-242. Moreover, we demonstrate that cisplatin can induce activation of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs by expressing them in vitro. We demonstrate zebrafish Tlr4 homologs are required for the generation of cisplatin-induced hair cell death and that our derivatives are specific for Tlr4 by using *Tlr4 crispant* mutant larvae. We also show that the hair cells protected by Tlr4 inhibition are functionally viable using a novel vibration startle response behavioural analysis. Altogether, our data provides further support of zebrafish as an

excellent model for studying CIO, screening drugs, and demonstrates TLR4 as a therapeutic target for combating cisplatin induced hearing loss.

#### **3.1 Introduction**

Cancer is one of the most prevalent and debilitating diseases worldwide with nearly 20 million people affected in 2020 and 10 million deaths ((IARC), 2020). Our ability to treat all cancer has improved considerably with the predicted 5-year survival rate for all cancers in 2017 being 64%, nearly 10% greater than in the late 20<sup>th</sup> century ((CCS), 2022). This puts more pressure on examining the effects of long-term cancer treatment. Cisplatin is one of the most broadly administered anticancer medication due to its effective and broad spectrum treatment for a variety of solid tumours (Aldossary, 2019). Cisplatin mainly exerts its apoptotic effects by targeting the DNA of cells, crosslinking base pairs which disrupts gene expression/replicaiton (Romani, 2022). This preferentially effects cells that divide quickly, such as cancer cells or hair follicles. However, cisplatin treatment is limited by several associated toxicities, particularly cisplatin-induced ototoxicity (CIO) (Waissbluth, Peleva, & Daniel, 2017). CIO is irreversible, bilateral, sensorineural hearing loss that is estimated to occur in 36% of adults and roughly 60% of pediatric patients (Chattaraj et al., 2023; Meijer et al., 2022). This toxicity often leads to a reduction or cessation of treatment, reducing patient survival and increasing their risk of relapse (Generotti et al., 2022; Rademaker-Lakhai et al., 2006). Not only does ototoxicity require an adjustment in treatment, but it has also been shown to have debilitating effects on the neurocognition of children and impairment to their psychosocial development (Moke et al., 2021).

Ototoxicity has gained a large amount of attention due to its irreversibility and life long determinantal effects. Ototoxicity occurs mainly due to the closed nature of the inner ear, where

cisplatin enters through the blood-labyrinth barrier and is unable to be flushed out leading to accumulation within cochlea (X. Wang et al., 2023). Once within the cochlea, cisplatin induces apoptosis through a wide variety of mechanisms, including the generation of reactive oxygen species (Clerici, DiMartino, & Prasad, 1995; Lee et al., 2004), inactivating antioxidant enzymes (Ravi, Somani, & Rybak, 1995), overexpression of ERK and NF $\kappa$ B (leading to increased levels of proinflammatory cytokines) (So et al., 2007), increased lipid peroxidation, and formation of DNA adducts. Previous research has indicated that an increase in proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF-alpha, IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 are directly related to cisplatin induced cell death (So et al., 2007). The inflammation following cisplatin treatment has been purposed as the triggering event for oxidative stress and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Gentilin et al., 2019). However, the exact mechanism responsible for the generation of these cytokines and inflammation is still to be determined.

Currently, only sodium thiosulfate (STS) is approved as a treatment for CIO by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) ((FDA), 2022; Freyer et al., 2017). STS is known to bind the platinum molecule through its active thiol producing an inactive STS-cisplatin complex that is then excreted from the body (Wang et al., 2003). The STS-cisplatin complex may also help reduce ROS accumulation by mimicking antioxidant enzymes. Unfortunately, systemic administration of STS sequesters free cisplatin, therefore if it is used too early or during ongoing treatment, cisplatin efficacy is severely reduced (C.-H. Chen et al., 2021; Harned et al., 2008; Rybak et al., 2009; Sheth et al., 2017; Tang et al., 2021). Furthermore, the current practice of ototoxicity monitoring is poor and our ability to detect biomarkers for CIO before clinical symptoms is limited (Generotti et al., 2022). This leads to an urgent need of a preventative

otoprotectant therapy capable of mitigating this side effect, without interfering with cisplatin's antineoplastic effects.

A large range in therapeutic compounds have been examined for their otoprotective effects and have been summarized in depth (Guthrie & Spankovich, 2023). Most of these agents share the common characteristic of mimicking antioxidants, interacting directly with cisplatin to reduce ROS, or increase antioxidant activity. However, few of these otoprotective therapies act upstream to reduce inflammation and antioxidant production form the source. Recently, we proposed a potential pathway through which cisplatin induces an inflammatory response: by binding to the pattern recognition receptor (PRR) Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Domingo et al., 2023). While TLR4 is canonically known to be a bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) receptor, metal hypersensitivity reactions are also mediated by TLR4 in humans. These two ligand-types (LPS and transition metals) bind to the receptor in different ways. Binding of LPS to TLR4 is dependent on a co-receptor myeloid differentiation factor 2 (MD-2), while transition metals, such as Ni (II), have been reported to bind directly with the receptor via two histidine residues H456 and H458 (Peana et al., 2017; Rachmawati et al., 2013; Raghavan et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2010). Elements that fall within the same group on the periodic table are known to share similar chemical properties due to having the same number of valence electrons. Since cisplatin is a platinum based chemotherapeutic containing a coordinating PT (II) molecule, this provides further support for TLR4 acting as a receptor for this molecule. Furthermore, we have robust data showing TLR4 acts as a receptor for platinum (II) as well as cisplatin (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Domingo et al., 2023) (Chapter 2). The involvement of TLR4 in cisplatin induced ototoxicity reveals this PRR as a possible therapeutic target capable of mitigating this dose-limiting side effect. The disparity between the activation mechanism of

metals and LPS provides a basis for producing biased TLR4 inhibitors capable of preventing activation by metal ions, while maintaining the innate immune function of TLR4 as a bacterial sensor.

Due to the complexity and isolated location of the mechanosensory system of the inner ear, faithfully representing the biology in an accessible model is an ongoing challenge. We have chosen to use zebrafish as an animal model for this system and cisplatin-induced ototoxicity due to the presence of hair cells that are developmentally, morphologically, and functionally like hair cells within the human Organ of Corti (Coffin et al., 2010; Wertman et al., 2020). These hair cells, which are normally used for sensing water movement and vibration, akin to hearing, are found along the exterior of the fish within clusters called neuromasts (Thomas et al., 2015). Neuromasts are spread out in stereotypical positions over the head and body of the fish and are separated into two networks the anterior lateral line (ALL) and the posterior lateral line (pLL). The neuromasts of the lateral line are superficial and easily accessible to drugs and fluorescent dyes, making them an ideal screening system for in vivo ototoxicity. Other advantages of zebrafish are the quick generation time, large clutch size, small larval size, and natural transparency of the larvae allowing them to be used in high-throughput assays examining drug toxicity and protection of hair cells.

Zebrafish possess three tlr4-like gene paralogs (tlr4ba, tlr4bb, and tlr5al) and have recently been purposed as orthologous to human TLR4 (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Li et al., 2017; Loes et al., 2021). Recently, it was found that zebrafish tlr4ba can interact with an endogenous Md-2 homolog to activate NF-κB in response to LPS, indicating similarity to its human counter part (Loes et al., 2021). Moreover, their innate effector mechanisms are conserved with humans and chimeric studies in mice have shown that zebrafish Tlr4 (zebrafish Tlr4) homologs retain the

ability to induce NF-κB proinflammatory responses (Philip et al., 2017; Sullivan et al., 2009). Our previous data also shows zebrafish Tlr4 is required for CIO, once again supporting zebrafish as an excellent model for examining ototoxicity (Babolmorad et al., 2021).

Recently, TLR4 inhibitors have been identified as a plausible therapy for mitigating CIO by reducing inflammation, and therefore ROS generation (Babolmorad et al., 2021). TAK-242 (resatorvid) is an intracellular TLR4 inhibitor that works by binding to cysteine 747, preventing downstream signalling through the MyD88-depedent and -independent pathways when challenged by LPS (Matsunaga et al., 2011; Takashima et al., 2009). Cys747 is a highly conserved residue found between species, including zebrafish. Due to the distinct binding and activation mechanism of TLR4 by metals, we produced a variety of TAK-242 derivatives in the hopes that we could selectively inhibit metal ion binding, while allowing for canonical activation of TLR4 (Figure 3.1). We hypothesize that cisplatin can activate zebrafish Tlr4 and be selectively inhibited, allowing for regular immune surveillance and canonical signalling by LPS to remain. In this study, we examined the ability of these novel TLR4 inhibitors to reduce cell toxicity by cisplatin using both in vivo ototoxicity assays and an in vitro proinflammatory assay. By screening derivatives of TAK-242 we identified those best able to inhibit the activation of zebrafish Tlr4 and demonstrate reduced CIO in the zebrafish lateral line. Furthermore, we show that cisplatin induced deficits to vibration induced behavioural responses was protected by our novel derivatives. The findings of this study present novel inhibitors of TLR4 as a plausible therapy for CIO and demonstrate the ability of cisplatin to activate zebrafish Tlr4 homologs and induce cell death.

#### 3.2 Methods

#### 3.2.1 Zebrafish Husbandry and Ethics

All zebrafish were kept in the same facility and environment as those used for experiments in Chapter 2. For information on zebrafish husbandry, see Chapter 2, section 2.2.1.

#### 3.2.2 Zebrafish breeding and care

Zebrafish breeding and maintenance was performed as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.2. Briefly, Fish were bred at 28.5°C overnight, followed by embryo collection and storage in standard E3 media containing methylene blue. No more than 100 embryos were kept within a single petri dish for morphology experiments, while not more than 50 embryos for behavioural experiments.

#### 3.2.3 Cisplatin and TAK-242 derivative treatments of larval zebrafish

Cisplatin and derivative treatment of larval zebrafish was in a similar manner to metal ion treatment in Chapter 2, section 2.2.3, with slight modifications. Briefly, 15 larvae were in each well of a six-well plate and pre-treated with for 1 hour with either, the vehicle (DMF; Fisher Scientific, cat. #D1331), TAK-242 (Cayman chemical, cat. #243984-11-4), or a derivative compound of choice (provided by Dr. Fredrick West, University of Alberta). These treatments were then washed using embryo media 3 times and then reintroduced at the same concentration along with either 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10, or 15µM of cisplatin (TEVA, cat. #1848A001) for 20 hours at 28°C. These concentrations were chosen based off previous literature and pilot studies examining low dosages of cisplatin that induced partial, but not complete ablation of neuromast hair cells (Babolmorad et al., 2021; Wertman et al., 2020).

#### 3.2.4 Neuromast quantification assay

The DASPEI quantification assay used here is the same as that used in Chapter 2, section 2.2.4. Briefly, five neuromasts along the posterior lateral line were chosen for scoring based on the scale previously described (Figure 3.2). Briefly, 6 dpf larvae were stained for 22 minutes using 0.01% DASPEI or for 30 minutes in  $2\mu$ M Oxazole Yellow. Once larvae were anaesthetized, groups were blinded, and the posterior lateral line neuromasts were analyzed and imaged using a Leica M165 FC dissecting microscope equipped with a GFP-long pass fluorescent filter. When staining larva with YO-PRO-1, the individual hair cells within each neuromast were counted. The five neuromast hair cell counts were summed for each individual larva to produce a single data point.

#### 3.2.5 Examining Neuromast Ultrastructure using SEM.

Zebrafish larvae were grown to 6-dpf and treated with cisplatin and TAK derivatives as described above. The larva was washed three times in E3 embryo media and transferred into labeled glass vials. They were then fully submerged within 2.5% glutaraldehyde and 2% PFA in 0.1M PBS overnight. In a fume hood, the fixative was decanted, and samples were washed with 0.1M PBS (pH 7.2) three times for 10 minutes each. Once washed, all samples were submerged in 1% osmium tetroxide for an hour to improve sample contrast. The samples were then washed again three times for 10 minutes in 0.1M PBS and dehydrated through an EtOH series. The series was as followed: 1x 30% ETOH for 15 minutes, 1x 50% EtOH for 15 minutes, 1x 70% EtOH for 15 minutes, 1x 90% EtOH for 15 minutes, 2x 100% EtOH for 10 minutes, and 1x 100% EtOH for 15 minutes. Once the final step of the ethanol dehydration was complete, it was decanted, and samples were dehydrated further in a series of HDMS (hexamethyldisilazane) washes. The HDMS series included a ratio of 75:25 ethanol:HDMS for 15 minutes, 50:50 for 15 minutes,

25:75 for 15 minutes, and 2X 100% HDMS for 15 minutes. The HDMS was poured off the samples, and the vials were left open in the fume hood overnight to air-dry. Dried samples were then mounted onto a scanning electron microscope (SEM) sample stub using double-sided sticky tape. They were then sputter coated with a gold/palladium mix and viewed under the SEM.

#### 3.2.6 Guide RNA design and injections

Designing and injected the ribonuclease complexes was performed in the same manner as that previously described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.5. For information on crRNA sequences, see Table 2.1.

## 3.2.7 Confirming efficacy of tlr4 CRISPR via genotyping

Genotyping of Tlr4 crispant mutants was performed as previously described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.6. For information on the PCR primer sequences used, see Table 2.1.

## 3.2.8 HEK293T cell transfection and treatment

Transfection of HEK293T cells with zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb homologs was performed as described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.7. 48 hours post transfection, media was aspirated, and the cells were treated with cisplatin (Pfizer, cat. #1848A001) or LPS (Invitrogen, cat. #L23351) diluted in fresh media.

#### 3.2.9 HEK293T viability and IL-8 secretion

IL-8 secretion and cell viability was measured following cisplatin treatment in the same manner described in Chapter 2, section 2.2.9.

## 3.2.10 Examining neuromast rescue using vibration induced startle response

For behavioural experiments, the same method for cisplatin treatment was used as described in Chapter 2 section 2.2.3 with slight modification. 5 dpf larvae were pre-treated for

one hour in derivative 134 before being treated with either 0,  $7.5\mu$ M,  $15\mu$ M, or  $50\mu$ M cisplatin for 20 hours. At 6 dpf, the wells of the six well plate were washed three times with methylene blue free E3 embryo media. Individual larvae from each group were then transferred into individual wells of a 24-well plate and topped with methylene blue free E3 embryo media.

After the larva were treated with cisplatin, the wells were washed three times with embryo media. Individual larvae from each group were then transferred into individual wells of a 24-well plate and topped with 3mL embryo media. A Zantiks codes for controlling the stimulus, video, and tracking of the larvae were written using notepad for windows. One 24-well plate containing a group of treated larvae was placed into the Zantiks MWP (multi-well plate) machine and the code was run. The code first shut off all lights within the machine to produce a dark environment. The larva's movement was tracked in both pixel number as well as millimeters for a 10-minute period allowing for larva to adapt to the environment. The software then recalibrated (referenced) the location of the larva and the first vibrational trial begun. A 30 second "previbration" wait period tracked the larva's behaviour prior to the first vibration. The motor within the Zantiks machine then induced a one second vibration at a specified frequency and intensity. Frequencies included 1133.79Hz, 820Hz, 566.9Hz, 377.93Hz, 283.45Hz, 188.96Hz, 141.72Hz, 113.38Hz, 75Hz, 50Hz, and 25Hz. Intensities varied based on step size within the stepper motor producing the vibrations. From the lowest to the highest intensity, steps were as follows: an eighth of a step within the motor (I1), a quarter step (I2), a half step (I3), and a full step (I4). After the vibration, the larva was tracked during a 30 second "post-vibration" wait period to finish the first trial. Immediately following the first trial, two more identical vibration trials at the same frequency and intensity were administered.

Vibration frequency was programed based off the delay between motor steps within the zantiks box. The motor was coded to undergo 10 "steps" during one full turn. The delay time between each step was coded specifically to produce a range of vibrational frequencies. For example, if I wished to produce a frequency of 25Hz, the delay time was set to 0.04s between each step.

## 3.2.11 Statistical analysis

If using DASPEI, five individual neuromast scores were recorded on a scale of 0-2. When using YO-PRO1, hair cell counts for each of the five neuromast were recorded. Each DASPEI neuromast score was added together for each fish (ex. 2 + .5 + 1 + 1.5 + 0 = 5). On the other hand, YO-PRO1 hair cell counts from each neuromast was added together (ex. 9 + 12 + 8 + 10 + 10 = 49). The neuromast scores and hair cell counts from each fish was plotted as a single data point. The mean neuromast viability scores and hair cell count from each group were analyzed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test. All graphs and statistical tests were performed using GraphPad Prism 9. HEK293T normalized IL-8 secretion values were analyzed using an RM two-way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

For behavioural result analysis, all raw data was copied to excel. Startle distance in mm/s was binned into 30 second means for the initial 10-minute adaptation period and each pre- and post-vibrational period. For each larva, the startle distance (mm) for each of the three vibrational trials was adjusted by subtracting the average baseline distance moved in the previous 30 seconds from the peak vibrational startle distance. Therefore, there were 3 adjusted distances for each fish. These three adjusted distances were averaged for each fish and used as a single data point that was input into Prism GraphPad 9 where any outliers were removed using the ROUT

method at a threshold of 1. The cleaned data removing outliers was then analyzed using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

#### 3.3 Results

#### 3.3.1 Cisplatin is toxic to zebrafish neuromast hair cells in a dose-dependent manner.

The zebrafish posterior lateral line neuromasts contain hair cell bundles that are functionally and structurally like mammalian hair cells, allowing for a in vivo model of ototoxicity. To establish a working concentration of cisplatin in larval zebrafish, a dose response of neuromast hair cell health to cisplatin was made in the same manner as metals in chapter 2, except for the additional usage of YO-PRO1 (Section 2.3.1). Wildtype larvae were exposed overnight to either 0, 2.5, 5, 7.5, 10 and 15µM cisplatin dissolved in water and neuromast hair cell number and viability were examined. The no treatment group acted as a negative control to examine healthy neuromast fluorescence. Both neuromast viability and hair cell number decreased in a dose-dependent manner as cisplatin concentration increased (Figure 3.3A&B). At 7.5µM cisplatin, neuromast viability decreased 5.9-fold compared to the untreated group (Figure 3.3A). This is a similar outcome to what was observed in chapter two, and the same concentration chosen for nickel and cobalt (Chapter 2). When taking the mean hair cell count from the 5 neuromasts, hair cell number decreased from 40 in the untreated group to 8.3 in larvae treated with 7.5µM cisplatin (Figure 3.3B). At 15µM cisplatin, neuromast fluorescence was completely lost when staining with DASPEI, but when staining with YO-PRO1, the number of hair cells remained relatively unchanged after treatment with 7.5µM cisplatin. An untreated larva has healthy, bright fluorescent neuromasts which would be assigned a score of 2 for each of the five neuromasts chosen, but as cisplatin induces hair cell death, the fluorescence becomes fainter resulting in a lower score (Figure 3.3C&D). From these results, 7. 5µM cisplatin was chosen as
the concentration for future experiments due to its significant, but not complete ablation of neuromast hair cells.

Previous work has shown that there is a positive correlation with cisplatin concentration and damage to the functional structures of hair cells, such as the stereocilia (Comis et al., 1986). To examine the effects of cisplatin on the microstructure of the neuromasts, larvae were treated with cisplatin at 7.5, 15 and 50µM concentrations and processed for SEM imaging. Neuromasts contain organized bundles of kinocilia, which are lined at the base with rows of stereocilia organized in a staircase-like structure. The hair cells develop in pairs oriented 180 degrees to one another in an anterior and posterior manner in order to efficiently detect water flow from the front and back of the fish (Kindt, Finch, & Nicolson, 2012). Proper functioning of neuromasts, including sensing water flow, requires a combination of functional kinocilia and stereocilia. Larva treated with cisplatin showed increased disorganization and reduced structure of their P1 neuromast cilia in a dose dependent manner (Figure 3.3E-H). At 50µM cisplatin kinocilia showed reduced length and fusion of individual cilia with complete ablation of the stereocilia lining the base of the kinocilia (Figure 3.3H). Together, this data shows cisplatin induces neuromast hair cell death and destructive disorganization in neuromast cilia structure in a dose dependent manner.

#### 3.3.2 TAK-242 derivative 134 mitigates cisplatin induced hair cell death in zebrafish larvae

To examine the involvement of TLR4 in cisplatin-induced ototoxicity, we began by testing the effects of the well-known intracellular TLR4 inhibitor TAK-242 on zebrafish. TAK-242 inhibits the intracellular signalling of TLR4 and subsequent release of proinflammatory cytokines and interferons, which would give insight into the effect of Tlr4 inhibition on cisplatin induced hair cell death in zebrafish. To determine which vehicle was best for the inhibitors, we

examined DMF, DMSO, and ethanol with and without cisplatin. Similar to Uribe et al., we found that DMSO was toxic to zebrafish in combination with cisplatin, while ethanol and DMF induced no change in neuromast viability (Figure 3.4A)(2013). To prevent any abnormal behaviour or muscle damage, we selected DMF as a vehicle for TAK-242 and the derivatives for future experiments (Bailey et al., 2015). Larvae were pre-treated with the TLR4 inhibitor TAK-242 followed by co-treatment with cisplatin. Interestingly, TAK-242 alone had no observable effect on neuromast hair cells, however when larvae were co-treated with TAK-242 and cisplatin, ototoxicity increased (Figure 3.4B).

On the other hand, the TAK-242 derivative 134 reduced CIO in 7dpf larvae in comparison to fish treated with cisplatin alone (Figure 3.4C&D). DASPEI stained larvae cotreated with 5µM 134 and cisplatin increased neuromast viability 2-fold compared to cisplatin alone, while 10µM 134 had no significant effect. However, higher concentrations of 134 were protective when examining neuromast hair cell survival. To help ensure these results were both reliable and valid, we examined hair cell damage using YO-PRO1 as a less subjective measure of neuromast health. Larvae stained with YO-PRO1 showed a 1.5-fold increase in neuromast hair cell survival when treated with  $10\mu M$  134 but did not show a significant increase when cotreated with 5µM 134. Larvae treated with both 5µM and 10µM 134 alone showed no observable change in phenotype or development (data not shown) and 5µM concentrations of 134 alone had no significant decrease in neuromast viability or hair cell count (Figure 3.4C&D). Notably, at higher concentrations of 134 (10 $\mu$ M), there is a slight decrease in neuromast viability and hair count. Together, this data indicated cisplatin displayed increased toxicity in combination with TAK-242 in zebrafish larvae, but its derivative, 134, eliminated this toxicity and displayed protection against the ototoxic effects of cisplatin.

# 3.3.3 Select TAK-242 derivatives are protective against cisplatin induced hair cell death in vivo, but not in vitro.

A total of fourteen TAK-242 derivatives were screened here. Each was produced by the collaborating laboratory led by Dr. Fred West. At the time of writing, the structures of these derivatives, remain proprietary. Each derivative was assessed for their selective ability to inhibit CIO. 7dpf larvae co-treated with 5µM derivative 136 and 7.5µM cisplatin increased neuromast viability 1.8-fold, but neuromast viability was not affected at higher concentrations of 136 (Figure 3.5A). Initial testing with 5µM and 10µM 136 alone showed a lack of toxicity to both the neuromasts and in general to the zebrafish, but later experiments showed a significant increase in toxicity (data not shown). This increased toxicity was reflected in a 1.5-fold decreased in neuromast viability at 5µM 136 alone and death of all larvae at 10µM 136 (Figure 3.5A). Interestingly, co-treatment of cisplatin with 136 decreased the toxicity to larvae. Co-treatment with 10µM 136 and 7.5µM cisplatin decreased larvae mortality allowing for 17 larvae to survive unlike larvae treated with 10µM 136 alone (Figure 3.5A).

Larvae treated with TAK-242 derivative 154 (10µM), 156 (5µM), 166 (5µM) showed a 1.6-, 2-, and 1.7-fold increase in neuromast viability respectively, when co-treated with 7.5µM cisplatin in comparison to cisplatin treatment alone (Figure 3.5B-D). None of these compounds were toxic to the larvae and showed no decrease in neuromast viability when 5µM or 10µM concentrations were applied on their own. Although 10µM 166 didn't show toxicity when treated alone, co-treatment with 7.5µM cisplatin resulted in the death of 16 of 20 larvae tested (Figure 3.5D). However, the four larvae that survived had significantly reduced CIO and increased neuromast viability. On the other hand, 10µM, but not 5µM 168 showed significant toxicity to 7dpf larvae resulting in death of all larvae treated at this concentration (data not shown).

However, lower concentrations of compound 168 ( $5\mu$ M) increased neuromast viability 3.4-fold when co-treated with cisplatin and showed low toxicity to zebrafish larvae (Figure 3.5E).

Four of the 14 TAK-242 derivatives (134, 136 166, and 168) were protective against CIO both in vitro and in vivo (Table 3.1). From our collaborator's investigations it was found that two of these four derivatives (134 and 136) were selective for protecting hair cells against CIO, while allowing for signalling to occur through the LPS-TLR4 complex in vitro (Table 3.1). Unfortunately, 136 showed toxicity to zebrafish larva in later trials, prompting us to select derivative 134 as the most promising derivative for selectively inhibit CIO in future experiments.

### 3.3.4 Some TAK-242 derivatives lack otoprotective effects and can be toxic to larval zebrafish

Five of the 14 TAK-242 derivatives tested on zebrafish showed no significant change in the level of CIO compared to larvae treated with cisplatin alone. Larvae treated with 150 (5 $\mu$ M), 158 (5 $\mu$ M), 162 (5 $\mu$ M and 10 $\mu$ M), 164 (5 $\mu$ M) and 170 (5 $\mu$ M) alone or in combination with 7.5 $\mu$ M cisplatin showed no significant change in neuromast viability (Figure 3.6A-E). However, treatment with a higher concentration of derivative 150 (10 $\mu$ M) alone significantly decreased neuromast viability and modestly increased CIO when co-treated with cisplatin (Figure 3.6A). Furthermore, higher concentrations of derivative 158 (10 $\mu$ M) and 164 (10 $\mu$ M) were toxic to zebrafish leading to death when applied alone or in combination with cisplatin (Figure 3.6B &D). Notably, 17/20 larvae were killed when co-treated with 10 $\mu$ M 158, but the three that survived showed slight decrease in neuromast viability.

Three of the 14 TAK-242 derivatives tested on zebrafish significantly increased the toxicity of cisplatin to zebrafish neuromast hair cells. Similar to their parent compound, derivative 120 ( $5\mu$ M) and 132 ( $10\mu$ M) showed no significant decrease in neuromast hair cell viability when applied alone, but significantly increased CIO when co-treated with cisplatin

(Figure 3.37&B). On the other hand, derivative 138 was toxic to zebrafish both alone and in combination with cisplatin (Figure 3.7C). Larvae treated with either  $5\mu$ M or  $10\mu$ M 138 alone died after treatment. However, when larvae were co-treated with cisplatin and  $5\mu$ M 138, they all survived, but showed decreased neuromast viability. These results suggested some sort of protective ability of cisplatin against the more toxic TAK-242 derivatives.

### 3.3.5 Tlr4 homologs are required for both CIO and protection by derivative 134

To examine the contribution of Tlr4 activation to CIO in zebrafish larval hair cells, zebrafish Tlr4 homologs were mutated using CRISPR-cas9. Wildtype embryos were injected with three sgRNAs at the one cell stage targeting a sequence near the middle of the three Tlr4 genes, tlr4ba, tlr4al, and tlr4bb (Figure 2.10). We will refer to these mutant larvae as Tlr4 crispant larvae from this point forward. Uninjected, mock injected, and Tlr4 crispant larvae were grown to 5dpf and examined for morphological and developmental changes but showed no abnormalities (Figure 3.8). Furthermore, uninjected and injected larvae that were left untreated showed no change in neuromast viability. After being treated with 7.5µM cisplatin, Tlr4 crispants were protected against CIO in comparison to mock and uninjected larvae (Figure 3.9A&B). Following cisplatin treatment, neuromast viability increased 1.6-fold and mean neuromast hair cell count increased 1.7-fold in Tlr4 crispant larvae compared to mock injected larvae. This data demonstrates the requirement for zebrafish Tlr4 in CIO and provides further evidence for its use as a therapeutic target.

The way 134 was reducing cisplatin toxicity to neuromast hair cells was unknown. There is a possibility 134 was working in through a different mechanism than we predicted, for example, binding to another TLR, acting as an antioxidant, or complexing with cisplatin. To determine the specificity of 134 for TLR4, we utilized Tlr4 crispant larvae co-treated with both

134 and cisplatin. Uninjected, mock injected and Tlr4 crispant larvae were pre-treated with 5 $\mu$ M derivative 134 for one hour, followed by co-treatment with 7.5 $\mu$ M cisplatin for 20 hours. Mock injected larvae treated with 7.5 $\mu$ M cisplatin alone displayed a 2.7-fold decreased in neuromast viability compared to its untreated control (Figure 3.10A&B). This decrease was recovered by ~1.5-fold in both mock injected larvae treated with derivative 134 and in Tlr4 crispant larvae, showing the effects of derivative 134 are similar to mutating zebrafish *tlr4* homologs (Figure 3.7A, C, & D). Moreover, neuromasts had no additional protection when co-treating Tlr4 crispant larvae with 7.5 $\mu$ M cisplatin and 5 $\mu$ M 134 (Figure 3.10A & E). Thus, *TLR4* homologs are required for the action of 134 in protecting against CIO. Moreover, this data shows that protection from CIO by TAK-242 derivatives was mediated through zebrafish Tlr4 homologs and that zebrafish *tlr4* homologs are directly involved in development of cisplatin induced neuromast hair cell death.

## 3.3.6 Zebrafish Tlr4 homologs transfected into HEK293T cells respond to cisplatin, but not to LPS

Zebrafish Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb homologs share 37.29, 36.63, and 36.56 % identity respectively to human TLR4 at the amino acid level, and their downstream signalling pathways are shown to be highly conserved with mammalian TLR4 (Figure 2.3) (Campos-Sánchez & Esteban, 2021; Li et al., 2017; Sepulcre et al., 2009). Activation of zebrafish Tlr4 leads to expression of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  by the zebrafish MyD88 dependent and independent pathways (Campos-Sánchez & Esteban, 2021; G.-p. Liu et al., 2018; Ren, Wang, & Hu, 2018; Zhang, Ren, & Chen, 2023). Therefore, to assess the ability of cisplatin to mediate the activation of the zebrafish Tlr4ba (zfTlr4ba) and zebrafish Tlr4bb

(zfTlr4bb), they were transfected individually on a recombinant plasmid into HEK293T cells and expressed using the polyomavirus simian virus 40 (SV40) promoter (Figure 2.8). IL-8 secretion values were normalized to baseline secretion levels and cells transfected with the empty vector alone acted as a negative control. Cells transfected with human TLR4 (hTLR4) are activated by both LPS (10 ng/mL) and cisplatin (25µM) without the need for MD-2. Cells transfected with hTLR4 alone increased IL-8 secretion 1.9-fold when challenged with 10ng/mL of LPS and 4.2-fold when challenged with 25µM cisplatin (Figure 3.11C). No significant increase in IL-8 secretion was observed when co-transfecting cells with hTLR4 and mMD-2 or hMD-2. In cells treated with LPS, co-transfecting hTLR4 with hMD-2 increased IL-8 release 3.1-fold compared to cells transfected with the empty vector alone, but co-transfecting hTLR4 with mMD-2 had no effect on IL-8 secretion. Co-transfection of hTL4 with hMD-2 allowed for a greater increase in IL-8 secretion when challenged with LPS compared to cells transfected with hTLR4 alone.

Using human cells as a comparison, cells transfected with zfTlr4ba are activated by cisplatin, but not LPS and its activation is dependent on the presence of an MD-2 homolog (Figure 3.11A). HEK293T cells co-transfected with zebrafish Tlr4ba and mouse MD-2 (mMD2) followed by treatment with cisplatin show a 1.7-fold increase in IL-8 secretion compared to cells transfected with the empty vector alone, while those co-transfected with human MD-2 (hMD2) show a 2.2-fold increase (Figure 3.11A).

Likewise, Tlr4bb activation is mediated by cisplatin and not LPS, however, its activation is independent of the presence of an MD-2 homolog (Figure 3.11B). HEK293T cells cotransfected with Tlr4bb and mMD-2 or hMD-2 and treated with cisplatin show a similar increase in IL-8 secretion to HEK293T cells transfected with Tlr4bb alone. Compared to cells transfected with only the empty vector, secretion of IL-8 increased 1.6-, 2.1-, and 1.9-fold in HEK293T cells

transfected with Tlr4bb alone, Tlr4bb + mMD2, and Tlr4bb + hMD2 respectively. No increase in IL-8 secretion was detected after LPS treatment in cells transfected with zebrafish Tlr4bb. Together, this data demonstrates the ability of cisplatin, but not LPS to activate zebrafish Tlr4 homologs in vitro, leading to an increase in the release of proinflammatory cytokine IL-8.

Overall, this data uses a heterologous expression system to demonstrate that zebrafish TLR4 homologs can mediate responses to cisplatin, in a manner that is similar to human TLR4.

### 3.3.7 Protection by 134 is functional following cisplatin insult

To determine if the hair cells rescued by derivative 134 from CIO are functional, we examined a behaviour mediated by the lateral line. The startle response is an escape behaviour dependent on external stimuli and mediated through the stimulation of neuromast hair cells (Han et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2017). The startle response distance of 5dpf wildtype larvae was recorded at different vibrational intensities and frequencies to examine if this behaviour is dependent on the intensity of the stimulus and could reliably measure neuromast function. At all frequencies tested, increasing the vibration intensity increased the mean startle response distance (Figure 3.12A). Larvae anaesthetized in MS-222 showed no response to vibration, as expected (Fig 3.12C). Cisplatin was then applied to 5dpf larvae at various doses to ablate hair cells and examine the effects on the startle response. For all frequencies, an inverse relationship between startle response distance and cisplatin concentration was observed. As the cisplatin concentration increased, the mean startle response distance decreased (Figure 3.12B). The highest average startle response distance was observed when applying stimuli in the lowest frequency range (25Hz-75Hz), while the middle frequency range (115Hz-380Hz) had the lowest average startle response distance. The average startle response distance in stimuli applied at the highest frequency range (570Hz-1135Hz) was intermediate to the low and middle frequency ranges.

After testing the 4 vibration intensities on cisplatin treated larvae, the highest intensity (I4) was selected for future experiments because it allowed for the greatest disparity between the distance swam by untreated larvae and cisplatin treated larvae.

We selected three vibration frequencies, representing the low (75Hz), middle (283Hz) and high (1135Hz) range, that showed a clear dose-dependent decrease in startle distance with cisplatin treatment (Figure 3.13A, C, E). We pretreated larvae for one hour with 5µM of the derivative 134 followed by co-treating with cisplatin and measured their responses to vibration stimuli. Derivative 134 protected the hair cells from CIO and recovered the startle response distance compared to larva treated with cisplatin alone (Figure 3.13B, D, F). Larvae treated with the vehicle (DMF), and larvae treated with TAK-242, were used as negative controls, while larvae anesthetized with 4% MS-222 acted as a positive control (Figure 3.12C). Two concentrations (7.5µM and 15µM) of cisplatin were chosen for testing neuromast hair cell function due to their ability to significantly reduce the startle response distance and to maintain the protective effects of 134 observed in previous morphological experiments. Derivative 134 had no significant affect on larval startle response distance on its own and did not reduce or increase startle response in comparison to untreated larvae (Figure 3.13B, D, F). With a vibration stimulus applied at 75Hz, the mean startle response distance modestly increases in larvae cotreated with  $5\mu$ M 134 and  $7.5\mu$ M cisplatin (Figure 3.12B). Similarly, larvae treated with  $15\mu$ M cisplatin had no observable increase in the mean startle response distance at 75Hz. Stimulating larvae with a vibration in the middle frequency range (285Hz) showed the greatest recovery of startle response distance after co-treatment of  $5\mu$ M 134 and  $7.5\mu$ M cisplatin. The mean startle response distance at 285Hz increased from 2.9mm to 4.9mm when co-treated with 5µM 134, which is a full recovery of the startle response when compared to larvae treated with DMF alone

or with TAK-242 (Figure 3.13D). Larvae co-treated with 5µM 134 and 15µM cisplatin and stimulated at 285Hz also showed nearly a full recovery in startle response distance with 3.7mm traveled compared to 1.7mm in those treated with 15µM cisplatin alone. Although not significant, the mean startle response distance at 1135Hz modestly increased in larvae co-treated with 5µM 134 and 7.5µM cisplatin (Figure 3.13F). At 1135Hz, larvae treated with 15µM cisplatin showed no apparent increase in the startle response distance whether they were treated with 5µM 134 or not.

## **3.4 Discussion**

Our previous work established that TLR4 is activated by platinum compounds, as well as cisplatin, and that this activation can be chemically inhibited to reduce CIO in vitro (Babolmorad et al., 2021). This study provides further evidence that cisplatin mediates the activation of Tlr4 homologs in zebrafish and demonstrates the potential of this receptor as a therapeutic target for reducing CIO in vivo. We showed that bath application of cisplatin induced neuromast hair cell death in a dose-dependent manner and that this effect required zebrafish Tlr4 homologs. Furthermore, cells transfected with zebrafish Tlr4 were activated in the presence of cisplatin, but not LPS. We also demonstrated the protective ability of novel TAK-242 derivatives in mitigating CIO within zebrafish larva, and that these effects were mediated through zebrafish Tlr4 homologs. Moreover, the protection from CIO provided by derivative 134 was shown to be functional, improving the ability of larva to detect external stimuli. Altogether, this data suggests that inhibition of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs protects larva from cisplatin induced hair cell death.

Currently, most substances examined for their protective ability against cisplatin-induced hair cell death aim to reduce oxidative stress (Domarecka et al., 2020). One of the major mechanisms believed to induce apoptosis within cochlear hair cells is an overproduction in ROS

(Huang et al., 2000; Lu et al., 2022). While multiple processes likely contribute to this increase, the signal responsible for initiating increased ROS generation is still poorly understood. Toll-like receptors such as TLR1, TLR2 and TLR4 have been shown to trigger ROS production upon stimulation with their respective agonists (Li & Chang, 2021; West et al., 2011). This led us to hypothesize the involvement of a PRR in the initiation of ROS generation, and later, Domingo et al. found that TLR4 can directly bind to cisplatin, leading to its activation (2023). Moreover, we have recently shown that TLR4 acts to mediate CIO, inducing activation of MyD88-dependent and independent pathways that lead to the generation of proinflammatory cytokines and ROS (Babolmorad et al., 2021). Our results support these findings, and further show that cisplatin induces CIO in vivo and that this is directly linked to the proper expression of Tlr4 (Figure 3.3; Figure 3.9). This opens the possibility of using TLR4 as a therapeutic target for the mitigation of cisplatin induced hair cell death.

Babolmorad et al. further validated their findings that TLR4 mediated CIO by demonstrating the protective ability of chemically inhibiting TLR4 with the small molecule TAK-242, reducing TLR4 activation and ROS generation in HEI-OC1 cells in the presence of cisplatin (2021). Unfortunately, the inhibition also reduced activation in the presence of TLR4's canonical ligand LPS, which would impede the ability of the immune system to be warned of present bacterial infections. TAK-242 selectively inhibits TLR4 signalling by covalently binding to the intracellular TIR domain via Cys747, preventing interaction with adaptor molecules TIRAP and TRAM (Figure 3.1) (Matsunaga et al., 2011). While the exact binding mechanism is poorly understood, the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ -unsaturated carbonyl within TAK-242 makes it a good candidate to act as a Michael acceptor, binding the nucleophilic thiol of cysteine (Patra et al., 2018; Peri & Calabrese, 2014; Takashima et al., 2009). Previous studies have established that TLR4 binds to metals such as nickel and cobalt, in a distinct mechanism from other canonical ligands like LPS and HMGB1 (Peana et al., 2017; Raghavan et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2010; Yang et al., 2015). We produced structural derivatives of TAK-242 to modify its interactions with the TIR domain of TLR4. These derivatives aim to assess if we can selectively inhibit metal binding of TLR4 with structural modification to TAK-242. Our in vitro cell culture experiments showed multiple derivatives were successful in preventing hair cell death from cisplatin, while conserving LPS activation (Table 3.1; data not shown). The mechanisms behind the selective nature of these novel derivatives are still unknown but will be a focus for future studies.

Although zebrafish are known to display low sensitivity to LPS and do not primarily respond to this PAMP through Tlr4 like mammals, they still express all the necessary components required to for metal activation of Tlr4 and share conserved structure and intracellular signalling cascades (Loes et al., 2021; Schmidt et al., 2010). Moreover, a previous study by Lee et al. showed that cisplatin treatment of larva induced an inflammatory response within lateral line neuromast hair cells (2022). Our results provide further insight to this finding using an in vitro cell culture assay, where we show that zebrafish Tlr4 homologs are activated in the presence of cisplatin, but lack of a response to LPS (Figure 3.11A & B). This demonstrates the potential of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs in revealing the efficacy of these new inhibitors to prevent metal mediated Tlr4 activation. Fourteen derivatives were tested for their inhibitory effects on cisplatin induced neuromast hair cell death, with only six of them being otoprotective, and only two showing biases in vitro towards inhibiting metal activation only (Table 3.1; Figure 3.4 & 3.5). We show that derivative 134 provides significant protection to neuromast hair cells and that this activation is principally mediated through Tlr4 because crispant mutants lacking proper expression of these homologs showed no additional protection from derivative 134

(Figure 3.4C & D; Figure 3.10). While preliminary in vitro cell culture experiments begin to demonstrate the selective ability of the TAK-242 derivatives, this study does not show the selectivity of these derivatives in vivo and further study, potentially in mice, is needed to show this.

One of the major benefits of working with an animal model during drug discovery is the ability to observe off target effects that arise from the interactions between different cell types and tissues, while also examining the efficacy of the drug in producing the desired outcome. Five of the derivatives (150, 158, 162, 164, 170) failed to induce any significant changes in the levels of ototoxicity induced by cisplatin both in vivo and in vitro (Table 3.1). Four of five of these derivatives were specific for reducing LPS activation of TLR4 in vitro, which may explain why no effect was observed in zebrafish, since they are known to be insensitive to LPS (Sepulcre et al., 2009). On the other hand, ten of the derivatives either furthered ototoxicity or induced generalized toxicity leading to death of the larva. However, only one derivative (138) was also toxic to cells in vitro, which may indicate that the increase in toxicity was due to a process not found in cell culture, such as drug metabolism. Interestingly, some derivatives (136, 138, 158) showed reduced toxicity in larva when co-treated with cisplatin compared to when they were used alone (Figure 3.5; Figure 3.6). The reduced toxicity may be due to a direct interaction between the derivatives and cisplatin, or a change induced by cisplatin reduced the sensitivity of the larva to the derivatives. We do know that when our Tlr4 crispants were co-treated with 134 and cisplatin, there was no observable difference in protection compared to 134 alone (Figure 3.10). Therefore, the action of 134 must be principally mediated through Tlr4. What ever the case, cisplatin is known to bind to different proteins beyond TLR4 and take part in different

metabolic pathways (Choi et al., 2015; Messori & Merlino, 2016; Zhang & Hanigan, 2003), but the mechanism behind reduced derivative toxicity by cisplatin requires further study.

Examination of CIO using fluorescent vital dyes in the lateral line neuromasts demonstrates the protective ability of these derivatives by reducing structural damage. However, this does not provide insight into the functionality of the protected surviving neuromasts following cisplatin insult. Behavioural assays can also help determine whether anatomically preserved/rescued hair cells are truly functional, complimenting anatomic assays. Previous studies established that startle response is mediated through the lateral line and that ototoxic assault reduces the intensity of this response (Buck et al., 2012; Han et al., 2020). Our data shows that cisplatin induced hair cell death within the lateral line neuromasts significantly reduces larval zebrafish startle response distance in a dose dependent manner (Figure 3.12B; Figure 3.13A, C, E). While behaviour is a multifaceted process that results from a culmination of many different inputs, it is hard to directly contribute neuromast hair cell function to a decrease in movement. Our results show that the baseline movement of fish was unaffected by cisplatin, the vehicle (DMF), or the derivatives alone or in combination with one another (Figure 3.16). This suggests that these compounds had little effect on normal behaviour of larva. Furthermore, we show that protection of lateral line neuromast hair cells by derivative 134 was able to successfully recover startle response distance, while having no effect on startle distance when applied alone (Figure 13B, D, F). Some studies have shown that only a small number of functional neuromast hair cells are required for proper detection of stimuli in the lateral line (Buck et al., 2012; Q. Zhang et al., 2018). Therefore, two possibilities may help explain our results. First, it is possible that cisplatin insult only kills a subset of hair cells, but still induces significant damage in surviving hair cells, therefore preventing proper signalling by neuromasts,

and limiting the startle response. These living but damaged hair cells were protected by the derivatives, facilitating a recovery in the startle response distance. Second, cisplatin-induced hair cell death within neuromasts decreased their ability to detect of stimuli, reducing their startle response distance in a similar manner to a reduction in the stimuli intensity (Figure 3.12A). The protection provided by derivative 134 increased the total number of surviving hair cells, allowing for a full detection of the stimuli and a recovery in the response distance. Altogether, our results suggest that protecting hair cells from cisplatin by inhibiting Tlr4 decreases neuromast hair cell death and that the protected hair cells retain their function.

In summary, our data demonstrates that zebrafish Tlr4 can be used as a therapeutic target to selectively mitigate CIO. These findings provide support to our previous publication demonstrating that TLR4 contributes to CIO both in vitro and in vivo (Babolmorad et al., 2021). We also have also provided support to for unique interaction between zebrafish Tlr4 and cisplatin, which gives insight into the function of these currently orphaned receptors. One big question remaining is whether cisplatin efficacy is maintained with co-treatment of a derivative. Our collaborators in the Berman Lab are currently looking into this possibility and will be expanded upon in the next chapter. Moreover, these findings may also have implications for patients suffering from metal allergies like contact hypersensitivity, providing an avenue for the design of future therapeutics.

### **3.5 Figures and Tables**



**Figure 3. 1 Inhibition of Tlr4 signalling by synthetic TAK-242 derivatives.** LPS uses coreceptor CD14 and MD-2 to bind, dimerize, and initiate signalling through TLR4. This stimulates both the MYD88 dependent and MYD88 independent pathways leading to activation of TFN release of proinflammatory cytokines and type 1 interferons. Group 10 metals do not require a co-receptor MD-2 to initiate binding to the ectodomain of TLR4. TAK-242 is a wellknown small molecule inhibitor of the intracellular region of TLR4, capable of inhibiting LPS signalling through both MYD88 and TRIF-dependent pathways. 14 novel derivatives of TAK-242 were produced to inhibit metal ion mediated TLR4 signalling (left), while allowing for other

TLR4 agonists to continue to bind and activate this crucial immune receptor (right). Created with BioRender.



Figure 3. 2 Depiction of the zebrafish posterior lateral line and neuromasts in 7dpf zebrafish larvae. A) Location of posterior lateral line neuromasts drawn on a bright field image of a 7dpf larva. B) DASPEI stained untreated larva with visible neuromasts. White arrows point towards the location of the five stereotypically developed neuromasts consistently scored between experiments. C) YO-PRO1 stained larva co-treated with TAK-242 antagonist 134 and cisplatin showing the fluorescence of individual neuromast hair cells. The red arrow indicates a neuromast that would have been scored, along with a zoomed-in image of said neuromast in the top right corner. D) Cartoon diagram of a zebrafish neuromast illustrating the different cell types including the bundle of hair cells (peach), surrounding support cells (brown) and mantle cells

(blue). Stereocilia and kinocilia protrude out of the body, surrounded by a fluid filled cupula, and are used to detect water flow.



**Figure 3. 3 Dose-dependent effect of cisplatin on larval zebrafish neuromast hair cell survival.** 6dpf zebrafish were incubated for 20 hours in varying concentrations of cisplatin. A) Neuromast viability scored based on DASPEI fluorescence. Each data point (dots) represents the total neuromast viability score for a single larva, with a lower score representing more hair cell death. Increasing cisplatin dose decreases hair cell viability (fluorescence). B) Neuromast hair cell abundance detected with YO-PRO-1. Each data point represents the total hair cell count for a single larva. Hair cell survival decreases as cisplatin concentration increases. C-D) Fluorescent images of DASPEI stained larva with visible posterior lateral line neuromasts in an untreated (C) and cisplatin treated (D) larvae. E-H) SEM images reveal the microstructure of the P1 posterior

lateral line neuromasts after being treated with increasing cisplatin concentrations. White arrows show kinocilia slowly becoming more disorganized and structured as cisplatin concentration increases. Red arrows show the ablation of stereocilia with an increase in cisplatin. N = 10 larva for all treatment groups. Bars represent the mean neuromast viability score of all larvae. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



**Figure 3. 4 TAK-242 derivative 134 provides protection from cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in larval zebrafish, but TAK-242 does not.** DMSO exacerbates cisplatin ototoxicity when cotreated with cisplatin, while ethanol and DMF had no additional effect. 6-7dpf zebrafish were pre-treated for 1 hour in each vehicle, followed by a 20-hour co-treatment with cisplatin. A) Larvae stained with DASPEI exhibited low fluorescent scores following co-treatment with DMSO and cisplatin, but similar scores to cisplatin alone with a variety of other vehicles for TAK-242 and its derivatives. B) TLR4 antagonist TAK-242 alone does not influence neuromast hair cell viability, but larvae co-treated with TAK-242 and cisplatin results in an increase in

neuromast hair cell death. C-D) 6-7 dpf zebrafish larvae were pre-treated for one hour in either  $5\mu$ M or  $10\mu$ M 134 before co-treatment for 20 hours with cisplatin. Reduction of CIO in zebrafish larvae by the TAK-242 derivative 134 was apparent at  $5\mu$ M when quantified via DASPEI staining (C), and  $10\mu$ M when quantified via YO-PRO1 staining. Bracketed numbers above each bar represents the total number of larvae in each treatment group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



**Figure 3. 5 Multiple TAK-242 derivatives are otoprotective against cisplatin in zebrafish larvae.** 6-7 dpf zebrafish larvae were pre-treated for one hour in varying concentrations of 136 (A), 154 (B), 156 (C), 166 (D), and 168 (E) before co-treatment for 20 hours with cisplatin. A) Derivative 136 (5µM) shows a significant increase in neuromast hair cell viability when co-

treated with cisplatin, but also shows significant toxicity to neuromast hair cells when applied alone. Notably, all larvae died when applying 10µM of 136 alone, but when applied with cisplatin, 17 of 26 larvae survived. However, larvae co-treated with 10µM 136 and 7.5µM cisplatin showed a decrease in neuromast hair cell viability. B) Co-treatment with 10µM 154, but not  $5\mu$ M 154 significantly increases neuromast hair cell viability. C) Co-treatment with  $5\mu$ M 156 significantly increases neuromast hair cell viability in comparison to cisplatin treatment alone. Increasing the concentration to10µM 156 reduces the protective affect when applied with cisplatin. D) Co-treatment with 10µM 166, but not 5µM 166 significantly increases neuromast hair cell viability in comparison to cisplatin treatment alone. However, a significant number of larvae were killed during treatment with 10µM 166 and cisplatin. E) Co-treatment with 5µM 168 significantly increases neuromast hair cell viability in comparison to cisplatin treatment alone. All larvae were stained with DASPEI and scored using a fluorescent microscope. Bracketed numbers above each bar represents the total number of larvae scored in each group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



**Figure 3. 6 Multiple TAK-242 derivatives have no effect on ototoxicity from cisplatin in zebrafish larvae.** 6-7 dpf zebrafish larvae were pre-treated for one hour in varying concentrations of 150 (A), 158 (B), 162 (C), 164 (D), and 170 (E) before co-treatment for 20

hours with cisplatin. A) Derivative 150 at  $5\mu$ M shows no significant affect to neuromast viability when applied alone and no increase in protection from CIO when co-treated with cisplatin. However,  $10\mu$ M of 150 shows a significant decrease in neuromast viability when applied alone, as well as a decrease in neuromast viability when co-treated with cisplatin. B) Larvae treated with 158 show no significant increase in protection from CIO when co-treated with cisplatin at both  $5\mu$ M and  $10\mu$ M concentrations. Treatment with  $5\mu$ M 158 alone had no significant affect on neuromast viability, but  $10\mu$ M treatment alone resulted in death of all larvae. Derivatives 162 (C), 164 (D), and 170 (E) show no significant increase in protection from CIO when co-treated with cisplatin, but also show toxicity to neuromast hair cells when applied alone. All larvae were stained with DASPEI and scored using a fluorescent microscope. Bracketed numbers above each bar represents the total number of larvae scored in each group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



**Figure 3. 7 Multiple TAK-242 derivatives increase the ototoxic effects of cisplatin in zebrafish larvae.** 6-7 dpf zebrafish larvae were pre-treated for one hour in varying concentrations of 120 (A), 132 (B), and 138 (C) before co-treatment for 20 hours with cisplatin. Derivatives 120 (5μM) (A), 132 (10μM) (B), and 138 (5μM) (C) show a significant decrease in neuromast hair cell viability when co-treated with cisplatin. B) There was a modest decrease in neuromast viability when larva was treated with 132 alone. C) 138 (5μM) was found to be toxic to larvae not only when co-treated with cisplatin, but also when applied alone. All larvae died when applying 5μM of 138 alone, but when applied with cisplatin, all larvae survived. All larvae

were stained with DASPEI and scored using a fluorescent microscope. Bracketed numbers above each bar represents the total number of larvae scored in each group. The data in panel A and B were supplied by Niall M. Pollock. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



**Figure 3. 8 Morphology of 7dpf Tlr4 crispant mutants.** A-B) Comparison between the lateral view of a mock injected and Tlr4 crispant mutant larva show no notable differences in the morphology. C-D) The posterior lateral line of Tlr4 crispant mutants stained with DASPEI demonstrates normal development and deposition of neuromasts when compared to a mock injected larva. White arrows point towards healthy neuromasts scored during morphology experiments.



Figure 3. 9 *Tlr4 crispant* mutant larvae are less susceptible to cisplatin induced ototoxicity. Both uninjected and mock injected larvae show a significant decrease in neuromast hair cell survival after treatment with cisplatin using both DASPEI (A) and YO-PRO1 (B) staining. The *Tlr4 crispant* larvae had their *tlr4* homologs mutated, protecting them from cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. Their neuromasts showed an increase in viability (A) and number of hair cells (B) compared to the mock and uninjected cisplatin treated groups. Larvae were mutated in their *tlr4* homologs using CRISPR-cas9 genome editing. Larva were injected at the one cell stage with either gRNA sequences targeting the three zebrafish tlr4 homologs or Cas9 protein alone (mock). Larvae were grown to 6 dpf when they were treated with cisplatin for 20 hours. N = 10 for each group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



### Figure 3. 10 Zebrafish TLR4 homologs are required for the otoprotective action of the

TLR4 antagonist 134. A) Derivative 134 is otoprotective in wildtype (mock-injected) larvae but not in *Tlr4 crispants*. Cisplatin treatment significantly reduced mock injected larval neuromast hair cell viability, which was recovered by mutation of tlr4 homologs by CRISPR-cas9. Mock injected larva co-treated with cisplatin and 134 showed a similar level of protection as the crispant mutants. Crispants co-treated with 134 showed a slight increase in neuromast hair cell viability in comparison to crispants treated with cisplatin alone. 7dpf Mock injected larvae treated with cisplatin shows ablation of caudal posterior lateral line neuromasts and low fluorescent intensity of rostral neuromasts (B). Tlr4 crispant larvae have a reduced amount of ototoxicity from cisplatin treatment resulting in an increased fluorescence from lateral line neuromasts (C). Similarly, mock injected larvae recover fluorescence when co-treated with 134 resulting in increased fluorescence and abundance of visible posterior lateral line neuromasts (D). However, TLR4 antagonist 134 adds no further protection when co-treated with cisplatin on *Tlr4 crispant* larva, which is visible by no increase in neuromast fluorescent intensity in comparison to Tlr4 crispant larva treated with cisplatin alone (E). Larvae were mutated in their tlr4 homologs using CRISPR-cas9 genome editing. Larva were injected at the one cell stage with either gRNA sequences targeting the three zebrafish tlr4 homologs or Cas9 protein alone (mock). Larvae were grown to 6 dpf when they were pre-treated for one hour with 134 followed by cotreatment of with cisplatin. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test. N = 10 for each group.



**Figure 3. 11 HEK293T cells transfected with zebrafish Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb are activated by cisplatin, but not LPS.** Stimulation of mammalian TLR4 by LPS results a release of a range of type 1 interferons and pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-8 which is a common measure of TLR4 activation. HEK293 cells lacking human TLR4 (hTLR4) but transfected with Tlr4ba and Tlr4bb show increased secretion of IL-8 when treated with 25µM cisplatin, but do not when treated with 10 ng/mL of LPS. Cells transfected with hTLR4 treated with either cisplatin (25µM) or LPS (10 ng/mL) show increased IL-8 release compared to cells transfected with the empty vector alone. A) Stimulation of IL-8 release by Tlr4ba requires MD-2. Cells transfected with Tlr4ba alone show no increase in IL-8 secretion in comparison to those transfected with an empty vector alone. However, cells co-transfected with Tlr4ba and mouse (mMD2) or human (hMD2) MD-2 show an increase in IL-8 secretion in comparison to cells transfected with Tlr4ba

and the empty vector. Furthermore, the Tlr4ba-hMD-2 complex allows for increased IL-8 secretion in the presence of cisplatin in comparison to cells transfected with the mMD-2 homolog. B) Stimulation of IL-8 release by Tlr4bb does not require MD-2. Cells co-transfected with Tlr4bb and the empty vector, mouse (mMD2) or human (hMD2) MD-2 show an increase in IL-8 secretion in comparison to cells transfected with the empty vector alone. C) hTLR4 is activated by both cisplatin and LPS. Cisplatin and LPS stimulated a significant increase of IL-8 release from HEK293T cells transfected with hTLR4 alone compared to cells transfected with the empty vector only. Co-transfection with either mMD-2 or hMD-2 did not significantly increase IL-8 secretion during cisplatin treatment. Co-transfection of hMD-2, but not mMD-2 and hTLR4 increased IL-8 secretion during LPS treatment compared to cells transfected with hTLR4 alone. IL-8-fold induction was calculated based on the baseline cell secretion of IL-8 without treatment. N = three independent experiments for all treatments. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by two-way RM ANOVA and Šídák's multiple comparisons test. This data was generated and provided with permission from Tracy Lee.



**Figure 3. 12 The zebrafish startle response is dependent on vibrational intensity and is reduced in response to cisplatin induced ototoxicity.** A) A range of 11 different frequencies were delivered at four vibration intensity levels with I1 being the lowest intensity and I4 being the greatest, with each step doubling in intensity. Larval swim distance was tracked during each vibration and normalized to the baseline level of movement for each individual larva. The mean
normalized distance of three vibration trials at each vibration intensity and frequency was taken for each larva. Bars represent the mean normalized startle distance of at least 72 larvae (from three independent experiments). At all frequencies, larval startle distance increased with each increase in vibrational intensity. B) Larvae were treated with a range of cisplatin concentrations for 20 hours prior to startle response distance measurement. Cisplatin decreases the functionality of lateral line neuromasts by inducing hair cell death. No matter the frequency, as cisplatin concentration increased, distance traveled during the startle response decreased. Frequencies were grouped into high (1135Hz, 820Hz, 570Hz), middle (380 Hz, 285 Hz, 190Hz, 140Hz, 115Hz) and low (75Hz, 50Hz, 25Hz). The mean startle distance of all frequencies within each group was taken at each cisplatin concentration. C) When treated alone, DMF nor TAK-242 alone had any significant effect on startle response distance in comparison to the untreated group. Cisplatin induced hair cell death, which significantly reduced startle response sensitivity, which is reflected in a reduction in the distance moved by the larva. The reduction in larval sensitivity not affected by addition of TAK-242 indicating no improved neuromast hair cell function. Larvae were pre-treated for 1 hour with either DMF (vehicle) or TAK-242, followed by a 20-hour incubation with or without cisplatin. The greatest intensity vibration (I4) was implemented for both panel B and C. Vibrational trials in panel C were performed at 285Hz. Larvae anesthetized in MS-222 were used as a control for tracking of larval movement. Bracketed numbers above each bar represents the total number of larvae in each group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



# Figure 3. 13 Novel tIr4 antagonists rescue hair cell function from cisplatin-induced ototoxicity. Cisplatin treatment results in hair cell death within the neuromasts of larva, resulting in a reduced sensitivity to changes in water movement. Increasing the concentration of cisplatin decreased the startle response distance of wildtype larvae after vibrations at 75Hz (A), 285Hz (C), and 1135Hz (E). 134 did not measurably alter the wildtype startle response at various frequencies. B & F) Although not significant, at 75Hz (B) and 1135Hz (F) 5 $\mu$ M 134 increased the startle response distance when applied with 7.5 $\mu$ M cisplatin. D) At 285Hz 5 $\mu$ M 134 fully recovered startle response distance when applied with 7.5 and 15 $\mu$ M cisplatin. Larvae were treated with a range of cisplatin concentrations for 20 hours prior to startle response distance measurement at different frequencies. The greatest intensity vibration was implemented for all Figures shown. Bracketed numbers above each bar represents the total number of larvae in each group. \*\*\*\*p<0.0001, \*\*\*p<0.0002, \*\*p<0.0021, \*p<0.0332, ns = not significant by one way ANOVA and Tukey's multiple comparison test.



**Figure 3. 14 Zebrafish larvae drug incubation and neuromast staining & quantification methodology.** 10-15, 6–7-day post fertilization (dpf) zebrafish larvae are transferred into each well of a labeled 6-well plate. If a derivative was being tested, it was applied as a pre-treatment for 1 hour at 28°C. Wells were washed three times using standard E3 media and larvae were then co-treated with cisplatin and the derivative of choice, wrapped in foil, and incubated for 20 hours at 28°C. To quantify neuromast survival/health, wells were washed three times and larvae were incubated in a 0.01% DASPEI solution or a 2μM YO-PRO1 solution for 20 minutes or 30 minutes respectively. Groups of larvae were transferred into labeled petri dishes, which were then relabelled to blind the observer to the treatments. Larva were anesthetized in 4% MS-222 and scored under a fluorescent dissecting microscope. Five posterior lateral line neuromasts that are readily identifiable between individuals were selected in each larva for consistent

scoring/hair cell counting between experiments. Each neuromast stained with DASPEI was scored on a scale of 0-2 based on the fluorescent intensity, with a high score corresponding to a greater fluorescence and greater neuromast health (Chowdhury et al., 2018). Each neuromast stained with YO-PRO1 had all the hair cells counted for each of the five selected neuromasts. All five neuromast scores and hair cell counts were summed for each larva, and this score was plotted as a raw data point (dot) on the supplied graphs. Created with BioRender.



Figure 3. 15 Behavioural methodology for examining the startle response as a measure of zebrafish neuromast hair cell function following cisplatin insult. The startle response is an escape/avoidance behaviour elicited by external stimuli. As cisplatin ablates neuromast hair cells, larva will become less sensitive to vibrations within the water, producing a reduced startle response. TLR4 antagonists ameliorate cisplatin induced hair cell death, allowing for the intensity of the response to recover. Wildtype zebrafish larvae were grown to 5-6dpf at a density of <50 per petri dish. 26 zebrafish larvae were split between two wells, allowing the testing of 3 treatments per 6-well plate. If a derivative was being tested, the corresponding wells were pretreated for 1 hour at 28°C. Wells were washed three times using standard E3 media and larvae were then co-treated and incubated wrapped in foil with cisplatin and the derivative of choice for 20 hours at 28°C. Individual larvae were transferred into separate wells of a 24-well plate, which

was transferred directly into the Zantiks Box. The Zantiks Box maintains the fish at a constant temperature of 28°C was programmed to administer vibrational stimuli equivilent to sound at varying frequencies and 4 intensities. A 10 minute and 30 second adaptation period was followed by a 1 second vibration, and a 60 second recovery period to prevent habituation. The cycle (minus the 10-minute adaptation period) was repeated three times (3 vibration trials) with the last vibration being followed by a 30 second post-vibrational period. The larvae movement was tracked and binned into 1 second values for the entire duration of the experiment. Larval movement during each vibrational trial was normalized by subtracting the distance during the vibration from the average baseline distance moved during the 30 second period prior to the respective vibration trial. Created with BioRender.



**Figure 3. 16 Movement of 6dpf larvae demonstrates the recovery in startle response distance following treatment with derivative 134.** A-C) Exemplar movement traces of individual larvae. Cisplatin induces hair cell death within the larvae resulting in a reduced sensitivity to vibrational stimuli and a reduced startle response distance (B). The addition of 5μM 134 improves the functionality of hair cells under assault from cisplatin, allowing increased sensitivity to vibrational stimuli and movement (C), showing a similar movement distance as 134 alone (A). The yellow line shows 5 seconds of baseline movement prior to the first vibration stimulus. Red lines denote the movement of the larvae during the 1 second vibration, with the distance written in red directly beside. D) Time course of an experiment showing the adaptation period and three individual vibrational trials at 285Hz. Co-treatment of derivative 134 with cisplatin increased the peak distance the larva moved in comparison to cisplatin treatment alone. The mean movement of 24 larvae was binned into 10 second periods except for the movement

during the 1 second vibration, which was plotted explicitly. The arrows point to the peak distance during the vibration for the vehicle (red),  $7.5\mu$ M cisplatin (green), and  $5\mu$ M 134 +  $7.5\mu$ M cisplatin (blue) groups.

Table 3. 1 Summary of the effects of TLR4 antagonism by TAK-242 and its synthetic derivatives when applied with cisplatin and LPS in vitro and in vivo. HEI-OC1 (murine outer hair cell line) cells were pretreated with 4μM TLR4 inhibitors before co-treating with 20μM cisplatin or 10ng/mL LPS. TAK-242 derivative 132, 134, 136, and 138 showed selective inhibition against cisplatin, but not LPS in vitro. Derivatives 134, 136, 154, 156, 166 and 168 showed protection from cisplatin induced neuromast hair cell death in larval zebrafish. Only derivative 134 and 136 provided protection against cisplatin toxicity both in vivo and in vitro, while having no effect on LPS activation of TLR4 in vitro. However, 136 showed toxicity to hair cells both in vivo. Green arrows represent protection of hair cells from CIO both in vitro and in vivo. Grey bars represent no action on when applied to hair cells both in vitro and in vivo and in vivo. Red arrows represent toxicity to neuromast hair cells in larval zebrafish. Astrix represent toxicity to larval zebrafish outside of toxicity to neuromast hair cells.

	Cells + cisplatin	Cells + LPS	Zebrafish + cisplatin
TAK-242	1	1	↓↓↓↓
120	1	1	↓↓↓↓
132	1	-	↓↓↓
134	1	-	
136			*
138	1		*₩₩
150	-	1	*
154		1	
156	-	1	
158	-	1	*
162	-	-	
164	-	1	*
166		1	* 🕇
168	1	1	*
170	_	1	-

## **Chapter 4. GENERAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

This thesis provides evidence that larval zebrafish respond to heavy metals through Tlr4, and that this response can be used as a model for chemical inhibition of Tlr4 to reduce CIO. A direct interaction of zebrafish Tlr4 homologs with metal ions is still to be determined, but the absence of Tlr4 homologs decreases metal toxicity to neuromast hair cells in vivo. Additionally, their presence promotes IL-8 release after nickel and cisplatin treatment in cell culture. Below, I will explore some of the remaining questions regarding Tlr4, the TAK-242 derivatives, and their role in mitigating CIO.

### 4.1 Speculations on zebrafish Tlr4 ligands

The mammalian TLR4 ligand, LPS, has been shown not to signal through zebrafish Tlr4 homologs (Sepulcre et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2009). Furthermore, there is no known homolog of CD-14 reported in zebrafish, which is known to be a crucial costimulatory molecule for TLR4 activation in response to LPS (Loes et al., 2021). Together, with the low sensitivity of Tlr4 homologs to LPS, this suggests that other ligands are more suited for this receptor in zebrafish (Berczi, Bertok, & Bereznai, 1966). Metals are known to directly bind to TLR4 in primates and only require the co-receptor MD-2 to mediate its downstream activation (Oblak, Pohar, & Jerala, 2015; Rachmawati et al., 2013; Raghavan et al., 2012; Schmidt et al., 2010). The presence of MD-2 (*ly96*) homolog in the zebrafish genome gives support to metals acting as a suitable ligand for Tlr4 homologs in zebrafish (Loes et al., 2021).

While being functionally disparate, zebrafish Tlr4 homologs still share many similarities with mammalian TLR4. For instance, their overall structure is conserved, displaying an ectodomain, transmembrane domain, and intracellular (TIR) domain (Figure 2.2). They also

express homologs for almost every adaptor molecule, as well as many signalling molecules such as Myd88, Ikkap (IKK complex associated proteins), Trif, Irak4, Irak1, all Traf family members, Rip1, all IRF family members, Nf $\kappa\beta$ , and more (Fan et al., 2008; Li et al., 2017; Liu et al., 2010; Ordas et al., 2011; Phelan, Mellon, & Kim, 2005; Srivastava et al., 2017; Stein et al., 2007). One signalling adaptor not yet found within zebrafish is TRAM, an adaptor responsible for inducing TRIF activation and subsequent type 1 IFN release within mammals (Sullivan et al., 2007). However, it has been determined that Trif activation and IFN release within zebrafish still occurs through other pathways (such as Tlr3, Tlr22), suggesting Tlr4 mediated Trif activation may be absent, or occurs through a different mechanism from mammals (Candel et al., 2015; Li et al., 2017; Sullivan et al., 2007). Other proinflammatory cytokines released from mammalian TLR4 activation are also conserved as homologs within zebrafish, including, but not limited to: IL-6, TNF-α, and IL-1β (Campos-Sánchez & Esteban, 2021; Li et al., 2021; Srivastava et al., 2017). An array of ligands has been reported to induce inflammatory responses within zebrafish but fail to show their direct involvement with Tlr4. Being capable of demonstrating the binding of Tlr4 and the initiation of the associated proinflammatory response is imperative to studying its function and evolutionary origins.

When speculating on the function of zebrafish Tlr4 and its ligands, it is important to determine the response of zebrafish to the primary ligand of TLR4 in mammals, LPS. Loes et al. determined that Tlr4ba can elicit a response to LPS, but only in the presence of mammalian CD14 and high concentrations of LPS (>200ng/mL) (2021). Human TLR4 is highly sensitive to LPS and capable of being activated at concentrations less than 0.02ng/mL, even though experimental concentrations are generally equal to ~10ng/mL (Cohen et al., 1995; Huang et al., 2012; Schwarz et al., 2014; Sepulcre et al., 2009; Van der Poll et al., 1994; West & Koons,

2008). Similarly, other studies have used high levels of LPS on zebrafish to produce disease models and examine protein function (Sellaththurai et al., 2023; Wolińska-Nizioł et al., 2022; Xiao et al., 2022). Our results contrast these findings as Tlr4 homologs transfected in cells in vitro failed to respond to LPS (Figure 2.9; Figure 3.11). The responses observed in these studies may be due to contamination with peptidoglycan, a highly immunogenic substance for fish immune cells (MacKenzie et al., 2010). What ever the case may be, due to the high conservation of inflammatory genes and proteins, these studies have demonstrated that zebrafish can be used as an apt model for inflammatory responses. However, the influence of Tlr4 to these findings requires further investigation. Using genetic alteration of Tlr4 through CRISPR-cas9, as demonstrated in our studies above, can provide further insight into Tlr4s contribution to these disease models as well as its interaction with other inflammatory pathways.

Beyond TLR4, mammals can respond to LPS through cytosolic proteins called caspases (Shi et al., 2014). In vertebrates, caspases are responsible for promoting a wide range of functions, including inflammatory responses, apoptosis, cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, survival, tissue repair, and regeneration (Spead et al., 2018). Mammalian inflammatory caspases can be characterized by a CARD (N-terminal caspases recruitment domain) domain. CASPASE-4 and CASPASE-5 in humans, and Caspase-11 in mice, can use this CARD domain to bind intracellular LPS leading to its activation, cleavage of gasdermin D, and subsequent cellular pyroptosis (a mode of inflammatory caspases (-1, -19a, 19b) contain an N-terminal pyrin domain (PYD) in place of the CARD domain in mammals (Spead et al., 2018). Despite this difference, Caspy2 in zebrafish (also known as Caspase-19a) has recently been observed to use this PYD domain in a similar manner to the CARD domain, binding LPS,

inducing inflammasome formation, and pyroptosis (Spead et al., 2018; Yang et al., 2018). Spead et al. demonstrated that Caspy2 is involved in resistance to bacterial sepsis and induced an increase in the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, and IFN- $\gamma$  following infection (2018). Furthermore, Chen et al. demonstrated that following gram-negative bacterial infection, Caspy2 induced pyroptosis in neutrophils, which facilitated the release of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), leading to bacterial clearance (2021). To our knowledge, this is the only pathway shown to directly interact with LPS in zebrafish and could possibly represent a compensatory pathway for the lack of LPS sensitivity observed by zebrafish Tlr4.

Characterizing zebrafish Tlr4 and its downstream signalling is difficult without a known primary ligand to activate the receptor. In chapter 2, we have provided evidence that metals mediate zebrafish Tlr4 activation. This interaction could be used to help elucidate the mechanism behind zebrafish Tlr4 binding and its downstream functions. Similar to our cell culture experiments, previous studies have demonstrated an increase in gene and/or protein expression of Tlr4, adaptor/signalling molecules, and proinflammatory cytokines in response to different potential ligands (Li et al., 2021; G.-p. Liu et al., 2018; Srivastava et al., 2017; K. Wang et al., 2023; Wen et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2021). To our knowledge, only one ligand, peroxiredoxin 1, has been shown to directly bind zebrafish Tlr4ba, suggesting a role of zebrafish Tlr4 in DAMP recognition (G.-p. Liu et al., 2018). While we have provided evidence that metals signal through Tlr4 to induce responses such as cell damage and proinflammatory cytokine release, no direct interactions were determined. Therefore, future studies should first establish a direct binding interaction between zebrafish Tlr4 and metals. Due to the unique nature of this ligand, assays normally used in determination of receptor-ligand interactions, such as co-immunoprecipitation, cannot be used. However, other methods to examine the interaction between a receptor and

ligand exist, including, but not limited to: affinity chromatography, microscale thermophoresis, equilibrium dialysis, and solid phase microextraction (Chen et al., 1993; Domingo et al., 2023; Musteata & Pawliszyn, 2005; Videen et al., 1992). Once an interaction is determined, subsequent studies should aim to examine expression levels of adaptor and signalling proteins as well as transcription factor activity to help characterize the zebrafish Tlr4 response.

### 4.2 Zebrafish in the evolution of TLR4

Due to the vital function of the TLR4 pathway in inflammation within mammals, it is of particular interest to examine the origins of this pathway to further understand this important pathway in humans. TLR4 is known not only to respond to PAMPs, but is a critical mediator of inflammation in response to endogenous damage signals. The importance of Toll-like receptors to DAMPs can be exemplified by the first observed Toll receptor in Drosophila, an ancient organism that was believed to diverge from vertebrates ~830 million years ago (Gu, 1998). Toll was found to be responsible for recognition of the ligand Spatzle, an endogenous protein released during fungal infection (Valanne, Wang, & Rämet, 2011). Furthermore, the response of TLR4 to DAMPs can vary in which co-receptors are required for activation, which is different in comparison to LPS recognition that requires both MD-2 and CD14. Fish appear to lack a homolog of CD-14, yet have been observed to bind and signal through peroxiredoxin 1, a ubiquitously expressed DAMP (He et al., 2019; G.-p. Liu et al., 2018).

The observations above suggest that TLR4 may have originally evolved as a receptor for endogenous ligands and later acquired co-receptors enabling its recognition of LPS and other PAMPs. The aquatic environment of fish, which supports a greater abundance of microorganisms in comparison to land, may have impeded the evolution of Tlr4 towards PAMP recognition and even result in the loss of this receptor in some species (Falkowski & de Vargas,

2004; Iliev et al., 2005; Roach et al., 2005; Watson et al., 1977). Another related explanation posits that the gain of CD-14 was never advantageous within fish, not only due to their environment, but also because of the selective pressures from ligands not requiring this coreceptor. This explanation supports our findings that Tlr4 is principally involved within the inflammatory response of zebrafish to metals, as well as the metal based chemotherapeutic cisplatin (Figure 2.14; Figure 3.9). As previously mentioned in chapter 2, metals are observed to act as inflammatory agents within zebrafish (Brun et al., 2018; Chen et al., 2019; T. Wang et al., 2015), but they also induce these affect in a broad range of other species such as mice, chickens, turtles, and frogs (Arienzo, 2023; Habotta et al., 2022; Jayawardena et al., 2016; Vennegaard et al., 2014). This could suggest an ancient origin of metal ion sensing by the innate immune system, and more specifically, Tlr4.

### 4.3 The inhibition of Tlr4 ameliorates CIO

TLR4 was recently observed to mediate CIO, which opens the possibility of novel therapeutic opportunities (Babolmorad et al., 2021). Moreover, our results in Tlr4 crispant mutants supported these findings, displaying reduced neuromast toxicity from cisplatin (Figure 3.9). We provided evidence of the TAK-242 derivative 134 reducing cisplatin cytotoxicity to neuromast hair cells, and that this effect was principally mediated through inhibiting Tlr4 (Figure 3.4; Figure 3.9). The specificity of this derivative is exemplified using mutant Tlr4 crispants, which on their own showed reduced cytotoxicity from cisplatin, but demonstrated no further increase in protection from 134 (Figure 3.9A).

### 4.3.1 Effects of cisplatin on zebrafish

One of cisplatin's most well studied effects within larval zebrafish is its ability to induce hair cell damage within both the lateral line and inner ear (Ou, Raible, & Rubel, 2007; Wertman et al., 2020). We observed dose-dependent hair cell death in response to cisplatin treatment using two different vital fluorescent dyes, DASPEI and YO-PRO1 (Figure 3.3A&B). DASPEI is known to selectively stain neuromasts based on mitchondria potential and therefore fluoresces proportionately based on cell viability (Henshall et al., 2009; Jensen & Rekling, 2010). YO-PRO1 is a DNA stain, however, its uptake mechanism by neuromasts is still unknown. DASPEI is useful as it gives an overall picture of neuromast viability based fluorescent intensity, while YO-PRO1 allows for the viewing of individual hair cells in response to cisplatin. Largely, the results from these dyes mirrored one another, increasing experimental validity.

However, one difference in their results was found in how they respond to high concentrations of cisplatin. DASPEI fluorescence was completely ablated in response to high concentrations (Figure 3.3A), while YO-PRO1 fluorescence persisted within some cells (Figure 3.3B). It is possible that during early cell death, the DNA that remains within the cytoplasm of cells is bound by YO-PRO1, giving the illusion of a live cell (Elmore, 2007). However, further study is required on the mechanism behind the uptake of YO-PRO1 in neuromasts and other selective fluorescent dyes to clarify this result. In mammals, due to its relatively large size, YO-PRO1 is unable to enter the membrane of live cells. Only during cell death does the membrane become permeable to the stain, which enters through P2X7 receptor and selectively binds the DNA of dying cells (Fujisawa et al., 2014). Therefore, to examine the mechanism of YO-PRO1 uptake by neuromast hair cells, future studies should focus on membrane receptors and channels that may carry out similar functions.

On top of the effects cisplatin exerts on the inner structures of cells, it also damages the cilia of neuromast hair cells (Kim et al., 2008). Zebrafish neuromast hair cells contain both kinocilia and stereocilia, both of which are required for their proper function (Kindt, Finch, &

Nicolson, 2012). A study done by Comis et al. found that following cisplatin treatment, the stereocilia of the outer hair cells from the cochlea of a guinea pig were disordered and fused (1986). This is consistent with our findings that lateral line hair cell cilia became fused and disorganized when larval zebrafish were treated with high concentrations of cisplatin (Figure 3.3E-H). Both the disorganization and fusing of cilia may also contribute to the reduced function observed within the neuromast hair cells, which may help explain some of our behavioural data (Figure 3.12B).

### 4.3.2 Toxic effects of derivative compounds on zebrafish

In the determination that 134 is the most efficacious derivative, others were disregarded due to their toxic effects on zebrafish larvae. One of the most shocking results we observed was the toxicity to neuromast hair cells when TAK-242 was treated in combination with cisplatin (Figure 3.4B). It is noteworthy that this was not observed when TAK-242 was treated on zebrafish alone. No toxic effects were observed within cells after treatment with TAK-242 and cisplatin, suggesting this effect is a specific to zebrafish (Table 3.1; Data not shown). Furthermore, other derivatives such as 136, 138, 150, 158, 164, 166, and 168 were determined to induce general toxicity within zebrafish larvae, often resulting in death (Table 3.1). Only TAK-242, derivative 120, and 132 were specifically toxic to neuromast hair cells without inducing other noticeable toxicity to the larvae. Unfortunately, these responses do not appear to be localized within a specific structural modification of TAK-242, making it difficult suggest a mechanism based on their structure (Data not shown). However, another interesting finding was that derivative 138 and 158 exhibited reduced toxicity to zebrafish when in the presence of cisplatin, which is the opposite effect we predicted would occur. This would suggest some

protective ability of cisplatin from the toxicity of these derivatives, however too little is known about the interactions of these derivatives to suggest a potential mechanism by which this occurs.

### 4.3.3 Efficacy of cisplatin following derivative treatment

Although the primary mechanism through which cisplatin mediates its anticancer effects is believed to be through DNA damage, many of its effects are mediated through the generation of ROS (Brozovic, Ambriović-Ristov, & Osmak, 2010; Ghosh, 2019). Inhibition of TLR4 would reduce the inflammatory response generated by cisplatin, which may further lead to a reduction in ROS generation. Although this could help reduce unwanted cell death signalled through these pathways, there is a chance the anticancer efficacy of cisplatin could be reduced as well. To study this possibility, our collaborators within the Berman lab are using zebrafish xenografts to examine reductions in the anticancer effects of cisplatin in response to these derivatives. If these derivatives prove to reduce the effectiveness of cisplatin, future studies should first examine why this would occur, as DNA damage should not be impeded. However, due to the novelty of these drugs, they may be inadvertently interacting with aquated cisplatin or interacting with other unknown targets leading to a decrease in free cisplatin concentration, decreased cisplatin permeability, increased cisplatin metabolism, increased cisplatin toxicity, etc.

### 4.3.4 Behavioural analysis as a functional measure of zebrafish hair cells

Behavioural experiments are a unique advantage to in vivo models that can be used to examine the cumulative phenotypic effects following experimentation with novel compounds. The involvement of lateral line hair cell inputs has been demonstrated in behavioural responses, such as the startle response, through recovery experiments (McHenry et al., 2009). Ototoxic compounds, such as neomycin and gentamicin, have demonstrated a reduction in the ability to perform behaviours such as rheotaxis and the startle response, which is likely mediated by the reduced sensitivity of the lateral line after hair cell damage (Buck et al., 2012; X. Liu et al., 2018; Newton et al., 2023; Niihori et al., 2015; Todd et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2017). While others have demonstrated a reduced rheotactic response after cisplatin treatment (Lee et al., 2022; Niihori et al., 2015), previous attempts to displays cisplatin's ototoxic effects using the startle response has been largely unsuccessful (Buck et al., 2012). Buck et al. found that following cisplatin treatment, there was no significant decrease in auditory evoked startle response in 5dpf larvae (2012). To our knowledge, we are the first study to effectively display the dose-dependent ototoxic effects of cisplatin using a vibration-based startle response (Figure 3.12B). One reason for the difference in our results in comparison to Buck et al. could be due to the short exposure time to insufficient concentrations of cisplatin (2012). They tested responses following a 2-hour incubation with either 14µM or 100µM cisplatin, which may not have allowed for adequate hair cell damage and/or loss of function (Buck et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2022). Another difference can be found in the method to elicit a startle response, where they utilized a speaker to generate a startle response, while our assay used a motor to directly vibrate the plate and evoke the response. Finally, a minimum of 36 larvae from 3 experimental repeats were tested using only one frequency (200Hz) following cisplatin treatment, while we tested a minimum of 96 larvae from three experimental repeats per frequency following different cisplatin concentrations. Further study is required to determine the influence of these differences.

Others have demonstrated the efficacy of otoprotectants, such as ferulic acid and dexamethasone, in recovering behavioural responses following treatment with ototoxins (Cheng et al., 2023; Niihori et al., 2015). Cheng et al. demonstrated that the distance moved in response to a taping stimulus was significantly improved following ferulic acid treatment to attenuate neomycin induced hair cell death (2023). Similarly, we show that co-treatment of cisplatin and

compound 134 increased the distance moved by larvae following a vibrational stimulus (Figure 3.13D). This demonstrates the endpoint protective effects by 134 within the hair cells of the lateral line. However, although no changes in baseline behaviour were observed following treatment with 134 and/or cisplatin (Figure 3.16D; data not shown), there is a possibility that other effects beyond the lateral line are responsible for the increased swimming distance. For example, neomycin is observed to decrease larval movement, not only through hair cell death, but by muscle damage (Han et al., 2020). Cisplatin is toxic, and more specifically a neurotoxic substance, therefore it may affect the neuromuscular system and/or the brain, leading to altered responses following external stimuli. Further characterization of these derivatives, their interaction with cisplatin and the systemic effects of cisplatin on larval behaviour will help exclude these as confounding variables.

### 4.3.5 Insight into the effect of frequency on zebrafish behaviour

Zebrafish larvae are observed to respond to frequencies ranging from 40-1200 Hz (Bang et al., 2002; Bhandiwad et al., 2018; Lu & DeSmidt, 2013; Roberts et al., 2011; Zeddies & Fay, 2005). Buck et al. examined the startle response to a range of frequencies between 40 - 500 Hz and found no significant effect of frequency on startle distance (2012). In agreement with these results, we found that in a range of 25 - 1135 Hz, the startle response did not appear to vary, suggesting frequencies lower than 40 Hz can elicit a response (Figure 3.12). However, in contrast to this, cisplatin treatment resulted in varying affects to the startle response distance following vibrations at different frequencies (Figure 3.12B). Furthermore, we found that startle responses induced by both higher (1135 Hz) and lower (75 Hz) frequencies displayed no significant recovery in the distance after treatment with 134 and cisplatin, but the response induced within the middle (285 Hz) frequency was significantly improved (Figure 3.13B, D, F).

Interestingly, middle frequencies (115-380 Hz) induced the lowest mean startle distance, with or without cisplatin (Figure 3.12B). However, additional research is necessary to ascertain whether these findings are related in any manner. In humans, CIO is known to initially affect higher frequencies (4000-8000Hz), that can progress into lower frequencies (Chattaraj et al., 2023). Little is known on how cisplatin affects different frequencies in zebrafish within the literature, but our results suggest that this would be a valuable avenue for future study. Based on what is known on progressive hearing loss in humans, future studies should consider not only concentration, but also the length of exposure to cisplatin.

### 4.4 Future directions and conclusion

In addition to those mentioned above, a logical next step would be to produce a stable Tlr4ba, Tlr4al, and Tlr4bb triple knockout mutant line. This would allow for a more reliable examination into the effects of cisplatin and metals observed within our Tlr4 crispant mutants, while also corroborating and validating our findings. Since the overall role of Tlr4 within zebrafish remains elusive, these stable mutans would also allow for a more in-depth examination into the role zebrafish Tlr4 homologs play in development, immune function, survival, and more.

Following the generation of a triple knockout mutant, producing zebrafish expressing human TLR4 within their neuromast would provide important information on the effects of inhibiting human TLR4 in vivo, and provide an accurate model for future experiments using the TAK-242 derivatives. Moreover, to determine the influence endogenous signals may be contributing to activation of zebrafish Tlr4 during our metal and cisplatin assays, it would be valuable to examine Tlr4 activation in response to well known DAMPs such as HMGB1, heat shock proteins (HSP), and  $\beta$ -defensin 2, all of which have known homologs in zebrafish (García-

Valtanen et al., 2014; Lam, Harvie, & Huttenlocher, 2013; Yu, Wang, & Chen, 2010; Zhao et al., 2011).

One major limitation to the findings of this thesis is found in the lack of a positive control for zebrafish Tlr4 activation. Since there is currently no known primary ligand of Tlr4 reported within the literature, producing a reliable assay that demonstrates the activation of Tlr4 is difficult. We have demonstrated that hair cell toxicity can be used as a suitable proxy for the downstream effects from Tlr4 activation, but this would have benefited from a known primary ligand.

In summary, the key findings of this thesis are two-fold: first, we demonstrated that metals could mediate a proinflammatory response through zebrafish Tlr4 and its genetic modification reduces metal cytotoxicity. This finding helps provide insight into the both the evolution and function of this receptor in zebrafish. Second, we demonstrated that through genetic modification and chemical inhibition of zebrafish Tlr4, the ototoxic effects of cisplatin could be mitigated. This finding provides support to the use of TLR4 inhibitors in preventing CIO, which could afford major improvements to the quality of life in cancer patients receiving treatment, especially in children. Altogether, these findings will set the groundwork for future studies examining the involvement of metals in activating zebrafish Tlr4 homologs and their effective use in determining novel therapies for the reduction of CIO.

# **Literature Cited**

- (CCS), C. C. S. (2022). *Cancer statistics at a glance*. Retrieved June 8th from <u>https://cancer.ca/en/research/cancer-statistics/cancer-statistics-at-a-</u> <u>glance#:~:text=Most%20survival%20statistics%20are%20reported,55%25%20in%20the%20early</u> %201990s.
- (CCS), C. C. S. (2023). *How cancer starts, grows and spreads*. Retrieved July 6th from <u>https://cancer.ca/en/cancer-information/what-is-cancer/how-cancer-starts-grows-and-spreads</u>.
- (FDA), F. a. D. A. (2022). FDA approves sodium thiosulfate to reduce the risk of ototoxicity associated with cisplatin in pediatric patients with localized, non-metastatic solid tumors. Retrieved June 8th from <u>https://www.fda.gov/drugs/resources-information-approved-drugs/fda-approves-</u> sodium-thiosulfate-reduce-risk-ototoxicity-associated-cisplatin-pediatric-patients
- (IARC), W. H. O. I. A. f. R. o. C. (2020). GLOBOCAN 2020: estimated cancer incidence, mortality and prevalence worldwide in 2020. Retrieved June 8th from https://gco.iarc.fr/today/data/factsheets/cancers/39-All-cancers-fact-sheet.pdf
- (NIH), N. C. I. (2023). *Types of Chemotherapy Drugs*. Retrieved July 6th from <u>https://training.seer.cancer.gov/treatment/chemotherapy/types.html#:~:text=Alkylating%20ag</u> <u>ents%20were%20among%20the,preventing%20the%20cell%20from%20dividing</u>.
- (NIH), N. I. o. N. D. a. S. (2023, March 13 2023). Peripheral Neuropathy. Retrieved June 23 from <u>https://www.ninds.nih.gov/health-information/disorders/peripheral-</u> <u>neuropathy#:~:text=Peripheral%20neuropathy%20refers%20to%20the,other%20parts%20of%2</u> Othe%20body.
- (NIH), N. L. o. M. (2023). *ClinicalTrials.gov*. Retrieved June 29th from <u>https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/</u>
- Abd Rashid, N., Abd Halim, S. A. S., Teoh, S. L., Budin, S. B., Hussan, F., Adib Ridzuan, N. R., & Abdul Jalil, N. A. (2021). The role of natural antioxidants in cisplatin-induced hepatotoxicity. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 144, 112328. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2021.112328</u>
- Aboudounya, M. M., & Heads, R. J. (2021). COVID-19 and Toll-Like Receptor 4 (TLR4): SARS-CoV-2 May Bind and Activate TLR4 to Increase ACE2 Expression, Facilitating Entry and Causing Hyperinflammation. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2021, 8874339. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/8874339
- Adefegha, S. A., Molehin, O. R., Adefegha, O. M., & Fakayode, A. E. (2022). Zebrafish As an Animal Model for Cancer Research. In *Handbook of Animal Models and its Uses in Cancer Research* (pp. 1-16). Springer.
- Aebi, S., Kurdi-Haidar, B., Gordon, R., Cenni, B., Zheng, H., Fink, D., Christen, R. D., Boland, C. R., Koi, M.,
  Fishel, R., & Howell, S. B. (1996). Loss of DNA Mismatch Repair in Acquired Resistance to
  Cisplatin1. *Cancer Research*, 56(13), 3087-3090.
- Ahmad, S. (2017). Kinetic aspects of platinum anticancer agents. *Polyhedron, 138,* 109-124. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.poly.2017.09.016
- Al-Majed, A. A., Sayed-Ahmed, M. M., Al-Yahya, A. A., Aleisa, A. M., Al-Rejaie, S. S., & Al-Shabanah, O. A. (2006). Propionyl-l-carnitine prevents the progression of cisplatin-induced cardiomyopathy in a carnitine-depleted rat model. *Pharmacological Research*, *53*(3), 278-286. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2005.12.005</u>
- Alassadi, S., Pisani, M. J., & Wheate, N. J. (2022). A chemical perspective on the clinical use of platinumbased anticancer drugs [10.1039/D2DT01875F]. *Dalton Transactions*, *51*(29), 10835-10846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D2DT01875F</u>

- Aldossary, S. A. (2019). Review on Pharmacology of Cisplatin: Clinical Use, Toxicity and Mechanism of Resistance of Cisplatin. *Biomed Pharmacol J*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/https://dx.doi.org/10.13005/bpj/1608
- Alesci, A., Capillo, G., Fumia, A., Messina, E., Albano, M., Aragona, M., Lo Cascio, P., Spanò, N., Pergolizzi, S., & Lauriano, E. R. (2022). Confocal Characterization of Intestinal Dendritic Cells from Myxines to Teleosts. *Biology*, *11*(7), 1045. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2079-7737/11/7/1045</u>
- Alexandre, D., & Ghysen, A. (1999). Somatotopy of the lateral line projection in larval zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *96*(13), 7558-7562. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.96.13.7558</u>
- Alinaghi, F., Bennike, N. H., Egeberg, A., Thyssen, J. P., & Johansen, J. D. (2019). Prevalence of contact allergy in the general population: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Contact Dermatitis*, 80(2), 77-85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cod.13119</u>
- Amable, L. (2016). Cisplatin resistance and opportunities for precision medicine. *Pharmacological Research*, *106*, 27-36. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2016.01.001</u>
- American Academy of Audiology Position Statement and Clinical Practice Guidelines: Ototoxicity Monitoring. (2009). In: American Academy of Audiology.
- Amith, S. R., Jayanth, P., Franchuk, S., Finlay, T., Seyrantepe, V., Beyaert, R., Pshezhetsky, A. V., & Szewczuk, M. R. (2010). Neu1 desialylation of sialyl α-2,3-linked β-galactosyl residues of TOLLlike receptor 4 is essential for receptor activation and cellular signaling. *Cellular Signalling*, 22(2), 314-324. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellsig.2009.09.038</u>
- Anzai, N., Kanai, Y., & Endou, H. (2006). Organic Anion Transporter Family: Current Knowledge. *Journal* of Pharmacological Sciences, 100(5), 411-426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1254/jphs.CRJ06006X</u>
- Arango Duque, G., & Descoteaux, A. (2014). Macrophage Cytokines: Involvement in Immunity and Infectious Diseases [Review]. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *5*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00491</u>
- Arienzo, M. (2023). Progress on the Impact of Persistent Pollutants on Marine Turtles: A Review. *Journal* of Marine Science and Engineering, 11(2), 266. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2077-1312/11/2/266</u>
- Armstrong-Gordon, E., Gnjidic, D., McLachlan, A. J., Hosseini, B., Grant, A., Beale, P. J., & Wheate, N. J. (2018). Patterns of platinum drug use in an acute care setting: a retrospective study. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 144(8), 1561-1568. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00432-018-2669-6</u>
- Astone, M., Dankert, E. N., Alam, S. K., & Hoeppner, L. H. (2017). Fishing for cures: The alLURE of using zebrafish to develop precision oncology therapies. *npj Precision Oncology*, 1(1), 39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41698-017-0043-9</u>
- Avan, A., Postma, T. J., Ceresa, C., Avan, A., Cavaletti, G., Giovannetti, E., & Peters, G. J. (2015). Platinum-Induced Neurotoxicity and Preventive Strategies: Past, Present, and Future. *The Oncologist*, 20(4), 411-432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1634/theoncologist.2014-0044</u>
- Babolmorad, G., Latif, A., Domingo, I. K., Pollock, N. M., Delyea, C., Rieger, A. M., Allison, W. T., & Bhavsar, A. P. (2021). Toll-like receptor 4 is activated by platinum and contributes to cisplatininduced ototoxicity. *EMBO Rep*, 22(5), e51280. <u>https://doi.org/10.15252/embr.202051280</u>
- Bailey, J. M., Oliveri, A. N., Zhang, C., Frazier, J. M., Mackinnon, S., Cole, G. J., & Levin, E. D. (2015). Long-term behavioral impairment following acute embryonic ethanol exposure in zebrafish. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, 48, 1-8.
   <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2015.01.005">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2015.01.005</a>
- Baird, A.-M., & Gray, S. G. (2023). Chapter 22 Epigenetics of cisplatin resistance. In S. G. Gray (Ed.), *Epigenetic Cancer Therapy (Second Edition)* (pp. 577-611). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91367-6.00026-X

- Bang, P. I., Yelick, P. C., Malicki, J. J., & Sewell, W. F. (2002). High-throughput behavioral screening method for detecting auditory response defects in zebrafish. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods*, *118*(2), 177-187. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0270(02)00118-8</u>
- Baptista, A. M., Jonson, P. H., Hough, E., & Petersen, S. B. (1998). The origin of trypsin: evidence for multiple gene duplications in trypsins. *Journal of molecular evolution*, *47*, 353-362.
- Barabas, K., Milner, R., Lurie, D., & Adin, C. (2008). Cisplatin: a review of toxicities and therapeutic applications. Veterinary and Comparative Oncology, 6(1), 1-18. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5829.2007.00142.x
- Barré-Sinoussi, F., & Montagutelli, X. (2015). Animal models are essential to biological research: issues and perspectives. *Future Science OA*, 1(4), null. <u>https://doi.org/10.4155/fso.15.63</u>
- Barriuso, J., Nagaraju, R., & Hurlstone, A. (2015). Zebrafish: A New Companion for Translational Research in Oncology. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *21*(5), 969-975. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-14-2921</u>
- Barta, C. L., Liu, H., Chen, L., Giffen, K. P., Li, Y., Kramer, K. L., Beisel, K. W., & He, D. Z. (2018). RNA-seq transcriptomic analysis of adult zebrafish inner ear hair cells. *Scientific Data*, *5*(1), 180005. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2018.5</u>
- Baxendale, S., & Whitfield, T. T. (2016). Chapter 6 Methods to study the development, anatomy, and function of the zebrafish inner ear across the life course. In H. W. Detrich, M. Westerfield, & L. I. Zon (Eds.), *Methods in Cell Biology* (Vol. 134, pp. 165-209). Academic Press. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mcb.2016.02.007">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.mcb.2016.02.007</a>
- Behranvand, N., Nasri, F., Zolfaghari Emameh, R., Khani, P., Hosseini, A., Garssen, J., & Falak, R. (2022). Chemotherapy: a double-edged sword in cancer treatment. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*, 71(3), 507-526. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00262-021-03013-3</u>
- Behzadi, P., Behzadi, E., & Ranjbar, R. (2016). IL-12 Family Cytokines: General Characteristics, Pathogenic Microorganisms, Receptors, and Signalling Pathways. Acta Microbiologica et Immunologica Hungarica, 63(1), 1-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1556/030.63.2016.1.1</u>
- Behzadi, P., Garcia-Perdomo, H. A., & Karpinski, T. M. (2021). Toll-Like Receptors: General Molecular and Structural Biology. *J Immunol Res*, 2021, 9914854. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9914854</u>
- Bek, J. W., Shochat, C., De Clercq, A., De Saffel, H., Boel, A., Metz, J., Rodenburg, F., Karasik, D., Willaert, A., & Coucke, P. J. (2021). Lrp5 Mutant and Crispant Zebrafish Faithfully Model Human Osteoporosis, Establishing the Zebrafish as a Platform for CRISPR-Based Functional Screening of Osteoporosis Candidate Genes. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 36(9), 1749-1764. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jbmr.4327
- Ben Haij, N., Planes, R., Leghmari, K., Serrero, M., Delobel, P., Izopet, J., BenMohamed, L., & Bahraoui, E. (2015). HIV-1 Tat Protein Induces Production of Proinflammatory Cytokines by Human Dendritic Cells and Monocytes/Macrophages through Engagement of TLR4-MD2-CD14 Complex and Activation of NF-kappaB Pathway. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(6), e0129425. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129425
- Berczi, I., Bertok, L., & Bereznai, T. (1966). Comparative studies on the toxicity of Escherichia coli lipopolysaccharide endotoxin in various animal species. *Canadian journal of microbiology*, 12(5), 1070-1071.
- Beretta, G. L., Benedetti, V., Cossa, G., Assaraf, Y. G., Bram, E., Gatti, L., Corna, E., Carenini, N., Colangelo, D., & Howell, S. B. (2010). Increased levels and defective glycosylation of MRPs in ovarian carcinoma cells resistant to oxaliplatin. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, *79*(8), 1108-1117.
- Berger, A. (2000). Science commentary: Th1 and Th2 responses: what are they? *BMJ*, *321*(7258), 424-424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.321.7258.424</u>

- Bhandiwad, A. A., Raible, D. W., Rubel, E. W., & Sisneros, J. A. (2018). Noise-Induced Hypersensitization of the Acoustic Startle Response in Larval Zebrafish. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *19*(6), 741-752. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-018-00685-0</u>
- Bojang, E., Ghuman, H., Kumwenda, P., & Hall, R. A. (2021). Immune Sensing of Candida albicans. *Journal* of Fungi, 7(2), 119. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jof7020119</u>
- Bordin, D. L., Lima, M., Lenz, G., Saffi, J., Meira, L. B., Mesange, P., Soares, D. G., Larsen, A. K., Escargueil, A. E., & Henriques, J. A. P. (2013). DNA alkylation damage and autophagy induction. *Mutat Res*, 753(2), 91-99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrrev.2013.07.001</u>
- Borga, C., Park, G., Foster, C., Burroughs-Garcia, J., Marchesin, M., Shah, R., Hasan, A., Ahmed, S. T.,
  Bresolin, S., & Batchelor, L. (2019). Simultaneous B and T cell acute lymphoblastic leukemias in zebrafish driven by transgenic MYC: implications for oncogenesis and lymphopoiesis. *Leukemia*, 33(2), 333-347.
- Botos, I., Segal, D. M., & Davies, D. R. (2011). The structural biology of Toll-like receptors. *Structure*, *19*(4), 447-459. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.str.2011.02.004</u>
- Boudinot, P., Zou, J., Ota, T., Buonocore, F., Scapigliati, G., Canapa, A., Cannon, J., Litman, G., & Hansen, J. D. (2014). A tetrapod-like repertoire of innate immune receptors and effectors for coelacanths. *Journal of Experimental Zoology Part B: Molecular and Developmental Evolution*, 322(6), 415-437. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jez.b.22559
- Branch, P., Masson, M., Aquilina, G., Bignami, M., & Karran, P. (2000). Spontaneous development of drug resistance: mismatch repair and p53 defects in resistance to cisplatin in human tumor cells. Oncogene, 19(28), 3138-3145. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1203668</u>
- Breglio, A. M., Rusheen, A. E., Shide, E. D., Fernandez, K. A., Spielbauer, K. K., McLachlin, K. M., Hall, M. D., Amable, L., & Cunningham, L. L. (2017). Cisplatin is retained in the cochlea indefinitely following chemotherapy. *Nature Communications*, 8(1), 1654. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01837-1</u>
- Brock, P. R., Maibach, R., Childs, M., Rajput, K., Roebuck, D., Sullivan, M. J., Laithier, V., Ronghe, M., Dall'Igna, P., Hiyama, E., Brichard, B., Skeen, J., Mateos, M. E., Capra, M., Rangaswami, A. A., Ansari, M., Rechnitzer, C., Veal, G. J., Covezzoli, A., . . . Neuwelt, E. A. (2018). Sodium Thiosulfate for Protection from Cisplatin-Induced Hearing Loss. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *378*(25), 2376-2385. <u>https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1801109</u>
- Brown, A., Kumar, S., & Tchounwou, P. B. (2019). Cisplatin-Based Chemotherapy of Human Cancers. *J Cancer Sci Ther*, 11(4). <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32148661</u>
- Brown, J., Wang, H., Hajishengallis, G. N., & Martin, M. (2011). TLR-signaling networks: an integration of adaptor molecules, kinases, and cross-talk. *J Dent Res*, 90(4), 417-427. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034510381264
- Brozovic, A., Ambriović-Ristov, A., & Osmak, M. (2010). The relationship between cisplatin-induced reactive oxygen species, glutathione, and BCL-2 and resistance to cisplatin. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, 40(4), 347-359. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/10408441003601836</u>
- Brozovic, A., & Osmak, M. (2007). Activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases by cisplatin and their role in cisplatin-resistance. *Cancer Letters*, 251(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2006.10.007
- Brubaker, S. W., Bonham, K. S., Zanoni, I., & Kagan, J. C. (2015). Innate Immune Pattern Recognition: A Cell Biological Perspective. *Annual Review of Immunology*, *33*(1), 257-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112240</u>
- Brun, N. R., Koch, B. E. V., Varela, M., Peijnenburg, W. J. G. M., Spaink, H. P., & Vijver, M. G. (2018). Nanoparticles induce dermal and intestinal innate immune system responses in zebrafish embryos [10.1039/C8EN00002F]. *Environmental Science: Nano*, 5(4), 904-916. https://doi.org/10.1039/C8EN00002F

- Buck, L. M. J., Winter, M. J., Redfern, W. S., & Whitfield, T. T. (2012). Ototoxin-induced cellular damage in neuromasts disrupts lateral line function in larval zebrafish. *Hearing research*, 284(1), 67-81. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2011.12.001
- Bukowski, K., Kciuk, M., & Kontek, R. (2020). Mechanisms of Multidrug Resistance in Cancer Chemotherapy. *Int J Mol Sci*, *21*(9). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21093233</u>
- Burch-Smith, T. M., & Dinesh-Kumar, S. P. (2007). The functions of plant TIR domains. *Sci STKE*, 2007(401), pe46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/stke.4012007pe46</u>
- Burger, A., Lindsay, H., Felker, A., Hess, C., Anders, C., Chiavacci, E., Zaugg, J., Weber, L. M., Catena, R., Jinek, M., Robinson, M. D., & Mosimann, C. (2016). Maximizing mutagenesis with solubilized CRISPR-Cas9 ribonucleoprotein complexes. *Development*, 143(11), 2025-2037. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.134809</u>
- Cabezas-Sáinz, P., Pensado-López, A., Sáinz, B., & Sánchez, L. (2020). Modeling Cancer Using Zebrafish Xenografts: Drawbacks for Mimicking the Human Microenvironment. *Cells*, *9*(9), 1978. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4409/9/9/1978</u>
- Callejo, A., Sedó-Cabezón, L., Juan, I. D., & Llorens, J. (2015). Cisplatin-Induced Ototoxicity: Effects, Mechanisms and Protection Strategies. *Toxics*, *3*(3), 268-293. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2305-6304/3/3/268</u>
- Camet, M. L., Spence, A., Hayashi, S. S., Wu, N., Henry, J., Sauerburger, K., & Hayashi, R. J. (2021). Cisplatin Ototoxicity: Examination of the Impact of Dosing, Infusion Times, and Schedules In Pediatric Cancer Patients [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2021.673080
- Campos-Sánchez, J. C., & Esteban, M. Á. (2021). Review of inflammation in fish and value of the zebrafish model. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *44*(2), 123-139. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13310
- Candel, S., Sepulcre, M. P., Espín-Palazón, R., Tyrkalska, S. D., de Oliveira, S., Meseguer, J., & Mulero, V. (2015). Md1 and Rp105 regulate innate immunity and viral resistance in zebrafish. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *50*(2), 155-165. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2015.01.005</u>
- Carlos G.P. Voogdt, J. P. M. v. P. (2016). *Chapter 13 The Evolution of the Toll-Like Receptor System* (D. Malagoli, Ed.). Aademic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-801975-7.00013-X</u>
- Casanova, A. G., Harvat, M., Vicente-Vicente, L., Pellicer-Valero, Ó. J., Morales, A. I., López-Hernández, F. J., & Martín-Guerrero, J. D. (2021). Regression Modeling of the Antioxidant-to-Nephroprotective Relation Shows the Pivotal Role of Oxidative Stress in Cisplatin Nephrotoxicity. *Antioxidants, 10*(9), 1355. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3921/10/9/1355</u>
- Casey, M. J., & Stewart, R. A. (2020). Pediatric Cancer Models in Zebrafish. *Trends in Cancer*, 6(5), 407-418. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trecan.2020.02.006</u>
- Cerbán, F. M., Stempin, C. C., Volpini, X., Carrera Silva, E. A., Gea, S., & Motran, C. C. (2020). Signaling pathways that regulate Trypanosoma cruzi infection and immune response. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1866*(5), 165707. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2020.165707</u>
- Cha, S. H., Sekine, T., Fukushima, J.-i., Kanai, Y., Kobayashi, Y., Goya, T., & Endou, H. (2001). Identification and Characterization of Human Organic Anion Transporter 3 Expressing Predominantly in the Kidney. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *59*(5), 1277-1286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.59.5.1277</u>
- Chai, L. Y. A., Vonk, A. G., Kullberg, B. J., Verweij, P. E., Verschueren, I., van der Meer, J. W. M., Joosten, L. A. B., Latgé, J.-P., & Netea, M. G. (2011). Aspergillus fumigatus cell wall components differentially modulate host TLR2 and TLR4 responses. *Microbes and Infection*, *13*(2), 151-159. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micinf.2010.10.005</u>

- Chang, M. X. (2021). The negative regulation of retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I)-like receptors (RLRs) signaling pathway in fish. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *119*, 104038. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2021.104038</u>
- Chattaraj, A., Syed, M. P., Low, C. A., & Owonikoko, T. K. (2023). Cisplatin-Induced Ototoxicity: A Concise Review of the Burden, Prevention, and Interception Strategies. *JCO Oncology Practice*, *19*(5), 278-283. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/op.22.00710</u>
- Chen, C.-H., Huang, C.-Y., Lin, H.-Y. H., Wang, M.-C., Chang, C.-Y., & Cheng, Y.-F. (2021). Association of Sodium Thiosulfate With Risk of Ototoxic Effects From Platinum-Based Chemotherapy: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *JAMA Network Open*, *4*(8), e2118895-e2118895. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.18895</u>
- Chen, C.-Y., Kao, C.-L., & Liu, C.-M. (2018). The Cancer Prevention, Anti-Inflammatory and Anti-Oxidation of Bioactive Phytochemicals Targeting the TLR4 Signaling Pathway. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *19*(9), 2729. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/19/9/2729</u>
- Chen, H., Liang, Y., Han, Y., Liu, T., & Chen, S. (2021). Genome-wide analysis of Toll-like receptors in zebrafish and the effect of rearing temperature on the receptors in response to stimulated pathogen infection. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, *44*(3), 337-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.13287</u>
- Chen, M., Luo, Y., Xu, J., Chang, M.-X., & Liu, J.-X. (2019). Copper Regulates the Susceptibility of Zebrafish Larvae to Inflammatory Stimuli by Controlling Neutrophil/Macrophage Survival [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *10*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2019.02599</u>
- Chen, S.-H., & Chang, J.-Y. (2019). New Insights into Mechanisms of Cisplatin Resistance: From Tumor Cell to Microenvironment. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 20(17), 4136. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/20/17/4136</u>
- Chen, W., Zhao, J., Mu, D., Wang, Z., Liu, Q., Zhang, Y., & Yang, D. (2021). Pyroptosis Mediates Neutrophil Extracellular Trap Formation during Bacterial Infection in Zebrafish. *The Journal of Immunology*, 206(8), 1913-1922. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.2001335</u>
- Chen, Y., Fournier, A., Couvineau, A., Laburthe, M., & Amiranoff, B. (1993). Purification of a galanin receptor from pig brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *90*(9), 3845-3849. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.90.9.3845</u>
- Cheng, H.-L., Lee, S.-C., Chang-Chien, J., Su, T.-R., Yang, J.-J., & Su, C.-C. (2023). Protective mechanism of ferulic acid against neomycin-induced ototoxicity in zebrafish. *Environmental Toxicology*, 38(3), 604-614. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.23707</u>
- Cheng, J.-H., Xu, X., Li, Y.-B., Zhao, X.-D., Aosai, F., Shi, S.-Y., Jin, C.-H., Piao, J.-S., Ma, J., Piao, H.-N., Jin, X.-J., & Piao, L.-X. (2020). Arctigenin ameliorates depression-like behaviors in Toxoplasma gondii-infected intermediate hosts via the TLR4/NF-κB and TNFR1/NF-κB signaling pathways. *International Immunopharmacology*, *82*, 106302. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2020.106302</u>
- Chiorcea-Paquim, A. M., & Oliveira-Brett, A. M. (2023). Electrochemistry of chemotherapeutic alkylating agents and their interaction with DNA. *J Pharm Biomed Anal*, 222, 115036. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2022.115036
- Chirtes, F., & Albu, S. (2014). Prevention and restoration of hearing loss associated with the use of cisplatin. *Biomed Res Int*, 2014, 925485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/925485</u>
- Chiu, L. L., Cunningham, L. L., Raible, D. W., Rubel, E. W., & Ou, H. C. (2008). Using the Zebrafish Lateral Line to Screen for Ototoxicity. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 9(2), 178-190. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-008-0118-y</u>
- Choi, T.-Y., Choi, T.-I., Lee, Y.-R., Choe, S.-K., & Kim, C.-H. (2021). Zebrafish as an animal model for biomedical research. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine*, *53*(3), 310-317. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-021-00571-5

- Choi, Y.-M., Kim, H.-K., Shim, W., Anwar, M. A., Kwon, J.-W., Kwon, H.-K., Kim, H. J., Jeong, H., Kim, H. M., Hwang, D., Kim, H. S., & Choi, S. (2015). Mechanism of Cisplatin-Induced Cytotoxicity Is Correlated to Impaired Metabolism Due to Mitochondrial ROS Generation. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(8), e0135083. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0135083</u>
- Chow, J. C., Young, D. W., Golenbock, D. T., Christ, W. J., & Gusovsky, F. (1999). Toll-like receptor-4 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced signal transduction. *J Biol Chem*, 274(16), 10689-10692. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.274.16.10689
- Chowdhury, S., Owens, K. N., Herr, R. J., Jiang, Q., Chen, X., Johnson, G., Groppi, V. E., Raible, D. W., Rubel, E. W., & Simon, J. A. (2018). Phenotypic Optimization of Urea-Thiophene Carboxamides To Yield Potent, Well Tolerated, and Orally Active Protective Agents against Aminoglycoside-Induced Hearing Loss. J Med Chem, 61(1), 84-97. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00932
- Chu, M., Ding, R., Chu, Z.-y., Zhang, M.-b., Liu, X.-y., Xie, S.-h., Zhai, Y.-j., & Wang, Y.-d. (2014). Role of berberine in anti-bacterial as a high-affinity LPS antagonist binding to TLR4/MD-2 receptor. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 14(1), 89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-14-89</u>
- Chuang, C.-H., Lin, Y.-C., Yang, J., Chan, S.-T., & Yeh, S.-L. (2022). Quercetin supplementation attenuates cisplatin induced myelosuppression in mice through regulation of hematopoietic growth factors and hematopoietic inhibitory factors. *The Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, *110*, 109149. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2022.109149
- Ciarimboli, G., Ludwig, T., Lang, D., Pavenstädt, H., Koepsell, H., Piechota, H.-J., Haier, J., Jaehde, U., Zisowsky, J., & Schlatter, E. (2005). Cisplatin nephrotoxicity is critically mediated via the human organic cation transporter 2. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *167*(6), 1477-1484.
- Ciesielska, A., Matyjek, M., & Kwiatkowska, K. (2021). TLR4 and CD14 trafficking and its influence on LPSinduced pro-inflammatory signaling. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 78(4), 1233-1261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-020-03656-y</u>
- Clader, J. W. (2004). The Discovery of Ezetimibe: A View from Outside the Receptor. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 47(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jm030283g</u>
- Cleare, M. J., & Hoeschele, J. D. (1973). Studies on the antitumor activity of group VIII transition metal complexes. Part I. Platinum (II) complexes. *Bioinorganic Chemistry*, 2(3), 187-210. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3061(00)80249-5
- Clerici, W. J., DiMartino, D. L., & Prasad, M. R. (1995). Direct effects of reactive oxygen species on cochlear outer hair cell shape in vitro. *Hearing research*, *84*(1-2), 30-40.
- Cocetta, V., Ragazzi, E., & Montopoli, M. (2020). Chapter Three Links between cancer metabolism and cisplatin resistance. In L. Galluzzi (Ed.), *International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology* (Vol. 354, pp. 107-164). Academic Press.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/bs.ircmb.2020.01.005

- Coffin, A. B., Ou, H., Owens, K. N., Santos, F., Simon, J. A., Rubel, E. W., & Raible, D. W. (2010). Chemical Screening for Hair Cell Loss and Protection in the Zebrafish Lateral Line. *Zebrafish*, 7(1), 3-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2009.0639</u>
- Coffin, A. B., Reinhart, K. E., Owens, K. N., Raible, D. W., & Rubel, E. W. (2009). Extracellular divalent cations modulate aminoglycoside-induced hair cell death in the zebrafish lateral line. *Hearing research*, 253(1), 42-51. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2009.03.004</u>
- Cohen, L., Haziot, A., Shen, D. R., Lin, X. Y., Sia, C., Harper, R., Silver, J., & Goyert, S. M. (1995). CD14independent responses to LPS require a serum factor that is absent from neonates. *The Journal* of Immunology, 155(11), 5337-5342. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.155.11.5337</u>
- Colombi, A., Scianna, M., & Preziosi, L. (2020). Collective migration and patterning during early development of zebrafish posterior lateral line. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, *375*(1807), 20190385. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rstb.2019.0385</u>

- Comis, S. D., Rhys-Evans, P. H., Osborne, M. P., Pickles, J. O., Jeffries, D. J., & Pearse, H. A. (1986). Early morphological and chemical changes induced by cisplatin in the guinea pig organ of Corti. *J Laryngol Otol*, 100(12), 1375-1383. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022215100101161</u>
- Cornet, V., Douxfils, J., Mandiki, S. N. M., & Kestemont, P. (2020). Early-life infection with a bacterial pathogen increases expression levels of innate immunity related genes during adulthood in zebrafish. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *108*, 103672. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2020.103672</u>
- Coutinho-Wolino, K. S., Almeida, P. P., Mafra, D., & Stockler-Pinto, M. B. (2022). Bioactive compounds modulating Toll-like 4 receptor (TLR4)-mediated inflammation: pathways involved and future perspectives. *Nutrition Research*, *107*, 96-116. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2022.09.001</u>
- Cubeddu, L. X. (2009). Serotonin Mechanisms in Chemotherapy-Induced Emesis in Cancer Patients. Oncology, 53(Suppl. 1), 18-25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000227636</u>
- Custer, A. (2022). A Tale of Two Susceptibilities: Cisplatin Ototoxicity Variability in Similar Patients. Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups, 7(6), 1782-1791. https://doi.org/doi:10.1044/2022 PERSP-21-00191
- d'Alençon, C. A., Peña, O. A., Wittmann, C., Gallardo, V. E., Jones, R. A., Loosli, F., Liebel, U., Grabher, C., & Allende, M. L. (2010). A high-throughput chemically induced inflammation assay in zebrafish. *BMC Biology*, 8(1), 151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-8-151</u>
- Da Costa, C. U., Wantia, N., Kirschning, C. J., Busch, D. H., Rodriguez, N., Wagner, H., & Miethke, T. (2004). Heat shock protein 60 from Chlamydia pneumoniae elicits an unusual set of inflammatory responses via Toll-like receptor 2 and 4 in vivo. *Eur J Immunol*, *34*(10), 2874-2884. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200425101">https://doi.org/10.1002/eji.200425101</a>
- Dalle Nogare, D., & Chitnis, A. B. (2017). A framework for understanding morphogenesis and migration of the zebrafish posterior Lateral Line primordium. *Mechanisms of Development*, *148*, 69-78. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mod.2017.04.005</u>
- Dalmo, R. A., & Bøgwald, J. (2022). Innate Immunity. In *Principles of Fish Immunology: From Cells and Molecules to Host Protection* (pp. 31-103). Springer.
- Dambuza, I. M., & Brown, G. D. (2015). C-type lectins in immunity: recent developments. *Current opinion in immunology*, *32*, 21-27.
- Dasari, S., & Bernard Tchounwou, P. (2014). Cisplatin in cancer therapy: Molecular mechanisms of action. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 740, 364-378. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.07.025
- Davidson, A. E., Straquadine, N. R., Cook, S. A., Liu, C. G., & Ganz, J. (2021). A rapid F0 CRISPR screen in zebrafish to identify regulators of neuronal development in the enteric nervous system. *bioRxiv*, 2021.2007.2017.452230. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.07.17.452230</u>
- De Graaf, N. P. J., Roffel, S., Gibbs, S., Kleverlaan, C. J., Lopez Gonzalez, M., Rustemeyer, T., Feilzer, A. J., & Bontkes, H. J. (2023). Nickel allergy is associated with a broad spectrum cytokine response. *Contact Dermatitis*, 88(1), 10-17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cod.14199</u>
- De Zoete, M. R., Bouwman, L. I., Keestra, A. M., & Van Putten, J. P. M. (2011). Cleavage and activation of a Toll-like receptor by microbial proteases. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(12), 4968-4973. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1018135108</u>
- Debierre-Grockiego, F., Campos, M. A., Azzouz, N., Schmidt, J., Bieker, U., Resende, M. G., Mansur, D. S., Weingart, R., Schmidt, R. R., Golenbock, D. T., Gazzinelli, R. T., & Schwarz, R. T. (2007). Activation of TLR2 and TLR4 by glycosylphosphatidylinositols derived from Toxoplasma gondii. *J Immunol*, *179*(2), 1129-1137. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.179.2.1129
- Denkers, E. Y. (2010). Toll-like receptor initiated host defense against Toxoplasma gondii. *J Biomed Biotechnol*, 2010, 737125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2010/737125</u>

- Devarajan, P., Savoca, M., Castaneda, M. P., Park, M. S., Esteban-Cruciani, N., Kalinec, G., & Kalinec, F. (2002). Cisplatin-induced apoptosis in auditory cells: role of death receptor and mitochondrial pathways. *Hearing research*, *174*(1), 45-54. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-5955(02)00634-2</u>
- DeVita, V. T., Jr., & Chu, E. (2008). A history of cancer chemotherapy. *Cancer Res, 68*(21), 8643-8653. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6611
- Dickey, D. T., Wu, Y. J., Muldoon, L. L., & Neuwelt, E. A. (2005). Protection against Cisplatin-Induced Toxicities by <em>N</em>-Acetylcysteine and Sodium Thiosulfate as Assessed at the Molecular, Cellular, and in Vivo Levels. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *314*(3), 1052-1058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.105.087601</u>
- Domarecka, E., Skarzynska, M., Szczepek, A. J., & Hatzopoulos, S. (2020). Use of zebrafish larvae lateral line to study protection against cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: A scoping review. *International journal of immunopathology and pharmacology*, *34*, 2058738420959554.
- Domingo, I. K., Groenendyk, J., Michalak, M., & Bhavsar, A. P. (2023). Cisplatin Toxicity Is Mediated by Direct Binding to Toll-Like Receptor 4 through a Mechanism That Is Distinct from Metal Allergens. *Mol Pharmacol*, 103(3), 158-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/molpharm.122.000595</u>
- Dominguez-Aleman, C. A., Sanchez-Vargas, L. A., Hernandez-Flores, K. G., Torres-Zugaide, A. I., Reyes-Sandoval, A., Cedillo-Barron, L., Remes-Ruiz, R., & Vivanco-Cid, H. (2021). Dengue Virus Induces the Expression and Release of Endocan from Endothelial Cells by an NS1-TLR4-Dependent Mechanism. *Microorganisms*, 9(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms9061305
- Dong, M., Yu, H., Wang, Y., Sun, C., Chang, Y., Yin, Q., Zhao, G., Xu, N., & Liu, W. (2020). Critical role of toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) in ricin toxin-induced inflammatory responses in macrophages. *Toxicology Letters*, 321, 54-60. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2019.12.021</u>
- Duan, M., Ulibarri, J., Liu, K. J., & Mao, P. (2020). Role of Nucleotide Excision Repair in Cisplatin Resistance. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *21*(23), 9248. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/21/23/9248</u>
- Duan, Y., Tang, H., Mitchell-silbaugh, K., Fang, X., Han, Z., & Ouyang, K. (2020). Heat Shock Protein 60 in Cardiovascular Physiology and Diseases [Mini Review]. Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences, 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmolb.2020.00073</u>
- Duesberg, U., von dem Bussche, A., Kirschning, C., Miyake, K., Sauerbruch, T., & Spengler, U. (2002). Cell activation by synthetic lipopeptides of the hepatitis C virus (HCV)--core protein is mediated by toll like receptors (TLRs) 2 and 4. *Immunol Lett, 84*(2), 89-95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0165-2478(02)00178-5</u>
- Duinkerken, C. W., de Weger, V. A., Dreschler, W. A., van der Molen, L., Pluim, D., Rosing, H., Nuijen, B., Hauptmann, M., Beijnen, J. H., Balm, A. J. M., de Boer, J. P., Burgers, J. A., Marchetti, S., Schellens, J. H. M., & Zuur, C. L. (2021). Transtympanic Sodium Thiosulfate for Prevention of Cisplatin-Induced Ototoxicity: A Randomized Clinical Trial. *Otology & Neurotology*, *42*(5). <u>https://journals.lww.com/otology-</u> <u>neurotology/Fulltext/2021/06000/Transtympanic\_Sodium\_Thiosulfate\_for\_Prevention\_of.9.asp</u> x
- Echizen, K., Oshima, H., Nakayama, M., & Oshima, M. (2018). The inflammatory microenvironment that promotes gastrointestinal cancer development and invasion. *Advances in biological regulation*, *68*, 39-45.
- Eekhout, T., & De Veylder, L. (2019). Hitting pause on the cell cycle. *eLife*, *8*, e46781. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.46781</u>
- Eljack, N. D., Ma, H.-Y. M., Drucker, J., Shen, C., Hambley, T. W., New, E. J., Friedrich, T., & Clarke, R. J. (2014). Mechanisms of cell uptake and toxicity of the anticancer drug cisplatin. *Metallomics*, 6(11), 2126-2133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/c4mt00238e</u>

- Elmore, S. (2007). Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. *Toxicologic pathology*, *35*(4), 495-516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701320337</u>
- Epelman, S., Stack, D., Bell, C., Wong, E., Neely, G. G., Krutzik, S., Miyake, K., Kubes, P., Zbytnuik, L. D., Ma, L. L., Xie, X., Woods, D. E., & Mody, C. H. (2004). Different Domains of Pseudomonas aeruginosa Exoenzyme S Activate Distinct TLRs1. *The Journal of Immunology*, *173*(3), 2031-2040. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.3.2031</u>
- Equils, O., Lu, D., Gatter, M., Witkin, S. S., Bertolotto, C., Arditi, M., McGregor, J. A., Simmons, C. F., & Hobel, C. J. (2006). Chlamydia heat shock protein 60 induces trophoblast apoptosis through TLR4. J Immunol, 177(2), 1257-1263. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.177.2.1257</u>
- Falkowski, P. G., & de Vargas, C. (2004). Shotgun Sequencing in the Sea: A Blast from the Past? *Science*, 304(5667), 58-60. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.1097146</u>
- Fan, S., Chen, S., Liu, Y., Lin, Y., Liu, H., Guo, L., Lin, B., Huang, S., & Xu, A. (2008). Zebrafish TRIF, a Golgi-Localized Protein, Participates in IFN Induction and NF-κB Activation1. *The Journal of Immunology*, 180(8), 5373-5383. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.180.8.5373
- Fetoni, A. R., & Astolfi, L. (2020). Cisplatin ototoxicity and role of antioxidant on its prevention. *Hearing, Balance and Communication*, 18(4), 234-241. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/21695717.2020.1810962</u>
- Fitzgerald, K. A., & Kagan, J. C. (2020). Toll-like Receptors and the Control of Immunity. *Cell*, *180*(6), 1044-1066. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.02.041</u>
- Flo, T. H., Ryan, L., Latz, E., Takeuchi, O., Monks, B. G., Lien, E., Halaas, Ø., Akira, S., Skjåk-Bræk, G., Golenbock, D. T., & Espevik, T. (2002). Involvement of Toll-like Receptor (TLR) 2 and TLR4 in Cell Activation by Mannuronic Acid Polymers\*. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277, 35489 -35495.
- Florea, A.-M., & Büsselberg, D. (2011). Cisplatin as an Anti-Tumor Drug: Cellular Mechanisms of Activity, Drug Resistance and Induced Side Effects. *Cancers*, *3*(1), 1351-1371. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers3011351</u>
- Food and Drug Administration, F. (2019). Cisplatin for Injection, for Intravenous Use. In *Food and Drug Administration, Rockville, MD*.
- Freyer, D. R., Brock, P. R., Chang, K. W., Dupuis, L. L., Epelman, S., Knight, K., Mills, D., Phillips, R., Potter, E., Risby, D., Simpkin, P., Sullivan, M., Cabral, S., Robinson, P. D., & Sung, L. (2020). Prevention of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in children and adolescents with cancer: a clinical practice guideline. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health*, 4(2), 141-150. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(19)30336-0</u>
- Freyer, D. R., Chen, L., Krailo, M. D., Knight, K., Villaluna, D., Bliss, B., Pollock, B. H., Ramdas, J., Lange, B., Van Hoff, D., VanSoelen, M. L., Wiernikowski, J., Neuwelt, E. A., & Sung, L. (2017). Effects of sodium thiosulfate versus observation on development of cisplatin-induced hearing loss in children with cancer (ACCL0431): a multicentre, randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol*, 18(1), 63-74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30625-8</u>
- Fujisawa, S., Romin, Y., Barlas, A., Petrovic, L. M., Turkekul, M., Fan, N., Xu, K., Garcia, A. R., Monette, S., Klimstra, D. S., Erinjeri, J. P., Solomon, S. B., Manova-Todorova, K., & Sofocleous, C. T. (2014). Evaluation of YO-PRO-1 as an early marker of apoptosis following radiofrequency ablation of colon cancer liver metastases. *Cytotechnology*, *66*(2), 259-273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10616-013-9565-3</u>
- Gaj, T., Gersbach, C. A., & Barbas, C. F. (2013). ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. *Trends in Biotechnology*, *31*(7), 397-405. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tibtech.2013.04.004</u>
- Galluzzi, L., Senovilla, L., Vitale, I., Michels, J., Martins, I., Kepp, O., Castedo, M., & Kroemer, G. (2012). Molecular mechanisms of cisplatin resistance. *Oncogene*, *31*(15), 1869-1883. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2011.384</u>

- Galluzzi, L., Vitale, I., Michels, J., Brenner, C., Szabadkai, G., Harel-Bellan, A., Castedo, M., & Kroemer, G. (2014). Systems biology of cisplatin resistance: past, present and future. *Cell Death & Disease*, 5(5), e1257-e1257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2013.428</u>
- Gamble, J. T., Elson, D. J., Greenwood, J. A., Tanguay, R. L., & Kolluri, S. K. (2021). The Zebrafish Xenograft Models for Investigating Cancer and Cancer Therapeutics. *Biology*, *10*(4), 252. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2079-7737/10/4/252</u>
- García-Valtanen, P., Martinez-Lopez, A., Ortega-Villaizan, M., Perez, L., Coll, J. M., & Estepa, A. (2014). In addition to its antiviral and immunomodulatory properties, the zebrafish β-defensin 2 (zfBD2) is a potent viral DNA vaccine molecular adjuvant. *Antiviral Research*, *101*, 136-147. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2013.11.009
- Gate, L., & Tew, K. D. (2011). Alkylating Agents. In B. R. Minev (Ed.), *Cancer Management in Man: Chemotherapy, Biological Therapy, Hyperthermia and Supporting Measures* (pp. 61-85). Springer Netherlands. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-9704-0\_4</u>
- Gauthier, A. E., Rotjan, R. D., & Kagan, J. C. (2022). Lipopolysaccharide detection by the innate immune system may be an uncommon defence strategy used in nature. *Open Biol*, *12*(10), 220146. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsob.220146
- Gay, N. J., & Gangloff, M. (2007). Structure and function of Toll receptors and their ligands. *Annu Rev Biochem*, *76*, 141-165. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.76.060305.151318</u>
- Generotti, C., Cox, B. C., Singh, J., Hamilton, D., McKenzie, E., O'Malley, B. W., & Li, D. (2022). Subclinical diagnosis of cisplatin-induced ototoxicity with biomarkers. *Scientific Reports*, 12(1), 18032. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-23034-x</u>
- Gentilin, E., Simoni, E., Candito, M., Cazzador, D., & Astolfi, L. (2019). Cisplatin-Induced Ototoxicity: Updates on Molecular Targets. *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, *25*(12), 1123-1132. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2019.08.002</u>
- Georgel, P., Jiang, Z., Kunz, S., Janssen, E., Mols, J., Hoebe, K., Bahram, S., Oldstone, M. B. A., & Beutler, B. (2007). Vesicular stomatitis virus glycoprotein G activates a specific antiviral Toll-like receptor 4-dependent pathway. *Virology*, *362*(2), 304-313. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2006.12.032
- Ghosh, S. (2019). Cisplatin: The first metal based anticancer drug. *Bioorganic Chemistry*, *88*, 102925. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bioorg.2019.102925
- Ghysen, A., & Dambly-Chaudière, C. (2004). Development of the zebrafish lateral line. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 14(1), 67-73. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conb.2004.01.012</u>
- Gillet, L. C. J., & Schärer, O. D. (2006). Molecular Mechanisms of Mammalian Global Genome Nucleotide Excision Repair. *Chemical Reviews*, 106(2), 253-276. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr040483f</u>
- Glasauer, S. M. K., & Neuhauss, S. C. F. (2014). Whole-genome duplication in teleost fishes and its evolutionary consequences. *Molecular Genetics and Genomics*, *289*(6), 1045-1060. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00438-014-0889-2
- Gomes, M. C., & Mostowy, S. (2020). The Case for Modeling Human Infection in Zebrafish. *Trends in Microbiology*, 28(1), 10-18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2019.08.005</u>
- Gompel, N., Cubedo, N., Thisse, C., Thisse, B., Dambly-Chaudière, C., & Ghysen, A. (2001). Pattern formation in the lateral line of zebrafish. *Mechanisms of Development*, *105*(1), 69-77. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0925-4773(01)00382-3
- Gong, T., Liu, L., Jiang, W., & Zhou, R. (2020). DAMP-sensing receptors in sterile inflammation and inflammatory diseases. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 20(2), 95-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0215-7</u>
- Gorboulev, V., Ulzheimer, J. C., Akhoundova, A., Ulzheimer-Teuber, I., Karbach, U., Quester, S., Baumann, C., Lang, F., Busch, A. E., & Koepsell, H. (1997). Cloning and characterization of two human polyspecific organic cation transporters. *DNA and cell biology*, *16*(7), 871-881.

- Gradisar, H., Keber, M. M., Pristovsek, P., & Jerala, R. (2007). MD-2 as the target of curcumin in the inhibition of response to LPS. *J Leukoc Biol*, *82*(4), 968-974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1206727</u>
- Grunwald, D. J., & Streisinger, G. (1992). Induction of recessive lethal and specific locus mutations in the zebrafish with ethyl nitrosourea. *Genetics Research*, *59*(2), 103-116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S0016672300030317</u>
- Gu, X. (1998). Early Metazoan Divergence Was About 830 Million Years Ago. *Journal of molecular* evolution, 47(3), 369-371. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00013150</u>
- Guo, S., Al-Sadi, R., Said, H. M., & Ma, T. Y. (2013). Lipopolysaccharide Causes an Increase in Intestinal Tight Junction Permeability in Vitro and in Vivo by Inducing Enterocyte Membrane Expression and Localization of TLR-4 and CD14. *The American Journal of Pathology*, *182*(2), 375-387. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.10.014</u>
- Guthrie, O. n. W., & Spankovich, C. (2023). Emerging and established therapies for chemotherapyinduced ototoxicity. *Journal of Cancer Survivorship*, *17*(1), 17-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11764-022-01317-6</u>
- Gutierrez, A., Snyder, E. L., Marino-Enriquez, A., Zhang, Y.-X., Sioletic, S., Kozakewich, E., Grebliunaite, R., Ou, W.-b., Sicinska, E., & Raut, C. P. (2011). Aberrant AKT activation drives well-differentiated liposarcoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108*(39), 16386-16391.
- Ha, S. S., Rubaina, K., Lee, C.-S., John, V., & Seetharamu, N. (2021). Amifostine is a Nephro-Protectant in Patients Receiving Treatment with Cisplatin-Myth, Mystery or Matter-of-Fact? *Journal of Nephrology and Dialysis Medicine*, *3*(1).
- Habib, S. A., Suddek, G. M., Abdel Rahim, M., & Abdelrahman, R. S. (2021). The protective effect of protocatechuic acid on hepatotoxicity induced by cisplatin in mice. *Life Sciences*, 277, 119485. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2021.119485</u>
- Habotta, O. A., Wang, X., Othman, H., Aljali, A. A., Gewaily, M., Dawood, M., Khafaga, A., Zaineldin, A. I., Singla, R. K., Shen, B., Ghamry, H. I., Elhussieny, E., El-Mleeh, A., Ibrahim, S. F., & Abdeen, A. (2022). Selenium-enriched yeast modulates the metal bioaccumulation, oxidant status, and inflammation in copper-stressed broiler chickens [Original Research]. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *13*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2022.1026199</u>
- Hagenbuch, B., & Meier, P. J. (2003). The superfamily of organic anion transporting polypeptides. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes, 1609(1), 1-18. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0005-2736(02)00633-8</u>
- Hagleitner, M. M., Coenen, M. J. H., Patino-Garcia, A., de Bont, E. S. J. M., Gonzalez-Neira, A., Vos, H. I., van Leeuwen, F. N., Gelderblom, H., Hoogerbrugge, P. M., Guchelaar, H.-J., & te Loo, M. W. M. (2015). Influence of Genetic Variants in TPMT and COMT Associated with Cisplatin Induced Hearing Loss in Patients with Cancer: Two New Cohorts and a Meta-Analysis Reveal Significant Heterogeneity between Cohorts. *PLoS ONE*, *9*(12), e115869. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115869
- Hall, B. G. (2013). Building Phylogenetic Trees from Molecular Data with MEGA. *Molecular Biology and Evolution, 30*(5), 1229-1235. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mst012</u>
- Han, B. W., Herrin, B. R., Cooper, M. D., & Wilson, I. A. (2008). Antigen recognition by variable lymphocyte receptors. *Science*, *321*(5897), 1834-1837. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1162484</u>
- Han, E., Ho Oh, K., Park, S., Chan Rah, Y., Park, H.-C., Koun, S., & Choi, J. (2020). Analysis of behavioral changes in zebrafish (Danio rerio) larvae caused by aminoglycoside-induced damage to the lateral line and muscles. *NeuroToxicology*, *78*, 134-142. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2020.03.005
- Hardy, K., Amariutei, A. E., De Faveri, F., Hendry, A., Marcotti, W., & Ceriani, F. (2021). Functional development and regeneration of hair cells in the zebrafish lateral line. *The Journal of Physiology*, 599(16), 3913-3936. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1113/JP281522</u>
- Harned, T. M., Kalous, O., Neuwelt, A., Loera, J., Ji, L., Iovine, P., Sposto, R., Neuwelt, E. A., & Reynolds, C. P. (2008). Sodium Thiosulfate Administered Six Hours after Cisplatin Does Not Compromise Antineuroblastoma Activity. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *14*(2), 533-540. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-06-2289
- Harris, J. A., Cheng, A. G., Cunningham, L. L., MacDonald, G., Raible, D. W., & Rubel, E. W. (2003). Neomycin-Induced Hair Cell Death and Rapid Regeneration in the Lateral Line of Zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 4(2), 219-234. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-002-3022-x
- Hason, M., & Bartůněk, P. (2019). Zebrafish Models of Cancer—New Insights on Modeling Human Cancer in a Non-Mammalian Vertebrate. *Genes*, *10*(11), 935. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2073-4425/10/11/935</u>
- Hatinguais, R., Willment, J. A., & Brown, G. D. (2020). PAMPs of the Fungal Cell Wall and Mammalian PRRs. In (pp. 187-223). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/82\_2020\_201</u>
- He, W.-t., Wan, H., Hu, L., Chen, P., Wang, X., Huang, Z., Yang, Z.-H., Zhong, C.-Q., & Han, J. (2015). Gasdermin D is an executor of pyroptosis and required for interleukin-1β secretion. *Cell Research*, 25(12), 1285-1298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/cr.2015.139</u>
- He, Y., Li, S., Tang, D., Peng, Y., Meng, J., Peng, S., Deng, Z., Qiu, S., Liao, X., Chen, H., Tu, S., Tao, L., Peng, Z., & Yang, H. (2019). Circulating Peroxiredoxin-1 is a novel damage-associated molecular pattern and aggravates acute liver injury via promoting inflammation. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, 137, 24-36. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2019.04.012</u>
- Heine, H., & Zamyatina, A. (2022). Therapeutic Targeting of TLR4 for Inflammation, Infection, and Cancer: A Perspective for Disaccharide Lipid A Mimetics. *Pharmaceuticals (Basel)*, 16(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ph16010023</u>
- Heine, H., & Zamyatina, A. (2023). Therapeutic Targeting of TLR4 for Inflammation, Infection, and Cancer: A Perspective for Disaccharide Lipid A Mimetics. *Pharmaceuticals*, 16(1), 23. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1424-8247/16/1/23</u>
- Henry, D. H., Brooks, B. J., Case, D. C., Fishkin, E., Jacobson, R., Keller, A. M., Kugler, J., Moore, J., Silver, R. T., Storniolo, A. M., Abels, R. I., Gordon, D. S., Nelson, R., Larholt, K., Bryant, E., & Rudnick, S. (1995). Recombinant human erythropoietin therapy for anemic cancer patients receiving cisplatin chemotherapy. *The cancer journal from Scientific American*, 1(4), 252-260. http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/9166485
- Henshall, T. L., Tucker, B., Lumsden, A. L., Nornes, S., Lardelli, M. T., & Richards, R. I. (2009). Selective neuronal requirement for huntingtin in the developing zebrafish. *Human Molecular Genetics*, 18(24), 4830-4842. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddp455</u>
- Herbomel, P., Thisse, B., & Thisse, C. (1999). Ontogeny and behaviour of early macrophages in the zebrafish embryo. *Development*, *126*(17), 3735-3745. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.126.17.3735</u>
- Hernandez, M. X., Jiang, S., Cole, T. A., Chu, S.-H., Fonseca, M. I., Fang, M. J., Hohsfield, L. A., Torres, M. D., Green, K. N., Wetsel, R. A., Mortazavi, A., & Tenner, A. J. (2017). Prevention of C5aR1 signaling delays microglial inflammatory polarization, favors clearance pathways and suppresses cognitive loss. *Molecular Neurodegeneration*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13024-017-0210-z
- Higgs, D. M., Rollo, A. K., Souza, M. J., & Popper, A. N. (2003). Development of form and function in peripheral auditory structures of the zebrafish (Danio rerio). *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 113(2), 1145-1154.
- Highley, M. S., Landuyt, B., Prenen, H., Harper, P. G., & De Bruijn, E. A. (2022). The Nitrogen Mustards. *Pharmacol Rev*, 74(3), 552-599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/pharmrev.120.000121</u>
- Holzer, A. K., Manorek, G. H., & Howell, S. B. (2006). Contribution of the major copper influx transporter CTR1 to the cellular accumulation of cisplatin, carboplatin, and oxaliplatin. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *70*(4), 1390-1394.

- Hoshijima, K., Jurynec, M. J., Klatt Shaw, D., Jacobi, A. M., Behlke, M. A., & Grunwald, D. J. (2019). Highly Efficient CRISPR-Cas9-Based Methods for Generating Deletion Mutations and F0 Embryos that Lack Gene Function in Zebrafish. *Dev Cell*, *51*(5), 645-657 e644. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2019.10.004
- Howe, K., Clark, M. D., Torroja, C. F., Torrance, J., Berthelot, C., Muffato, M., Collins, J. E., Humphray, S., McLaren, K., Matthews, L., McLaren, S., Sealy, I., Caccamo, M., Churcher, C., Scott, C., Barrett, J. C., Koch, R., Rauch, G. J., White, S., . . . Stemple, D. L. (2013). The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. *Nature*, 496(7446), 498-503. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12111</u>
- Hsu, E., Pulham, N., Rumfelt, L. L., & Flajnik, M. F. (2006). The plasticity of immunoglobulin gene systems in evolution. *Immunological Reviews*, *210*(1), 8-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00366.x</u>
- Hu, S., Leblanc, A., Gibson, A., Hong, K., Kim, J., Janke, L., Li, L., Vasilyeva, A., Finkelstein, D., Sprowl, J., Sweet, D., Schlatter, E., Ciarimboli, G., Schellens, J., Baker, S., Pabla, N., & Sparreboom, A. (2017). Identification of OAT1/OAT3 as Contributors to Cisplatin Toxicity. *Clinical and Translational Science*, 10(5), 412-420. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cts.12480</u>
- Huang, H., Fletcher, A., Niu, Y., Wang, T. T. Y., & Yu, L. (2012). Characterization of lipopolysaccharidestimulated cytokine expression in macrophages and monocytes. *Inflammation Research*, 61(12), 1329-1338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00011-012-0533-8</u>
- Huang, L., Xu, H., & Peng, G. (2018). TLR-mediated metabolic reprogramming in the tumor microenvironment: potential novel strategies for cancer immunotherapy. *Cellular & molecular immunology*, 15(5), 428-437.
- Huang, R. S., Kistner, E. O., Bleibel, W. K., Shukla, S. J., & Dolan, M. E. (2007). Effect of population and gender on chemotherapeutic agent–induced cytotoxicity. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 6(1), 31-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.Mct-06-0591</u>
- Huang, T., Cheng, A. G., Stupak, H., Liu, W., Kim, A., Staecker, H., Lefebvre, P. P., Malgrange, B., Kopke, R., Moonen, G., & Van De Water, T. R. (2000). Oxidative stress-induced apoptosis of cochlear sensory cells: otoprotective strategies. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience*, 18(2), 259-270. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0736-5748(99)00094-5</u>
- Hughes, A. L., & Piontkivska, H. (2008). Functional diversification of the toll-like receptor gene family. Immunogenetics, 60(5), 249-256. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-008-0283-5</u>
- Iliev, D. B., Roach, J. C., Mackenzie, S., Planas, J. V., & Goetz, F. W. (2005). Endotoxin recognition: In fish or not in fish? *FEBS Letters*, 579(29), 6519-6528. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2005.10.061</u>
- Inoue, M., Tanimoto, M., & Oda, Y. (2013). The role of ear stone size in hair cell acoustic sensory transduction. *Scientific Reports*, *3*(1), 2114.
- İşeri, S., Ercan, F., Gedik, N., Yüksel, M., & Alican, İ. (2007). Simvastatin attenuates cisplatin-induced kidney and liver damage in rats. *Toxicology*, *230*(2), 256-264. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2006.11.073
- Ishii, A., Kawasaki, M., Matsumoto, M., Tochinai, S., & Seya, T. (2007). Phylogenetic and expression analysis of amphibian Xenopus Toll-like receptors. *Immunogenetics*, *59*(4), 281-293. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-007-0193-y</u>
- Ishikawa, T., & Ali-Osman, F. (1993). Glutathione-associated cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (II) metabolism and ATP-dependent efflux from leukemia cells. Molecular characterization of glutathione-platinum complex and its biological significance. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(27), 20116-20125.

- Ivanova, S. (2022). Comparative assessment of clinical trials, indications, pharmacokinetic parameters and side effects of approved platinum drugs. *Pharmacia*, 69(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.3897/pharmacia.69.e78813</u>
- Jao, L.-E., Wente, S. R., & Chen, W. (2013). Efficient multiplex biallelic zebrafish genome editing using a CRISPR nuclease system. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(34), 13904-13909. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.1308335110</u>
- Jault, C., Pichon, L., & Chluba, J. (2004). Toll-like receptor gene family and TIR-domain adapters in Danio rerio. *Molecular Immunology*, 40(11), 759-771. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2003.10.001</u>
- Jayawardena, U. A., Ratnasooriya, W. D., Wickramasinghe, D. D., & Udagama, P. V. (2016). Heavy metal mediated innate immune responses of the Indian green frog, Euphlyctis hexadactylus (Anura: Ranidae): Cellular profiles and associated Th1 skewed cytokine response. Science of The Total Environment, 566-567, 1194-1204.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.171

- Jensen, K. H. R., & Rekling, J. C. (2010). Development of a No-Wash Assay for Mitochondrial Membrane Potential Using the Styryl Dye DASPEI. *Journal of Biomolecular Screening*, *15*(9), 1071-1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1087057110376834</u>
- Jia, D., Zhang, R., Shao, J., Zhang, W., Cai, L., & Sun, W. (2022). Exposure to trace levels of metals and fluoroquinolones increases inflammation and tumorigenesis risk of zebrafish embryos. *Environmental Science and Ecotechnology*, *10*, 100162. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ese.2022.100162
- Jin, L., Chun, J., Pan, C., Li, D., Lin, R., Alesi, G. N., Wang, X., Kang, H.-B., Song, L., Wang, D., Zhang, G., Fan, J., Boggon, T. J., Zhou, L., Kowalski, J., Qu, C.-K., Steuer, C. E., Chen, G. Z., Saba, N. F., . . . Kang, S. (2018). MAST1 Drives Cisplatin Resistance in Human Cancers by Rewiring cRaf-Independent MEK Activation. *Cancer Cell*, 34(2), 315-330.e317. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.06.012</u>
- JOHNSTONE, T. C., PARK, G. Y., & LIPPARD, S. J. (2014). Understanding and Improving Platinum Anticancer Drugs – Phenanthriplatin. *Anticancer Research*, *34*(1), 471-476. <u>https://ar.iiarjournals.org/content/anticanres/34/1/471.full.pdf</u>
- Jones, D. T., Taylor, W. R., & Thornton, J. M. (1992). The rapid generation of mutation data matrices from protein sequences. *Bioinformatics*, 8(3), 275-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/8.3.275</u>
- Jude, B. A., Pobezinskaya, Y., Bishop, J., Parke, S., Medzhitov, R. M., Chervonsky, A. V., & Golovkina, T. V. (2003). Subversion of the innate immune system by a retrovirus. *Nature Immunology*, 4(6), 573-578. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni926</u>
- Juhn, S., Rybak, L., & Prado, S. (1981). Nature of blood-labyrinth barrier in experimental conditions. Annals of Otology, Rhinology & Laryngology, 90(2), 135-141.
- Juśkiewicz, W., & Gierszewski, P. (2022). Toxic metal pollution of aquatic ecosystems of European Union nature protection areas in a region of intensive agriculture (Lake Gopło, Poland). *Aquatic Sciences*, 84(4), 52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00027-022-00884-1</u>
- Kagan, J. C., Magupalli, V. G., & Wu, H. (2014). SMOCs: supramolecular organizing centres that control innate immunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 14(12), 821-826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3757</u>
- Kagan, J. C., Su, T., Horng, T., Chow, A., Akira, S., & Medzhitov, R. (2008). TRAM couples endocytosis of Toll-like receptor 4 to the induction of interferon-β. *Nature Immunology*, 9(4), 361-368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1569</u>

- Kaina, B., & Christmann, M. (2019). DNA repair in personalized brain cancer therapy with temozolomide and nitrosoureas. DNA Repair, 78, 128-141. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2019.04.007</u>
- Kang, J. Y., & Lee, J. O. (2011). Structural biology of the Toll-like receptor family. *Annu Rev Biochem*, *80*, 917-941. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-052909-141507</u>
- Karasawa, T., & Steyger, P. S. (2015). An integrated view of cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity and ototoxicity. *Toxicology Letters*, 237(3), 219-227. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2015.06.012</u>
- Kashifa Fathima, J., Lavanya, V., Jamal, S., & Ahmed, N. (2022). The Effectiveness of Various Chemotherapeutic Agents in Cancer Treatment. *Current Pharmacology Reports*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40495-022-00289-6</u>
- Katsnelson, A. (2010). Nickel allergy tracked to a single receptor. *Nature*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/news.2010.407</u>
- Kaur, B. P., & Secord, E. (2019). Innate immunity. *Pediatric Clinics*, 66(5), 905-911.
- Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2007). Signaling to NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptors. *Trends Mol Med*, *13*(11), 460-469. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2007.09.002</u>
- Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2010). The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. *Nature Immunology*, *11*(5), 373-384. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1863</u>
- Kawasaki, T., & Kawai, T. (2014). Toll-like receptor signaling pathways. *Front Immunol*, *5*, 461. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00461</u>
- Kim, C.-H., Kang, S. U., Pyun, J., Lee, M. H., Hwang, H. S., & Lee, H. (2008). Epicatechin protects auditory cells against cisplatin-induced death. *Apoptosis*, 13(9), 1184-1194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-008-0242-5</u>
- Kim, H. M., Park, B. S., Kim, J. I., Kim, S. E., Lee, J., Oh, S. C., Enkhbayar, P., Matsushima, N., Lee, H., Yoo, O. J., & Lee, J. O. (2007). Crystal structure of the TLR4-MD-2 complex with bound endotoxin antagonist Eritoran. *Cell*, 130(5), 906-917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2007.08.002</u>
- Kindt, K. S., Finch, G., & Nicolson, T. (2012). Kinocilia mediate mechanosensitivity in developing zebrafish hair cells. *Dev Cell*, 23(2), 329-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.05.022</u>
- Kinkel, M. D., Eames, S. C., Philipson, L. H., & Prince, V. E. (2010). Intraperitoneal injection into adult zebrafish. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*(42), e2126.
- Kirkim, G., Olgun, Y., Aktas, S., Kiray, M., Kolatan, E., Altun, Z., Erçetin, P., Bagriyanik, A., Yilmaz, O., & Ellidokuz, H. (2015). Is there a gender-related susceptibility for cisplatin ototoxicity? *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 272(10), 2755-2763. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-014-3283-0</u>
- Knight, K. R., Kraemer, D. F., & Neuwelt, E. A. (2005). Ototoxicity in children receiving platinum chemotherapy: underestimating a commonly occurring toxicity that may influence academic and social development. *J Clin Oncol*, *23*(34), 8588-8596. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2004.00.5355
- Koblansky, A. A., Jankovic, D., Oh, H., Hieny, S., Sungnak, W., Mathur, R., Hayden, M. S., Akira, S., Sher, A., & Ghosh, S. (2013). Recognition of profilin by Toll-like receptor 12 is critical for host resistance to Toxoplasma gondii. *Immunity*, *38*(1), 119-130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2012.09.016</u>
- Kodama, I., Kamiya, K., & Toyama, J. (1997). Cellular electropharmacology of amiodarone. Cardiovascular Research, 35(1), 13-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0008-6363(97)00114-4</u>
- Konrad-Martin, D., Helt, W. J., Reavis, K. M., Gordon, J. S., Coleman, L. L., Bratt, G. W., & Fausti, S. A. (2005). Ototoxicity: Early Detection and Monitoring. ASHA Leader, 10(7), 1-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/leader.ftr1.10072005.1</u>

- Kordon, A. O., Karsi, A., & Pinchuk, L. (2018). Innate immune responses in fish: antigen presenting cells and professional phagocytes. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, *18*(9), 1123-1139.
- Kornilov, F. D., Shabalkina, A. V., Lin, C., Volynsky, P. E., Kot, E. F., Kayushin, A. L., Lushpa, V. A., Goncharuk, M. V., Arseniev, A. S., Goncharuk, S. A., Wang, X., & Mineev, K. S. (2023). The architecture of transmembrane and cytoplasmic juxtamembrane regions of Toll-like receptors. *Nature Communications*, 14(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-023-37042-6</u>
- Koudijs, M. J., den Broeder, M. J., Keijser, A., Wienholds, E., Houwing, S., van Rooijen, E. M. H. C., Geisler, R., & van Eeden, F. J. M. (2005). The Zebrafish Mutants dre, uki, and lep Encode Negative Regulators of the Hedgehog Signaling Pathway. *PLOS Genetics*, 1(2), e19.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0010019">https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.0010019</a>
- Kozlowski, H., Potocki, S., Remelli, M., Rowinska-Zyrek, M., & Valensin, D. (2013). Specific metal ion binding sites in unstructured regions of proteins. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 257(19), 2625-2638. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.01.024</u>
- Krishnegowda, G., Hajjar, A. M., Zhu, J., Douglass, E. J., Uematsu, S., Akira, S., Woods, A. S., & Gowda, D. C. (2005). Induction of proinflammatory responses in macrophages by the glycosylphosphatidylinositols of Plasmodium falciparum: cell signaling receptors, glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) structural requirement, and regulation of GPI activity. *J Biol Chem*, 280(9), 8606-8616. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M413541200
- Kroll, F., Powell, G. T., Ghosh, M., Gestri, G., Antinucci, P., Hearn, T. J., Tunbak, H., Lim, S., Dennis, H. W., Fernandez, J. M., Whitmore, D., Dreosti, E., Wilson, S. W., Hoffman, E. J., & Rihel, J. (2021). A simple and effective F0 knockout method for rapid screening of behaviour and other complex phenotypes. *eLife*, *10*, e59683. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.59683</u>
- Kuo, Y.-M., Gybina, A. A., Pyatskowit, J. W., Gitschier, J., & Prohaska, J. R. (2006). Copper Transport Protein (Ctr1) Levels in Mice Are Tissue Specific and Dependent on Copper Status. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 136(1), 21-26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.1.21</u>
- Kurt-Jones, E. A., Popova, L., Kwinn, L., Haynes, L. M., Jones, L. P., Tripp, R. A., Walsh, E. E., Freeman, M. W., Golenbock, D. T., Anderson, L. J., & Finberg, R. W. (2000). Pattern recognition receptors TLR4 and CD14 mediate response to respiratory syncytial virus. *Nature Immunology*, 1(5), 398-401. https://doi.org/10.1038/80833
- Kusiak, A., & Brady, G. (2022). Bifurcation of signalling in human innate immune pathways to NF-kB and IRF family activation. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 205, 115246. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115246
- Kutuzova, G. D., Albrecht, R. M., Erickson, C. M., & Qureshi, N. (2001). Diphosphoryl Lipid A from Rhodobacter sphaeroides Blocks the Binding and Internalization of Lipopolysaccharide in RAW 264.7 Cells1. *The Journal of Immunology*, *167*(1), 482-489. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.167.1.482</u>
- Kuzmich, N. N., Sivak, K. V., Chubarev, V. N., Porozov, Y. B., Savateeva-Lyubimova, T. N., & Peri, F. (2017).
  TLR4 Signaling Pathway Modulators as Potential Therapeutics in Inflammation and Sepsis.
  Vaccines, 5(4), 34. <a href="https://www.mdpi.com/2076-393X/5/4/34">https://www.mdpi.com/2076-393X/5/4/34</a>
- Kwiatkowska, I., Hermanowicz, J. M., Iwinska, Z., Kowalczuk, K., Iwanowska, J., & Pawlak, D. (2022). Zebrafish—An Optimal Model in Experimental Oncology. *Molecules*, *27*(13), 4223. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1420-3049/27/13/4223</u>
- Ladich, F., & Schulz-Mirbach, T. (2016). Diversity in Fish Auditory Systems: One of the Riddles of Sensory Biology [Review]. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 4*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2016.00028</u>
- Lagoumintzis, G., Xaplanteri, P., Dimitracopoulos, G., & Paliogianni, F. (2008). TNF-alpha induction by Pseudomonas aeruginosa lipopolysaccharide or slime-glycolipoprotein in human monocytes is

regulated at the level of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase activity: a distinct role of Toll-like receptor 2 and 4. *Scand J Immunol*, *67*(2), 193-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3083.2007.02053.x</u>

- Lai, C. Y., Strange, D. P., Wong, T. A. S., Lehrer, A. T., & Verma, S. (2017). Ebola Virus Glycoprotein Induces an Innate Immune Response In vivo via TLR4. *Front Microbiol*, *8*, 1571. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.01571</u>
- Lajer, H., Kristensen, M., Hansen, H., Nielsen, S., Frøkiaer, J., Østergaard, L. F., Christensen, S., Daugaard, G., & Jonassen, T. (2005). Magnesium depletion enhances cisplatin-induced nephrotoxicity.
  *Cancer chemotherapy and pharmacology*, *56*, 535-542.
- Lam, P.-y., Harvie, E. A., & Huttenlocher, A. (2013). Heat Shock Modulates Neutrophil Motility in Zebrafish. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(12), e84436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0084436</u>
- Lam, S. H., Chua, H. L., Gong, Z., Lam, T. J., & Sin, Y. M. (2004). Development and maturation of the immune system in zebrafish, Danio rerio: a gene expression profiling, in situ hybridization and immunological study. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 28(1), 9-28. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0145-305X(03)00103-4</u>
- Lam, S. H., Wu, Y. L., Vega, V. B., Miller, L. D., Spitsbergen, J., Tong, Y., Zhan, H., Govindarajan, K. R., Lee, S., Mathavan, S., Krishna Murthy, K. R., Buhler, D. R., Liu, E. T., & Gong, Z. (2006). Conservation of gene expression signatures between zebrafish and human liver tumors and tumor progression. *Nature Biotechnology*, 24(1), 73-75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt1169</u>
- Lara, R. A., Breitzler, L., Lau, I. H., Gordillo-Martinez, F., Chen, F., Fonseca, P. J., Bass, A. H., & Vasconcelos, R. O. (2022). Noise-induced hearing loss correlates with inner ear hair cell decrease in larval zebrafish. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 225(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.243743</u>
- Le Guyader, D., Redd, M. J., Colucci-Guyon, E., Murayama, E., Kissa, K., Briolat, V., Mordelet, E., Zapata, A., Shinomiya, H., & Herbomel, P. (2008). Origins and unconventional behavior of neutrophils in developing zebrafish. *Blood*, 111(1), 132-141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/blood-2007-06-095398</u>
- Lee, D. S., Schrader, A., Bell, E., Warchol, M. E., & Sheets, L. (2022). Evaluation of Cisplatin-Induced Pathology in the Larval Zebrafish Lateral Line. *Int J Mol Sci*, *23*(22). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms232214302
- Lee, J. E., Nakagawa, T., Kim, T. S., Endo, T., Shiga, A., Iguchi, F., Lee, S. H., & Ito, J. (2004). Role of reactive radicals in degeneration of the auditory system of mice following cisplatin treatment. *Acta oto-laryngologica*, 124(10), 1131-1135.
- Lee, K.-Y., Liu, M.-H., Hsiao, M.-Y., Peng, H.-K., Chiung-Wen, W., Wu, E. S., & Chiu, P. J. (2020). Sulfonamide or amide compounds, compositions and methods for the prophylaxis and/or treatment of autoimmune, inflammation or infection related disorders. In: Google Patents.
- Lehmann, F., & Wennerberg, J. (2021). Evolution of Nitrogen-Based Alkylating Anticancer Agents. *Processes*, 9(2), 377. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pr9020377</u>
- Leitao, D. J., & Blakley, B. W. (2003). Quantification of sodium thiosulphate protection on cisplatininduced toxicities. *Journal of otolaryngology*, *32*(3).
- Lemaitre, B., Nicolas, E., Michaut, L., Reichhart, J.-M., & Hoffmann, J. A. (1996). The Dorsoventral Regulatory Gene Cassette spätzle/Toll/cactus Controls the Potent Antifungal Response in Drosophila Adults. *Cell, 86*(6), 973-983. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80172-5</u>
- Lessman, C. A. (2011). The developing zebrafish (Danio rerio): A vertebrate model for high-throughput screening of chemical libraries. *Birth Defects Research Part C: Embryo Today: Reviews*, 93(3), 268-280. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/bdrc.20212</u>
- Letrado, P., de Miguel, I., Lamberto, I., Díez-Martínez, R., & Oyarzabal, J. (2018). Zebrafish: Speeding Up the Cancer Drug Discovery Process. *Cancer Research*, *78*(21), 6048-6058. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-18-1029</u>

- Li, D., Li, Z., Qiu, C., Peng, B., Zhang, Y., Sun, H., & Wang, S. (2021). 2-Amino-3-methylimidazo[4,5f]quinoline induced oxidative stress and inflammation via TLR4/MAPK and TLR4/NF-κB signaling pathway in zebrafish (Danio rerio) livers. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *157*, 112583. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2021.112583</u>
- Li, D., & Wu, M. (2021). Pattern recognition receptors in health and diseases. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 6(1), 291. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00687-0</u>
- Li, J., Wang, W., Yuan, Y., Cui, X., Bian, H., Wen, H., Zhang, X., Yu, H., & Wu, H. (2023). Pinellia ternata lectin induces inflammation through TLR4 receptor and mediates PI3K/Akt/mTOR axis to regulate NF-κB signaling pathway. *Toxicology*, *486*, 153430. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2023.153430
- Li, P., & Chang, M. (2021). Roles of PRR-Mediated Signaling Pathways in the Regulation of Oxidative Stress and Inflammatory Diseases. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 22(14), 7688. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22147688</u>
- Li, Y., Li, Y., Cao, X., Jin, X., & Jin, T. (2017). Pattern recognition receptors in zebrafish provide functional and evolutionary insight into innate immune signaling pathways. *Cellular & amp; Molecular Immunology*, 14(1), 80-89. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/cmi.2016.50</u>
- Li, Y., Zhang, T., Song, Q., Gao, D., Li, Y., Jie, H., Huang, P., Zheng, G., Yang, J., & He, J. (2023). Cisplatin ototoxicity mechanism and antagonistic intervention strategy: a scope review [Review]. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, *17*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2023.1197051</u>
- Liao, Z., & Su, J. (2021). Progresses on three pattern recognition receptor families (TLRs, RLRs and NLRs) in teleost. *Dev Comp Immunol*, *122*, 104131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2021.104131</u>
- Lin, B., Chen, S., Cao, Z., Lin, Y., Mo, D., Zhang, H., Gu, J., Dong, M., Liu, Z., & Xu, A. (2007). Acute phase response in zebrafish upon Aeromonas salmonicida and Staphylococcus aureus infection: Striking similarities and obvious differences with mammals. *Molecular Immunology*, 44(4), 295-301. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2006.03.001</u>
- Lin, S.-C., Lo, Y.-C., & Wu, H. (2010). Helical assembly in the MyD88–IRAK4–IRAK2 complex in TLR/IL-1R signalling. *Nature*, 465(7300), 885-890. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09121</u>
- Lin, X., & Howell, S. B. (2006). DNA mismatch repair and p53 function are major determinants of the rate of development of cisplatin resistance. *Molecular Cancer Therapeutics*, 5(5), 1239-1247. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.Mct-05-0491</u>
- Liu, G.-p., Xiang, L.-x., Shao, T., Lin, A.-f., & Shao, J.-z. (2018). Stimulatory function of peroxiredoxin 1 in activating adaptive humoral immunity in a zebrafish model. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *84*, 353-360. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2018.03.004</u>
- Liu, G., Zhang, H., Zhao, C., & Zhang, H. (2020). Evolutionary History of the Toll-Like Receptor Gene Family across Vertebrates. *Genome Biol Evol*, *12*(1), 3615-3634. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/gbe/evz266</u>
- Liu, H., Li, Y., Chen, L., Zhang, Q., Pan, N., Nichols, D. H., Zhang, W. J., Fritzsch, B., & He, D. Z. Z. (2016). Organ of Corti and Stria Vascularis: Is there an Interdependence for Survival? *PLoS ONE*, 11(12), e0168953. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0168953</u>
- Liu, X., Lin, J., Zhang, Y., Guo, N., & Li, Q. (2018). Sound shock response in larval zebrafish: A convenient and high-throughput assessment of auditory function. *Neurotoxicology and Teratology*, *66*, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ntt.2018.01.003</u>
- Liu, Y., Li, M., Fan, S., Lin, Y., Lin, B., Luo, F., Zhang, C., Chen, S., Li, Y., & Xu, A. (2010). A Unique Feature of Toll/IL-1 Receptor Domain-Containing Adaptor Protein Is Partially Responsible for Lipopolysaccharide Insensitivity in Zebrafish with a Highly Conserved Function of Myd88. *The Journal of Immunology*, 185(6), 3391-3400. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0903147</u>

- Loes, A. N., Hinman, M. N., Farnsworth, D. R., Miller, A. C., Guillemin, K., & Harms, M. J. (2021). Identification and Characterization of Zebrafish TIr4 Coreceptor Md-2. *J Immunol*, 206(5), 1046-1057. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1901288</u>
- Lothstein, K. E., & Gause, W. C. (2021). Mining Helminths for Novel Therapeutics. *Trends Mol Med*, 27(4), 345-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molmed.2020.12.010</u>
- Lu, F., Leach, L. L., & Gross, J. M. (2023). A CRISPR-Cas9-mediated F0 screen to identify pro-regenerative genes in the zebrafish retinal pigment epithelium. *Scientific Reports*, *13*(1), 3142. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-023-29046-5
- Lu, X., Deng, T., Dong, H., Han, J., Yu, Y., Xiang, D., Nie, G., & Hu, B. (2022). Novel Application of Eupatilin for Effectively Attenuating Cisplatin-Induced Auditory Hair Cell Death via Mitochondrial Apoptosis Pathway. Oxidative Medicine and Cellular Longevity, 2022, 1090034. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/1090034</u>
- Lu, Y. C., Yeh, W. C., & Ohashi, P. S. (2008). LPS/TLR4 signal transduction pathway. *Cytokine*, 42(2), 145-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2008.01.006</u>
- Lu, Z., & DeSmidt, A. A. (2013). Early Development of Hearing in Zebrafish. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, 14(4), 509-521. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10162-013-0386-z</u>
- Lugo-Villarino, G., Balla, K. M., Stachura, D. L., Bañuelos, K., Werneck, M. B. F., & Traver, D. (2010). Identification of dendritic antigen-presenting cells in the zebrafish. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *107*(36), 15850-15855. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.1000494107</u>
- Luo, L., Lucas, R. M., Liu, L., & Stow, J. L. (2020). Signalling, sorting and scaffolding adaptors for Toll-like receptors. *Journal of Cell Science*, 133(5), jcs239194. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.239194</u>
- Luo, L., Wall, A. A., Tong, S. J., Hung, Y., Xiao, Z., Tarique, A. A., Sly, P. D., Fantino, E., Marzolo, M.-P., & Stow, J. L. (2018). TLR Crosstalk Activates LRP1 to Recruit Rab8a and PI3Kγ for Suppression of Inflammatory Responses. *Cell Reports*, 24(11), 3033-3044. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.08.028</u>
- Ma, E. Y., & Raible, D. W. (2009). Signaling Pathways Regulating Zebrafish Lateral Line Development. *Current Biology*, 19(9), R381-R386. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2009.03.057</u>
- Macagno , A., Molteni , M., Rinaldi , A., Bertoni , F., Lanzavecchia , A., Rossetti , C., & Sallusto , F. (2006). A cyanobacterial LPS antagonist prevents endotoxin shock and blocks sustained TLR4 stimulation required for cytokine expression. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 203(6), 1481-1492. <u>https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20060136</u>
- MacKenzie, S. A., Roher, N., Boltaña, S., & Goetz, F. W. (2010). Peptidoglycan, not endotoxin, is the key mediator of cytokine gene expression induced in rainbow trout macrophages by crude LPS. *Molecular Immunology*, *47*(7-8), 1450-1457.
- MacRae, C. A., & Peterson, R. T. (2015). Zebrafish as tools for drug discovery. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 14(10), 721-731. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4627</u>
- Maizels, R. M., Smits, H. H., & McSorley, H. J. (2018). Modulation of Host Immunity by Helminths: The Expanding Repertoire of Parasite Effector Molecules. *Immunity*, *49*(5), 801-818. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2018.10.016
- Makovec, T. (2019). Cisplatin and beyond: molecular mechanisms of action and drug resistance development in cancer chemotherapy. *Radiology and Oncology*, *53*(2), 148-158. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.2478/raon-2019-0018</u>
- Maldonado-Bernal, C., Kirschning, C. J., Rosenstein, Y., Rocha, L. M., Rios-Sarabia, N., Espinosa-Cantellano, M., Becker, I., Estrada, I., Salazar-Gonzalez, R. M., Lopez-Macias, C., Wagner, H., Sanchez, J., & Isibasi, A. (2005). The innate immune response to Entamoeba histolytica lipopeptidophosphoglycan is mediated by toll-like receptors 2 and 4. *Parasite Immunol, 27*(4), 127-137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3024.2005.00754.x</u>

- Malgorzata-Miller, G., Heinbockel, L., Brandenburg, K., van der Meer, J. W. M., Netea, M. G., & Joosten, L. A. B. (2016). Bartonella quintana lipopolysaccharide (LPS): structure and characteristics of a potent TLR4 antagonist for in-vitro and in-vivo applications. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 34221. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34221
- Man, S. M., Karki, R., & Kanneganti, T. D. (2016). AIM2 inflammasome in infection, cancer, and autoimmunity: Role in DNA sensing, inflammation, and innate immunity. *European journal of immunology*, *46*(2), 269-280.
- Manavalan, B., Basith, S., & Choi, S. (2011). Similar Structures but Different Roles An Updated Perspective on TLR Structures. *Front Physiol*, *2*, 41. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2011.00041</u>
- Marchesi, F., Turriziani, M., Tortorelli, G., Avvisati, G., Torino, F., & De Vecchis, L. (2007). Triazene compounds: Mechanism of action and related DNA repair systems. *Pharmacological Research*, *56*(4), 275-287. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2007.08.003</u>
- Marques, M., Ferreira, A. R., & Ribeiro, D. (2018). The Interplay between Human Cytomegalovirus and Pathogen Recognition Receptor Signaling. *Viruses*, *10*(10). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/v10100514</u>
- Martinez-Navarro, F. J., Martinez-Morcillo, F. J., de Oliveira, S., Candel, S., Cabas, I., Garcia-Ayala, A., Martinez-Menchon, T., Corbalan-Velez, R., Mesa-Del-Castillo, P., Cayuela, M. L., Perez-Oliva, A. B., Garcia-Moreno, D., & Mulero, V. (2020). Hydrogen peroxide in neutrophil inflammation: Lesson from the zebrafish. *Dev Comp Immunol, 105*, 103583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2019.103583
- Marullo, R., Werner, E., Degtyareva, N., Moore, B., Altavilla, G., Ramalingam, S. S., & Doetsch, P. W. (2013). Cisplatin Induces a Mitochondrial-ROS Response That Contributes to Cytotoxicity Depending on Mitochondrial Redox Status and Bioenergetic Functions. *PLoS ONE*, 8(11), e81162. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0081162
- Masuda, H., Tanaka, T., & Takahama, U. (1994). Cisplatin generates superoxide anion by interaction with DNA in a cell-free system. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 203(2), 1175-1180.
- Masuda, Y., Inoue, M., Miyata, A., Mizuno, S., & Nanba, H. (2009). Maitake β-glucan enhances therapeutic effect and reduces myelosupression and nephrotoxicity of cisplatin in mice. *International Immunopharmacology*, *9*(5), 620-626. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2009.02.005
- Matsunaga, N., Tsuchimori, N., Matsumoto, T., & Ii, M. (2011). TAK-242 (Resatorvid), a Small-Molecule Inhibitor of Toll-Like Receptor (TLR) 4 Signaling, Binds Selectively to TLR4 and Interferes with Interactions between TLR4 and Its Adaptor Molecules. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *79*(1), 34-41. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.110.068064</u>
- Matsushima, N., Tanaka, T., Enkhbayar, P., Mikami, T., Taga, M., Yamada, K., & Kuroki, Y. (2007). Comparative sequence analysis of leucine-rich repeats (LRRs) within vertebrate toll-like receptors. *BMC Genomics*, 8(1), 124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-8-124</u>
- McCallum, C. M., Comai, L., Greene, E. A., & Henikoff, S. (2000). Targeting Induced LocalLesions IN Genomes (TILLING) for Plant Functional Genomics. *Plant Physiology*, *123*(2), 439-442. <u>https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.123.2.439</u>
- McCarroll, M. N., Gendelev, L., Keiser, M. J., & Kokel, D. (2016). Leveraging Large-scale Behavioral Profiling in Zebrafish to Explore Neuroactive Polypharmacology. *ACS Chemical Biology*, *11*(4), 842-849. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acschembio.5b00800</u>
- McConnell, A. M., Noonan, H. R., & Zon, L. I. (2021). Reeling in the Zebrafish Cancer Models. *Annual Review of Cancer Biology*, 5(1), 331-350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-051320-014135</u>
- McDonald, J. A. (2009). *Elucidating the activation properties of the Th2 PAMP, Lacto -N -fucopentaose III* (Publication Number 3365351) [Ph.D., Harvard University]. ProQuest Dissertations & Theses

Global. United States -- Massachusetts.

https://login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertationstheses/elucidating-activation-properties-th2-pamp-lacto/docview/304889882/se-2?accountid=14474

http://resolver.library.ualberta.ca/resolver?url\_ver=Z39.88-

2004&rft\_val\_fmt=info:ofi/fmt:kev:mtx:dissertation&genre=dissertations&sid=ProQ:ProQuest+ Dissertations+%26+Theses+Global&atitle=&title=Elucidating+the+activation+properties+of+the+ Th2+PAMP%2C+Lacto+-N+-fucopentaose+III&issn=&date=2009-01-01&volume=&issue=&spage=&au=McDonald%2C+lasmine+Alise&isbn=978\_1\_100\_25624

01&volume=&issue=&spage=&au=McDonald%2C+Jasmine+Alise&isbn=978-1-109-25634-5&jtitle=&btitle=&rft\_id=info:eric/&rft\_id=info:doi/

- McDonald, M. E., Mattson, J., & Hill, E. (2017). Profound sensorineural hearing loss after one cycle of intraperitoneal cisplatin in treatment of advanced ovarian cancer. *Gynecologic Oncology Reports*, *20*, 103-104.
- McHenry, M. J., Feitl, K. E., Strother, J. A., & Van Trump, W. J. (2009). Larval zebrafish rapidly sense the water flow of a predator's strike. *Biology Letters*, 5(4), 477-479. https://doi.org/doi:10.1098/rsbl.2009.0048
- McIsaac, S. M., Stadnyk, A. W., & Lin, T.-J. (2012). Toll-like receptors in the host defense against
  Pseudomonas aeruginosa respiratory infection and cystic fibrosis. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 92(5), 977-985. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0811410">https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0811410</a>
- McKee, H. K., Kajiwara, C., Yamaguchi, T., Ishii, Y., Shimizu, N., Ohara, A., & Tateda, K. (2021).
  Clostridioides difficile toxins enhanced the in vitro production of CXC chemokine ligand 2 and tumor necrosis factor-α via Toll-like receptors in macrophages. *Journal of Medical Microbiology*, 70(4). <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.001342">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1099/jmm.0.001342</a>
- McSweeney, K. R., Gadanec, L. K., Qaradakhi, T., Ali, B. A., Zulli, A., & Apostolopoulos, V. (2021). Mechanisms of Cisplatin-Induced Acute Kidney Injury: Pathological Mechanisms, Pharmacological Interventions, and Genetic Mitigations. *Cancers*, *13*(7), 1572. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers13071572</u>
- MedlinePlus. (2023, 2021 June 11). *What is epigenetics?* Bethesda (MD): National Library of Medicine (US). Retrieved June 21 from https://medlineplus.gov/genetics/understanding/howgeneswork/epigenome/#:~:text=Epigeneti

c%20changes%20are%20modifications%20to,sequence%20of%20DNA%20building%20blocks

- Medvedev, A. E., & Vogel, S. N. (2003). Overexpression of CD14, TLR4, and MD-2 in HEK 293T cells does not prevent induction of in vitro endotoxin tolerance. *Journal of endotoxin research*, *9*(1), 60-64.
- Medzhitov, R., Preston-Hurlburt, P., & Janeway, C. A. (1997). A human homologue of the Drosophila Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. *Nature*, *388*(6640), 394-397. https://doi.org/10.1038/41131
- Meijer, A. J. M., Li, K. H., Brooks, B., Clemens, E., Ross, C. J., Rassekh, S. R., Hoetink, A. E., Grotel, M., Heuvel-Eibrink, M. M., & Carleton, B. C. (2022). The cumulative incidence of cisplatin-induced hearing loss in young children is higher and develops at an early stage during therapy compared with older children based on 2052 audiological assessments. *Cancer*, 128(1), 169-179. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.33848</u>
- Messori, L., & Merlino, A. (2016). Cisplatin binding to proteins: A structural perspective. *Coordination Chemistry Reviews*, 315, 67-89. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2016.01.010</u>
- Minami, M., Endo, T., Hirafuji, M., Hamaue, N., Liu, Y., Hiroshige, T., Nemoto, M., Saito, H., & Yoshioka, M. (2003). Pharmacological aspects of anticancer drug-induced emesis with emphasis on serotonin release and vagal nerve activity. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 99(2), 149-165. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0163-7258(03)00057-3</u>

- Mineev, K. S., Goncharuk, S. A., Goncharuk, M. V., Volynsky, P. E., Novikova, E. V., & Aresinev, A. S. (2017). Spatial structure of TLR4 transmembrane domain in bicelles provides the insight into the receptor activation mechanism. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-</u> 07250-4
- Miscevic, F., Rotstein, O., & Wen, X.-Y. (2012). Advances in Zebrafish High Content and High Throughput Technologies. *Combinatorial Chemistry & High Throughput Screening*, *15*(7), 515-521. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/138620712801619140
- Moke, D. J., Luo, C., Millstein, J., Knight, K. R., Rassekh, S. R., Brooks, B., Ross, C. J. D., Wright, M., Mena, V., Rushing, T., Esbenshade, A. J., Carleton, B. C., & Orgel, E. (2021). Prevalence and risk factors for cisplatin-induced hearing loss in children, adolescents, and young adults: a multi-institutional North American cohort study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health*, 5(4), 274-283. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2352-4642(21)00020-1
- Mokhtar, D. M., Zaccone, G., Alesci, A., Kuciel, M., Hussein, M. T., & Sayed, R. K. (2023). Main components of fish immunity: An overview of the fish immune system. *Fishes*, 8(2), 93.
- Molteni, M., Bosi, A., & Rossetti, C. (2018). Natural Products with Toll-Like Receptor 4 Antagonist Activity. Int J Inflam, 2018, 2859135. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/2859135</u>
- Moorman, S. J. (2001). Development of Sensory Systems in Zebrafish (Donio rerio). *ILAR Journal*, 42(4), 292-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar.42.4.292</u>
- More, G. S., Thomas, A. B., Chitlange, S. S., Nanda, R. K., & Gajbhiye, R. L. (2019). Nitrogen Mustards as Alkylating Agents: A Review on Chemistry, Mechanism of Action and Current USFDA Status of Drugs. Anticancer Agents Med Chem, 19(9), 1080-1102. https://doi.org/10.2174/1871520619666190305141458
- Mukherjea, D., Jajoo, S., Whitworth, C., Bunch, J. R., Turner, J. G., Rybak, L. P., & Ramkumar, V. (2008). Short interfering RNA against transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 attenuates cisplatininduced hearing loss in the rat. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *28*(49), 13056-13065.
- Muldoon, L. L., Pagel, M. A., Kroll, R. A., Brummett, R. E., Doolittle, N. D., Zuhowski, E. G., Egorin, M. J., & Neuwelt, E. A. (2000). Delayed Administration of Sodium Thiosulfate in Animal Models Reduces Platinum Ototoxicity without Reduction of Antitumor Activity1. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *6*(1), 309-315.
- Mullins, M. C., Hammerschmidt, M., Haffter, P., & Nüsslein-Volhard, C. (1994). Large-scale mutagenesis in the zebrafish: in search of genes controlling development in a vertebrate. *Current Biology*, 4(3), 189-202. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(00)00048-8</u>
- Murphy, H. C. (1991). The use of whole animals versus isolated organs or cell culture in research.
- Musteata, F. M., & Pawliszyn, J. (2005). Study of Ligand–Receptor Binding Using SPME: Investigation of Receptor, Free, and Total Ligand Concentrations. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 4(3), 789-800. https://doi.org/10.1021/pr049768z
- *National Cancer Institute* (2023). Retrieved April 28, 2023 from <u>https://www.cancer.gov/about-</u> <u>cancer/treatment/types</u>
- National Cancer Institute. (2023). Retrieved May 14 from https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/cytokine-storm
- Neuwelt, E. A., Brummett, R. E., Remsen, L. G., Kroll, R. A., Pagel, M. A., McCormick, C. I., Guitjens, S., & Muldoon, L. L. (1996). In Vitro and Animal Studies of Sodium Thiosulfate as a Potential Chemoprotectant against Carboplatin-induced Ototoxicity1. *Cancer Research*, 56(4), 706-709.
- Newton, K. C., Kacev, D., Nilsson, S. R. O., Saettele, A. L., Golden, S. A., & Sheets, L. (2023). Lateral line ablation by ototoxic compounds results in distinct rheotaxis profiles in larval zebrafish. *Communications Biology*, 6(1), 84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s42003-023-04449-2</u>

- Nicoli, S., Ribatti, D., Cotelli, F., & Presta, M. (2007). Mammalian Tumor Xenografts Induce Neovascularization in Zebrafish Embryos. *Cancer Research*, *67*(7), 2927-2931. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-4268</u>
- Nicolson, T. (2005). The Genetics of Hearing and Balance in Zebrafish. *Annual Review of Genetics*, *39*(1), 9-22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.genet.39.073003.105049</u>
- Nie, L., Cai, S. Y., Shao, J. Z., & Chen, J. (2018). Toll-Like Receptors, Associated Biological Roles, and Signaling Networks in Non-Mammals. *Front Immunol*, *9*, 1523. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01523</u>
- Nieskens, T. T. G., Peters, J. G. P., Dabaghie, D., Korte, D., Jansen, K., Asbeck, A. H. V., Tavraz, N. N., Friedrich, T., Russel, F. G. M., Masereeuw, R., & Wilmer, M. J. (2018). Expression of Organic Anion Transporter 1 or 3 in Human Kidney Proximal Tubule Cells Reduces Cisplatin Sensitivity. Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 46(5), 592-599. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/dmd.117.079384</u>
- Niihori, M., Platto, T., Igarashi, S., Hurbon, A., Dunn, A. M., Tran, P., Tran, H., Mudery, J. A., Slepian, M. J., & Jacob, A. (2015). Zebrafish swimming behavior as a biomarker for ototoxicity-induced hair cell damage: a high-throughput drug development platform targeting hearing loss. *Translational Research*, 166(5), 440-450. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trsl.2015.05.002</u>
- Novoa, B., & Figueras, A. (2012). Zebrafish: model for the study of inflammation and the innate immune response to infectious diseases. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, *946*, 253-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-0106-3\_15</u>
- Nyberg, S., Abbott, N. J., Shi, X., Steyger, P. S., & Dabdoub, A. (2019). Delivery of therapeutics to the inner ear: The challenge of the blood-labyrinth barrier. *Science translational medicine*, *11*(482), eaao0935.
- O'Neill, L. A. J., & Bowie, A. G. (2007). The family of five: TIR-domain-containing adaptors in Toll-like receptor signalling. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 7(5), 353-364. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2079</u>
- Oblak, A., Pohar, J., & Jerala, R. (2015). MD-2 determinants of nickel and cobalt-mediated activation of human TLR4. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(3), e0120583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0120583</u>
- Ohno, S. (1970). Evolution by Gene Duplication. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi-org.login.ezproxy.library.ualberta.ca/10.1007/978-3-642-86659-3</u>
- Ohto, U., Fukase, K., Miyake, K., & Shimizu, T. (2012). Structural basis of species-specific endotoxin sensing by innate immune receptor TLR4/MD-2. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *109*(19), 7421-7426. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1201193109</u>
- Okumura, A., Pitha, P. M., Yoshimura, A., & Harty, R. N. (2010). Interaction between Ebola virus glycoprotein and host toll-like receptor 4 leads to induction of proinflammatory cytokines and SOCS1. *J Virol*, *84*(1), 27-33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01462-09</u>
- Oledzka, A. J., & Czerwinska, M. E. (2023). Role of Plant-Derived Compounds in the Molecular Pathways Related to Inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci*, *24*(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24054666</u>
- Olejnik, J., Hume, A. J., & Muhlberger, E. (2018). Toll-like receptor 4 in acute viral infection: Too much of a good thing. *PLoS Pathog*, *14*(12), e1007390. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1007390</u>
- Oliveira, A. C., Peixoto, J. R., de Arruda, L. B., Campos, M. A., Gazzinelli, R. T., Golenbock, D. T., Akira, S., Previato, J. O., Mendonca-Previato, L., Nobrega, A., & Bellio, M. (2004). Expression of functional TLR4 confers proinflammatory responsiveness to Trypanosoma cruzi glycoinositolphospholipids and higher resistance to infection with T. cruzi. *J Immunol*, *173*(9), 5688-5696. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.173.9.5688</u>
- Opal, S. M., Laterre, P.-F., Francois, B., LaRosa, S. P., Angus, D. C., Mira, J.-P., Wittebole, X., Dugernier, T., Perrotin, D., Tidswell, M., Jauregui, L., Krell, K., Pachl, J., Takahashi, T., Peckelsen, C., Cordasco, E., Chang, C.-S., Oeyen, S., Aikawa, N., . . . ACCESS Study Group, f. t. (2013). Effect of Eritoran, an Antagonist of MD2-TLR4, on Mortality in Patients With Severe Sepsis: The ACCESS Randomized Trial. JAMA, 309(11), 1154-1162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2013.2194</u>

- Ordas, A., Hegedus, Z., Henkel, C. V., Stockhammer, O. W., Butler, D., Jansen, H. J., Racz, P., Mink, M., Spaink, H. P., & Meijer, A. H. (2011). Deep sequencing of the innate immune transcriptomic response of zebrafish embryos to Salmonella infection. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *31*(5), 716-724. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2010.08.022</u>
- Ou, H. C., Raible, D. W., & Rubel, E. W. (2007). Cisplatin-induced hair cell loss in zebrafish (Danio rerio) lateral line. *Hearing research*, 233(1), 46-53. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2007.07.003
- Owens, K. N., Cunningham, D. E., Macdonald, G., Rubel, E. W., Raible, D. W., & Pujol, R. (2007). Ultrastructural analysis of aminoglycoside-induced hair cell death in the zebrafish lateral line reveals an early mitochondrial response. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *502*(4), 522-543. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.21345</u>
- Owens, K. N., Santos, F., Roberts, B., Linbo, T., Coffin, A. B., Knisely, A. J., Simon, J. A., Rubel, E. W., & Raible, D. W. (2008). Identification of Genetic and Chemical Modulators of Zebrafish Mechanosensory Hair Cell Death. *PLOS Genetics*, *4*(2), e1000020. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000020
- Oyesola, O. O., Früh, S. P., Webb, L. M., & Tait Wojno, E. D. (2020). Cytokines and beyond: Regulation of innate immune responses during helminth infection. *Cytokine*, *133*, 154527. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cyto.2018.08.021</u>
- Pabla, N., Murphy, R. F., Liu, K., & Dong, Z. (2009). The copper transporter Ctr1 contributes to cisplatin uptake by renal tubular cells during cisplatin nephrotoxicity. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 296(3), F505-F511. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.90545.2008</u>
- Park, H.-J., Hong, J.-h., Kwon, H.-J., Kim, Y., Lee, K.-H., Kim, J.-B., & Song, S. K. (2010). TLR4-mediated activation of mouse macrophages by Korean mistletoe lectin-C (KML-C). *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 396(3), 721-725. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.04.169</u>
- Parveen, S. (2022). Platinum-based Cancer Chemotherapeutics: Recent Trends and Future Perspectives. *Current Chinese Science*, 2(4), 275-293.
- Patra, M. C., Kwon, H.-K., Batool, M., & Choi, S. (2018). Computational Insight Into the Structural Organization of Full-Length Toll-Like Receptor 4 Dimer in a Model Phospholipid Bilayer [Original Research]. Frontiers in Immunology, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00489</u>
- Patton, E. E., Widlund, H. R., Kutok, J. L., Kopani, K. R., Amatruda, J. F., Murphey, R. D., Berghmans, S., Mayhall, E. A., Traver, D., & Fletcher, C. D. (2005). BRAF mutations are sufficient to promote nevi formation and cooperate with p53 in the genesis of melanoma. *Current Biology*, 15(3), 249-254.
- Peana, M., Zdyb, K., Medici, S., Pelucelli, A., Simula, G., Gumienna-Kontecka, E., & Zoroddu, M. A. (2017). Ni(II) interaction with a peptide model of the human TLR4 ectodomain. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology*, 44, 151-160. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtemb.2017.07.006</u>
- Peri, F., & Calabrese, V. (2014). Toll-like Receptor 4 (TLR4) Modulation by Synthetic and Natural Compounds: An Update. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *57*(9), 3612-3622. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/jm401006s</u>
- Peri, F., & Piazza, M. (2012). Therapeutic targeting of innate immunity with Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) antagonists. *Biotechnology Advances*, *30*(1), 251-260. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2011.05.014
- Phelan, P. E., Mellon, M. T., & Kim, C. H. (2005). Functional characterization of full-length TLR3, IRAK-4, and TRAF6 in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Molecular Immunology*, *42*(9), 1057-1071. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molimm.2004.11.005</u>

- Philip, A. M., Wang, Y., Mauro, A., El-Rass, S., Marshall, J. C., Lee, W. L., Slutsky, A. S., dos Santos, C. C., & Wen, X.-Y. (2017). Development of a Zebrafish Sepsis Model for High-Throughput Drug Discovery. *Molecular Medicine*, 23(1), 134-148. https://doi.org/10.2119/molmed.2016.00188
- Pichlmair, A., & Reis e Sousa, C. (2007). Innate Recognition of Viruses. *Immunity*, 27(3), 370-383. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2007.08.012</u>
- Pineda, M. A., Lumb, F., Harnett, M. M., & Harnett, W. (2014). ES-62, a therapeutic anti-inflammatory agent evolved by the filarial nematode Acanthocheilonema viteae. *Molecular and Biochemical Parasitology*, 194(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molbiopara.2014.03.003</u>
- Plunk, M. A., Alaniz, A., Olademehin, O. P., Ellington, T. L., Shuford, K. L., & Kane, R. R. (2020). Design and catalyzed activation of Tak-242 prodrugs for localized inhibition of TLR4-induced inflammation. ACS Medicinal Chemistry Letters, 11(2), 141-146.
- Popper, A. N., & Sisneros, J. A. (2022). The Sound World of Zebrafish: A Critical Review of Hearing Assessment. *Zebrafish*, 19(2), 37-48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2021.0063</u>
- Potnis, P. A., Dutta, D. K., & Wood, S. C. (2013). Toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathway mediates proinflammatory immune response to cobalt-alloy particles. *Cellular Immunology*, *282*(1), 53-65. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2013.04.003</u>
- Poulsen, R. E., Scholz, L. A., Constantin, L., Favre-Bulle, I., Vanwalleghem, G. C., & Scott, E. K. (2021).
  Broad frequency sensitivity and complex neural coding in the larval zebrafish auditory system.
  *Current Biology*, 31(9), 1977-1987.e1974.
  <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.01.103">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.01.103</a>
- Povirk, L. F., & Shuker, D. E. (1994). DNA damage and mutagenesis induced by nitrogen mustards. *Mutat Res*, 318(3), 205-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-1110(94)90015-9</u>
- Privat, M., Romano, S. A., Pietri, T., Jouary, A., Boulanger-Weill, J., Elbaz, N., Duchemin, A., Soares, D., & Sumbre, G. (2019). Sensorimotor Transformations in the Zebrafish Auditory System. *Current Biology*, 29(23), 4010-4023.e4014. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.10.020</u>
- Pulak, R. (2016). Tools for automating the imaging of zebrafish larvae. *Methods, 96*, 118-126. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.11.021
- Purcell, M. K., Smith, K. D., Hood, L., Winton, J. R., & Roach, J. C. (2006). Conservation of Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathways in Teleost Fish. *Comp Biochem Physiol Part D Genomics Proteomics*, 1(1), 77-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbd.2005.07.003</u>
- Puyo, S., Montaudon, D., & Pourquier, P. (2014). From old alkylating agents to new minor groove binders. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 89*(1), 43-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2013.07.006</u>
- Qi, L., Luo, Q., Zhang, Y., Jia, F., Zhao, Y., & Wang, F. (2019). Advances in Toxicological Research of the Anticancer Drug Cisplatin. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, *32*(8), 1469-1486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.chemrestox.9b00204</u>
- Quevedo-Diaz, M. A., Song, C., Xiong, Y., Chen, H., Wahl, L. M., Radulovic, S., & Medvedev, A. E. (2010). Involvement of TLR2 and TLR4 in cell responses to Rickettsia akari. *J Leukoc Biol, 88*(4), 675-685. <u>https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1009674</u>
- Quick, R. E., Buck, L. D., Parab, S., Tolbert, Z. R., & Matsuoka, R. L. (2021). Highly Efficient Synthetic CRISPR RNA/Cas9-Based Mutagenesis for Rapid Cardiovascular Phenotypic Screening in FO Zebrafish [Methods]. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*, *9*. <a href="https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.735598">https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2021.735598</a>
- Quiniou, S. M. A., Boudinot, P., & Bengtén, E. (2013). Comprehensive survey and genomic characterization of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) in channel catfish, Ictalurus punctatus: identification of novel fish TLRs. *Immunogenetics*, *65*(7), 511-530. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00251-013-0694-9</u>
- Raby, L., Völkel, P., Le Bourhis, X., & Angrand, P.-O. (2020). Genetic Engineering of Zebrafish in Cancer Research. *Cancers*, *12*(8), 2168. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6694/12/8/2168</u>

- Rachmawati, D., Bontkes, H. J., Verstege, M. I., Muris, J., Von Blomberg, B. M. E., Scheper, R. J., & Van Hoogstraten, I. M. W. (2013). Transition metal sensing by Toll-like receptor-4: next to nickel, cobalt and palladium are potent human dendritic cell stimulators. *Contact Dermatitis*, 68(6), 331-338. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/cod.12042</u>
- Rademaker-Lakhai, J. M., Crul, M., Zuur, L., Baas, P., Beijnen, J. H., Simis, Y. J. W., Zandwijk, N. v., & Schellens, J. H. M. (2006). Relationship Between Cisplatin Administration and the Development of Ototoxicity. *Journal of Clinical Oncology*, *24*(6), 918-924. https://doi.org/10.1200/jco.2006.10.077
- Raghavan, B., Martin, S. F., Esser, P. R., Goebeler, M., & Schmidt, M. (2012). Metal allergens nickel and cobalt facilitate TLR4 homodimerization independently of MD2. *EMBO Rep*, 13(12), 1109-1115. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/embor.2012.155</u>
- Rakers, S., Niklasson, L., Steinhagen, D., Kruse, C., Schauber, J., Sundell, K., & Paus, R. (2013). Antimicrobial Peptides (AMPs) from Fish Epidermis: Perspectives for Investigative Dermatology. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, 133(5), 1140-1149. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2012.503</u>
- Ralhan, R., & Kaur, J. (2007). Alkylating agents and cancer therapy. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Patents*, 17(9), 1061-1075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1517/13543776.17.9.1061</u>
- Rallabhandi, P., Phillips, R. L., Boukhvalova, M. S., Pletneva, L. M., Shirey, K. A., Gioannini, T. L., Weiss, J. P., Chow, J. C., Hawkins, L. D., Vogel, S. N., & Blanco, J. C. (2012). Respiratory syncytial virus fusion protein-induced toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) signaling is inhibited by the TLR4 antagonists Rhodobacter sphaeroides lipopolysaccharide and eritoran (E5564) and requires direct interaction with MD-2. *mBio*, *3*(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00218-12</u>
- Ravi, R., Somani, S. M., & Rybak, L. P. (1995). Mechanism of cisplatin ototoxicity: antioxidant system. *Pharmacology & toxicology*, *76*(6), 386-394.
- Rehwinkel, J., & Gack, M. U. (2020). RIG-I-like receptors: their regulation and roles in RNA sensing. *Nature Reviews Immunology*, 20(9), 537-551.
- Ren, A., Yan, G., You, B., & Sun, J. (2008). Down-regulation of Mammalian Sterile 20–Like Kinase 1 by Heat Shock Protein 70 Mediates Cisplatin Resistance in Prostate Cancer Cells. *Cancer Research*, 68(7), 2266-2274. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-6248</u>
- Ren, D.-I., Wang, X.-b., & Hu, B. (2018). Circadian gene period1b regulates proinflammatory cytokine expression through NF–κB signalling in zebrafish. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *80*, 528-533. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2018.06.040</u>
- Ren, J.-H., He, W.-S., Nong, L., Zhu, Q.-Y., Hu, K., Zhang, R.-G., Huang, L.-L., Zhu, F., & Wu, G. (2010). Acquired cisplatin resistance in human lung adenocarcinoma cells is associated with enhanced autophagy. *Cancer Biotherapy and Radiopharmaceuticals*, 25(1), 75-80.
- Rennekamp, A. J., & Peterson, R. T. (2015). 15 years of zebrafish chemical screening. *Current Opinion in Chemical Biology*, 24, 58-70. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpa.2014.10.025</u>
- Renshaw, S. A., & Trede, N. S. (2012). A model 450 million years in the making: zebrafish and vertebrate immunity. *Disease Models & Compression Mechanisms*, 5(1), 38-47. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.007138
- Reuven, E. M., Fink, A., & Shai, Y. (2014). Regulation of innate immune responses by transmembrane interactions: lessons from the TLR family. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1838*(6), 1586-1593. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2014.01.020</u>
- Rice, T. W., Wheeler, A. P., Bernard, G. R., Vincent, J.-L., Angus, D. C., Aikawa, N., Demeyer, I., Sainati, S., Amlot, N., & Cao, C. (2010). A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of TAK-242 for the treatment of severe sepsis. *Critical care medicine*, 38(8), 1685-1694.

- Riedel, F., Aparicio-Soto, M., Curato, C., Thierse, H. J., Siewert, K., & Luch, A. (2021). Immunological Mechanisms of Metal Allergies and the Nickel-Specific TCR-pMHC Interface. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 18(20). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182010867</u>
- Riera Romo, M., Pérez-Martínez, D., & Castillo Ferrer, C. (2016). Innate immunity in vertebrates: an overview. *Immunology*, *148*(2), 125-139. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12597</u>
- Roach, J. C., Glusman, G., Rowen, L., Kaur, A., Purcell, M. K., Smith, K. D., Hood, L. E., & Aderem, A. (2005). The evolution of vertebrate Toll-like receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(27), 9577-9582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0502272102</u>
- Roach, J. M., Racioppi, L., Jones, C. D., & Masci, A. M. (2013). Phylogeny of Toll-Like Receptor Signaling: Adapting the Innate Response. *PLoS ONE*, *8*(1), e54156. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0054156</u>
- Roberts, A. C., Reichl, J., Song, M. Y., Dearinger, A. D., Moridzadeh, N., Lu, E. D., Pearce, K., Esdin, J., & Glanzman, D. L. (2011). Habituation of the C-Start Response in Larval Zebrafish Exhibits Several Distinct Phases and Sensitivity to NMDA Receptor Blockade. *PLoS ONE*, 6(12), e29132. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029132
- Rocha, C. R. R., Silva, M. M., Quinet, A., Cabral-Neto, J. B., & Menck, C. F. M. (2018). DNA repair pathways and cisplatin resistance: an intimate relationship. *Clinics*, 73.
- Rodrigues, M. M., Oliveira, A. C., & Bellio, M. (2012). The Immune Response to Trypanosoma cruzi: Role of Toll-Like Receptors and Perspectives for Vaccine Development. *J Parasitol Res, 2012*, 507874. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/507874</u>
- Romani, A. M. P. (2022). Cisplatin in cancer treatment. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 206, 115323. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2022.115323
- Romerio, A., & Peri, F. (2020). Increasing the Chemical Variety of Small-Molecule-Based TLR4 Modulators: An Overview [Review]. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *11*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.01210</u>
- Ropert, C., & Gazzinelli, R. T. (2000). Signaling of immune system cells by glycosylphosphatidylinositol (GPI) anchor and related structures derived from parasitic protozoa. *Current Opinion in Microbiology*, *3*(4), 395-403. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5274(00)00111-9
- Rosenberg, B., Van Camp, L., & Krigas, T. (1965). Inhibition of Cell Division in Escherichia coli by Electrolysis Products from a Platinum Electrode. *Nature*, *205*(4972), 698-699. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/205698a0</u>
- Rosowski, E. E. (2020). Determining macrophage versus neutrophil contributions to innate immunity using larval zebrafish. *Disease Models & amp; Mechanisms, 13*(1), dmm041889. https://doi.org/10.1242/dmm.041889
- Rostamizadeh, L., Molavi, O., Rashid, M., Ramazani, F., Baradaran, B., Lavasanaifar, A., & Lai, R. (2022). Recent advances in cancer immunotherapy: Modulation of tumor microenvironment by Toll-like receptor ligands. *Bioimpacts*, *12*(3), 261-290. <u>https://doi.org/10.34172/bi.2022.23896</u>
- Rowe, D. C., McGettrick, A. F., Latz, E., Monks, B. G., Gay, N. J., Yamamoto, M., Akira, S., O'Neill, L. A., Fitzgerald, K. A., & Golenbock, D. T. (2006). The myristoylation of TRIF-related adaptor molecule is essential for Toll-like receptor 4 signal transduction. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(16), 6299-6304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0510041103</u>
- Russell, W. L., Kelly, E. M., Hunsicker, P. R., Bangham, J. W., Maddux, S. C., & Phipps, E. L. (1979). Specific-locus test shows ethylnitrosourea to be the most potent mutagen in the mouse. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *76*(11), 5818-5819. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1073/pnas.76.11.5818</u>
- Rybak, L. P., Mukherjea, D., Jajoo, S., & Ramkumar, V. (2009). Cisplatin ototoxicity and protection: clinical and experimental studies. *Tohoku J Exp Med*, *219*(3), 177-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1620/tjem.219.177</u>

- Ryu, J.-K., Kim, S. J., Rah, S.-H., Kang, J. I., Jung, H. E., Lee, D., Lee, H. K., Lee, J.-O., Park, B. S., Yoon, T.-Y., & Kim, H. M. (2017). Reconstruction of LPS Transfer Cascade Reveals Structural Determinants within LBP, CD14, and TLR4-MD2 for Efficient LPS Recognition and Transfer. *Immunity*, 46(1), 38-50. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.11.007">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.11.007</a>
- Safaei, R., Otani, S., Larson, B. J., Rasmussen, M. L., & Howell, S. B. (2008). Transport of Cisplatin by the Copper Efflux Transporter ATP7B. *Molecular Pharmacology*, *73*(2), 461-468. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.107.040980
- Sahoo, B. R. (2020). Structure of fish Toll-like receptors (TLR) and NOD-like receptors (NLR). *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, *161*, 1602-1617. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2020.07.293
- Saito, M., Arakaki, R., Yamada, A., Tsunematsu, T., Kudo, Y., & Ishimaru, N. (2016). Molecular mechanisms of nickel allergy. *International journal of molecular sciences*, *17*(2), 202.
- Samarpita, S., Kim, J. Y., Rasool, M. K., & Kim, K. S. (2020). Investigation of toll-like receptor (TLR) 4 inhibitor TAK-242 as a new potential anti-rheumatoid arthritis drug. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*, 22(1), 16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13075-020-2097-2</u>
- Sameer, A. S., & Nissar, S. (2021). Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs): Structure, Functions, Signaling, and Role of Their Polymorphisms in Colorectal Cancer Susceptibility. *Biomed Res Int, 2021*, 1157023. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/1157023</u>
- Santos, N., Ferreira, R. S., & Santos, A. C. D. (2020). Overview of cisplatin-induced neurotoxicity and ototoxicity, and the protective agents. *Food Chem Toxicol*, *136*, 111079. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2019.111079</u>
- Santucci, N. M., Garber, B., Ivory, R., Kuhn, M. A., Stephen, M., & Aizenberg, D. (2021). Insight into the current practice of ototoxicity monitoring during cisplatin therapy. *Journal of Otolaryngology -Head & Neck Surgery*, 50(1), 19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40463-021-00506-0</u>
- Sartorius, R., Trovato, M., Manco, R., D'Apice, L., & De Berardinis, P. (2021). Exploiting viral sensing mediated by Toll-like receptors to design innovative vaccines. *npj Vaccines*, *6*(1), 127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41541-021-00391-8</u>
- Sato, N., Kinbara, M., Kuroishi, T., Kimura, K., Iwakura, Y., Ohtsu, H., Sugawara, S., & Endo, Y. (2007). Lipopolysaccharide promotes and augments metal allergies in mice, dependent on innate immunity and histidine decarboxylase. *Clinical & amp; Experimental Allergy*, 37(5), 743-751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2222.2007.02705.x</u>
- Schmidt, M., & Goebeler, M. (2015). Immunology of metal allergies. *JDDG: Journal der Deutschen Dermatologischen Gesellschaft*, *13*(7), 653-659. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ddg.12673</u>
- Schmidt, M., & Goebeler, M. (2018). Innate Immune System Response in Metal Allergy: Toll-Like Receptors. In J. K. Chen & J. P. Thyssen (Eds.), *Metal Allergy: From Dermatitis to Implant and Device Failure* (pp. 75-84). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-58503-1\_8</u>
- Schmidt, M., Raghavan, B., Müller, V., Vogl, T., Fejer, G., Tchaptchet, S., Keck, S., Kalis, C., Nielsen, P. J., Galanos, C., Roth, J., Skerra, A., Martin, S. F., Freudenberg, M. A., & Goebeler, M. (2010). Crucial role for human Toll-like receptor 4 in the development of contact allergy to nickel. *Nature Immunology*, 11(9), 814-819. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.1919</u>
- Schmitt, N. C., Rubel, E. W., & Nathanson, N. M. (2009). Cisplatin-induced hair cell death requires STAT1 and is attenuated by epigallocatechin gallate. *Journal of Neuroscience*, *29*(12), 3843-3851.
- Schoch, S., Gajewski, S., Rothfuß, J., Hartwig, A., & Köberle, B. (2020). Comparative Study of the Mode of Action of Clinically Approved Platinum-Based Chemotherapeutics. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 21(18), 6928. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/21/18/6928</u>

- Schram, S. E., Warshaw, E. M., & Laumann, A. (2010). Nickel hypersensitivity: a clinical review and call to action. *Int J Dermatol*, 49(2), 115-125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-4632.2009.04307.x</u>
- Schwarz, H., Schmittner, M., Duschl, A., & Horejs-Hoeck, J. (2014). Residual Endotoxin Contaminations in Recombinant Proteins Are Sufficient to Activate Human CD1c+ Dendritic Cells. *PLoS ONE*, 9(12), e113840. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113840</u>
- Sellaththurai, S., Jung, S., Kim, M.-J., Nadarajapillai, K., Ganeshalingam, S., Jeong, J. B., & Lee, J. (2023). CRISPR/Cas9-Induced Knockout of Sting Increases Susceptibility of Zebrafish to Bacterial Infection. *Biomolecules*, *13*(2), 324. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2218-273X/13/2/324</u>
- Sepulcre, M. P., Alcaraz-Pérez, F., López-Muñoz, A., Roca, F. J., Meseguer, J., Cayuela, M. L., & Mulero, V. (2009). Evolution of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) recognition and signaling: fish TLR4 does not recognize LPS and negatively regulates NF-κB activation. *The Journal of Immunology*, *182*(4), 1836-1845.
- Shah, A. N., Davey, C. F., Whitebirch, A. C., Miller, A. C., & Moens, C. B. (2015). Rapid reverse genetic screening using CRISPR in zebrafish. *Nature Methods*, 12(6), 535-540. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3360</u>
- Shahid, F., Farooqui, Z., & Khan, F. (2018). Cisplatin-induced gastrointestinal toxicity: An update on possible mechanisms and on available gastroprotective strategies. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, *827*, 49-57. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.03.009</u>
- Sheedy, F. J., & O'Neill, L. A. J. (2007). The Troll in Toll: Mal and Tram as bridges for TLR2 and TLR4 signaling. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, 82(2), 196-203. <u>https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.1206750</u>
- Shen, D.-W., Pouliot, L. M., Hall, M. D., & Gottesman, M. M. (2012). Cisplatin Resistance: A Cellular Self-Defense Mechanism Resulting from Multiple Epigenetic and Genetic Changes. *Pharmacological Reviews*, 64(3), 706-721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.111.005637</u>
- Sheth, S., Mukherjea, D., Rybak, L. P., & Ramkumar, V. (2017). Mechanisms of Cisplatin-Induced Ototoxicity and Otoprotection. *Front Cell Neurosci*, 11, 338. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00338</u>
- Shi, J., Zhao, Y., Wang, Y., Gao, W., Ding, J., Li, P., Hu, L., & Shao, F. (2014). Inflammatory caspases are innate immune receptors for intracellular LPS. *Nature*, *514*(7521), 187-192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13683</u>
- Shi, Y., Jin, Y., Li, X., Chen, C., Zhang, Z., Liu, X., Deng, Y., Fan, X., & Wang, C. (2021). C5aR1 Mediates the Progression of Inflammatory Responses in the Brain of Rats in the Early Stage after Ischemia and Reperfusion. ACS Chemical Neuroscience, 12(21), 3994-4006. https://doi.org/10.1021/acschemneuro.1c00244
- Shibata, T., Nakashima, F., Honda, K., Lu, Y. J., Kondo, T., Ushida, Y., Aizawa, K., Suganuma, H., Oe, S., Tanaka, H., Takahashi, T., & Uchida, K. (2014). Toll-like receptors as a target of food-derived antiinflammatory compounds. *J Biol Chem*, 289(47), 32757-32772. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.585901</u>
- Shirey, K. A., Lai, W., Scott, A. J., Lipsky, M., Mistry, P., Pletneva, L. M., Karp, C. L., McAlees, J., Gioannini, T. L., & Weiss, J. (2013). The TLR4 antagonist Eritoran protects mice from lethal influenza infection. *Nature*, 497(7450), 498-502.
- Siddik, Z. H. (2002). Mechanisms of action of cancer chemotherapeutic agents: DNA-interactive alkylating agents and antitumour platinum-based drugs. *The cancer handbook*, *1*.
- Siddik, Z. H. (2003). Cisplatin: mode of cytotoxic action and molecular basis of resistance. *Oncogene*, 22(47), 7265-7279. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1206933</u>
- Singh, V., Singh, N., Rai, S. N., Kumar, A., Singh, A. K., Singh, M. P., Sahoo, A., Shekhar, S., Vamanu, E., & Mishra, V. (2023). Heavy Metal Contamination in the Aquatic Ecosystem: Toxicity and Its Remediation Using Eco-Friendly Approaches. *Toxics*, 11(2), 147. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2305-6304/11/2/147</u>

- Singhal, S. S., Garg, R., Mohanty, A., Garg, P., Ramisetty, S. K., Mirzapoiazova, T., Soldi, R., Sharma, S., Kulkarni, P., & Salgia, R. (2023). Recent Advancement in Breast Cancer Research: Insights from Model Organisms—Mouse Models to Zebrafish. *Cancers*, 15(11), 2961. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2072-6694/15/11/2961</u>
- Sinha, S., Jothiramajayam, M., Ghosh, M., Jana, A., Chatterji, U., & Mukherjee, A. (2015). Vetiver oil (Java) attenuates cisplatin-induced oxidative stress, nephrotoxicity and myelosuppression in Swiss albino mice. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, *81*, 120-128. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2015.04.018
- Smith, J., Mun Tho, L., Xu, N., & A. Gillespie, D. (2010). Chapter 3 The ATM–Chk2 and ATR–Chk1 Pathways in DNA Damage Signaling and Cancer. In G. F. Vande Woude & G. Klein (Eds.), Advances in Cancer Research (Vol. 108, pp. 73-112). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-380888-2.00003-0</u>
- Smith, M., García-Martínez, E., Pitter, M. R., Fucikova, J., Spisek, R., Zitvogel, L., Kroemer, G., & Galluzzi,
  L. (2018). Trial Watch: Toll-like receptor agonists in cancer immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology*, 7(12), e1526250.
- So, H., Kim, H., Lee, J.-H., Park, C., Kim, Y., Kim, E., Kim, J.-K., Yun, K.-J., Lee, K.-M., & Lee, H.-Y. (2007). Cisplatin cytotoxicity of auditory cells requires secretions of proinflammatory cytokines via activation of ERK and NF-κ B. *Journal of the Association for Research in Otolaryngology*, *8*, 338-355.
- Soldin, O. P., & Mattison, D. R. (2009). Sex Differences in Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics. *Clinical Pharmacokinetics*, 48(3), 143-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.2165/00003088-200948030-00001</u>
- Sonawane, M., Carpio, Y., Geisler, R., Schwarz, H., Maischein, H.-M., & Nuesslein-Volhard, C. (2005).
  Zebrafish penner/lethal giant larvae 2 functions in hemidesmosome formation, maintenance of cellular morphology and growth regulation in the developing basal epidermis. *Development*, 132(14), 3255-3265. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01904">https://doi.org/10.1242/dev.01904</a>
- Spead, O., Verreet, T., Donelson, C. J., & Poulain, F. E. (2018). Characterization of the caspase family in zebrafish. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(5), e0197966. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197966</u>
- Srivastava, N., Shelly, A., Kumar, M., Pant, A., Das, B., Majumdar, T., & Mazumder, S. (2017). Aeromonas hydrophila utilizes TLR4 topology for synchronous activation of MyD88 and TRIF to orchestrate anti-inflammatory responses in zebrafish. *Cell Death Discovery*, *3*(1), 17067. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddiscovery.2017.67
- Steele, R. (2022). Allergic Contact Dermatitis. In M. Mahmoudi (Ed.), *Absolute Allergy and Immunology Board Review* (pp. 151-157). Springer International Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-12867-7\_15</u>
- Stein, C., Caccamo, M., Laird, G., & Leptin, M. (2007). Conservation and divergence of gene families encoding components of innate immune response systems in zebrafish. *Genome Biology*, 8(11), R251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2007-8-11-r251</u>
- Storz, J. F., Opazo, J. C., & Hoffmann, F. G. (2013). Gene duplication, genome duplication, and the functional diversification of vertebrate globins. *Mol Phylogenet Evol*, 66(2), 469-478. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2012.07.013</u>
- Streisinger, G., Walker, C., Dower, N., Knauber, D., & Singer, F. (1981). Production of clones of homozygous diploid zebra fish (Brachydanio rerio). *Nature*, 291(5813), 293-296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/291293a0</u>
- Subi, B. S., & Shabanamol, S. (2022). Immune System in Fish and Role of Lectins During Infection. In P. Elumalai, B. Vaseeharan, & S. Lakshmi (Eds.), Aquatic Lectins: Immune Defense, Biological Recognition and Molecular Advancements (pp. 211-234). Springer Nature Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-0432-5\_10

- Sullivan, C., Charette, J., Catchen, J., Lage, C. R., Giasson, G., Postlethwait, J. H., Millard, P. J., & Kim, C. H. (2009). The Gene History of Zebrafish tlr4a and tlr4b Is Predictive of Their Divergent Functions1. *The Journal of Immunology*, 183(9), 5896-5908. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0803285
- Sullivan, C., Postlethwait, J. H., Lage, C. R., Millard, P. J., & Kim, C. H. (2007). Evidence for Evolving Toll-IL-1 Receptor-Containing Adaptor Molecule Function in Vertebrates1. *The Journal of Immunology*, *178*(7), 4517-4527. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4517</u>
- Sushmitha, D. H., Ramesh, C., Sowmya, B. A., Bai, B. R. S., Rawal, P., & Shabana, S. U. K. (2022). Attenuation of cisplatin induced myelosuppression by methanol extract of Cedrus deodara in Wistar rats. *Journal of Complementary and Integrative Medicine*, *19*(4), 975-985. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1515/jcim-2021-0515</u>
- Szikriszt, B., Póti, Á., Németh, E., Kanu, N., Swanton, C., & Szüts, D. (2020). Cisplatin is more mutagenic than carboplatin or oxaliplatin at equitoxic concentrations. *bioRxiv*, 2020.2008.2011.245969. <u>https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.11.245969</u>
- Tadini-Buoninsegni, F., Bartolommei, G., Moncelli, M. R., Inesi, G., Galliani, A., Sinisi, M., Losacco, M., Natile, G., & Arnesano, F. (2014). Translocation of Platinum Anticancer Drugs by Human Copper ATPases ATP7A and ATP7B. Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 53(5), 1297-1301. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201307718</u>
- Takashima, K., Matsunaga, N., Yoshimatsu, M., Hazeki, K., Kaisho, T., Uekata, M., Hazeki, O., Akira, S., lizawa, Y., & Ii, M. (2009). Analysis of binding site for the novel small-molecule TLR4 signal transduction inhibitor TAK-242 and its therapeutic effect on mouse sepsis model. *Br J Pharmacol*, 157(7), 1250-1262. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1476-5381.2009.00297.x
- Tamplin, O. J., White, R. M., Jing, L., Kaufman, C. K., Lacadie, S. A., Li, P., Taylor, A. M., & Zon, L. I. (2012). Small molecule screening in zebrafish: swimming in potential drug therapies. *WIREs Developmental Biology*, 1(3), 459-468. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/wdev.37</u>
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., & Kumar, S. (2021). MEGA11: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis Version 11. Molecular Biology and Evolution, 38(7), 3022-3027. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msab120</u>
- Tang, Q., Wang, X., Jin, H., Mi, Y., Liu, L., Dong, M., Chen, Y., & Zou, Z. (2021). Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: Updates on molecular mechanisms and otoprotective strategies. *European Journal* of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 163, 60-71. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2021.03.008
- Tang, X., Xu, Q., Yang, S., Huang, X., Wang, L., Huang, F., Luo, J., Zhou, X., Wu, A., Mei, Q., Zhao, C., & Wu, J. (2023). Toll-like Receptors and Thrombopoiesis. *Int J Mol Sci*, 24(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24021010</u>
- Tanimura, N., Saitoh, S., Matsumoto, F., Akashi-Takamura, S., & Miyake, K. (2008). Roles for LPSdependent interaction and relocation of TLR4 and TRAM in TRIF-signaling. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 368(1), 94-99. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.01.061</u>
- Tantry, M. S. A., Harini, V. S., & Santhakumar, K. (2022). Simple and High-Throughput Rheotaxis Behavioral Assay for Zebrafish Larva. *Zebrafish*, *19*(3), 114-118. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2021.0087</u>
- Tawill, S., Goff, L. L., Ali, F., Blaxter, M., & Allen, J. E. (2004). Both Free-Living and Parasitic Nematodes Induce a Characteristic Th2 Response That Is Dependent on the Presence of Intact Glycans. *Infection and Immunity*, 72(1), 398-407. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1128/IAI.72.1.398-407.2004</u>
- Thomas, E. D., Cruz, I. A., Hailey, D. W., & Raible, D. W. (2015). There and back again: development and regeneration of the zebrafish lateral line system. *Wiley Interdiscip Rev Dev Biol*, *4*(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1002/wdev.160

- Thomas, P. G., Carter, M. R., Atochina, O., Da'Dara, A. A., Piskorska, D., McGuire, E., & Harn, D. A. (2003). Maturation of dendritic cell 2 phenotype by a helminth glycan uses a Toll-like receptor 4dependent mechanism. *J Immunol*, *171*(11), 5837-5841. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.171.11.5837
- Todd, D. W., Philip, R. C., Niihori, M., Ringle, R. A., Coyle, K. R., Zehri, S. F., Zabala, L., Mudery, J. A.,
  Francis, R. H., Rodriguez, J. J., & Jacob, A. (2017). A Fully Automated High-Throughput Zebrafish
  Behavioral Ototoxicity Assay. *Zebrafish*, 14(4), 331-342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1089/zeb.2016.1412</u>
- Ton, C., & Parng, C. (2005). The use of zebrafish for assessing ototoxic and otoprotective agents. *Hearing* research, 208(1), 79-88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2005.05.005</u>
- Tonon, F., & Grassi, G. (2023). Zebrafish as an Experimental Model for Human Disease. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 24(10), 8771. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/1422-0067/24/10/8771</u>
- Trendowski, M. R., El Charif, O., Dinh Jr, P. C., Travis, L. B., & Dolan, M. E. (2019). Genetic and modifiable risk factors contributing to cisplatin-induced toxicities. *Clinical Cancer Research*, *25*(4), 1147-1155.
- Trevarrow, B. (2011). Techniques for optimizing the creation of mutations in zebrafish using N-ethyl-Nnitrosourea. *Lab Animal*, 40(11), 353-361. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/laban1111-353</u>
- Trubiroha, A., Gillotay, P., Giusti, N., Gacquer, D., Libert, F., Lefort, A., Haerlingen, B., De Deken, X., Opitz, R., & Costagliola, S. (2018). A Rapid CRISPR/Cas-based Mutagenesis Assay in Zebrafish for Identification of Genes Involved in Thyroid Morphogenesis and Function. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 5647. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24036-4">https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-24036-4</a>
- Tserga, E., Nandwani, T., Edvall, N. K., Bulla, J., Patel, P., Canlon, B., Cederroth, C. R., & Baguley, D. M. (2019). The genetic vulnerability to cisplatin ototoxicity: a systematic review. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 3455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-40138-z</u>
- Tsukamoto, H., Takeuchi, S., Kubota, K., Kobayashi, Y., Kozakai, S., Ukai, I., Shichiku, A., Okubo, M., Numasaki, M., Kanemitsu, Y., Matsumoto, Y., Nochi, T., Watanabe, K., Aso, H., & Tomioka, Y. (2018). Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-binding protein stimulates CD14-dependent Toll-like receptor 4 internalization and LPS-induced TBK1-IKKe-IRF3 axis activation. *J Biol Chem*, 293(26), 10186-10201. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M117.796631</u>
- Tsvetkova, D., & Ivanova, S. (2022). Application of Approved Cisplatin Derivatives in Combination Therapy against Different Cancer Diseases. *Molecules*, *27*(8), 2466. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules27082466</u>
- Tundup, S., Srivastava, L., Norberg, T., Watford, W., & Harn, D. (2015). A Neoglycoconjugate Containing the Human Milk Sugar LNFPIII Drives Anti-Inflammatory Activation of Antigen Presenting Cells in a CD14 Dependent Pathway. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(9), e0137495. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0137495
- Turvey, S. E., & Broide, D. H. (2010). Innate immunity. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 125(2, Supplement 2), S24-S32. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaci.2009.07.016</u>
- Uribe, C., Folch, H., Enríquez, R., & Moran, G. (2011). Innate and adaptive immunity in teleost fish: a review. *Veterinarni medicina*, *56*(10), 486.
- Uribe, P. M., Mueller, M. A., Gleichman, J. S., Kramer, M. D., Wang, Q., Sibrian-Vazquez, M., Strongin, R. M., Steyger, P. S., Cotanche, D. A., & Matsui, J. I. (2013). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) exacerbates cisplatin-induced sensory hair cell death in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *PLoS ONE*, 8(2), e55359. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0055359</u>
- Uribe, P. M., Villapando, B. K., Lawton, K. J., Fang, Z., Gritsenko, D., Bhandiwad, A., Sisneros, J. A., Xu, J., & Coffin, A. B. (2018). Larval Zebrafish Lateral Line as a Model for Acoustic Trauma. *eNeuro*, 5(4). <u>https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0206-18.2018</u>
- Valanne, S., Wang, J.-H., & Rämet, M. (2011). The Drosophila Toll Signaling Pathway. *The Journal of Immunology*, *186*(2), 649-656. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.1002302</u>

- Valentin, G., Haas, P., & Gilmour, D. (2007). The Chemokine SDF1a Coordinates Tissue Migration through the Spatially Restricted Activation of Cxcr7 and Cxcr4b. *Current Biology*, *17*(12), 1026-1031. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2007.05.020</u>
- Van der Poll, T., Jansen, J., Endert, E., Sauerwein, H. P., & Van Deventer, S. (1994). Noradrenaline inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced tumor necrosis factor and interleukin 6 production in human whole blood. *Infection and Immunity*, *62*(5), 2046-2050.
- van der Sar, A. M., Appelmelk, B. J., Vandenbroucke-Grauls, C. M., & Bitter, W. (2004). A star with stripes: zebrafish as an infection model. *Trends Microbiol*, *12*(10), 451-457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2004.08.001</u>
- van der Vaart, M., Spaink, H. P., & Meijer, A. H. (2012). Pathogen recognition and activation of the innate immune response in zebrafish. *Adv Hematol*, *2012*, 159807. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/159807
- Vanwalleghem, G., Heap, L. A., & Scott, E. K. (2017). A profile of auditory-responsive neurons in the larval zebrafish brain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, *525*(14), 3031-3043. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cne.24258</u>
- Vasta, G. R., Ahmed, H., & Odom, E. W. (2004). Structural and functional diversity of lectin repertoires in invertebrates, protochordates and ectothermic vertebrates. *Current Opinion in Structural Biology*, 14(5), 617-630. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbi.2004.09.008</u>
- Vaure, C., & Liu, Y. (2014). A comparative review of toll-like receptor 4 expression and functionality in different animal species. *Front Immunol*, *5*, 316. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00316</u>
- Ve, T., Williams, S. J., & Kobe, B. (2015). Structure and function of Toll/interleukin-1 receptor/resistance protein (TIR) domains. *Apoptosis*, 20(2), 250-261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-014-1064-2</u>
- Vennegaard, M. T., Dyring-Andersen, B., Skov, L., Nielsen, M. M., Schmidt, J. D., Bzorek, M., Poulsen, S. S., Thomsen, A. R., Woetmann, A., Thyssen, J. P., Johansen, J. D., Ødum, N., Menné, T., Geisler, C., & Bonefeld, C. M. (2014). Epicutaneous exposure to nickel induces nickel allergy in mice via a MyD88-dependent and interleukin-1-dependent pathway. *Contact Dermatitis*, *71*(4), 224-232. <a href="https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cod.12270">https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/cod.12270</a>
- Verstak, B., Stack, J., Ve, T., Mangan, M., Hjerrild, K., Jeon, J., Stahl, R., Latz, E., Gay, N., Kobe, B., Bowie, A. G., & Mansell, A. (2014). The TLR signaling adaptor TRAM interacts with TRAF6 to mediate activation of the inflammatory response by TLR4. *J Leukoc Biol*, *96*(3), 427-436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.2A0913-487R</u>
- Videen, J. S., Mezger, M. S., Chang, Y. M., & O'Connor, D. T. (1992). Calcium and catecholamine interactions with adrenal chromogranins. Comparison of driving forces in binding and aggregation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267(5), 3066-3073. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(19)50695-0
- Vogetseder, A., Picard, N., Gaspert, A., Walch, M., Kaissling, B., & Le Hir, M. (2008). Proliferation capacity of the renal proximal tubule involves the bulk of differentiated epithelial cells. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 294(1), C22-C28.
- VORUZ, F., VUILLEUMIER, A., MIGLIORINI, D., NACHER-SOLER, G., ROUSSET, F., De Maesschalck, T., & Senn, P. (2022). Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity in 401 consecutive Geneva cancer patients.
- Waissbluth, S., Peleva, E., & Daniel, S. J. (2017). Platinum-induced ototoxicity: a review of prevailing ototoxicity criteria. *European Archives of Oto-Rhino-Laryngology*, 274, 1187-1196.
- Wang, C., Zhong, Z., Sun, P., Zhong, H., Li, H., & Chen, F. (2017). Evaluation of the Hair Cell Regeneration in Zebrafish Larvae by Measuring and Quantifying the Startle Responses. *Neural Plasticity*, 2017, 8283075. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/8283075</u>
- Wang, G., Rajpurohit, S. K., Delaspre, F., Walker, S. L., White, D. T., Ceasrine, A., Kuruvilla, R., Li, R.-j., Shim, J. S., Liu, J. O., Parsons, M. J., & Mumm, J. S. (2015). First quantitative high-throughput

screen in zebrafish identifies novel pathways for increasing pancreatic β-cell mass. *eLife*, 4, e08261. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.08261</u>

- Wang, J., Lloyd Faulconbridge, R. V., Fetoni, A., Guitton, M. J., Pujol, R., & Puel, J. L. (2003). Local application of sodium thiosulfate prevents cisplatin-induced hearing loss in the guinea pig. *Neuropharmacology*, 45(3), 380-393. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0028-3908(03)00194-1</u>
- Wang, J., Tao, J., Jia, S., Wang, M., Jiang, H., & Du, Z. (2021). The Protein-Binding Behavior of Platinum Anticancer Drugs in Blood Revealed by Mass Spectrometry. *Pharmaceuticals*, 14(2), 104. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ph14020104</u>
- Wang, J., Zhang, Z., Liu, J., Zhao, J., & Yin, D. (2016). Ectodomain Architecture Affects Sequence and Functional Evolution of Vertebrate Toll-like Receptors. *Scientific Reports*, 6(1), 26705. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep26705</u>
- Wang, K., Huang, Y., Cheng, B., Guo, J., Peng, Y., Zeng, S., Zhang, J., & Lu, H. (2023). Sulfoxaflor induces immunotoxicity in zebrafish (Danio rerio) by activating TLR4/NF-kB signaling pathway. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, *137*, 108743. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2023.108743</u>
- Wang, K. L., Chen, S. N., Huo, H. J., & Nie, P. (2021). Identification and expression analysis of sixteen Tolllike receptor genes, TLR1, TLR2a, TLR2b, TLR3, TLR5M, TLR5S, TLR7-9, TLR13a-c, TLR14, TLR21-23 in mandarin fish Siniperca chuatsi. *Dev Comp Immunol*, 121, 104100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dci.2021.104100</u>
- Wang, S., & Zhang, Y. (2020). HMGB1 in inflammation and cancer. *Journal of Hematology & Oncology*, *13*(1), 116. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13045-020-00950-x</u>
- Wang, T., Long, X., Liu, Z., Cheng, Y., & Yan, S. (2015). Effect of copper nanoparticles and copper sulphate on oxidation stress, cell apoptosis and immune responses in the intestines of juvenile Epinephelus coioides. *Fish & Shellfish Immunology*, 44(2), 674-682. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsi.2015.03.030</u>
- Wang, W., Deng, Z., Wu, H., Zhao, Q., Li, T., Zhu, W., Wang, X., Tang, L., Wang, C., Cui, S.-Z., Xiao, H., & Chen, J. (2019). A small secreted protein triggers a TLR2/4-dependent inflammatory response during invasive Candida albicans infection. *Nature Communications*, 10(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08950-3
- Wang, X., Zhou, Y., Wang, D., Wang, Y., Zhou, Z., Ma, X., Liu, X., & Dong, Y. (2023). Cisplatin-induced ototoxicity: From signaling network to therapeutic targets. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 157, 114045. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2022.114045</u>
- Watson, S. W., Novitsky, T. J., Quinby, H. L., & Valois, F. W. (1977). Determination of bacterial number and biomass in the marine environment. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, 33(4), 940-946. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.1128/aem.33.4.940-946.1977</u>
- Wen, W., Sun, C., Chen, Z., Yang, D., Zhou, Z., Peng, X., & Tang, C. (2022). Alcohol Induces Zebrafish Skeletal Muscle Atrophy through HMGB1/TLR4/NF-κB Signaling. *Life*, 12(8), 1211. <u>https://www.mdpi.com/2075-1729/12/8/1211</u>
- Werling, D., Jann, O. C., Offord, V., Glass, E. J., & Coffey, T. J. (2009). Variation matters: TLR structure and species-specific pathogen recognition. *Trends in Immunology*, *30*(3), 124-130. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2008.12.001</u>
- Wertman, J. N., Melong, N., Stoyek, M. R., Piccolo, O., Langley, S., Orr, B., Steele, S. L., Razaghi, B., & Berman, J. N. (2020). The identification of dual protective agents against cisplatin-induced otoand nephrotoxicity using the zebrafish model. *eLife*, *9*, e56235. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.56235
- West, A. P., Brodsky, I. E., Rahner, C., Woo, D. K., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Tempst, P., Walsh, M. C., Choi, Y., Shadel, G. S., & Ghosh, S. (2011). TLR signalling augments macrophage bactericidal activity through mitochondrial ROS. *Nature*, 472(7344), 476-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09973</u>

- West, M. A., & Koons, A. (2008). Endotoxin Tolerance in Sepsis: Concentration-Dependent Augmentation or Inhibition of LPS-Stimulated Macrophage TNF Secretion by LPS Pretreatment. *Journal of Trauma and Acute Care Surgery*, 65(4), 893-900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/TA.0b013e3181877fde</u>
- Westerfield, M. (2007). *The Zebrafish Book. A Guide for the Laboratory Use of Zebrafish (Danio rerio), 5th Edition*. University of Oregon Press.
- White, R., Rose, K., & Zon, L. (2013). Zebrafish cancer: the state of the art and the path forward. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 13(9), 624-636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3589</u>
- Wienholds, E., Schulte-Merker, S., Walderich, B., & Plasterk, R. H. A. (2002). Target-Selected Inactivation of the Zebrafish <i>rag1 </i>Gene. *Science*, *297*(5578), 99-102. https://doi.org/doi:10.1126/science.1071762
- Wisnovsky, Simon P., Wilson, Justin J., Radford, Robert J., Pereira, Mark P., Chan, Maria R., Laposa, Rebecca R., Lippard, Stephen J., & Kelley, Shana O. (2013). Targeting Mitochondrial DNA with a Platinum-Based Anticancer Agent. *Chemistry & Biology*, *20*(11), 1323-1328. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2013.08.010
- Wolińska-Nizioł, L., Romaniuk, K., Wojciechowska, K., Surga, K., Kamaszewski, M., Szudrowicz, H., & Miączyńska, M. (2022). Tollip-deficient zebrafish display no abnormalities in development, organ morphology or gene expression in response to lipopolysaccharide. *FEBS Open Bio*, *12*(8), 1453-1464. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/2211-5463.13423</u>
- Wong, H.-T. C., Lukasz, D., Drerup, C. M., & Kindt, K. S. (2023). In vivo investigation of mitochondria in lateral line afferent neurons and hair cells. *Hearing research*, 431, 108740. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heares.2023.108740</u>
- *World Health Organization: Cancer*. (2023). Retrieved Feburary 20, 2023 from <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cancer</u>
- Wu, X., Huang, W., Prasad, P. D., Seth, P., Rajan, D. P., Leibach, F. H., Chen, J., Conway, S. J., & Ganapathy, V. (1999). Functional Characteristics and Tissue Distribution Pattern of Organic Cation Transporter 2 (OCTN2), an Organic Cation/Carnitine Transporter. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 290(3), 1482-1492. <u>https://jpet.aspetjournals.org/content/jpet/290/3/1482.full.pdf</u>
- Xiao, X., Liu, Z., Su, G., Liu, H., Yin, W., Guan, Y., Jing, S., Du, L., Li, F., Li, N., & Yang, P. (2022). A novel uveitis model induced by lipopolysaccharide in zebrafish [Original Research]. Frontiers in Immunology, 13. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2022.1042849</u>
- Xu, J., Qian, Q., Xia, M., Wang, X., & Wang, H. (2021). Trichlorocarban induces developmental and immune toxicity to zebrafish (Danio rerio) by targeting TLR4/MyD88/NF-κB signaling pathway. *Environmental Pollution*, 273, 116479.
  - https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2021.116479
- Xuan, W., Haiyun, Z., & Xiaozhuo, C. (2019). Drug resistance and combating drug resistance in cancer. Drug resistance and combating drug resistance in cancer, 2(2), 141-160. <u>https://doi.org/10.20517/cdr.2019.10</u>
- Xue, J., Suarez, J. S., Minaai, M., Li, S., Gaudino, G., Pass, H. I., Carbone, M., & Yang, H. (2021). HMGB1 as a therapeutic target in disease [<u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.30125</u>]. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 236(5), 3406-3419. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jcp.30125</u>
- Yamamoto, K., Okamoto, A., Isonishi, S., Ochiai, K., & Ohtake, Y. (2001). Heat shock protein 27 was upregulated in cisplatin resistant human ovarian tumor cell line and associated with the cisplatin resistance. *Cancer Letters*, 168(2), 173-181. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3835(01)00532-8</u>
- Yan, F., Liu, J. J., Ip, V., Jamieson, S. M. F., & McKeage, M. J. (2015). Role of platinum DNA damageinduced transcriptional inhibition in chemotherapy-induced neuronal atrophy and peripheral

neurotoxicity. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *135*(6), 1099-1112. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jnc.13355

- Yancey, A., Harris, M. S., Egbelakin, A., Gilbert, J., Pisoni, D. B., & Renbarger, J. (2012). Risk factors for cisplatin-associated ototoxicity in pediatric oncology patients. *Pediatric Blood & Cancer*, 59(1), 144-148. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc.24138</u>
- Yang, D., Zheng, X., Chen, S., Wang, Z., Xu, W., Tan, J., Hu, T., Hou, M., Wang, W., Gu, Z., Wang, Q., Zhang, R., Zhang, Y., & Liu, Q. (2018). Sensing of cytosolic LPS through caspy2 pyrin domain mediates noncanonical inflammasome activation in zebrafish. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 3052. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-04984-1</u>
- Yang, H., Wang, H., & Andersson, U. (2020). Targeting Inflammation Driven by HMGB1 [Review]. Frontiers in Immunology, 11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.00484</u>
- Yang, H., Wang, H., Ju, Z., Ragab, A. A., Lundbäck, P., Long, W., Valdes-Ferrer, S. I., He, M., Pribis, J. P., Li, J., Lu, B., Gero, D., Szabo, C., Antoine, D. J., Harris, H. E., Golenbock, D. T., Meng, J., Roth, J., Chavan, S. S., . . . Al-Abed, Y. (2015). MD-2 is required for disulfide HMGB1–dependent TLR4 signaling. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *212*(1), 5-14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20141318</u>
- Yang, H., Young, D. W., Gusovsky, F., & Chow, J. C. (2000). Cellular events mediated by lipopolysaccharide-stimulated toll-like receptor 4. MD-2 is required for activation of mitogenactivated protein kinases and Elk-1. J Biol Chem, 275(27), 20861-20866. <u>https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M002896200</u>
- Yang, H. W., Kutok, J. L., Lee, N. H., Piao, H. Y., Fletcher, C. D., Kanki, J. P., & Look, A. T. (2004). Targeted expression of human MYCN selectively causes pancreatic neuroendocrine tumors in transgenic zebrafish. *Cancer Research*, 64(20), 7256-7262.
- Yang, S., Sugawara, S., Monodane, T., Nishijima, M., Adachi, Y., Akashi, S., Miyake, K., Hase, S., & Takada, H. (2001). Micrococcus luteus teichuronic acids activate human and murine monocytic cells in a CD14- and toll-like receptor 4-dependent manner. *Infect Immun*, 69(4), 2025-2030. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.69.4.2025-2030.2001
- Yeh, J.-R. J., Munson, K. M., Elagib, K. E., Goldfarb, A. N., Sweetser, D. A., & Peterson, R. T. (2009). Discovering chemical modifiers of oncogene-regulated hematopoietic differentiation. *Nature Chemical Biology*, 5(4), 236-243. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.147</u>
- Yen, J., White, R. M., & Stemple, D. L. (2014). Zebrafish models of cancer: progress and future challenges. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development*, 24, 38-45. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gde.2013.11.003</u>
- Yew, K. H., Carpenter, C., Duncan, R. S., & Harrison, C. J. (2012). Human cytomegalovirus induces TLR4 signaling components in monocytes altering TIRAP, TRAM and downstream interferon-beta and TNF-alpha expression. *PLoS ONE*, 7(9), e44500. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0044500</u>
- Yoo, J., Hamilton, S. J., Angel, D., Fung, K., Franklin, J., Parnes, L. S., Lewis, D., Venkatesan, V., & Winquist, E. (2014). Cisplatin otoprotection using transtympanic L-N-acetylcysteine: A pilot randomized study in head and neck cancer patients. *The Laryngoscope*, 124(3), E87-E94. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/lary.24360</u>
- Yoshida, S. H., Stuge, T. B., Miller, N. W., & Clem, L. W. (1995). Phylogeny of lymphocyte heterogeneity: cytotoxic activity of channel catfish peripheral blood leukocytes directed against allogeneic targets. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *19*(1), 71-77.
- Yu, D.-L., Lou, Z.-P., Ma, F.-Y., & Najafi, M. (2022). The interactions of paclitaxel with tumour microenvironment. *International Immunopharmacology*, 105, 108555. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2022.108555</u>
- Yu, F., Megyesi, J., & Price, P. M. (2008). Cytoplasmic initiation of cisplatin cytotoxicity. *American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology*, 295(1), F44-F52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1152/ajprenal.00593.2007</u>

- Yu, L., Wang, L., & Chen, S. (2010). Endogenous toll-like receptor ligands and their biological significance. J Cell Mol Med, 14(11), 2592-2603. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1582-4934.2010.01127.x</u>
- Yuan, Y., Wang, H., Wu, Y., Zhang, B., Wang, N., Mao, H., & Xing, C. (2015). P53 contributes to cisplatin induced renal oxidative damage via regulating P66shc and MnSOD. *Cellular Physiology and Biochemistry*, 37(4), 1240-1256.
- Yue, P., Han, B., & Zhao, Y. (2023). Focus on the molecular mechanisms of cisplatin resistance based on multi-omics approaches [10.1039/D2MO00220E]. *Molecular Omics*, 19(4), 297-307. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/D2MO00220E</u>
- Zaffaroni, L., & Peri, F. (2018). Recent advances on Toll-like receptor 4 modulation: new therapeutic perspectives. *Future Medicinal Chemistry*, *10*(4), 461-476. <u>https://doi.org/10.4155/fmc-2017-0172</u>
- Zanoni, I., Ostuni, R., Lorri, Barresi, S., Barbalat, R., Gregory, Granucci, F., & Jonathan. (2011). CD14 Controls the LPS-Induced Endocytosis of Toll-like Receptor 4. *Cell*, *147*(4), 868-880. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2011.09.051</u>
- Zare-Bidaki, M., Hakimi, H., Abdollahi, S. H., Zainodini, N., Kazemi Arababadi, M., & Kennedy, D. (2014). TLR4 in Toxoplasmosis; friends or foe? *Microbial Pathogenesis*, *69-70*, 28-32. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micpath.2014.03.006</u>
- Zeddies, D. G., & Fay, R. R. (2005). Development of the acoustically evoked behavioral response in zebrafish to pure tones. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, *208*(7), 1363-1372. <u>https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.01534</u>
- Zhang, F., Qin, W., Zhang, J.-P., & Hu, C.-Q. (2015). Antibiotic Toxicity and Absorption in Zebrafish Using Liquid Chromatography-Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(5), e0124805. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0124805</u>
- Zhang, J., Ren, Z., & Chen, M. (2023). Immunotoxicity and Transcriptome Analyses of Zebrafish (Danio rerio) Embryos Exposed to 6: 2 FTSA. *Toxics*, *11*(5), 459.
- Zhang, L., Gao, Z., Yu, L., Zhang, B., Wang, J., & Zhou, J. (2018). Nucleotide-binding and oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptors in teleost fish: Current knowledge and future perspectives. *Journal* of Fish Diseases, 41(9), 1317-1330. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12841</u>
- Zhang, L., & Hanigan, M. H. (2003). Role of Cysteine <em>S</em>-Conjugate β-Lyase in the Metabolism of Cisplatin. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *306*(3), 988-994. <u>https://doi.org/10.1124/jpet.103.052225</u>
- Zhang, Q., Li, S., Wong, H.-T. C., He, X. J., Beirl, A., Petralia, R. S., Wang, Y.-X., & Kindt, K. S. (2018). Synaptically silent sensory hair cells in zebrafish are recruited after damage. *Nature Communications*, 9(1), 1388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-018-03806-8</u>
- Zhang, T., Ma, C., Zhang, Z., Zhang, H., & Hu, H. (2021). NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. *MedComm*, 2(4), 618-653. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mco2.104</u>
- Zhang, Y., Liang, X., Bao, X., Xiao, W., & Chen, G. (2022). Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) inhibitors: Current research and prospective. *European Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, *235*, 114291. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmech.2022.114291</u>
- Zhao, X., Kuja-Panula, J., Rouhiainen, A., Chen, Y.-c., Panula, P., & Rauvala, H. (2011). High Mobility Group Box-1 (HMGB1; Amphoterin) Is Required for Zebrafish Brain Development\*. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 286(26), 23200-23213. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M111.223834
- Zhou, W., Chen, Y.-w., Liu, X., Chu, P., Loria, S., Wang, Y., Yen, Y., & Chou, K.-M. (2013). Expression of DNA Translesion Synthesis Polymerase η in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Cancer Predicts Resistance to Gemcitabine and Cisplatin-Based Chemotherapy. *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), e83978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0083978</u>

- Ziegler, S., Pries, V., Hedberg, C., & Waldmann, H. (2013). Target Identification for Small Bioactive Molecules: Finding the Needle in the Haystack. *Angewandte Chemie International Edition*, 52(10), 2744-2792. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201208749</u>
- Zimmering, S., & Thompson, E. (1984). Comparison of rates of sex-linked recessive lethals induced by ethylnitrosourea (ENU) in postmeiotic cells of the male and oogonia of the female Drosophila. *Environmental Mutagenesis*, 6(4), 617-619. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/em.2860060413</u>
- Zindel, J., & Kubes, P. (2020). DAMPs, PAMPs, and LAMPs in immunity and sterile inflammation. *Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease*, *15*, 493-518.